Public Document Pack

AGENDA
MAYOR AND CABINET
Date:

WEDNESDAY, 11 NOVEMBER 2020 at 6.00 pm

Virtual Microsoft Teams Meeting
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU
Enquiries to:
Telephone:
Email:

Kevin Flaherty 0208 3149327
0208 314 9327 (direct line)
kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk

MEMBERS
Damien Egan
Councillor Chris Best
Councillor Chris Barnham
Councillor Paul Bell
Councillor Kevin Bonavia
Councillor Andre Bourne
Councillor Joe Dromey
Councillor Brenda Dacres
Councillor Sophie McGeevor
Councillor Amanda De Ryk
Councillor Jonathan Slater

Mayor
Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for
Health and Adult Social Care
Children's Services and School
Performance
Housing and Planning
Democracy, Refugees & Accountability
Culture, Jobs and Skills (jobshare)
Culture, Jobs & Skills (jobshare)
Safer Communities
Environment & Transport
Finance and Resources
Community Sector

Members are summoned to attend this meeting
Kim Wright
Chief Executive
Lewisham Town Hall
Catford
London SE6 4RU
Date: Tuesday, 03 November 2020

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to consider some
business in private. Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request.

L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L

ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA
Item
No

Page
No.s

1.

Declaration of Interests

1-4

2.

Minutes

5 - 10

3.

Matters Raised by Scrutiny and other Constitutional Bodies and
responses to Select Committee referrals

11 - 41

4.

Sanctuary Strategy

42 - 77

5.

Housing Strategy and Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy

78 - 115

6.

Lewisham Housing Allocations Policy Review

116 - 166

7.

Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2020-21

167 - 192

8.

Financial Monitoring

193 - 235

9.

Amending Lewisham Homes Articles of Association

236 - 292

10.

Revised Statement of Licensing Policy

293 - 375

11.

Renewal of Pension Administration IT System

376 - 387

12.

Acquisition of Sydney Arms to use as Temporary Accommodation part 1

388 - 394

13.

Exclusion of Press and Public

14.

Renewal of Pension Administration IT System

396 - 404

15.

Acquisition of Sydney Arms to use as Temporary Accommodation

405 - 410

395

The public are welcome to attend our Committee meetings, however, occasionally,
committees may have to consider some business in private. Copies of reports can be
made available in additional formats on request.

RECORDING AND USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA

You are welcome to record any part of any Council meeting that is open to the public.
The Council cannot guarantee that anyone present at a meeting will not be filmed or
recorded by anyone who may then use your image or sound recording.
If you are intending to audio record or film this meeting, you must:


tell the clerk to the meeting before the meeting starts;

 only focus cameras/recordings on councillors, Council officers, and those members
of the public who are participating in the conduct of the meeting and avoid other
areas of the room, particularly where non-participating members of the public may
be sitting; and
 ensure that you never leave your recording equipment unattended in the meeting
room.
If recording causes a disturbance or undermines the proper conduct of the meeting, then
the Chair of the meeting may decide to stop the recording. In such circumstances, the
decision of the Chair shall be final.

Agenda Item 1
MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Declarations of Interests

Key Decision

No

Ward

n/a

Contributors

Chief Executive

Class

Part 1

Item No. 1

Date: 11 November 2020

Declaration of interests
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on
the agenda.
1

Personal interests
There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member
Code of Conduct :(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2) Other registerable interests
(3) Non-registerable interests

2

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a)

Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or
gain

(b)

Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than
by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial
benefit from a Trade Union).

(c)

Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they
are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods,
services or works.

(d)

Beneficial interests in land in the borough.
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\2\7\ai00024729\$awy2bkmh.doc

Page 1

(e)

Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)

Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of
which they have a beneficial interest.

(g)

Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:(a)

that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land
in the borough; and

(b)

either
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued
share capital of that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.
(3)

Other registerable interests
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register
the following interests:-

(4)

(a)

Membership or position of control or management in a body to which
you were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b)

Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to
charitable purposes , or whose principal purposes include the influence
of public opinion or policy, including any political party

(c)

Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25

Non registerable interests
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be
likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close
associate more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area
generally, but which is not required to be registered in the Register of
Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning the closure of a school
at which a Member’s child attends).

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\2\7\ai00024729\$awy2bkmh.doc

Page 2

(5)

(6)

Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation
(a)

Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded
in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary
interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter
and withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not
seek improperly to influence the decision in any way. Failure to
declare such an interest which has not already been entered in the
Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where such an
interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a
fine of up to £5000

(b)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event
before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room,
participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless
paragraph (c) below applies.

(c)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to
influence the outcome improperly.

(d)

If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a
member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would
affect those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to
the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a
registerable interest.

(e)

Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s
personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek
the advice of the Monitoring Officer.

Sensitive information
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are
interests the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk
of violence or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such
interest need not be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to
the Code and advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

(7)

Exempt categories

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\2\7\ai00024729\$awy2bkmh.doc

Page 3

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing
so. These include:(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the
matter relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears
exception)
School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor
unless the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or
of which you are a governor;
Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
Allowances, payment or indemnity for members
Ceremonial honours for members
Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\2\7\ai00024729\$awy2bkmh.doc

Page 4

Agenda Item 2
MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Minutes

Key Decision

Item No.2

Ward
Contributors

Chief Executive

Class

Part 1

Date: November 11 2020

Recommendation
It is recommended that the minutes of that part of the meeting of the Mayor and Cabinet
which were open to the press and public, held on October 7 2020 (copy attached) be
confirmed and signed as a correct record.

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\3\7\ai00024730\$rkrcruin.doc

Page 5

Public Document Pack

MINUTES OF THE MAYOR AND CABINET
Wednesday, 7 October 2020 at 6.00 pm

PRESENT: Damien Egan (Mayor), Councillors Chris Best, Chris Barnham, Paul Bell,
Kevin Bonavia, Joe Dromey, Brenda Dacres, Sophie McGeevor, Amanda De Ryk and
Jonathan Slater.
ALSO PRESENT: Councillors Bill Brown, Pat Codd, and John Muldoon.
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Andre Bourne
368. Declaration of Interests
None were made.
369. Minutes
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on September 16 2020 be
confirmed and signed as a correct record.
370. Matters Raised by Scrutiny and other Constitutional Bodies
No matters were raised.
371. Children & Young People Select Committee comments on children in
temporary accommodation
Councillor Paul Bell welcomed the Select Committee’Hs referral, noting it had
been finalised in February meaning a number of details were out of date. He
stated there was a housing crisis of the Government’s making and he was
appalled that families were being forced into temporary accommodation. He
believed necessary funds and political will were required to solve the problem.
Having considered an officer report, the Mayor and Cabinet considered the
recommendations of the Committee as set out in Appendix A and
RESOLVED that the Executive Director for Children & Young People be
asked to provide a response to the review’s recommendations and how they
will be actioned.
372. Healthier Communities Select Committee local test and trace referral
The referral was presented by the Chair of the Healthier Communities Select
Committee, Councillor John Muldoon, who reflected that the recent failings of
Test and Trace highlighted since the last meeting of the Select Committee
had yet to be exposed. He called on a locally based and fully funded Test and
Trace service to be embedded in the Council.

Page 6

Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Chair of the
Healthier Communities Select Committee, Councillor John Muldoon, the
Mayor and Cabinet:
RESOLVED that the views of the committee as set out in section four be
received and the Executive Director for Community Services be asked to
prepare a response for Mayoral consideration.
373. Public Accounts Select Committee commercialisation and culture change
review
The review was presented by the Chair of the Public Accounts Select
Committee, Councillor Pat Codd, who urged the Council to adopt a more
commercial attitude.
Having considered an open officer report, and a presentation by the Chair of
the Public Accounts Select Commitee, Councillor Pat Codd, the Mayor and
Cabinet:
RESOLVED that the Committee’s recommendations (as set out at
appendix A) be received and that the Executive Director for Corporate
Resources be asked to provide a response.
374. Comments of the Public Accounts Select Committee on financial
stabilisation
The review was presented by the Chair of the Public Accounts Select
Committee, Councillor Pat Codd, who observed the Council would be forced
to make further drastic cuts after enduring 10 years of austerity already.
Having considered an open officer report, and a presentation by the Chair of
the Public Accounts Select Commitee, Councillor Pat Codd, the Mayor and
Cabinet:
RESOLVED that the Committee’s recommendations (as set out at
appendix A) be received and that the Executive Director for Corporate
Resources be asked to provide a response.
375. Financial Stabilisation
Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Finance and Resources, Councillor Amanda De Ryk, the Mayor
and Cabinet:
RESOLVED that:
(1) the current in-year financial challenges of the Covid-19 impact of £60m
with a funding gap of up to £20m and service overspending of £17m faced by
the Council and the management actions being taken to mitigate these be
noted;

Page2 7

(2) the 2021/22 to 2024/25 Medium Term Financial Strategy and approach
being taken to identify cuts proposals to meet the estimated budget gap of at
least £40m be noted; and
(3) the timetable for bringing forward cuts proposals and building the 2021/22
budget to Council in February 2021 be noted.
376. Apprenticeship Training Provision
The report was Councillor Joe Dromey who said the proposals would
complete a key manifesto commitment by creating 100 apprenticeships in 100
days paid at a fair rate. He paid tribute to officers who had contributed to the
initiative, including Charlotte Rowley who had recently given birth to a son.
Having considered an open and a confidential officer report, and a
presentation by jobshare Cabinet Member for Culture, Jobs and Skills,
Councillor Joe Dromey, for the reasons set out in the report and by a vote of
9-0:
RESOLVED that: the Mayor and Cabinet agreed that an award to
WhiteHat Group Ltd to deliver 3 cohorts of apprenticeship training starting in
autumn 2020 over a period of 18 months at a total value of £510,000, be
approved.
377. School Meal Provision
In introducing the report Councillor Chris Barnham acknowledged there was
insufficient support for the proposed new model and the Council had been left
with only two realistic choices. The preferred option was a new centrally coordinated contract.
Officers confirmed a company run sick scheme could be included in the
specification when the tender was drawn up.
Having considered an open officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Children’s Services and School Performance, Councillor Chris
Barnham, the Mayor and Cabinet, for the reasons set out in the report and
from the options available and by a vote of 9-0:
RESOLVED that:
(1) the procurement of a school catering contract for a period of 4 years with
an option to extend for up to an additional period of 2 years be approved; the
contract having a maximum value of £48 Million over the 6 year period; and
(2) the procurement of a schools kitchen maintenance contract for a period of
4 years with an option to extend for up to an additional 2 years be approved;
the contract would having a maximum value of £1.44 Million over the 6 year
period.
378. Greenvale School Expansion Project

Page38

Having considered an open officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Children’s Services and School Performance, Councillor Chris
Barnham, the Mayor and Cabinet, for the reasons set out in the report and by
a vote of 9-0:
RESOLVED that:
(1) the award of the construction phase contract for the Greenvale School
Expansion project be made to Geoffrey Osborne Limited;
(2) the construction budget set out in Part 2 of this item be approved;
(3) authority be delegated to negotiate final contract terms within the
parameters set out to the Executive Director for Children and Young People.
379. Leisure Management Arrangements
Having considered an open and a confidential officer report, and a
presentation by the Mayor, the Mayor and Cabinet, for the reasons set out in
the report and by a vote of 9-0:
RESOLVED that the terms for the ending of the current Leisure Management
Agreement (“LMA”) with Fusion Lifestyle Ltd as set out in the Part 2 report be
approved.
380. Article 4 Direction in Deptford High Street Conservation Area
Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Housing & Planning, Councillor Paul Bell, the Mayor and Cabinet
for the reasons set out in the report and by a vote of 9-0:
RESOLVED that:
(1) the omission in the previous appendices, consultation material and
appendices be noted, and
(2) the previous authorisation to make a non-immediate Article 4 Direction in
Deptford High Street and St Paul’s Church Conservation Area, that includes
the class of permitted development that includes alterations to windows
(Class A The enlargement, improvement or other alteration of a dwelling
house), be reconfirmed.
381. Response to Questions raised by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Mayor, the
Mayor and Cabinet:
RESOLVED that the responses from officers be received and that they be
submitted to the Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

Page4 9

382. Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED that in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information)(England) Regulations 2012 and under Section 100(A)(4) of the
Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the
meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1
of Schedule 12(A) of the Act, and the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information
16
17.
18.

Approval for award of apprenticeship training contract part 2
Greenvale School Expansion Project
Leisure Management Arrangements

383. Approval for award of apprenticeship training contract part 2
All decisions relating to this item were reached in the open part of the agenda.
RESOLVED that the supplementary information be noted.
384. Greenvale School Expansion Project
Having considered a confidential officer report, and a presentation by the
Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and School Performance, Councillor
Chris Barnham, the Mayor and Cabinet, for the reasons set out in the report
and by a vote of 9-0:
RESOLVED that a stated construction budget be approved, which includes an
initial maximum contract value and a contingency figure.
385. Leisure Management Arrangements
Having considered an open and a confidential officer report, and a
presentation by the Mayor, the Mayor and Cabinet for the reasons set out in
the report and by a vote of 9-0:
RESOLVED that the terms for the ending of the current Leisure Management
Agreement (“LMA”) with Fusion Lifestyle Ltd as set out in the Part 2 report be
approved.
The meeting closed at 6.52pm.

Page 10
5

Agenda Item 3
MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Report Back On Matters Raised By The Overview And Scrutiny
Business Panel or other Constitutional bodies

Key Decision

No

Item No.

Ward
Contributors

Head of Business & Committee

Class

Open

Date: November 11 2020

Purpose of Report
To report back firstly on any matters raised by the Overview and Scrutiny
Business Panel following their consideration of the decisions made by the
Mayor on October 7 2020 or on other matters raised by Select Committees
or other Constitutional bodies between November 3 and November 11.
To further consider responses to referrals previously made by Select
Committees to the Mayor & Cabinet as follows:
3.1

Response to Housing Select Committee - Statutory Overcrowding.

3.2

Response to the Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee - Indepth Review of Equalities.

3.3

Response to Sustainaable Development Select Committee - Local
Plan.

Page
11
541

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\1\3\7\ai00024731\$qwxvpt03.doc

Mayor and Cabinet
Report title: Response to Housing Select Committee Referral on
Statutory Overcrowding
Date: 11th November 2020
Key decision: No
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Environment

Outline and recommendations
It is recommended that the Mayor:


Notes the response that follows in relation to the Housing Select Committee referral
to Mayor & Cabinet on the 12th February 2020;



Notes the ongoing review of the Allocations scheme and invites Housing Select
Committee to comment on this and to take an active part in the consultation when
launched;

Page 12

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
On the 30th January 2020 a report on overcrowding in social housing was presented to
Housing Select Committee.
Following this report, Housing Select Committee made a referral to Mayor and Cabinet on
the 12th February 2020. The report asked that Mayor and Cabinet conduct an assessment of
the potential impact of including statutory overcrowding as a rehousing reason for the
purposes of the allocations scheme. It was agreed that officers would complete a report
back to Mayor and Cabinet on this matter.

1.

Summary

1.1.

On the 30th January 2020 a report on Overcrowding was received at Housing Select
Committee.

1.2.

Housing Select Committee made a referral to Mayor & Cabinet on the 12th February
2020. The referral stated that “Given the additional pressures on households of living in
statutorily overcrowded conditions, the committee recommends that Mayor and Cabinet
agrees, in principle, to the Council adopting the statutory definition of overcrowding as
an additional measure of overcrowding within its Housing Allocation Scheme, subject to
an assessment of the potential costs, procedural issues and impact on other priority
groups on the housing list. The committee asks Mayor and Cabinet to assess the impact
of such a change and report back to the Housing Select Committee in 6 months’ time.”

1.3.

To respond to this referral, officers have undertaken analysis of the different ways to
define overvrowding, and analysed the impacts of adopting the statutory overcrowded
measure in addition to the current method already used.

1.4.

Since the referral was made, officers in Housing Services have undertaken a
comprehensive review of the Allocations scheme, which has included a review of the
way in which overcrowding is prioritised in the banding scheme of the allocations policy.
Mayor & Cabinet are being asked on 11th November 2020 to authorise a consultation on
proposed changes to the allocation policy, which includes a new primary rehousing
reason ‘overcrowded by 3 bed’

1.5.

Following the analysis undertaken to respond to this referral, and in light of the
Allocations review underway, officers recommend continuing to use the bedroom
standard to determine bedroom need. Officers do not recommend introducing statutory
overcrowding as an additional measure.

1.6.

Introducing an additional element of statutory overcrowding to the existing overcrowding
assessment will complicate a widely accepted and generous definition of overcrowding.
Furthermore, this change alone will not necessarily increase the supply of
accommodation for those overcrowded households in the most need. As such, it is not
recommended that this approach is considered at this time.

Page 13

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

It is recommended that Mayor and Cabinet:

2.2.

Notes the response that follows in relation to the Housing Select Committee referral to
Mayor & Cabinet on the 12th February 2020;

2.3.

Notes the ongoing review of the Allocations policy

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2022)[1] outlines the Councils vision to deliver
for residents over the next four years. Building on Lewisham’s historic values of fairness,
equality and putting our community at the heart of everything we do, the Council will
create deliverable policies underpinned by a desire to promote vibrant communities,
champion local diversity and promote social, economic and environmental sustainability.
The contents of this report are applicable to the following priorities:



3.2.

This report is also consistent with Homes for Lewisham, Lewisham’s Housing Strategy
(2015-2020) which includes the following priority outcome:


3.3.

Tackling the Housing Crisis – Providing a decent and secure home for everyone.
Building Safer Communities – Ensuring every resident feels safe and secure
living here as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

Key Objective 1 – Helping residents in times of severe and urgent housing need.

The new Lewisham Housing Strategy 2020-26, which is being considered by Mayor and
Cabinet on the 11th November 2020, also contains the following priorities that are met by
this report.



Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need.
Supporting our residents to live safe, independent and active lives.

4.

Background

4.1.

The Allocations Policy defines who can apply to join the housing waiting list, identifies
those with the greatest housing needs and sets out how individuals will be prioritised
for council and other registered provider housing that comes available. It is therefore at
the forefront of the council’s response to housing need.

4.2.

The policy must clearly state how bands for reasonable preference, and priority within
bands, are determined and assessed. The policy recognises the need to ensure fair
and equal access to social housing. Reducing severe overcrowding is one of the key
priorities of the policy, alongside a number of other key priorities including reducing the
number of homeless households in Lewisham.

4.3.

The policy aims to use resources available as efficiently as possible, retaining flexibility
to respond to fluctuations in demand from different client groups, preventing
homelessness and offering choice to applicants.

[1]

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s61022/Draft%20Corporate%20Strategy
%202018-2022.pdf

Page 14

4.4.

The demand for social housing in Lewisham is considerably higher than the available
supply. Since 2016/17 the Council has had access to between 950 and 1,200 social lets
per year. We anticipate that this year the lets will be less than 950 due to the impact of
Covid-19.

4.5.

With 10,000 households on the register as at September 2020, this is not enough supply
to respond to pent up demand on the Housing Register and the growing need for social
housing across the borough. Table 1 outlines this acute supply and demand issue.
Bedroom need
1 bedroom
2 bedroom
3 bedroom
4 bedroom
5 bedroom

Let in 19/20
624
305
171
27
1

Number on the register in housing need
1694
3814
2980
986
363

Table 1: numbers of lets in 19/20 compared with number of applicants on the register

4.6.

The Council is currently undertaking a comprehensive review of the allocations policy,
to ensure that the scheme effectively responds to the housing pressures currently
being faced in Lewisham. Mayor & Cabinet are being asked on 11th November 2020 to
authorise a consultation on proposed changes to the allocation policy. The proposed
changes includes adding a new primary rehousing reason ‘overcrowded by 3 bed’ to
band 2 to prioritise above those who are most acutely overcrowded.

5.

Overcrowding and the Allocations Scheme
Defining overcrowding and the approach taken in Lewisham

5.1.

There are two methods used to measure overcrowding. The statutory overcrowded
measure and the bedroom standard.

5.2.

The current Allocations policy uses the bedroom standard to assess how many
bedrooms are needed by a household. The bedroom standard is generous, widely used
and simple mechanism for determining bedroom need. The use of the bedroom standard
is recommended in the statutory code of guidance on Allocations.1 The bedroom
standard allows one bedroom for,
 Each adult couple;
 Any other adult aged 21 or over;
 Two adolescents of the same sex aged 10 to 20;
 Two children regardless of sex under the age of 10.

5.3.

The statutory overcrowding measure is detailed in the Housing Act 1985, and is an
alternative measure to use when defining overcrowding. A household may be considered
to be statutorily overcrowded if either the room standard or the space standard is
breached.

5.4.

The room standard is breached where two people of the opposite sex must sleep in the
same room, except where they are a cohabiting or married couple, or where they are
under the age of 10 and thus not included in this standard. For the purposes of the room
standard, all living rooms, bedrooms and in some instances kitchens may be included in

1

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/allocation-of-accommodation-guidance-for-local-housingauthorities-in-england

Page 15

the calculation.
5.5.

The space standard determines the number of rooms that a household need dependent
on the age of the applicants, the number of living rooms and bedrooms in the dwelling
and their size. Under the space standard the maximum number of people allowed based
on the number of living rooms and bedrooms is set out in table 1 below, whereas table
2 sets out the number of people that can live in a property based on the size of those
rooms. Rooms under 50 square feet are not included in calculations, nor are children
under the age of 1, and children between the ages of 1 and 10 are counted as a half in
the calculations.

Overcrowding in Lewisham
5.6.

Overcrowding is the most common reason for households to be on the Housing Register.
At the start of October 2020 there were 4,620 households on the housing register that
were overcrowded by 1 bed and 560 that were overcrowded by 2 bed. There were 9,110
households on the register in total.

5.7.

Table 2 below breaks down the bedroom need for households who are overcrowded. It
is evident when considering these figures compared to table 1 at 4.5 of this report that
it is highly unlikely that many overcrowded households will move into a social home,
particularly where the households has a 4 or 5 bed need.

2 Bed
Need
Overcrowded by 1 or 2 Bed

3 Bed
Need
2085

4 Bed
Need
2116

5 Bed or
More
Need
704
275

Table 2: Number of households that are on the register for overcrowding broken down
by bedroom need
5.8.

9% of all properties that were let between 17/18 and 19/20 went to a household that was
overcrowded by 1 or 2 bedrooms and households that were overcrowded on the housing
register were successful in bidding for over 20% of what was available and appropriate
for them.
Allocations Scheme review

5.9.

As part of the allocations policy review that is ongoing, a wide range of considerations
have been taken into account as to how best to ensure households that are overcrowded
are prioritised for the accommodation that they need. The full review is being considered
by Mayor and Cabinet on the 11th November 2020.

5.10.

The council is proposing that an additional category of overcrowded by 3 bedrooms be
included on the housing register and is placed into band 2 to ensure that those in most
need are suitably prioritised for the accommodation that is available. This proposal has

Page 16

arisen as a result of a comprehensive analysis of the register, and in light of the
approximately 160 households estimated to be overcrowded by 3 or more bedrooms
who represent the most acutely in need.
Reviewing the use of statutory overcrowding in the allocations policy
5.11.

To consider this referral from Housing Select Committee, officers have conducted
analysis of the current housing register to try and assess how many households would
likely be considered statutory overcrowded, and what merit would be brought by
including this measure in the allocations policy. An assessment of the impact of
introducing the statutory measure on other bands within the allocations scheme has also
been undertaken.

5.12.

Room size is a key component of the measure, which is information unavailable. As a
result, analysis has focussed on the number of rooms available and number of people in
the household. There are data quality issues with the data available, where information
on households additional rooms such as living rooms and dining rooms are incomplete
or contradictory. This makes conducting a comprehensive analysis of statutory
overcrowding across the housing register more challenging.

5.13.

Notwithstanding this it is possible to make some reasonable assumptions and the
estimated proportions of households that are statutorily overcrowded are as detailed in
the below table.
Table 3: Proportion of households that are estimated to be statutorily
overcrowded on the housing register

Overcrowded by 1 Bed
Overcrowded by 2 Bed
All other households [those with
another higher banded primary
rehousing reason]

Not Statutorily
Statutorily
Overcrowded
Overcrowded
56%
44%
24%
76%
73%

27%

5.14. If
these proportions were applied to the housing register as at the start of October 2020 it
would mean that 1,780 households overcrowded by 1 bed, 364 households that are
overcrowded by 2 bed and 1,250 households that are on the housing register with other
primary rehousing reasons would also be statutorily overcrowded. There are also 2,339
households on the housing register as overcrowded but that are not statutorily
overcrowded.
5.15.

However, in order to be accurate in these figures, each household circumstances would
need to be reviewed, and where necessary room sizes measured, to include the space
standard measure in the assessments.

5.16.

Any change to the housing register which removed households that are overcrowded by
the bedroom standard but not statutorily overcrowded, or prioritised statutory
overcrowding over the bedroom standard, would have a negative impact on these 2,339
households. The impact of any change is ultimately dependent on the priority banding
that is afforded to the groups in question.

5.17.

A large number of households overcrowded by 2 beds are also statutory overcrowded,
which makes logical sense. It is certain that those who are overcrowded by 3 bed would
be statutory overcrowded, thus the proposed change to the allocations policy outlined at
4.6 of this report would ensure that those who are most severely affected by
overcrowding are prioritised.

Page 17

Conclusions
5.18.

The review conducted for this referral has highlighted the challenge in accurately
assessing statutory overcrowding. Whilst assumptions can be made, more accurate
assessments of household’s circumstances are needed to fully be able to adopt the
statutory overcrowding measure.

5.19.

It is also the case that using the bedroom standard ensures that we are capturing all
households who are living in overcrowded circumstances, where the use of the statutory
measure alone will result in some households assessed as being overcrowded by the
bedroom standard being missed. When balancing the two approaches, the bedroom
standard is both comprehensive, easy to understand and enables us to prioritise the
most acutely overcrowded households on our register.

5.20.

In addition, administering the inclusion of statutory overcrowding on the housing register
will present a particular challenge. As the size of rooms is a determinant in the decision
that is made, officers will be required to validate room sizes which will take longer and
require in-person inspections to be conducted. This will require additional resource.

5.21.

In light of the allocations policy review underway, which includes a proposal to introduce
a more acute overcrowded by 3 bed category, officers propose maintaining the use of
the bedroom standard.

5.22.

Officers conclude that using the Bedroom Standard ensures that the council is acting in
accordance with statutory guidance, using a widely understood and widely used
measure, whilst also prioritising those most in need for accommodation.

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

This report responds to the referral to Mayor and Cabinet on the use of statutory
overcrowding as a measure within the allocations policy. As such, there are no direct
financial implications arising from this report.

6.2.

However, it should be noted that changes to how allocations are made or changes to the
annual lettings plan, which affect allocations to homeless families, could put additional
pressure on nightly paid accommodation costs through increased length of stay or
increased numbers accommodated in this form of TA.

7.

Legal implications

7.1.

See footnote and for further Notes on statutory overcrowding see Part X Housing Act
1985 [as amended]

7.2.

Section 166A requires housing authorities in England to allocate accommodation in
accordance with a scheme which must be framed to ensure that certain categories
of applicants are given reasonable preference for an allocation of social housing.
Section 166A(9) includes a new requirement for an allocation scheme to give a right
to review a decision on qualification in s.160ZA(9), and to inform such affected
persons of the decision on the review and the grounds for it. This is in addition to the
existing right to review a decision on eligibility.

7.3.

Section 166A(12) provides that housing authorities must have regard to both their
homelessness and tenancy strategies when framing their allocation scheme. The
requirement for an allocation scheme to contain a statement of the authority’s policy

Page 18

on offering a choice of accommodation or the opportunity to express preferences
about their accommodation is retained. (s.166A(2)). However, the requirement to
provide a copy of this statement to people to whom they owe a homelessness duty
(under s.193(3A) or s.195(3A) of the 1996 Act) is repealed by s.148(2) and s.149(3)
of the Localism Act 2011. This is because, following the changes to the main
homelessness duty made by the Localism Act 2011, there can no longer be a
presumption that the homelessness duty will be brought to an end in most cases with
an allocation under Part 6.
7.4.

The European Convention on Human Rights states in Article 8 that “Everyone has
the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and correspondence”. The
Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the Convention. Whilst it does not, however,
mean that everyone has a right to a home, the provision by an Authority of a relevant
proactive Allocations Policy and Lettings Plan does assist to reinforce the Article 8
principles. 16

7.5.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the
equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.6.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.
 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not. 11
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not.

7.7.

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is
a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality.
It is not an absolute requirement to advance equality of opportunity or foster good
relations. The Equality and Human Rights Commission issued Technical Guidance
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention
is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This
includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The
guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it,
as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The
statutory code
and
the technical guidance can
be
found at:
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidancepublic-sector-equality-duty-england

7.8.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five
guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:
 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
 Engagement and the equality duty
 Equality objectives and the equality duty
 Equality information and the equality duty

Page 19

7.9.

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and
resources are available at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-andguidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance

8.

Equalities implications

8.1.

This report outlines the possible implications of the use of a different measure of
overcrowding in the housing allocations scheme. Analysis of equalities data held for our
own housing stock, managed by Lewisham Homes and RB3, show that residents of
Black African origin are disproportionately represented in the overcrowded cohort. Any
changes to the way in which overcrowded households are prioritised within the
allocations scheme will have more impact proportionally on this group than others. The
proposed change in the allocations policy to introduce an overcrowded by 3 bed
category, if adopted, will have a positive impact on Black African households who are
more likely to be living in the worst overcrowded circumstances.

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1.

There are no climate change or environmental implications arising specifically from this
report.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

There are no crime and disorder implications arising specifically from this report.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

There are no health and wellbeing implications arising specifically from this report.

12.

Report author and contact

12.1.

Fenella Beckman – Director of Housing Services (Fenella.Beckman@lewisham.gov.uk)

12.2.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources:
Tony Riordan, principle accountant, 020 8314 6854, Tony.Riordan@lewisham.gov.uk

12.3.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance &HR
Leonard Tribe, Senior Lawyer; 020 8314 7820, Leonard.Tribe@lewisham.gov.uk

Page 20

Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet Response to the Safer, Stronger
Communities In-depth Review: How Lewisham’s Embeds
Equalities Across its Service Provision
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: No
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Director of Law and Human Resources
Assistant Chief Executive

Outline and recommendations
This report sets out the response to the recommendations made by the Safer Stronger
Communities Select Committee In-depth Review: How Lewisham Embeds Equalities
Across its Service Provision.
Mayor and Cabinet are invited to:


Agree the response to the recommendations of the Safer Stronger Communities
Select Committee In-depth Review.



Agree that this report should be forwarded to the Safer Stronger Communities
Select Committee.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 21

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
09 September 2020 – Presentation of the In-depth Review recommendations at Safer,
Stronger Communities Select Committee
16 September 2020 – Presentation of recommendations to Mayor & Cabinet by the Chair
of the Safer, Stronger Communities Select Committee

Summary
1. This report sets out the Mayor and Cabinet response to the Safer, Stronger Communities
Select Committee’s In-depth Review of Equalities in Lewsham. The recommendations of
the In-depth Review were presented to Mayor and Cabinet on 16 September 2020.

Recommendations
2. Mayor and Cabinet is recommended to:
i)

Agree the response to the recommendations of the Safer Stronger Communities
Select Committee In-depth Review; and

ii)

Agree that this report should be forwarded to the Safer Stronger Communities
Select Committee.

Policy context
3. Promoting equality, by tackling inequality, sits at the heart of the Council’s public welfare
role. The performance of this role is framed within the Council’s Corporate Strategy
2018-22 and given specific expression through the seven Corporate Strategy priorities
as follows:


Open Lewisham – Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all where we
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us.



Tackling the housing crisis - everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.



Giving children and young people the best start in life - every child has access to
an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they need to
keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.



Building an inclusive local economy - everyone can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local
economy.



Delivering and defending: health, social care and support - ensuring everyone
receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they need.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 22



Making Lewisham greener - everyone enjoys our green spaces, and benefits
from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local
environment.



Building safer communities- every resident feels safe and secure living here as
we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

Background
4. This Member-led Review looked at the current ways equalities are considered in
Lewisham Council. In particular it considered: how the Council is meeting its equality
obligations under the 2010 Equalities Act and Public Sector Equality Duty; how
consideration of equalities is embedded across the council; and workforce equalities.
The review also considers socio-economic equality.
5. The Committee had a strong focus on ensuring that the diverse needs of Lewisham
residents were understood and supported and this was the starting point for the review.
The evidence gathered was considered by the committee through the angle of how the
council can best serve all Lewisham residents. It links strongly with the Corporate Priority
of “Open Lewisham” and includes themes on open data and on engagement that fit with
the recommendations by the Council’s Democracy Review.
6. The findings and recommendations of the the Safer Stronger Communities In-depth
Review were presented to Mayor and Cabinet in September 2020.

Response to recommendations
7. The recommendations of the Member-led Review arrive at a time when equalities sits
squarely at the centre of the national political debate. This is exemplified by the wideranging socio-economic impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Black Lives Matter
movement, continuing concerns over the potential risk to EU nationals as a result of
Brexit and the impact of climate change.
8. Whilst the Council is already undertaking work to address the above issues, the
outcomes and recommendations from the Member-led Review will significantly enhance
the Council’s focus on these matters and therefore adds impetus to the work that is
already being done. In particular, the Member-led review, will help the Council to take a
fresh look at its approach to tackling inequality and promoting public welfare, particularly
across intersecting issues of employment, health, housing and community engagement.
9. Recommendation one: A Fairer Lewisham Duty should be established requiring
the Council to consider socio-economic disadvantage in its decision making
process.
a. All Equality Impact Assessments should consider socio-economic disadvantage on
the same basis as the nine statutorily protected characteristics.
b. Lewisham Council should produce clear guidance for staff, Councillors, partner
organisations and the public, explaining the Fairer Lewisham Duty, with reference to
the Interim Guidance for Public Bodies produced by the Scottish Government.
10. In relative terms, Lewisham is one of the most deprived local authoritiy areas in the
country as well as in London. The impact of socio-economic deprivation and its effects
on the quality of life and life experience of our residents, has been further highlighted by
the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly so with the comparatively high proportion of BAME

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 23

residents in front facing occupations who are potentially at risk, the rise in the number of
residents claiming out of work benefits and the number of residents experiencing food
insecurity.
11. As such, the need to enure that the Council’s assessment of equality impact covers
socio-economic disadvantage is absolutely correct. This recommenation will be taken
forward and reflected in onging work being led by the Director of Law, Governance and
Human Resources, which is focused on the development of programmes and plans to
take forward work around equality, diversity and inclusion. As part of this, guidance will
be updated to ensure that socio-economic status is, where-ever appropriate, reflected in
the equality implications for reports presented for democratic scrutiny and decisionmaking. As it stands, guidance on socio-economic status already exists in the Council’s
Corporate Equality Policy. However, the opportunity will be taken to strengtnen this is
light of the Member-led Review of Equalities and building on new insights on socioeconomic inequality gained from the Covid-19 pandemic.
12. It should also be noted that ‘tackling socio-economic inequality’ is one of the objectives
set out in the Single Equality Framework, whch was considered at Safer, Stronger
Communities Select Committee and approved by Mayor and Cabinet back in March.
However, following, the referral of the Single Equality Framework to Mayor & Cabinet, by
the Committee, officers will be working with the Committee to further refine the above
and other Single Equality Framework objectives.
13. In line with the Committee’s recommendation, officers will look into the establishment of
a Fairer Lewisham Duty, and a further recommendation on adopting such a Duty may be
made to Mayor and Cabinet once this work is complete.
14. Recommendation two: Intersectionality should be considered as part of the
Equalities process.
a. Each department and all project leads should consider issues of intersectionality, and
a range of diverse groups and their needs.
b. The Council should listen to, include, and meaningfully collaborate with diverse
groups. There should be diversity of individuals and diversity of organisations. One
voice cannot speak for all.
c. In funding, designing and commissioning services the Council should take an
intersectional approach. This could include;
 Ensuring diverse organisations closest to the ground take the lead in
project design and implementation.
 Recognise and trust the expertise and lived experiences of organisations and
movements, especially those representing marginalised groups.
 Funding diverse organisations and movements to facilitate safe spaces where
particularly marginalised communities can feel empowered to speak freely.
 The Council should build a senior management team with a culture of inclusion
that reflects the diversity of communities and overlapping identities in Lewisham.
 The Council should create a culture that celebrates difference by appreciating the
contributions that everyone can make.
15. The recognition of intersectionality (ie: the various aspects of a persons lived experience
which might contribute to vulnerability and disadvantage) is an essential compoment of
tackling inequalities.
16. The Council’s Single Equality Framework sought to specifically recognise this in the
policy and decision-making process of the organisation through the identification of six
‘equality prisms’ of which intersectionality is one. The planned review of the Single
Equality Framework to be undertaken by the Safer, Stronger Communities Select

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 24

Committee, will help enhance the focus on intersectionality in the business system of the
Council. However, at officer level, it is recognised that further work is also needed to
ensure that there is a full grasp of the concept of intersectionality and how although
apparent, might often go unrecognised in the provision of services and performance of
functions such as user engagement and commissioning.
17. To that end, a wide-ranging programme of work is being led by the Director of Law,
Governance and Human Resources, which amongst other things will prioritise support
for officers and Members to ensure consistency in terms of understanding and
application. This programme of work will, as the Committee recommends, also include
other actors such as partner organisations and those through whom services are
commissioned. The intention is that the Council working with local organisations can
refresh its approach to service design, development and decision-making.
18. Recommendation 3: A more proactive approach should be taken to address the
Public Sector Equality Duty.
a. Equality objectives should be specific, achievable and measurable.
b. Equality objectives should be readily understandable to the public.
c. Equality objectives should identify areas of work via which improvements in equality
can be made.
d. Progress in these areas of work should be monitored and reported.
19. The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED), which is a provision of the Equality Act 2010
sets out that, when public authorities carry out their functions, they must have due regard
or think about the need to:




Eliminate unlawful discrimination;
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not share that characteristic; and
Foster or encourage good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not share that characteristic

20. Following its referral to Mayor and Cabinet in September, members of the Safer,
Stronger Communities Select Committee will work with officers to review the Single
Equality Framework, which is the primary focus of this recommendation.
21. The above-mentioned review will inform the further refinement of the Council’s equality
objectives, which are set out in the Framework. A previous report to the Safer Stronger
Communities Select Committee back in March, highlighted the fact that a basket of
performance indicators would be deveoped to measure the impact of the objectives.
Work to identify and refine the suite of measures will be undertaken in concert with the
Committee. Going forward, the support of the Committee will provide a valuable template
for the wider engagement of the Council.
22. It should be noted that proactive approach to addressing the PSED also includes the
approach to data. This is addressed in the Single Equality Framework, which specifically
sets an an expectation that data drives decision-making and sets out a process to
perform this function. However, as part of the ongoing review of the Corporate Equality
Policy, the Council’s approach to data collection will be strengthened to further facilitate
the process of ‘SMART’ (Specific, Measurable, Achieveable, Realistic and Timebound)
objective setting and monitoring.
23. Recommendation 4: Staff Diversity Forums should be empowered within the
Council.
a. Forums should have a clear remit as to their purpose and how they contribute to the
improvement of the Council.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 25

b. Forums should have a set time to meet to discuss, promote and air concerns staff
may have affecting equality in the Council. This should be adequately resourced and
supported by the Council.
c. Forum leads should be given specific time away from their substantive role to plan,
prepare and carry out the forums activities. This should be protected time which will
not impact on their hours of work.
d. Forum members should be given time to participate in its activities.
e. Forums should be given the opportunity to meet with senior management and
communicate the experiences and needs of staff.
24. Lewisham Council has a long-standing commitment to supporting staff-led fora. Staff fora
are actively supported and promoted and given access to the highest levels of Council
management and political leadership. A review is currently underway that will further
inform the development of mutually supportive engagement between staff fora and the
Council.
25. In addition to the above, the Council is undertaking a wider-programe of work on staff-led
improvement, which is focused more broadly on empowering Council staff to drive
change across the Council. The broader effort of staff-led improvement is supported by
the Council’s Change Network, which is a type of staff forum for those with a shared
interest in change and improvement. Although not related to any particular protected
characteristic, the Change Network operates in a similar way around a shared interest,
and is open to all staff. However, equality is an important part of the Network in terms of
ensuring it is accessible and welcoming to all staff and that any work delivered by the
Change Network is undertaken with a view to safeguarding and promoting equality.
26. It is believed that the existing review of support to diversity forums and the targeted work
on staff-led improvement, facilitated by the Change Network and support from senior
management, will help to further empower and enable staff to feel confident to shape
and inform the policies and decisions that affect them.
27. Recommendation 5: The Council should adopt an Open Data approach for
Equalities.
a. Data sharing across the organisation should be improved. It should not be a
challenge to access data that has already been collated by different teams or
departments.
b. Guidance for producing Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) should be clear. Equality
Impact Assessments should be data driven.
c. Every Equality Impact Assessment should be logged by Corporate Services and
published on the Council website making it accessible to all.
d. Steps should be made to ensure individuals are confident sharing their data with the
Council to help improve services. At the point where individuals share their data
agreements should be in place to allow for this to be anonymised and shared where
necessary.
28. The approach to data is a critical element of the Coucil’s ongoing work on equalities. In
terms of data sharing, whilst the Council cannot assert rights to access the personal data
of residents or employees, more can be done to establish the trust that makes it more
likely that members of the public and employees will choose to share their personal
information. Specifically, the Council could and should be better at clearly explaining the
benefits of sharing data, with examples of how data shared has been used to improve
outcomes and experiences.
29. A wide-ranging programme of work, on equality, diversity and inclusion, is currently
underway, which will also focus on data collection. Building on experience and learning

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 26

from Covid-19, this work will be informed by a fresh look at equalities classifications. In
particular, how a more nuanced approach to classifying equality groups could help the
Council and our partners to better understand those in our community who face ‘hidden
risk’.
30. It is acknowledged that systems, both electronic and human, can also be made to work
more effectively to facilitate the sharing of information. Work is already in train to address
this through the development of an organisation-wide approach to knowledge
management. This will help to ensure that wherever possible, the approach to
information sharing is collaborative. This effort is being supplemented by a performance
management review, which, amongst other areas, is looking at the behaviours and
practices that inform the use and handling of data.
31. Guidance on producing equality analysis assessments will be included as part of the
revised and refreshed Corporate Equality Policy. As set out above, the Policy was last
reviewed in 2017. The current scheduled refresh was timed to coincide with the
publication of the Member-Led Review and to ensure that the Review recommendations
could be incorporated.
32. In addition, a clear expectation will be set that all equality analysis assessments will be
published on the Council’s website. This will promote accessibility and transparency as
well as accountability for sharing of good practice amongst Council officers.

Financial implications
33. There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.

Legal implications
34. The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
35. In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:


eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not.



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not.

36. The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is not
an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity or foster good relations.
37. The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 27

to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-andguidance/equality-act-codes-practice
38. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:


The essential guide to the public sector equality duty



Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making



Engagement and the equality duty



Equality objectives and the equality duty



Equality information and the equality duty

Equalities implications
39. The equality implications are set out and contained within the main body of this report.
They specifically underline the Council’s ongoing and long standing commitment to the
welfare of the borough and to promoting the social, economic and environment well
being of Lewisham residents. In addition, they reflect the maturing of the Council’s
understanding of equalities, which in recent months has been framed by the Covid-19
pandemic.

Crime and disorder implications
40. Section 17 places a duty on partners to do all they can to reasonably prevent crime and
disorder in their area. The level of crime and its impact is influenced by the decisions and
activities taken in the day-to-day of local bodies and organisations. The responsible
authorities are required to provide a range of services in their community from policing,
fire protection, planning, consumer and environmental protection, transport and
highways. They each have a key statutory role in providing these services and, in
carrying out their core activities, can significantly contribute to reducing crime and
improving the quality of life in their area.

Climate change implications
41. The recommendations referenced in this report and the specfic responses proposed
make a significant contribution to work being undertaken by the Council to tackle climate
change in the borough.
42. The impacts of climate change include: forced migration, health inequalities and socioeconomic deprivation. In addition, climate change has an uneven impact on future
generations, whose quality of life and life experience are significantly affected by choices
that are made by current and previous generations. As such, and as part of the Council’s
continued work to promote equality, diversity and inclusion, profile will be given to
actions that can be taken to minimise the effects of climate change.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 28

Health and wellbeing implications
43. The recommendations referenced in this report and the specfic responses proposed
make a significant contribution to work being undertaken by the Council to promote the
health and well being of residents in the borough.
44. The report specifically highlights the socio-economic impact of Covid-19 on local
residents and the important contribution that the recommendations in the Member-led
Review of Equality can play in adding impetus to efforts of the Council and partner
agencies in tackling the pandemic and safeguarding the well being of vulnerable
residents.

Background papers
45. Set out below are the backgoind papers informing this report:




Single Equality Framework 2020-24
Referral of the Single Equality Framework to Mayor and Cabinet (March 2020)
How Lewisham Council Embeds Equality Across its Service Provision (Safer,
Stronger Communities Select Committee, September 2020)

Glossary
Term

Definition
COVID-19 is a new illness that can affect a persons’ lungs and
airways. It is caused by a virus called coronavirus. The main
symptoms of coronavirus (COVID-19) are a high temperature, a
new, continuous cough and a loss or change to your sense of
smell or taste.

Covid-19

Diversity is difference. A diverse society is one which includes
people of many different groups, who come from different
backgrounds and have different life experiences.

Diversity

Due regard

The Public Sector Equality Duty of the Equality Act 2010,
requires public bodies such as local Council’s to show that they
have thought about how they can eliminate unlawful
discrimination, foster good relations and promote opportunities
for advancement in the way that they perform their duties.

Equality

Equality is a situation in which people of different backgrounds
are all treated the same and have the same opportunities.

Inclusion

The idea that everyone should be able to use the same facilities,
take part in the same activities, enjoy the same experiences and
have the same choice as others.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 29

Term
Intersectionality

Socio-economic status

Definition
The interconnected nature of social categorisations such as
race, class, and gender as they apply to a given individual or
group and the extent to which these connections result in an
overlapping and interdependent systems of discrimination or
disadvantage.
This describe the differences between groups of people relating
to their social class and financial situation (eg: employment,
income, wealth, education, health and where they live)

Report author and contact
46. For further information please contact Paul Aladenika, on 0208 314 7148 or by emailing
paul.aladenika@lewisham.gov.uk.
47. For further information on the financial comments in this report, please contact Peter
Allery, Group Finance Manager, Financial Services by emailing
peter.allery@lewisham.gov.uk.
48. For further information on the legal comments in this report, please contact Leonard
Tribe, Senior Lawyer, Legal Services on 020 8314 7820 or by emailing
leonard.tribe@lewisham.gov.uk.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 30

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 31

Mayor and Cabinet

Report title: Response to
Sustainable Development Select Committee
on the Local Plan
Date: 11th November 2020
Key decision: Yes/No.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Executive Director of Housing, Regeneration and Environment

Outline and recommendations
Approve the officer’s response and report to
Sustainable Development Select Committee.

Page 32

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
21st January 2020 - Sustainable Development Select Committee

1.

Summary
The report sets out the comments which were made at the Sustainable Develoment
Select Committee on 21st January 2020 on the emerging Local Plan. It then provides
Mayor and Cabinet with a response on the comments.

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

Approve the officer’s response and report to Sustainable Development Select
Committee.

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

Lewisham Corporate Strategy

3.2.

Lewisham’s existing statutory development plan, and the emerging draft new Local
Plan, will play a key role in delivering the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-2020 as
such the plan will engage with all of the key priority areas of the Corporate Strategy:
1.

Open Lewisham – Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all where we
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us

2.

Tackling the housing crisis – Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable

3.

Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has access to
an outstanding and inspiring education and is given the support they need to
keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.

4.

Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local
economy.

5.

Delivering & defending: Health, Social Care and Support - Ensuring everyone
receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they need.

6.

Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces and benefits from
a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment.

7.

Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 33
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime
3.3.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

3.4.

The preparation of a new Local Plan must comply with the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) (revised July 2019). The NPPF sets out the Government’s
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.

3.5.

Paragraphs 15-19 of the NPPF outline the expectations and requirements for local
authorities in preparing a new Local Plan. Specifically, local authorities need to
ensure that new plans are succinct and up-to-date, provide a positive vision for the
future, and present a framework for addressing housing need and other economic,
social and environmental priorities. Local authorities also need to ensure that plans
be prepared with the objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable
development, and are shaped by early, proportionate and effective engagement
between plan-makers and communities, local organisations, businesses,
infrastructure providers and operators and statutory consultees.

3.6.

Paragraphs 24-27 of the NPPF further outlines the requirements for local planning
authorities to ensure that their plan addresses the relevant strategic matters that have
broader spatial implications that cross administrative boundaries (“duty to cooperate”), and that effective and on-going joint working between strategic policymaking authorities and statutory bodies has taken place to inform the relevant
strategic policies in the new Plan.

3.7.

Local plans are also required to be reviewed at least once every five years, and
updated as necessary (Paragraph 33), and ensure that the existing strategic policies
can provide a sufficient supply of new homes over a minimum five year period
(Paragraph 73-76). Given that Lewisham’s current Core Strategy was published in
2011, and sites allocated for development in the Core Strategy have largely been
taken up or built out, the Council is obliged at this time to prepare a new Local Plan to
meet the requirements of Paragraph 33 and 73-76 of the NPPF.

3.8.

Further, the new Local Plan needs to comply with the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“the Regulations”). Regulation 18
outlines the first steps that must be undertaken in preparing a local plan, including
who needs to be notified, and how a local authority should consider feedback
received during public consultation when preparing a final draft Plan for submission to
the Secretary of State

4.

Background

4.1.

On the 21st January 2020 the Sustainable Development Select Committee were
asked to consider Lewisham Local Plan - Regulation 18 stage “preferred approaches”
document (Draft Local Plan). The Sustainable Development Select Committee (the
Committee) resolved that they would refer their views/comments to Mayor and
Cabinet as follows:
 The Committee commends the work that has been carried out by officers in
developing the draft local plan. It particularly welcomes the engagement that has

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 34
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

been carried out with councillors.
 The Committee recommends that there should be greater emphasis in the new
plan on the ‘Urban National Park’ initiative which is proposed in the south of the
borough.
 The Committee recommends that - when deciding on designating any new
conservation area - careful consideration should be given to the potential impact
on residents’ future ability to install energy saving features (such as solar panels
and external insulation).
 The Committee would welcome stronger enforcement activity to protect the
borough’s heritage assets and listed buildings. It is particularly concerned about
the borough’s historic pubs.
 The Committee recommends that funding for planning enforcement should be
maintained and, where possible, strengthened.
 The Committee recommends that officers give further consider about how best to
protect the borough’s trees.
 The Committee is concerned about the impact of impermeable paving on flood risk
in the borough. It recommends that officers should investigate the options for
removing permitted development rights for paving on front gardens in order to
ensure that permission is only given for sustainable permeable paving.
 The Committee recommends that further consideration should be given to
ensuring that affordable housing for students is allocated to those who are most in
need.

5.

Officer’s Update and response to Mayor and Cabinet

5.1.

A response to each of the comments/views is provided below:

5.2.

The Committee commends the work that has been carried out by officers in
developing the draft local plan. It particularly welcomes the engagement that has
been carried out with councillors.

5.3.

Response: Noted

5.4.

The Committee recommends that there should be greater emphasis in the new plan
on the ‘Urban National Park’ initiative which is proposed in the south of the borough.

5.5.

Response: Officers are supportive of the ‘Urban National Park’ Initiative and the Local
Plan identifies the corridor as a Strategic Green Link in Part 3, within Lewisham’s
East Area principles. Much of the corridor is designated as borough SINC and the
entire corridor is designated Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) and therefore is afforded
substantial planning protection through the existing and Draft London Plan as well as
protection through Lewisham’s existing and Draft Local Plan.

5.6.

The term “Urban National Park’ is not recognised planning policy terminology which is
why it is referred to within the plan as a Strategic Green Link. Officers will continue to
work with relevant councillors to ensure that the Plan is providing sufficient weight for
the initiative and provides a robust link between higher-level policy within the plan and
the emerging Grove Park Neighbourhood Plan.

5.7.

The Committee recommends that - when deciding on designating any new
conservation area - careful consideration should be given to the potential impact on

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 35
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

residents’ future ability to install energy saving features (such as solar panels and
external insulation).
5.8.

Response: Noted

5.9.

The Committee would welcome stronger enforcement activity to protect the borough’s
heritage assets and listed buildings. It is particularly concerned about the borough’s
historic pubs.

5.10.

Response: The Local Plan provides a robust set of policies (set within the parameters
of higher level policies/regulations) to protect heritage assets and listed buildings
through the planning process and where enforcement action is required.
Unfortunately, due to national permitted development rights the council’s ability to
protect non-designated heritage assets (including those that are Locally Listed) is
limited. Whilst uncommon, one option could be to prepare a non-immediate Article 4
Direction for all buildings and structures on the Local List to remove certain permitted
development rights, including demolition. A non-immediate Article 4 significantly
reduces the risk of compensation claims. Officers do have concerns that this could
alert owners to existing permitted development rights and that we could see the loss
of further buildings in the 12 month period necessary for the making of a nonimmediate Article 4. The making of an Article 4 would also require officer resources
not programmed into current or future work programmes. This option is therefore not
currently proposed.

5.11.

See response to 3.14 for further details of enforcement activity in response to
heritage assets

5.12.

A detailed response on pubs was presented to Mayor and Cabinet on the 11th March
2020.

5.13.

The Committee recommends that funding for planning enforcement should be
maintained and, where possible, strengthened.

5.14.

Response: The Planning Service has increased the number of enforcement officers
employed within the planning enforcement team over the last year.

5.15.

As a result of the increase in staffing, a more proactive stance can be taken in key
areas.

5.16.

In this respect key heritage assets within the borough that have been identified at risk
such as Deptford High Street Conservation Area currently has a dedicated
enforcement officer to remedy the impact of unsympathetic alterations to residential
and commercial buildings.

5.17.

Priority is also placed on looking at unauthorised residential conversions which are
substandard and do not meet local and national planning policies. Greater emphasis
is also being placed on “rogue landlords” where properties are being converted into
large Sui Generis HMOs and also self-contained residential outbuildings “beds and
sheds” which tend to cause problems of local anti-social behaviour, overcrowding and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 36
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

greater environmental waste problems.
5.18.

The Committee recommends that officers give further consider about how best to
protect the borough’s trees.

5.19.

Response: Please refer to Chapter 8 Green Infrastructure and Natural Environment in
the draft Local Plan. Policy GR4 – Urban greening and trees
“Development proposals should seek to retain existing trees, as well as the
associated habitat with regard for the urban forest, and maximise opportunities for
additional tree planting and green infrastructure, particularly trees in characteristically
urban settings such as streets. All proposals must suitably demonstrate that tree
retention along with tree and other green infrastructure planting have been
considered as part of the design-led process….”

5.20.

The Council’s ability to protect trees under current regulations is limited to land in
council ownership (parks and streets), trees within conservation areas and trees that
form part of a planning application through DM policies.

5.21.

Where a site requires planning permission (to build housing etc) and we identify trees
of significant amenity value that are worthy of retention we can place planning
conditions on the approval to protect those trees and/or insist on replacement
planting as part of the application should any tree be removed.

5.22.

Other than in dealing individual planning applications the Council has very little
control over trees in private ownership outside conservation areas.

5.23.

Within conservation areas, under current regulations we have limited powers to resist
the felling of trees in rear gardens that are not visible from the public realm.
Furthermore there is no legislative power to insist on replacement planting unless the
tree has a Tree Preservation Order on it. On top of this permitted development rights
for household extensions, conversions of front gardens to driveways and garden
outbuildings further erode the boroughs existing green infrastructure.

5.24.

The Planning Team’s one tree officer does an excellent job in persuading people
whenever possible to avoid the felling of trees and/or persuade them to plant
replacements but with limited resource this is a significant challenge for the Council
and affects the amount of proactive tree work that can be undertaken across the
Borough.

5.25.

The Committee is concerned about the impact of impermeable paving on flood risk in
the borough. It recommends that officers should investigate the options for removing
permitted development rights for paving on front gardens in order to ensure that
permission is only given for sustainable permeable paving.

5.26.

Response: The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 paragraph 53
states that:
“The use of Article 4 directions to remove national permitted development rights
should be limited to situations where this is necessary to protect local amenity or the
well-being of the area (this could include the use of Article 4 directions to require

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 37
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

planning permission for the demolition of local facilities).”
5.27.

Officers would therefore have to evidence and demonstrate that such an Article 4 is
justifiable within this context (similar to the HMO review that supported the successful
implementation of the Article 4 to the southern wards). This would require additional
officer resource and is likely to take up to 6 months to prepare. Given the current
financial constraints of the Planning Service, is not proposed as part of current or
future work programmes at this time.

5.28.

However, many of our conservation areas have Article 4 Directions that currently
remove this permitted development right but these only cover a small proportion of
the borough. As stated above, a borough wide non-immediate Article 4 Direction
would be a resource intensive piece of work.

5.29.

It should also be noted that as part of the process, the Secretary of State could call it
in to make the final decision.

5.30.

The Committee recommends that further consideration should be given to ensuring
that affordable housing for students is allocated to those who are most in need.

5.31.

Response: Policy H08 – Purpose built student accommodation (PBSA) within the
draft new Local Plan outlines our approach to student accommodation in line with the
Draft London Plan. The supporting text paragraph 7.75 states:
“Draft London Plan Policy H17 provides that at least 35% of PBSA should be secured
as affordable housing. This is in order to ensure that students with an income
equivalent to that provided to full-time UK students by state funded sources of
financial support for living costs can afford to stay in PBSA.
We will apply the definition of affordable student accommodation as set in the draft
London Plan and its supplementary guidance. Affordable rent levels may be subject
to periodic review over the life of the Local Plan, taking into account any significant
changes that may be made to the Government’s student maintenance loan regime.”

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

The additional work requested would require additional funding for the Planning
Service to be take forward, including for additional officer resource. Given the current
financial constraints of the Council and ongoing budget pressures, officers do not
currently plan to programme additional workstreams.

7.

Legal implications

7.1.

There are no legal implications arising from this report

8.

Equalities implications

8.1.

The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme for 2016-20 provides an overarching

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 38
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

framework and focus for the Council’s work on equalities and helps ensure
compliance with the Equality Act 2010. It describes the Council’s commitment to
equality and fairness for citizens, service users and employees through its powers to
influence access to good quality housing, education, safety & security, health and
leisure services.
8.2.

The emerging new Local Plan will be subject to an Integrated Impact Assessment
(IIA) in line with the statutory requirements for plan making, and this assessment will
incorporate considerations relevant to Equalities Impact Assessment. The emerging
new Local Plan will be prepared having regard to findings of the IIA through an
iterative assessment process. An interim Integrated Impact Assessment report will be
published alongside the draft Local Plan at the next Regulation 18 stage of public
consultation.

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1.

There are no climate change or environmental implications arising from this report.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

There are no health and wellbeing implications arising from this report.

12.

Background papers

12.1.

None.

13.

Glossary

Term

Article 4 directions

Core Strategy

Definition
An article 4 direction is a direction under article 4 of the
General Permitted Development Order which enables the
Secretary of State or the local planning authority to withdraw
specified permitted development rights across a defined area.
The core strategy is the key planning policy document for our
borough. It is our plan for the future and sets out the key
decisions about how much development will happen in the
borough and where, when, and how it will take place. Our core
strategy covers a 15 year period from 2011 to 2026.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 39
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Term

Definition

HMO

Houses in Multiple Occupation

Local Plan

A plan for the future development of a local area, drawn up by
the local planning authority in consultation with the community.
In law this is described as the development plan documents
adopted under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004. A local plan can consist of either strategic or nonstrategic policies, or a combination of the two.

Metropolitan Open Land (MOL)

Metropolitan Open Land is a designation is unique to London,
and protects strategically important open spaces within the
built environment.

Permitted development rights

Permitted development rights are a national grant of planning
permission which allow certain building works and changes of
use to be carried out without having to make a planning
application. Permitted development rights are subject to
conditions and limitations to control impacts and to protect
local amenity.

Rogue landlords

A rogue landlord is a landlord who does not meet their legal
obligations to provide safe accommodation and carries out
unlawful activities.

SINC

Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation

Sui Generis HMOs

Houses in Multiple Occupation which are occupied by 7 or
more unrelated individuals, as their only or main residence,
who share basic amenities such as a kitchen or bathroom.
Planning permission is always required for these.

14.

Report author and contact

14.1.

David Syme – Strategic Planning Manager (david.syme@lewisham.gov.uk)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 40
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

15.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources

15.1.

John Johnston – Acting Group Finance Manager, Financial Services
(john.johnston@lewisham.gov.uk)

16.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law,
Governance and HR

16.1.

Paula Young – Senior Lawyer, Legal Services (paula.young@lewisham.gov.uk)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 41
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 4

Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 X Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting

11 November 2020

Title of Report

Sanctuary Strategy

Originator of Report

Paul Aladenika

X

X

Ext.
47148

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

Signed:

No

X
X
X
X
X
X
N/A
N/A

___Executive Member

Date:

______02/11/20__________

Signed:

______

Date

_________02/11/20___________________

__________ Director/Head of Service

Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)

Page 42

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\9\3\ai00026393\$g2zstuoo.doc

Date

Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 43

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\9\3\ai00026393\$g2zstuoo.doc

Mayor and Cabinet
Sanctuary Strategy
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: No
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Assistant Chief Executive

Outline and recommendations
This paper sets out the proposed Council approach to supporting those seeking sanctuary.
This is part of the Council’s corporate commitment to be a more ‘Open Lewisham’ and to
become a Borough of Sanctuary for those fleeing persecution and violence.
It is recommended that Mayor & Cabinet:




Note the context for the development of a corporate strategy on sanctuary;
Note the proposed strategy and the action planning framework it governs; and
Approve the strategy and associated framework be taken forward to Mayor and
Cabinet.

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
This report relates to one of the Corporate Priorities, Open Lewisham, which are set out in
the Council Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022.
There have been no previous decisions taken on this item.
On 16 January 2020 a draft version of the Sanctuary Strategy was considered by the Safer
Stronger Communities Select Committee.
During June-August 2020 a further draft version of the Sanctuary Strategy was provided by
way of consultation to members of the Lewisham Migration Forum and considered at a
meeting of the Forum on 12 August 2020.

1. Summary
1.1.

This paper sets out the proposed Council approach to supporting those seeking
sanctuary as part of the corporate commitment to become a borough of sanctuary.

Page 44

2. Recommendations
2.1.

It is recommended that Mayor & Cabinet:


Note the context for the development of a corporate strategy on sanctuary;



Note the proposed strategy and the action planning framework it governs; and



Approve the strategy and associated framework.

3. Policy Context
3.1.

3.2.

The contents of this report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It
supports the priorities set out in the Corporate Strategy 2018-2022:


Open Lewisham



Tackling the housing crisis



Giving children and young people the best start in life



Building an inclusive local economy



Delivering and defending: health, social care and support



Making Lewisham greener



Building safer communities

Of these, while several are indirectly met by this work, the Open Lewisham priority is
most directly supported, including its three commitments, that:


Lewisham will be a place where diversity and cultural heritage is recognised as a
strength and is celebrated;



Hate crime will not be tolerated; and



Lewisham will be a Sanctuary Borough, welcoming those fleeing violence and
persecution in their own countries and protecting the rights of all migrants, asylum
seekers and refugees.

4. Background
4.1.

A commitment to become a Borough of Sanctuary was ratified in the Corporate
Strategy, 2018-2022, under the Open Lewisham commitment. The strategy sets out
that:
“Lewisham will be a Sanctuary Borough, welcoming those fleeing violence and
persecution in their own countries and protecting the rights of all migrants, asylum
seekers and refugees.
We will become a recognised Borough of Sanctuary, working with partners to develop
a pledge and practical steps we will take to welcome and include refugees in our
activities, and to actively seek ways of supporting them wherever we can.
We will expand Lewisham’s refugee resettlement programme, with a target of
supporting a further 100 vulnerable families from Syria and other areas of conflict.”

4.2.

The sanctuary movement is focussed on the City of Sanctuary Charter, and on
community led commitments within local areas to see, broadly:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 45
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



The voices of those seeking sanctuary are heard;



The contributions of those seeking sanctuary are acknowledged;



That those seeking sanctuary have fair access;



That good relations are fostered between those seeking sanctuary and other local
residents; and



That good practice is shared to continually improve in the spirit of sanctuary.

4.3.

To be successful, sanctuary work must be community led, and in Lewisham, this work
is driven across the borough by the Lewisham Migration Forum, a consortium of local
providers who work with refugees, asylum seekers and migrants in Lewisham including
the Council. The Council is a founding member of this consortium, with the voting
steering group membership held by Councillor Bonavia as Cabinet Member for
Democracy, Refugees and Accountability.

4.4.

The Council has already been working to improve the borough for all those who call it
home, including those seeking sanctuary here. Some of this work has been happening
in services, addressing the particular needs of those seeking sanctuary or adapting to
be more accessible, and some of this has been through commitments including:

4.5.

4.6.



supporting 100 refugee children as part of a campaign by Safe Passage;



passing a Council motion to ensure families with No Recourse to Public Funds
(NRPF) supported financially under the Children’s Act 1989 are able to secure free
school meals;



and removing the embedded Home Office worker who was previously part of the
No Recourse to Public Funds service.

In addition, the Council has lobbied the Government to change policies or legislation
that are detrimental to the welfare of refugees, asylum-seekers and migrants including:


Calling for a suspension of the NRPF system during the Covid-19 pandemic;



Seeking a reinstatement of the UK’s refugee resettlement scheme as a viable safe
and legal passage for sanctuary; and



Calling for the retention following the end of the post-Brexit transition period of the
legal right to reunion for refugees with family in the UK.

Lewisham is currently at the forefront of sanctuary work in London, with strong
community support coupled with the Council’s corporate commitment and the next
steps are to see commitment to the principles formalised and commitments made
across the borough to improve the landscape for those seeking sanctuary.

5. Strategy development
5.1.

While the Lewisham Migration Forum leads on the borough-wide work around
sanctuary, the Council will have its own application of the sanctuary principles as they
relate to the work the organisation undertakes, while also recognising and respecting
the structures and governance of the organisation. The proposed corporate approach
seeks to align with the national movement and the local work being led by the
Lewisham Migration Forum, without compromising the work of officers who must be
governed first by the law and the Council’s constitution. Where the Council is
constrained by law or national government policy in its aspiration to apply sanctuary
principles in its services, it shall consider how best to campaign for reform.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 46
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.2.

The strategy sets out the equalities perspective of the sanctuary work. Sanctuary is a
thematic equalities issue – it relates to a group of individuals who will all have at least
one protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010, and who often have
intersectionality of protected characteristics. Sanctuary is ultimately about reducing the
marginalisation of refugees, asylum seekers and migrants.

5.3.

Already in the Council there is work happening which is delivering on sanctuary. As
part of this discussions have already been taking place across the Council to map
together the wide range of work that the Council undertakes to meet the service needs
of refugees asylum seekers and migrants as well as the functions that the Council
performs that impact upon this client group.

5.4.

There are also service areas at the Council which have clear, direct engagement with
refugees, asylum-seekers and migrants. These include the following work areas:


Refugee Resettlement Programme, based in Housing Services;



No Recourse to Public Funds, based in Housing Services;



Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children who are referred to Children’s Social
Care;



topical advice on issues like Windrush and Brexit, coordinated centrally through the
Policy Hub; and



Community Cohesion work in Crime Enforcement and Supporting People.

5.5.

Beyond these areas of work and policy which clearly align to sanctuary, all services are
likely to have some service users who are refugees, asylum seekers or migrants, and
sanctuary for the Council is about all services having an understanding and explicit
consideration of these individuals in service development, design and delivery. In many
services, this is already happening and the aim of having a strategic approach is to
draw it together, share and celebrate good practice, continually improve and deliver a
better Lewisham for all.

5.6.

The Sanctuary Strategy will:

5.7.



Promote awareness of the Council’s commitment and formalise the aspiration of
the Corporate Strategy, taking the work forward from ‘we will’ towards ‘we are’;



Give officers clarity of what sanctuary means and how it relates to the work they
are carrying out, with clear guidance that relates sanctuary work to equalities work
and good service design and delivery; and



Set the expectation, providing the tools to meet the expectation and embedding
performance management of this corporately to ensure that the objectives are met.

This strategy, contained at Appendix A, and the framework proposed within it will see
all services translating the Corporate Strategy commitment into service level activity
which will mean tangible change for residents seeking sanctuary.

6. Impact of Covid-19
6.1.

The impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s sanctuary borough work has been significant.
In response to the pandemic, the Council acted quickly to co-locate information for
refugees, asylum seekers and migrants on a single page on the Council’s website. This
has helped to ensure that refugees, asylum seekers and migrants have been able to
access relevant information and services that they need at a critcal time for them.

6.2.

In addition to this, the Council has contunued to liaise closely with partners in the
voluntary and community sector, who have been reaching out to communities at risk in

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 47
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

the borough and supporting them with services such as food parcels.
6.3.

There is however a recognition that more needs to be done to better and fully
understand the impact of Covid-19 on refugees, asylum seekers and migrants in the
borough. Anecdotally, because these communities are more likely to be of BAME
heritage they are also most likely to be in the highest categories of risk for Covid-19
infection and mortality. As the Council continues with its gathering and analysis of data
relating to better understanding the context and impact of Covid-19 in Lewisham,
additional efforts will be made to gain insight and understanding as to what the imapct
of this has been on the borough’s refugees, asylum seekers and migrants.

7. Next steps
7.1.

Adoption of the strategy will mark the beginning of Lewisham as a Borough of
Sanctuary, formalising the aspiration and denoting the move from working towards, to
working to maintain. This will be followed by formal recognition of Lewisham by the City
of Sanctuary movement as a Borough of Sanctuary, which is expected to take place in
due course.

7.2.

Work will need to continue and a consistent drive for sanctuary will be required to
ensure that the borough continues to be a welcoming one for those seeking sanctuary
here. Sanctuary is not a one-off piece of work, but is about culture change, which must
be maintained if the sanctuary designation is to remain legitimate.

7.3.

A Sanctuary Borough Programme Manager post has been recruited to, which is coordinating sanctuary work across the Council. This post is already working to populate
the Council’s first annual sanctuary action plan and follow the processes set out within
the strategic framework. As part of this, a report will b delivered to Corporate Equalities
Board and Executive Management Team against the plans in the next financial year.

7.4.

Appendix B shows an example set of actions as an indication of how the corporate
action plans will be populated in line with this strategy. It should be noted that the
impact of Covid-19 has meant that progress on the action plan has been delayed as a
number of key services are focsuing their efforts on responding to the pandemic. It is
important that going forward, this work managed sensitively and cogniscant of the
impacts and learning opportunites arising from the pandemic.

7.5.

The Council, as a member of the Lewisham Migration Forum, will also continue to
support the borough-wide action plan and will feed into this the work taking place within
the Council.

8. Financial implications
8.1.

The Sanctuary Borough Programme Manager post is a temporary post for which
additional corporate funding has been provided. Any other measures related to
implementing the Sanctuary Strategy and associated framework are expected to be
met from existing budgets.

9. Legal implications
9.1.

There are no specific legal implications for this report, save for noting that when
pursuing its undertaking, the Council must comply with the provisions of the Equalities
Act 2010.

9.2.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 48
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

duty or the duty). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
9.3.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:




eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

9.4.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above.

9.5.

The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.

9.6.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the
Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/adviceand-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technicalguidance

9.7.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:






9.8.

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities
Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities
Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources
are available at:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 49
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance#h1

10.

Equalities implications

10.1.

There is no definitive measure of the number of refugees, asylum seekers and
migrants living in Lewisham. While there are specific legal definition of ‘refugee’ and
‘asylum’seeker’, any definition attributable to ‘migrant’ is largely subjective.

10.2.

For the purposes of this report a crude proxy measure for the number of refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants living in Lewisham is the ‘passports held’ data from the
2011 Census. This suggests that some one on five Lewisham residents holds a foreign
passport. Another crude estimate based on Lewisham’s Electoral Roll suggests that
nationals of more that 70 countries are resident in the borough.

10.3.

It is also estimated that that refugees, asylum seekers and migrants are more likely to
be of BAME heritage. This is borne out by data from the 2011 Census which shows
that residents of Black /African/ Caribbean heritage represent 27% of the BAME
population, Asian/ Asian British represent 9.2% of the BAME population and those of
Mixed/ Multiple Ethnicity represent 7.4% of the BAME population. As already set out in
this report, this presents significant real-world socio-economic challenges as it relates
to Covid-19. However, there are also very practical service related issues for refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants as it relates to:


ESOL classess



Housing and homelessness



EU Settled Status



Schools



Employment



Access to health services



Access to local community networks

11.

Climate change and environmental implications

11.1.

There are no specific environmental or climate change implications to this report.

12.

Crime and disorder implications

12.1.

There are no specific crime and disorder implications to this report.

12.2.

Section 17 places a duty on partners to do all they can to reasonably prevent crime
and disorder in their area. The level of crime and its impact is influenced by the
decisions and activities taken in the day-to-day of local bodies and organisations. The
responsible authorities are required to provide a range of services in their community
from policing, fire protection, planning, consumer and environmental protection,
transport and highways. They each have a key statutory role in providing these
services and, in carrying out their core activities, can significantly contribute to reducing
crime and improving the quality of life in their area.

12.3.

Work to promote Lewisham as a place of sanctuary for those seeking it will involve
extensive work with the community to foster good relations and promote community

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 50
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

cohesion.

13.

Health and wellbeing implications

13.1.

There are no specific health and wellbeing implications to this report.

13.2.

Work to promote good and fair access to health services for all, including those who
may currently face barriers amongst those seeking sanctuary, will seek to improve
health and wellbeing amongst these marginalised groups.

14.

Background papers

14.1.

There are no background papers for this report.

14.2.

There are three appendices to the report:
Appendix A – Draft Sanctuary Strategy
Appendix B – Sample Action Plan
Appendix C – Equalities Analysis Assessment

15.

Glossary

Term

Definition

A refugee is someone who:




Refugee

has a well-founded fear of being persecuted for
reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a
particular social group or political opinion; and
is outside the country of their nationality; and
is unable, or owing to their well-founded fear
unwilling, to avail themselves of the protection of that
country.

In the UK, a person becomes a refugee when government
agrees that their application for asylum meets this definition
(taken from the Refugee Convention) and recognises them as
a refugee. The other route for refugee status in the UK is to be
accepted onto one of the dedicated resettlement schemes
prior to arrival.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 51
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Term

Definition

Asylum seeker

An asylum seeker, or a person seeking asylum, is someone
who has left their country of origin and formally applied for
asylum but whose application has not yet been concluded,
where asylum is protection or safety given by a government
to people forced to leave their own countries for fear of
persecution.

Migrant

A migrant is someone who has moved from one country to
another, not for reasons of asylum or refuge. Often the move
is for work, education or to be with family.

16.

Report author and contacts

16.1.

For further information please contact Paul Aladenika, on 020 8314 7148 or by
emailing paul.aladenika@lewisham.gov.uk.

16.2.

For further information on the financial comments in this report, please contact John
Johnstone, Acting Group Finance Manager, Financial Services on 020 8314 7736 or by
emailing john.johnstone@lewisham.gov.uk.

16.3.

For further information on the legal comments in this report, please contact Petra Der
Man, Principal Lawyer, Legal Services on 020 8314 6440 or by emailing
PetraDerMan@lewisham.gov.uk.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 52
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Borough
of Sanctuary

Lewisham Borough of
Sanctuary Strategy

A welcoming place of safety for all
2020–25
Page 53

02

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Mayor Damian Egan and Cllr Kevin Bonavia sign a
letter to government calling for the extension of the
refugee resettlement scheme, June 2019.

Page 54

03

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Our borough has a proud history of supporting refugees and migrants.
The cruel concept of a “hostile environment” is anathema to us. Rather
we celebrate and are strengthened by our diversity and the values we hold
which enable and empower it.
As part of the Council’s Corporate Strategy
commitment to be an open and welcoming
borough, the Council is a founding member of
the Lewisham Migration Forum which is coordinating the collective effort for Lewisham
to become a Borough of Sanctuary, welcoming
those fleeing violence and persecution in their
own countries and protecting the rights of all
migrants, asylum-seekers and refugees. Our
aim within the forum is to persuade individuals
and organisations across our borough to join
us in enacting the principles of the Cities of
Sanctuary movement.

The Council is also making changes across
the entire organisation to create a supportive
environment for refugees, asylum seekers and
migrants who access our services and also to
work with partners to identify national policy
issues where we can work collectively to
encourage and enable change. This strategy
sets out the Council’s individual commitments
towards the Sanctuary Borough goal, and
provides a policy anchor for the wide variety
of work the Council undertakes. It provides
a common understanding of the meaning of
sanctuary and a framework for its delivery by
the Council.
I am very pleased to recommend this
strategy as the expression of our collective
determination to make this Council a champion
for all those seeking sanctuary in Lewisham.

‘I am very pleased to recommend this
strategy as the expression of our collective
determination to make this Council a
champion for all those seeking sanctuary
in Lewisham.’
Councillor Kevin Bonavia
Cabinet Member for Democracy,
Refugees & Accountability

Page 55

04

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Introduction
This strategy governs the work of officers across the Council and informs
our engagement with partners. It is tied to the wider work on sanctuary
across the borough and formalises the Council’s role in this work.

This document is formed of the following parts:
• Introduction
• Principles of sanctuary
• Delivery approach
• Implementation, governance and
accountability
• Appendix 1: definitions
• Appendix 2: action plan template
• Appendix 3: local data

Other documents, provided they align with the
principles, can and should be developed locally
in individual services and divisions to support
the Council’s vision to deliver services which
support the borough’s sanctuary status and
promote and safeguard the rights of refugees,
migrants and asylum seekers.
This strategy is for five years with a review
built in after the second year. This is to enable
services to develop with the stability of a
medium-term strategic directive while allowing
the strategy to be responsive to any changes
and progress towards the middle of the
strategy term.

Page 56

05

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Page 57

06

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Corporate Strategy: Open Lewisham
The Council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-2022 sets out the corporate objectives
relating to making Lewisham a Borough of Sanctuary:
Open Lewisham: Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all, where we
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us.

1. Lewisham will be a place where diversity

• We will publish a review of the cumulative

and cultural heritage are recognised as a
strength and celebrated
• We will establish an Accessibility
Commission led by disabled people, which
will make public services more accessible
and make it easier to get around our
borough.
• We will work with groups giving voice to the
borough’s diverse lesbian, gay, bisexual and
transgender (LGBT+) community.

impact of Council decisions on different
groups in our community.
• We will work to understand and mitigate
the impact of Brexit in the borough, so we
can protect jobs and opportunities for our
residents where possible.
• We will strive to make the Council’s
workforce more representative of our
borough’s diverse population at all levels.

Page 58

07

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

2. Hate Crime will not be tolerated

3. Lewisham will be a Sanctuary Borough,
welcoming those fleeing violence and
persecution in their own countries and
protecting the rights of all migrants, asylum

• We will actively challenge all forms of
discrimination, including racism, sexism,
homophobia, antisemitism, Islamophobia,
ageism, and all other forms of hatred.

seekers and refugees.

• We will tackle unconscious bias and support
local awareness campaigns.
• We will support events that bring our
community together.
• We will work closely with the police so that
perpetrators of hate crime are brought to
justice.

• We will become a recognised Borough of
Sanctuary, working with partners to develop
a pledge and practical steps we will take
to welcome and include refugees, asylum
seekers and migrants in our activities, and
to actively seek ways of supporting them
wherever we can.
• We will expand Lewisham’s refugee
resettlement programme, with a target of
supporting a further 100 vulnerable families
from Syria and other areas of conflict.

Page 59

08

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

City of Sanctuary: Charter,
Vision, Values and Principles
The Council is committed to the principles and values of the City of
Sanctuary movement. These are set out in their charter which can be found
in full here: https://cityofsanctuary.org/about/
In line with their vision for the UK, Lewisham’s vision is that Lewisham will be a welcoming
place of safety for all and proud to offer sanctuary to people fleeing violence and
persecution.
The vision is underpinned by five values which Lewisham is also committed to adopting, adapted
for the local context as set out below:

Inclusiveness

We welcome and respect people from all backgrounds,
place the highest value on diversity and are committed to
equality.

Openness

We are committed to a culture of working collaboratively
and in partnership with others.

Page 60

09

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Participation

We value and recognise the contribution of all involved in
making Lewisham a place of sanctuary. We aspire to ensure
people seeking sanctuary are fully involved in decision
making processes and are supported to become leaders
within the borough and more widely.

Inspiring

We work with enthusiasm and positivity and are determined
to surpass what has already been achieved to welcome
refugees and people seeking sanctuary. We act as a catalyst
for change by being open to new and innovative ideas and
through sharing knowledge gained with others and working
in partnership.

Integrity

We aspire to high standards of honesty and behaviour, and
always to act in the interests of people seeking sanctuary.

The vision and values feed into the seven principles which the Council will use in the
development and delivery of services.

Page 61

10

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

City of Sanctuary: Charter, Vision,
Values and Principles
Sanctuary Principles

We will…

Offer a positive vision of
a culture of welcome and
hospitality to all

Promote in our borough an unwavering commitment to
equality, protecting and promoting the rights and welfare of
all our residents.

Promote relationships of
friendship and solidarity
between local people and
those seeking sanctuary

Support community development and foster good
community relations, rejecting all forms of discrimination
and hate crime.

Recognise and encourage
partnership working

Work with our partners and communities to improve the
borough for everyone who lives and works here, using our
influence to create positive changes.

Identify opportunities for
practical action and work on
common cause issues to effect
change within and across
communities

Work across our services to take practical steps wherever we
can to mitigate disadvantages related to being a refugee,
asylum seeker or migrant.

Page 62

11

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Sanctuary Principles

We will…

Celebrate and promote the
welcome and contribution of
people seeking sanctuary

Proudly recognise and celebrate the diversity that
strengthens our borough and continue to welcome
those seeking sanctuary through our resettlement and
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children programmes.

Engage people seeking
sanctuary in decision making
processes at all levels and in
all activities

Keep at the heart of our work the idea that ‘nothing without
us is about us’ and make sure those seeking sanctuary are
enabled and empowered to have their voices heard.

Promote understanding of
asylum and refugee issues,
especially by enabling refugee
voices to be heard directly

Seek to become practice leaders in our work with refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants, promoting awareness and
understanding across the Council, borough and beyond

Page 63

12

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Delivery approach
interact with our services to enable
informed decision making.

Sanctuary in practice
Sanctuary is applicable to all work in the
Council. Being a Borough of Sanctuary is
described by different people in different ways
and encompasses all of the above.
At its heart, the essence of sanctuary is to act
in the spirit of the Equality Act in the case of
the marginalisation of refugees, asylum seekers
and migrants, promoting and safeguarding the
welfare of these residents as the Council would
any other resident.
The council has a duty in our everyday work to
do our best, by, for and with all our residents.
This includes those seeking sanctuary.

• Council services have links with relevant
community organisations, to provide
feedback on service delivery and explore
opportunities for partnership working.
• The Council helps to build and support local
capacity to support the needs of refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants.
• The Council acts transparently and
welcomes internal and external review of
our performance towards our Sanctuary
goals.

The aim of the Borough of Sanctuary
Programme is to ensure that:

We will do this by:

• All services are able to demonstrate
consideration of the needs of refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants, and that
reasonable adjustments have been made to
accommodate them where necessary.

• Consulting with Council service leads,
local stakeholders, and residents who
are refugees, asylum seekers or migrants
to identify the needs of this group of
residents.

• The Council collects relevant data on how
refugees, asylum seekers and migrants

• Conducting a Sanctuary review of services
and advising them on steps they can take

Page 64

13

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

to improve the service offer for refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants. In line with
Equalities legislation, we will expect them
to adapt services if it is reasonable to do
so, and the agreed steps will form an action
plan.
• Advising the Council corporately on the
needs of refugees, asylum seekers and
migrants, and the sector that supports them
within Lewisham, and developing strategies
to support them.
• Building relationships within the wider
Sanctuary Network and refugee sector
to share good practice and work towards
common goals.
• Reviewing the performance of the Council
against Sanctuary goals at relevant internal
and external fora.

• Ensuring services are accessible to refugees
and migrants - do staff know how to
access our interpretation services? Is our
language clear and universal? Do we have
any requirements which inadvertently
disadvantage certain groups? Are we
promoting our services to those seeking
sanctuary?
• Considering refugees and migrants in
service development - do we know which
services are being accessed by people
seeking sanctuary? Has there been explicit
consideration of any needs these individuals
may have?
• Including the specific marginalisation of
refugees and migrants in their equalities
considerations and adapting and amending
delivery to mitigate any disadvantage – do
services need to adjust their processes
to avoid disadvantaging those seeking
sanctuary? Do services understand the
marginalisation those seeking sanctuary
experience?

What this means for services
Listed below are examples of the kind of steps
that services will be expected to take, and
questions they will need to consider:

Page 65

14

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Delivery approach
• Listening to and understanding the
experiences of those seeking sanctuary
in Lewisham – do we know whether
consultations include refugee, migrant or
asylum seeker voices? Do we understand
the service user journey of those seeking
sanctuary?
• Providing the same level of service for
refugees and migrants as for any other
resident – do staff understand the rights
and entitlements of different types of
immigration status? Do services make clear
how users can report any issues with the
service they have received?

What this doesn’t mean
This doesn’t mean that any officer should act
outside of the law or the Council’s constitution.
This strategy is superseded by any legislative or
constitutional requirements.
Sanctuary is about working within these
requirements in a sensitive and positive way to

promote and safeguard the rights and welfare
of those seeking sanctuary.

What this means for the community
Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary has always
been conceived as a partnership between
statutory services and the community. We will
continue to work closely with our local partners
throughout the lifetime of this strategy, and
aim to build a sustainable network which will
continue beyond 2025.
Lewisham Migration Forum (LMF) was created
to bring these stakeholders together and
works towards the creation of the Borough
of Sanctuary. This is an open forum for
representatives of groups and organisations
working with refugees, asylum seekers and
migrants in Lewisham.
It will continue to have a leading role in
realising our objectives as a Borough of
Sanctuary through providing guidance on the
issues affecting refugees, asylum seekers and

Page 66

15

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

migrant residents and agreeing measures to
resolve them.
We will develop and agree a Sanctuary action
plan with members of the LMF which will
set objectives, identify actions and allocate
responsibility among partners. This will be
regularly reviewed at LMF meetings and form
part of the reports submitted to the Corporate
Equalities Board and Executive Management
Team. These action plans will run concurrently
with the action plans that we develop with
services, but the aims and objectives of each
will inform the other.
We will also seek to build effective working
relationships with a range of partners operating
within the borough, including local and
national organisations in the public, private
and voluntary sector. We will actively look to
create and pursue opportunities for partnership
working, information sharing and improved
service delivery with these organisations.
The overarching aim of the Borough of
Sanctuary is to enhance the community

capacity within Lewisham to meet the needs
of refugees, asylum seekers and migrants and
help them to thrive as valued members of the
community.

The impact of Covid-19 on programme
delivery
Sadly, Covid-19 has had a significant impact on
the situation of refugees, asylum and migrants
in Lewisham. Through our work as a Borough
of Sanctuary we will seek to understand this
impact and develop strategies to mitigate
this, both through the way we deliver services
and the way we work with partners in the
community.
The response to Covid-19 in Lewisham has
involved a coordinated partnership between
the Council and a range of community and
voluntary organisations. We will aim to maintain
and build upon these links to support the
delivery of our objectives as a Borough of
Sanctuary.

Page 67

16

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Implementation, governance
and accountability
Corporate change and service review
Corporately, the needs of refugees, asylum
seekers and migrants will be more formally
considered. In activities like service planning,
consultation and equalities monitoring you will
see more reference to the needs of refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants and services will
be expected to consider the needs of these
groups of people more explicitly than in the
past.

This should include being a refugee, asylum
seeker or migrant. These groups of individuals
often experience inequality related to other
protected characteristics like race and religion,
may have fled discrimination for characteristics
like gender or sexual orientation, and may
also be marginalised in other ways with an
intersectionality to their immigration status.

Action planning
Whenever there is a proposal for a service
to be changed, withdrawn or introduced,
officers should carry out an Equalities Analysis
Assessment (EAA). Guidance for this can be
found in the Council’s Corporate Equality
Policy. While our equality duty is specifically
to the nine protected characteristics named
in the Equality Act 2010, officers are able to,
and should, consider wider inequalities and

This strategy will inform an action plan with
each Council directorate and division setting
out how they are working to improve and
develop their service offer for refugees,
asylum seekers and migrants. The format for
this action plan is laid out in Appendix 2. The
action plan will be monitored centrally.

marginalised groups.

Page 68

17

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Governance and decision making
The corporate board for sanctuary is the
Corporate Equalities Board. The scrutiny
committee for sanctuary is Safer Stronger
Communities Committee.
Reports will be made twice yearly to the
Corporate Equalities Board on the action plan
– once at the start of the financial year when
service plans have been finalised and actions
refreshed, to report on year progress and new
targets, and once in the third quarter of the
year to monitor delivery in-year. Following
reporting at the Corporate Equalities Board
an update on progress and key issues will be
presented to the Executive Management Team.
Directorate Management Teams will need to
ensure that each directorate is working on
their actions and will be accountable to the
Corporate Equalities Board and ultimately the
Executive Management Team for their progress.

Page 69

Lewisham Sanctuary Conference, June 2019

18

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Appendix 1: Definitions
There are some core concepts that this strategy centres on which need
to have a common meaning across the Council. These are defined for the
purpose of this strategy as set out below:
Key Term

Description

An asylum seeker, or a
person seeking asylum

An asylum seeker, or a person seeking asylum, is someone who
has left their country of origin and formally applied for asylum
but whose application has not yet been concluded, where
asylum is protection or safety given by a government to people
forced to leave their own countries for fear of persecution

A refugee

A refugee is someone who:
i. has a well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of
race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social
group or political opinion; and
ii. is outside the country of their nationality; and
iii. is unable, or owing to their well-founded fear unwilling, to
avail themselves of the protection of that country.
In the UK, a person becomes a refugee when government
agrees that their application for asylum meets this definition
(taken from the Refugee Convention) and recognises them as
a refugee. The other route for refugee status in the UK is to
be accepted onto one of the dedicated resettlement schemes
prior to arrival.

Page 70

19

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Key Term

Description

UASC

UASC stands for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children
and refers to children who are outside their country of origin
seeking asylum, are separated from parents and relatives, and
are not in the care of someone who is responsible for them in a
guardianship role.

The Vulnerable Children’s
Resettlement Scheme,
Vulnerable Person’s
Resettlement Scheme, or
the Global Resettlement
Scheme

The Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme, Vulnerable
Person’s Resettlement Scheme (both up to 2020/21) or the
Global Resettlement Scheme (from 2020/21) refer to specific
programmes where the Home Office and United Nations
Human Rights Committee identify the most vulnerable
refugees for resettlement. The refugee resettlement
programme is how we refer to this programme in the Council,
where we accept referrals to welcome and resettle these
families.

A migrant

A migrant is someone who has moved from one country to
another, not for reasons of asylum or refuge. Often the move
is for work, education or to be with family. People may also
move to alleviate significant hardships that arise from natural
disasters, famine or extreme poverty.

Page 71

20

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Appendix 2: Action Plan Approach
The action plans will be held in excel format. The below provides the
information headings in an accessible format for indicative purposes.

Reference
Directorate
Division
Service area
Action

Owner
Milestones

Status
Date added
Date due
RAG rating (with date)
Comments (with dates)

Page 72

21

Lewisham Borough of Sanctuary Strategy 2020–25

Appendix 3: Local data
Figure 1: Nationality
UK nationals
Non-UK nationals

Figure 2: Long Term
International Migration
Inflow
Outflow

Figure 3: Country of birth
excluding UK
Lewisham
London
England

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/migrationwithintheuk/datasetslocalareamigrationindicatorsunitedkingdom.

Page 73

Contact Us
If you have any questions about this
Borough of Sanctuary Strategy
please contact:
Phil Baker
Borough of Sanctuary Programme Manager
Lewisham Council
E: Philip.Baker@lewisham.gov.uk
T: +44 (0) 7584 385881

Page 74

Sanctuary Action Plan Housing, Regeneration and Environment
Ref

RAG Rating
Date added Date due
with date
Comments with date
Follow up date
14/10/19
14/03/20
11/12/19 27/10/2020 - Complete.
Cards produced and
distributed to clients. Some
benefit found. Consideration
will be given to rolling out to
all resettled refugees and
other relevant service users.

Division
Housing
Services

Service area
Action
Owner
Milestones
Housing
Pilot 'I need a translator' cards on the Rachel Dunn Production of cards, distribution to
Partnerships and refugee programme
refugees on programme, review of
Service
efficacy with pilot users at 3 months
Improvement

Status
Open

2 Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm

Housing
Services

Housing
Partnerships and
Service
Improvement

Work with local and Lewishamspecific RPs to get them to pledge
their commitment to sanctuary and
support them to develop an action
they will take as part of this

Open

14/10/19

14/04/20

11/12/19 29/10/2020 - In progress. The
action hasn’t been taken due
to pressures placed on the
service by Covid. However,
the service will continue to
engage with RP’s to seek
commitments and anticipates
being able to do so within 6
months.

29/04/20

3 Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm

Housing
Services

Private Sector
Housing Agency

Work with local letting agents to get Sukhi Nijjar
them to pledge their commitment to
sanctuary and compile a list of
Sanctuary Lettings Agents to be
shared with service user groups and
online

First agent pledged, 3 agents pledged, Open
first Sanctuary Lettings Agents list
published

14/10/19

14/06/20

27/06/21

4 Housing, Regeneration and
Environment

Housing
Services

Private Sector
Housing Agency

Produce short guide for refugees and Sukhi Nijjar
migrants on the UK/Lewisham rental
market and how to rent a property

First version of guide produced

Open

14/10/19

14/04/20

11/12/19 27/10/2020 - In progress.
Action not complete due to
impact of Covid-19 and
amended priorities. Met with
service lead and agreed
revised timescale for
completion.
11/12/19 27/10/2020 - In progress.
Action not complete due to
impact of Covid-19 and
amended priorities. Met with
service lead and agreed
revised timescale for
completion. The service has
produced a general guide in
English for tenants new to
living in rented
accommodation, which
contains information relevant
to refugees, asylum seekers
and migrants and to which
they can be signposted and
we will work with them to
produce something more
tailored to the needs of
refugees and migrants.

5 Housing, Regeneration and
Environment

Housing
Services

Private Sector
Housing Agency

Produce a guide for refugees and
Fenella
migrants on their housing rights and Beckman
clear and accessible routes to
housing enforcement

First version of guide produced

Open

14/10/19

14/04/20

11/12/19 27/10/2020 - In progress.
Detailed guides for landlords
and tenants have been
produced in English and are
available on our website. We
will look to increase
awareness of this information
among refugees and
migrants, and signpost them
to it.

6 Housing, Regeneration and
Environment

Housing
Services

Housing Needs
and NRPF

Send all front line staff a reminder of Lee Georgiou Reminder sent
how to access translation and
interpretation services

Open

14/10/19

14/12/20

11/12/19 22/10/2020 - Completed. Lee
completed this action prior to
his departure.

7 Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm

Housing
Services

Housing Needs
and NRPF

Provide online guidance for refugees, Fenella
asylum-seekers and migrants on how Beckman
the allocations policy may apply to
them

Online guidance published

Open

14/10/19

14/04/20

11/12/19 27/10/2020 - In progress. We
do currently have guidance
available in English which can
be accessed via our website
and the online housing
questionnaire, however this is
not tailored to refugees.
Further work will be
undertaken to amend the
online housing questionnaire
to tailor it to the needs of
refugees, asylum seekers and
migrants.

8 Housing, Regeneration and
Environment

Housing
Services

Housing Needs
and NRPF

Produce signposting to independent Fergus
advice for those with NRPF
Downie

Signposting published

Open

16/01/20

14/04/20

16/01/20 27/10/2020 - Complete.
Signposting incorporated into
leaflets given to clients.

9 Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm

Housing
Services

Private Sector
Housing Agency

Sukhi Nijjar

Comms plan signed off

Open

16/01/20

14/04/20

16/01/20 30/10/2020 - In progress.

10 Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm

Housing
Services

Private Sector
Housing Agency

Develop promotional campaign to
encourage landlords to rent to
refugees
Consider opportunities with the
landlord forum for training or
development in property
development and management for
migrants or other opportunities to
support sanctuary

Fenella
Beckman

Agenda item for forum to discuss
sanctuary - to lead to further action
dependent on outcome

Open

16/01/20

14/05/20

16/01/20 26/10/2020 - Action revised
after discussion with service.
The Landlord Forum has not
met during this time. It has
been agreed that officers
from the Licensing and
Housing Enforcement Service
will support the Borough of
Sanctuary objectives through
signposting or delivering
information at events
organised by local migrant
organisations.

11 Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm

Housing
Services

Housing Needs
and NRPF

Hogan Lovells impact assessment
report published

Open

16/01/20

18/03/20

16/01/20 27/10/2020 - Complete.
Review led to the
appointment of full time
imigration adviser with
Southwark Law Centre.

Page 75

Directorate
1 Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm

12
13
14
15
16
17

Rachel Dunn First RP pledged, 3 RPs pledged, first
action complete

Review independent assesment of
Fergus
immigration advice in Lewisham and Downie
cost benefits

27/11/20

27/06/21

29/04/20

Page 76

Page 77

Agenda Item 5
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

11/11/20
Housing Strategy 2020-26 and Homelessness and
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-22

Originator of Report

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing

x

x

Ext.

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Signed:
Cllr Paul Bell Cabinet Member for Housing
Date: 2nd November 2020
Signed :
Kevin Sheehan Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm
Date: 2nd November 2020
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 78

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\9\3\ai00026397\$51nvnb1t.doc

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Housing Strategy 2020-26 and
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-22
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Fenella Beckman, Director for Housing Services

Outline and recommendations
The purpose of this report is to present Mayor and Cabinet with the final Housing
Strategy 2020-26 and Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2022.
Mayor and Cabinet is recommended to approve both strategies for publication.

Page 79

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
December 2019

Draft Housing strategy presented to Mayor and Cabinet

15 January 2020

Draft Housing strategy presented to Housing Select Committee

January – April 2020

Draft Housing strategy subject to public consultation

15 September 2020

Both strategies presented to Housing Select Committee

11 November 2020

Both strategies to be presented to Mayor & Cabinet for final sign
off

1.

Summary

1.1.

Housing Strategy

1.2.

This report gives an outline of the Housing Strategy 2020 – 2026 and the main
priorities for action.

1.3.

A draft version of this strategy was presented to Mayor and Cabinet in December 2019.
Since then public consultation has taken place in addition to a number of other internal
and external engagement activities. There has also been a review of the draft strategy
in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has influenced some of the changes.

1.4.

Homeless & Rough Sleeping Strategy

1.5.

This report also gives an outline of the draft Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy
2020-2022 and the main priorities for action.

1.6.

Development of this strategy began in late 2019 but was paused due to COVID-19.
The final strategy has been developed by a newly formed strategic group,
representation including health, NHS and social care colleagues. This group was
formed as a response to the pandemic and has offered an opportunity to deliver
homelessness response from a strategic, multi-disciplinary level.

1.7.

This strategy is being proposed as a two-year document so that a long term strategy
can be established after the longer term implications of COVID-19 are fully understood.

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are asked to agree the final strategies for immediate publication.

3.

Policy context

3.1.

The contents of this report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It
supports the achievements of the Corporate Strategy objectives:

3.1.1. Tackling the housing crisis – Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.
3.1.2. Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has access to an
outstanding and inspiring education and is given the support they need to keep them
safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.
3.1.3. Delivering and defending: health, social care and support - Ensuring everyone receives
the health, mental health, social care and support services they need. The pandemic

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 80
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

has brought this to the forefront of much of our work due to new enhanced partnerships
with Public Health and other health colleagues. Service delivery through the COVID-19
prism must prioritise the health and wellbeing of our service users.

4.

Background

4.1.

The current Housing Strategy was agreed in 2015 and expires this year in 2020. Since
this strategy was developed, there have been significant changes in the housing
landscape, the scale and impact of the housing crisis and rising homelessness levels.
In addition, the Homelessness Reduction Act has substantially changed the way in
which we carry out our statutory homeless duties.

4.2.

Under the Homelessness Act 2002, all housing authorities must have in place a
homelessness strategy based on a review of all forms of homelessness in their district.
Until now we have incorporated our homelessness strategy within the wider housing
strategy. Given the increase in homelessness and rough sleeping since the inception
of the previous housing strategy, we will move forward with a dedicated homelessness
and rough sleeping strategy.

4.3.

These new strategies are timely; they lay out how we in Lewisham will tackle the
housing crisis. They provide direction on how we will respond, now and in the future, to
the increases in homelessness in recent years as a result of the critical lack of
genuinely affordable housing.

5.

The strategies

5.1.

The Housing strategy 2020-26

5.2.

The key priorities of the Housing strategy are:


Delivering the homes that Lewisham needs;



Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need;



Improving the quality, standard and safety of housing;



Supporting our residents to live safe, independent and active lives;



Strengthening communities and embracing diversity.

5.3.

The draft Housing strategy went out to public consultation between 28 January and 17
April 2020. The consultation received 225 responses from individuals and partners
across the voluntary and community sectors. This is a successful response rate when
looking at other boroughs; for example Hackney’s 2017 Housing strategy consultation
received 150 responses; the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea’s 2019
consultation received 95 responses and Enfield’s 2019 consultation received 285
responses.

5.4.

In addition to formal consultation, a number of other engagement activities have taken
place to inform the strategy, including: informal consultation events and face to face
discussions with internal partners; a consultation event attended by 30 external
partners, followed up by face to face discussions; an informal residents’ consultation
event hosted by Lewisham Homes; two discussion events with Housing Select
Committee members.

5.5.

The consultation highlighted that the top three areas that are deemed the most
important are: ‘preventing homelessness and meeting housing need’, ‘improving the
quality, standard and safety of housing’ and ‘delivering the homes that Lewisham
needs.’ A relatively small number of respondents denoted any of the proposals as
‘unimportant’ or ‘somewhat unimportant’.

5.6.

The consultation highlighted that our initial draft strategy did not adequately address

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 81
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

young people and their needs. This has been reflected in the final document. There
has also been a review of the strategy in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has
influenced some of the changes, including a renewed need to review our use of shared
temporary accommodation. COVID-19 has also starkly highlighted the disparity in
health outcomes in BAME people; the strategy has been adapted to demonstrate that
recovery work will be firmly rooted in addressing inequality.
5.7.

The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy 2020-22

5.8.

The key priorities of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy are:


Prevent homelessness at the earliest opportunity with the most appropriate level of
support;



Support people to access a stable and secure home;



Support rough sleepers to enable access to services and sustainable
accommodation;



Adapt and be agile in our service delivery to support residents impacting by
COVID-19;



Strengthen partnership working.

5.9.

Delivery of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy has been more
challenging as a result of the onset of the pandemic. Officers initially planned to carry
out formal consultation with partners on a draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping
strategy during March and April 2020. COVID-19 prevented this from happening.

5.10.

It quickly became clear as we responded to the pandemic that there were short,
medium and long-term consequences for our homelessness and rough sleeping
services. This caused us to pause and consider the impacts on the development of a
new strategy.

5.11.

As the pandemic continues, uncertainties remain around our service delivery,
particularly in rough sleeper services and housing provision, and due to the ongoing
service transformation of our newly remote service model.

5.12.

In response to the pandemic, colleagues across Housing, Public Health, the NHS and
community services formed an operational group to manage the response to COVID19 in our pathways, shared and hostel accommodation for our most vulnerable
residents. This exceptional partnership working highlighted an opportunity and drive to
approach service delivery in a more joined-up way. We want to ensure that
homelessness and rough sleeping is considered at a strategic level through a multidisciplinary lens.

5.13.

For these reasons, the group has co-developed the attached two-year strategy, which
it is intended will be monitored by a newly formed director-led and joined-up strategic
group. A longer term strategy will be developed through this group.

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

There are no direct financial implications arising from these strategies.

6.2.

There are significant costs associated with housing generally, including managing the
allocations service, managing the supply and provision of council housing and
providing services to those experiencing homelessness or the threat of homelessness.
All of these are affected over time by demand. Development of the Housing Strategy
2020-26 and Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy 2020-22 helps to manage
this demand with the resources allocated for that purpose.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 82
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7.

Legal implications

7.1.

The Deregulation Act 2015 abolished the statutory requirement for English authorities
to produce a housing strategy as previously required by section 87 of the Local
Government Act 2003.

7.2.

Section 333D of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 provides that any local housing
strategy of any London borough has to be in general conformity with the Mayor’s
London Housing Strategy.

7.3.

Meeting the Council’s statutory housing obligations is reflected in the objectives of the
housing strategy: statutory homelessness duty; provision of housing advice and
landlord responsibilities.

7.4.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the
equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.5.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:

7.5.1. eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.
7.5.2. advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not.
7.5.3. foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not.
7.6.

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is
not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity or foster good relations.

7.7.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010

7.8.

Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/adviceand-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice

7.9.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:

7.9.1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
7.9.2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
7.9.3. Engagement and the equality duty
7.9.4. Equality objectives and the equality duty
7.9.5. Equality information and the equality duty

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 83
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

8.

Equalities implications

8.1.

The strategies being considered for adoption are high-level directions to drive the
council towards achieving its objectives. Whilst the strategies themselves are highlevel, upon their adoption there will be specific decisions and projects that may have an
impact on any of the protected characteristics. Each of these key decisions or projects
will be accompanied by evidenced-based equalities analysis assessments.

8.2.

The strategies themselves explicitly reference some priorities and deliverables that
would be specifically targeted at groups with protected characteristics; these are aimed
at ensuring we are offering appropriate and effective services for people with the noted
characteristics. For the purposes of illustration, one strategic deliverable is to “build a
wide range of both adaptable and specialist homes to meet people’s varying needs” –
this would specifically relate to the provision of homes for people with disabilities and
can therefore be considered a positive impact.

8.3.

We recognise that systemic inequalities have been highlighted throughout the COVID19 pandemic. Work needs to be done towards ensuring Housing policies and action
plans drive positive changes in promoting equality and fighting injustice, and this is a
priority of the Housing strategy.

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1.

Actions around the climate emergency are included as part of the proposed Housing
strategy.

9.2.

In addition to our own actions, we will support the progress of our climate emergency
action plan with other colleagues and partners.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

One of the key priorities of the Housing strategy is “strengthening communities and
embracing diversity”. We anticipate that actions and deliverables under this priority will
promote community cohesion.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.1. One of the key priorities of the Housing strategy is “supporting our residents to lead
safe, independent and active lives”. We anticipate that actions and deliverables under
this priority will help to address the health and wellbeing of residents, through working
with health services and other partners to ensure that the varied needs of service users
are met.
11.2.

12.
12.1.

Additionally, the Homeless and Rough Sleeping strategy has been developed in
partnership with Public Health, NHS and community colleagues; therefore priorities
under this strategy have evolved from a multi-disciplinary lens. The COVID-19
pandemic highlighted the fact that health is a vital consideration in this strategy,
particularly our service provision for rough sleepers who have a variety of complex
health needs.

Report author and contact
Fenella Beckman – Director of Housing Services (Fenella.Beckman@lewisham.gov.uk)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 84
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Lewisham’s housing strategy
2020–26

Page 85

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

Foreword from Councillor Bell
Over the course of the last housing strategy 2015–2020,
Lewisham has achieved a lot. Through our building programme,
we have built new social homes for the first time in a generation.
We are proud of council housing and we now have the Building
for Lewisham programme, which is starting to deliver the
genuinely affordable homes our residents need. Our vision is
for everyone to have a safe, secure and genuinely affordable
home. But this is not the reality for many households.
Lewisham, along with the rest of London, is facing an
unprecedented housing crisis. There are not enough
genuinely affordable homes for those who need them.
The cost of housing has increased and incomes have not kept pace. Welfare
reform has left households struggling unfairly. We face a range of challenges
due to continuing budget cuts through Government-imposed austerity. This is
stretching our already limited resources further. If it was not for our hard working
staff both at Lewisham Council and Lewisham Homes, we would be
left increasingly powerless to act against homelessness and poverty.
Additionally the COVID-19 pandemic has put immense pressure on resources as
we work to support vulnerable people, and households in desperate need as a
result of the economic decline. We will need to change the way we work across
services to meet this challenge.
The pandemic has also highlighted health inequalities that are simply not
acceptable. We must ensure that all of our work drives positive changes in
promoting equality and fighting injustice.
That is why we have developed this new housing strategy, to help us move
closer to achieving our vision. It lays out our plans for the next six years, to make
sure we continue to make a difference and try to deal with the housing crisis. In
Lewisham, we are committed to doing all we can. It is the residents of Lewisham
that make it such an amazing place, and strong communities are at the heart of
that. We recognise this and will put residents at the centre of decision-making to
help Lewisham flourish.
Earlier this year we launched a draft strategy for your input. Thank you to
every single one of you who responded to that consultation. Your input is vital
in shaping our final strategy and the actions that underpin it.
Together, we can and will make greater progress.

Page 86

2i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

New council homes
at Dacre Park North

Tackling the housing crisis
Context
There is currently not enough appropriate housing
in Lewisham for everyone to have a safe, stable and
genuinely affordable home. Too many people are
unable to share in our borough’s successes because
they desperately need better solutions to their housing
problems.
Lewisham is the 12th most populated borough in
London, with over 314,000 residents. The population is
projected to grow to almost 390,000 residents by 2050,
increasing pressure on housing in the borough too. We
need to make sure our strategic direction, key priorities
and actions address this, so that our residents can live
independent prosperous lives.
We have set out in our corporate strategy our key
commitments to tackle the housing crisis. We will
provide more genuinely affordable housing. We will
ensure that the diversity that makes Lewisham so strong
is reflected in our housing with mixed communities and

a variety of tenure types. We will improve standards
across all housing sectors. We will give our residents
more independence and stronger voices in the housing
decisions that affect them.
We have already been working towards these
commitments, and earlier this year we launched a draft
housing strategy outlining actions already underway,
and the approach we want to take in working towards
our vision. We consulted you to find out your views
and the results have been used to develop this final
strategy document.

Housing in Lewisham
Huge funding cuts and a lack of the right powers and
resources have led to a housing landscape that does not
adequately provide for the residents of Lewisham.
The amount of households relying on the private rented
sector (PRS) has almost doubled in the last 20 years and
the PRS now accounts for a quarter of available homes.

Page 87

3i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

However, PRS rents have increased by 50% over the last
10 years, whilst household incomes have not kept pace.
This means that renting privately is less affordable than
ever before.

Architects drawing of new
council homes at Silverdale

Unfortunately the availability of social housing in
this period has decreased and there are not enough
social homes to meet the demand. There are over
9,800 households on the housing register waiting for
permanent homes. Of these, 2,500 are homeless and
living in temporary accommodation.
It will take us over nine years to provide social
homes to everyone on the housing register if the
number of homes available stays the same, and if
no more households are added to the register. It
is likely that many of those on our waiting list will
never move into social housing.
Homelessness has increased during the last 10 years
and remains high. Almost 5,200 households approached
us for homelessness assistance between April 2018 and
March 2020. The main reasons for people becoming
homeless are the ending of a tenancy in the PRS, or
because family and friends can’t allow them to stay any
more. Even though we are better at helping people earlier
on, the numbers of households in crisis continues to rise.
We must act now to address this and allow our residents
access to decent, safe and affordable housing.
Our approach is grouped into five themes:
1. delivering the homes that Lewisham needs
2. preventing homelessness and meeting
housing need
3. improving the quality, standard and safety
of housing
4. supporting our residents to live safe,
independent and active lives
5. strengthening communities and embracing
diversity.

Our vision is that everyone has a safe, stable and
genuinely affordable home where they can live an
independent and prosperous life. The new housing
strategy 2020–26 outlines the strategic direction,
key priorities and actions that will help us achieve
this vision.
Responses to our consultation have helped us to further
shape our proposals and action plans that fall under the
above themes. Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic
has made it necessary for us to reshape some of the
ideas that were included in our draft strategy so that we
can support people most in need.
We must also ensure that our work drives positive
changes in promoting equality and fighting injustice, so
much of which has been highlighted by the pandemic.
As well as ensuring our own policies, strategies and
actions drive us towards our vision, we must call on
central Government to help us address Lewisham’s
housing needs. As part of this document we have
included a number of key ‘asks’ of Government to
support us in our work.

Page 88

4i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

Levitt Bernstein

Phoenix Extra Care scheme
at Hazelhurst Court

Priority 1: delivering the homes that Lewisham needs
There is a severe shortage of genuinely affordable
housing in Lewisham. There is a risk that this housing
crisis will impact not just on current but future
generations. Many people in our local communities are
struggling to afford to live in the borough they call home.

become homeless because of the ending of a tenancy in
the private rented sector. This makes it the biggest single
cause of homelessness in Lewisham. The solution is to
increase the number of genuinely affordable homes.

Household incomes have not seen the same increase
as rent prices; they have increased by around 12%
between 2010 and 2018. Income in Lewisham is
relatively low; over 60% of residents have an income
below the London average.

We plan to deliver a diverse range of new homes to
meet the needs of all our residents. Our priority is
providing more social rented homes, because these
are the only type of housing that remain genuinely
affordable for the majority of people in Lewisham. We
know how high the demand is from the 9,800-plus
households on our housing register.

Rents in the private rented sector have grown by 50%
between 2011 and 2017. In areas with historically
less expensive homes rents have increased at an even
higher rate – 70% between 2011 and 2017. This has
meant that previously affordable homes have become
too expensive for households on low incomes. These
households are in an increasingly precarious position.
This has resulted in more families becoming homeless.
In recent years almost 50% of homeless households

Delivering new homes

In 2012 we started building our own council homes
again for the first time in a generation. We will push
forward with this work in an ambitious programme
to provide new homes for our residents. Our homes
will incorporate the social infrastructure needed for
communities to thrive, such as community space, green
spaces and public facilities for all to use. Our homes will
be places where residents want to live. Development

Page 89

5i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

will be sustainable, keeping costs down and creating the Private rented sector
As well as building more council homes, we need to
best possible environment for our residents.
improve the private rented sector, where around 40%
of Lewisham residents live. To help set the private
We are also looking at underused Council land and
renting standard, we are delivering our own private
regeneration of our current housing estates, where
rented homes with:
residents support it.
l long-term secure tenancies
In addition to social rented homes, we plan to deliver
l London living rent rates
a diverse range of homes for all our residents, including
improved temporary accommodation and new
l high-quality management.
supported living homes.

How we will achieve this
Deliver as many social rented properties as
possible, through:
l building council-owned homes at social rent
l

 orking with partners to deliver social rent
w
homes in Lewisham

l

developing underused Council land and assets

l

 eing innovative in how we deliver homes,
b
including using modern methods of construction.

Make places where people want to live, through:
l designing good quality housing and open spaces
for residents
l

 roviding the commercial floorspace, public
p
transport connectivity and social infrastructure
needed to allow new neighbourhoods to thrive

l

 uilding a wide range of both adaptable and
b
specialist homes to meet people’s varying needs

l

focussing on designs which are easy to maintain
and manage

l

t aking a proactive approach to sustainable
development, which will keep costs down and
create the best environment for our residents.

Increase the supply of high-quality
accommodation, through:
l developing, obtaining and leasing of homes
across a range of tenures to support the needs
of residents
l

 eveloping private rented homes with longer
d
tenancies and rent clarity

l

improving the standards of temporary
accommodation

l

 ringing empty homes back into use where
b
possible

l

transforming under-used Lewisham Council
assets into much needed accommodation.

We will ask Government to:
l

increase investment in genuinely affordable
homes

l

back councils and housing associations with
new funding, powers and flexibilities to build
again at scale

l

reform the way that homes sold through Right
to Buy are replaced.

Page 90

6i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

Priority 2: preventing homelessness and meeting housing need
Homelessness
Lewisham residents are increasingly facing severe
and challenging housing needs. Changes in national
policy and lack of genuinely affordable housing have
led to an increase in homelessness in Lewisham. The
number of families who have to live in temporary
accommodation, after the loss of a stable home, has
risen to unprecedented levels.
In October 2020 there were almost 2,500 homeless
households in temporary accommodation. Over 750 of
these live in the most expensive and unstable forms of
temporary accommodation. We also have nearly 200
rough sleepers across Lewisham, an increase of 35%
since 2015–16. Homelessness has a serious and harmful
effect on those who experience it. No household should
ever have to experience homelessness.

Our homelessness and rough sleeping strategy
2020–22 outlines our approach in more detail.

Overcrowding
Overcrowding is another serious issue for many
households in Lewisham. In October 2020, almost
5,100 families on our housing register were living in an
overcrowded home and in need of a larger one. More
than half of these are already in social housing and
needing to transfer. If they were able to do so, that
would free up smaller social homes for those waiting
in temporary accommodation.

The number of social homes available is far below the
need. Since 2011, there has been a 45% reduction in
the number of social housing lets for households on the
housing register. For every social home we let, there
are around 10 households that need that home. Unless
Our approach is to prevent homelessness at the earliest there is a major change in the funding to build social
homes, it is unlikely that the number of social homes
point, before families become homeless. At Lewisham,
we recognise that tackling and preventing homelessness will match the demand. As a result, we have to look for
alternative solutions, such as the private rented sector
is a public services matter. True prevention requires a
or options outside of the local area. We will work with
holistic response that goes beyond just housing.
landlords
Page
91 to achieve this.

7i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

Young people

Specialist support

The number of households with children is expected to
increase by around 6,300 over the period 2018–2033.
Supporting children and young people to remain
safe, well and able to achieve their full potential is a
key priority for housing. We know that the chaotic
experience of living in temporary accommodation has
a significant negative impact on children. This includes
delayed development, increased risk of severe illness,
isolation and emotional trauma.

There is also high demand for housing that includes
specialist support. This might be for older residents,
or for people with mental health needs or learning
disabilities. Lewisham have well-established supported
housing pathways for those in need.

A stable and safe home is a platform from which
young people can build their future. We will work
with our social care partners to ensure that we are able
to address the needs of vulnerable young people and
their families.

How we will achieve this
Provide support as early as possible, through;
lc
 ontinuing to improve the housing options
advice service, using a person-centred approach
lw
 orking

with partners to enable residents in
housing need to seek support as early as possible

l i ncreasing

our effective health and employment
partnerships

lu
 sing

our information and data to identify
residents in need, to help us give personalised
support earlier.

Support Lewisham residents at times of urgent
need, through:
lw
 orking with partners to provide a joined-up
and effective response
that the needs of vulnerable children
and young people , including 16–17 year olds,
care leavers and children with no recourse to
public funds, are properly addressed within our
service provision

It is estimated that over 55,500 people in Lewisham
have a disability and this is expected to increase to over
71,000 by 2033. In addition, a substantial increase is
projected in the number of Lewisham residents over
the age of 70, with the figure increasing by almost 90%
between 2016 and 2041.
In 2019-20 almost 500 people were referred for supported
housing. In September 2020, over 270 households were on
the housing register waiting for sheltered housing.

le
 nsuring

our social homes are let in the most
effective way to meet housing need.

Reduce the number of households in temporary
accommodation, through:
ld
 ecreasing our use of nightly paid bed
and breakfast
l r eviewing

the use of shared temporary
accommodation

lm
 aking

the best use of the private rented
sector to solve housing need

l i ncreasing

the availability of much-needed
specialist accommodation.

We will ask Government to:
l r eview

the welfare reform measures contributing
to rising homelessness, including increasing the
local housing allowance rates

le
 nsuring

le
 nsuring

appropriate solutions are available
for people fleeing domestic abuse

l r eform

private renting insecurity which leads to
homelessness

lp
 rovide

long-term clarity on future funding
for delivering homelessness services.

ls
 upporting

rough sleepers to access services
and accommodation

Page 92

8i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

Priority 3: improving the quality, standard and safety
of housing in Lewisham
Conditions of private rented homes

Health and safety

One in four residents in Lewisham live in the private
rented sector (PRS) – this is double the number of 15
years ago. We estimate that a quarter of private rented
properties are non-decent. Since 2019 we have received
over 500 complaints about disrepair in the PRS.

Health and safety and fire safety are of utmost
importance. Our housing providers continue to make
sure that the fabric of the buildings meet the required
standards. We continue to take all the steps we can
to ensure that all tall buildings in Lewisham are safe.
We are also working with partners to prepare for new
building safety legislation. We will make continuous
investment in our homes our priority.

Improving property standards
Ensuring the quality and standard of the PRS is a
priority for us. We have already described under priority
one how we will set the standard in the private sector by
developing a new generation of private rented homes
with longer tenancies and rent clarity. We are also using
all the tools we have to enforce against poor standards.
Following a public consultation in summer 2019, we are
taking steps to increase the number of PRS properties
that need a licence. Putting a new licensing scheme in
place will help improve property standards. We will also
take steps to tackle fuel poverty.

Climate Emergency
In 2019 we declared a climate emergency, and
committed to being carbon neutral by 2030. As a large
contributor to carbon outputs, housing has a key part
to play in reducing emissions. In addition to our own
actions, we will support the progress of our climate
emergency action plan with other colleagues and
partners.

Page 93

9i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

How we will achieve this
Improve standards in the PRS, through:
l	expanding our licensing regime

l	ensuring

private landlords are held accountable
for health and safety breaches.

l	working

with landlords and landlord
associations to improve standards and
practice across the borough

Lead on addressing the climate emergency,
through:
l	improving the energy efficiency of the homes
we own, promoting efficiency measures and
tackling fuel poverty

l	using

data from our licensing schemes to
improve our service.

Invest in homes in Lewisham, through:
l	an ambitious programme of works to improve
the condition of our social homes and estates,
delivered through our partners
the best use of grants and loans for
private homeowners to improve the quality
and standard of their homes.

l	supporting

homeowners to access
government grants to improve the efficiency
of their own homes

l	taking

measures to reduce the carbon footprint
of housing.

l	making

Lead on health and safety and fire safety, through:
l	working with London Fire Brigade and other
partners to improve fire safety
l	ensuring

We will ask Government to:
l	ensure

adequate resources are available to make
homes in Lewisham safe, specifically in relation to
external wall systems and building integrity

l	provide

the fire safety of our own homes

Page 94

financial support to facilitate energy
efficiency improvements to homes.

10i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

Priority 4: supporting our residents to lead safe,
independent and active lives
Good-quality, secure and genuinely affordable housing
is the basis from which residents can achieve their full
potential. It is important for us to help residents lead
safe, independent and active lives. We will do this by
using our own resources and by working with partners.

Residents’ health and wellbeing
Housing has a key role to play in the health and
wellbeing of residents. In addition to addressing
standards of housing, we need to make sure that
housing providers are working effectively with our
health partners, including social care, public health,
and the NHS. Together, they can provide a joined up
approach to supporting residents whose housing is
impacting on their mental and physical health.

adaptations help people remain safe and independent.
We will focus on this service and ensure that it is
delivering to its maximum potential. We will also make
sure we are making use of modern technology to
support residents to remain independent.
A large number of households on our social housing
register are waiting for wheelchair-accessible and
adapted properties. We will utilise all possible funding
streams to maximise our ability to adapt suitable
properties to meet our residents’ needs.

Supported and specialist accommodation

Adapting homes to meet residents needs
Physical health needs, particularly for older residents,
can restrict the ability to live independently without
home adaptations. Disabled facilities grants help
people remain in their home for longer. A survey about
the effectiveness of disabled facilities grants found
that over 80% of people felt the works had a positive
impact on their wellbeing and quality of life. Grants for

Over 900 residents are currently in Lewisham’s supported
housing pathways. There is a need for comprehensive
pathway reviews to ensure we are providing the right
accommodation and support to individuals, and
effectively preparing them for independent move-on.
In addition, we will make sure we are providing the right
housing for those who have specialist housing needs, and
for older people. Our sheltered accommodation offer in
the borough must fit the needs of our population.

Page 95

11i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

How we will achieve this
Help residents to be independent, through:
l	working alongside our health and social care
partners to support people to stay in their home
where appropriate

services to ensure a joined-up approach and
understanding of support available to enable
independent living
l	promoting

an active lifestyle through work
with our social care and health teams, and with
housing providers

l	assessing

our own stock for adaptations and
increasing the number of adapted properties

l	conducting

a review of our sheltered housing
stock, to ensure we have the right homes for
older residents

l	reviewing

our supporting housing pathway, and
ensuring people have a smooth journey in and
out of supported accommodation.

Ensure our work supports the physical and mental
wellbeing of Lewisham residents, through:
l	working with social care and other related

l	ensuring

housing providers, including Lewisham
Homes, are consistent and effective in their
approach to supporting vulnerable residents.

We will ask Government to:
l	provide

long-term clarity on funding available
for supported housing for our most vulnerable
residents

l	increase

Page 96

the maximum individual disabled
facility grant to £45,000.

12i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

Priority 5: strengthening communities and embracing diversity
Lewisham is a vibrant and exciting place to live because
of its diverse and welcoming communities. We have
a strong community ethos and are proud of our long
tradition of openness and acceptance. Working with our
residents to strengthen communities is a key part of our
housing strategy. We will work towards creating a place
of opportunities and independence for people of all ages.
The first step to a strong community is having a place
to call home. Strong communities are built by active
and empowered residents. We are committed to giving
residents control over the future of where they live. The
residents of Achilles Street recently voted to approve
proposed changes to their area. Listening to residents is
essential for the growth of strong communities.
It is important that the work we do provides
opportunities for local residents through employment
opportunities, community investment and more. We will
work closely with partners to ensure work programmes
deliver positive outcomes that go beyond the work
itself. For example we will capitalise on employment
opportunities resulting from the development of
transport links and construction of new homes.

Lewisham has a proud history of supporting refugees
and migrants, including our recent refugee resettlement
programme. We will continue this important work as
part of our strategy. We aim to become a borough of
sanctuary, as described in our sanctuary strategy.
Our vision is that Lewisham is a welcoming place of
safety for all. We are proud to offer sanctuary to people
fleeing violence and oppression.

Health inequality
The COVID-19 pandemic is an unprecedented one,
and the borough’s recovery will likely be Lewisham’s
predominant focus for the coming years.
COVID-19 has highlighted the disparity in health
outcomes for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME)
people – but it is important to remember that BAME
inequalities don’t end at COVID-19, they stretch across
many aspects of our healthcare system and wider society.
We have been working over many years to reduce
inequality and injustice for all groups. Our recovery work
will be firmly rooted in tackling inequality of all forms.

Page 97

13i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

How we will achieve this
Ensuring residents have a meaningful voice,
through:
l	introducing a residents charter to guarantee
the rights of residents on estates we are
re-developing
l	promoting

the rights of residents in the
private rented sector. We will do this by
supporting a private renters union

Embracing diversity and addressing inequality,
through:
l	working with our housing partners to ensure
they recognise diversity and equality in their
services, for example through disability and
LGBTQ+ inclusive service provision
l	supporting

residents a stronger voice through
active participation in the future of their
estates. We will do this through co-design
of new estates, ballots and steering groups

refugees and migrants through
our resettlement programme and by becoming
a sanctuary borough

l	giving

l	working

to make the delivery of housing
services in Lewisham a more transparent
and open process

l	continuing

to support existing residents
associations and encourage the creation
of new ones

l	delivering

social value as part of new and
ongoing works delivered by ourselves and
with our partners.

l	ensuring

Housing policies and action plans
drive positive changes in promoting equality
and fighting injustice

l	working

with partners to address BAME
inequalities in our communities.

We will ask Government to:
l	make

an ongoing commitment to refugee
resettlement

l	review

welfare reforms that are
disproportionately impacting minority groups.

Page 98

14i

Lewisham’s housing strategy 2020–26

Glossary
Austerity

Austerity refers to the government-imposed programme that
aimed to reduce budget deficits through spending cuts, welfare
reform and tax increases.

Climate emergency

In February 2019 we declared a climate emergency and
embarked on the process of becoming carbon neutral by 2030.

Disabled facilities grants

We provide grants and loan assistance where appropriate to
adapt properties to assist households in remaining independent
in their home for longer.

Genuinely affordable

Housing where the rent is set at London affordable rent or
below.

Licensing schemes

We recently consulted on proposals to extend our property
licensing schemes. This would require more private landlords
to license their property and maintain certain requirements.

London Affordable Rent

A housing product introduced by the Mayor of London. These
are benchmarked against formula rent.

London Living Rent

Housing where rent levels are set at one third of average local
household earnings. These homes are being made available for
existing renters in London with a household income of less than
£60,000 p.a.

Nightly paid bed
and breakfast

Temporary accommodation with shared facilities that the council
pays for on a night-by-night basis.

No recourse to public funds
(NRPF)

A condition imposed on someone due to their immigration
status, meaning that they cannot access mainstream housing,
welfare benefits and employment.

Non-decent homes

Homes that do not meet the statutory minimum standard –
i.e. lack modern facilities, are in a state of disrepair or have
ineffective insulation or heating.

Sheltered housing

Housing for elderly or disabled people with some shared facilities
and a warden.

Social homes and social rent

Social housing is housing where rents are linked to local incomes,
making these the most affordable homes in most areas. Rents for
social homes are significantly lower than private rents

Social value

Opportunities made available to local communities in and above
the benefits of any work itself.

Supported housing

We provide support for vulnerable people to maintain and
improve their ability to live independently in their own homes,
as well as providing a range of specialist supported housing.

Temporary accommodation

Accommodation that a household may be placed into whilst
a decision is being made on their homelessness application,
or after their application has been accepted.

Page 99

15i

Lewisham’s Homelessness
Strategy 2020 –2022

Page 100

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Contents
Introduction............................................................................................................3
Our vision for Lewisham.........................................................................................4
Summary of Homelessness in Lewisham.................................................................5
Priority 1: Prevent homelessness at the earliest opportunity with the
most appropriate level of support..........................................................................6
Priority 2: Support people to access a stable and secure home..............................8
Priority 3: Support rough sleepers to enable access to services and
sustainable accommodation ...............................................................................10
Priority 4: Adapt and be agile in our service delivery to support residents
impacted by COVID-19.........................................................................................12
Priority 5: Strengthen partnership working..........................................................14
Implementation....................................................................................................15
Appendix A: Partnership map ..............................................................................16

Page 101

2i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Introduction
Homelessness and rough sleeping is a national emergency. The
rising numbers of families and individuals who are homeless
can be seen by the high numbers of families living in temporary
accommodation, and people who are sleeping rough.
Lewisham, along with the rest of London, is facing an
unprecedented housing crisis. There are not enough genuinely
affordable homes for those who need them, meaning that
too many families and individuals are threatened with
homelessness. The lack of genuinely affordable accommodation
means that households are often placed into expensive,
temporary accommodation for long periods whilst a long-term
solution is found.
We face a range of challenges due to continuing budget cuts through
government-imposed austerity and the enormous impact that COVID-19 has had
and will continue to have. The pandemic has fundamentally changed how we
deliver our services and engage with our communities. We are still understanding
what the longer term impacts will be. This is stretching our already limited
resources further and having a dramatic effect on the health and financial
wellbeing of our residents. If it were not for our hard-working staff both at
Lewisham Council and Lewisham Homes, we would be left increasingly powerless
to act against homelessness.
We have developed this in line with our six year housing strategy. A key priority
under that strategy is to prevent homelessness and meet Lewisham’s housing
need. This Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy will further detail how we
intend to address homelessness over the next two years whilst we continue to
deal with the impacts of COVID-19.
It is the residents of Lewisham that make it such an amazing place. We will put
you at the centre of our decision making as we work to ensure that our strategic
direction, key priorities and ongoing partnerships are targeted at reducing
homelessness and ensuring that everyone has access to a safe, secure and
genuinely affordable home.

Councillor Paul Bell
Cabinet Member for Housing

Page 102

3i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Our vision for Lewisham
Our priorities for tackling homelessness
in Lewisham are to:

Our overarching vision is that is that everyone has a
safe, secure and genuinely affordable home. For this
to be a reality, we must work towards ensuring that
no one becomes homeless in Lewisham.

1. prevent homelessness at the earliest opportunity
with the most appropriate level of support

The Housing Strategy 2020–26 outlines five key
priorities for Lewisham. One of these priorities is
‘preventing homelessness and meeting housing need’
which outlines our overarching strategic approach to
preventing homelessness.
This homelessness and rough sleeping strategy
underpins our Housing Strategy. It provides more
detail on how we will prevent homelessness and rough
sleeping. It outlines how we, with our partners, will
work with and support those who are at risk of, or
experiencing homelessness.
The COVID-19 pandemic has fundamentally changed
how we deliver our services, and the full impact of
the pandemic has yet to be fully realised. At the time
of this strategy being launched, the measures put in
place by the government, including delays of evictions
and the furlough scheme, were just coming to an end.
Public services are preparing for a second wave of the
virus. With much uncertainty still remaining around
the longer-term impact of the pandemic, this strategy
focusses on the next two years as we recover and realign
our service in the wake of the pandemic.

2. support people to access a stable and secure home
3. support rough sleepers to enable access to
services and accommodation
4. adapt and be agile in our service delivery to
support residents impacted by COVID-19
5. strengthen partnership working.
Alongside our key priorities, we have developed five
core principles. These principles will guide the direction
of the service and support the actions we take to
achieve our vision:
1. Homelessness cannot be prevented through
housing alone. All of our partner agencies, and the
community and voluntary sectors, have a role to
play to successfully prevent homelessness
2. The earliest preventions are the most effective
3. We will prioritise supporting residents into secure
and sustainable accommodation over the use of
insecure, temporary accommodation
4. All services should place the individual at the
centre and work together to support and resolve
homelessness
5. Policy, service delivery and practice should be
informed and shaped in a co-productive manner,
developed with those with lived experience.

Page 103

4i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Summary of homelessness in Lewisham
Housing in Lewisham has changed significantly in
recent years. The private rented sector (PRS) has almost
doubled since 2001, now accounting for a quarter of
available homes. PRS rents have increased by 50% in
the last 10 years and incomes have not adjusted at
the same rate, leading to an increasingly unaffordable
rental market. Furthermore, there are not enough social
homes to meet the demand for them.
Homelessness has increased during the last ten
years and remains high. Since 2015, the number of
households in temporary accommodation has increased
by 50%. Almost 5,200 households approached the
Housing Needs team for homelessness assistance
between April 2018 and March 2020. Despite
the Council increasing the number of successful
homelessness interventions in recent years, this issue
continues to worsen. 2,500 households are currently in
temporary accommodation arranged by the Council.
There is not enough permanent affordable housing in
Lewisham for those in temporary accommodation to
move into. Without an increase in genuinely affordable
housing across the private rented and social housing
sectors, the reliance on temporary accommodation will
continue to rise to unsustainable levels.

in” from the streets during the COVID-19 outbreak, the
bleak economic outlook will mean more people losing
their homes. There is an expectation that homelessness
may increase given the economic impact, re-starting of
eviction procedures in the courts, and the ending of the
furlough scheme.

How do we address homelessness?
It is clear that the Council simply cannot create enough
housing to ‘fix’ homelessness. The scope of the problem,
and the drivers behind it, mean that a multi-faceted
approach is required. Homelessness must be seen as
a public services matter rather than simply a housing
matter. Policy, service delivery and working practices
must be created in partnership with those with lived
experience so that the needs of individuals and families
are properly addressed. By working with people who have
‘lived experience’ of situations such as homelessness,
rough sleeping, or being at risk of losing their home, we
have the advantage of gaining first-hand knowledge of
the issues that we are trying to resolve.

Temporary accommodation should be a final safety
net where all other preventative measures have been
unsuccessful. The ethos of the Homelessness Reduction
Act 2017 is rightly focussed on prevention, and we
recognise that often the most effective prevention
Rough sleeping is increasing too. We have worked
would start well before the legislative requirement
with nearly 200 rough sleepers across Lewisham in
stated in the Act. True prevention requires a holistic
the response to COVID-19, an increase of 35% since
response from central Government, all public services
2015–16. Despite successful efforts to bring “everybody and the third sector.

Page 104

5i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Priority 1: Prevent homelessness at the earliest opportunity
with the most appropriate level of support
It is a tragedy when a household becomes homeless.
Homelessness has a profound negative impact on those
that experience it. The social and health outcomes of
households that become homeless are significantly
below those who do not. To make the most difference
to the lives of those threatened with homelessness,
preventing homelessness at the earliest opportunity
must be one of our priorities across all public,
community and voluntary services.

empowers people to flourish where possible, and avoid
becoming at-risk in the first instance. Timely access to
benefits, support to access employment and training,
and strategies to deal with debt to break the cycle of
deprivation, are all factors that can influence whether
someone becomes homeless or not. We will work across
council services, with partners and individuals to identify
their support needs and make sure the right people are
getting help at the right time.

Homelessness is legally defined in a number of ways
but primarily occurs where households have no
accommodation available to them, or where it would
be unreasonable or harmful for them to continue to
occupy such accommodation. When we talk about
homelessness prevention, we are referring to all types
of homelessness including but not limited to:

Where we are

l households
l rough

in temporary accommodation

We are already working to prevent homelessness.
This is done this through:
lp
 roviding advice services in our housing
options centre
la
 dvocating

on behalf of the tenant at risk with
their landlord or friends and family currently
accommodating them

lw
 orking

sleeping

lh
 idden

homelessness – this means people who
have no place to call home, but are hidden from
official statistics; e.g. they are sofa-surfing or
squatting.

True prevention of homelessness is not simply a matter
of managing to keep those at serious risk from losing
their homes. It requires a holistic response that provides
appropriate support to at-risk individuals, but also

with landlords to prevent eviction by
using a range of incentives

ls
 ourcing

alternative accommodating in the private
rented sector (PRS) by using a range of incentives

la
 ssessing

and referring residents into programmes
such as supported housing pathways and Housing
First as appropriate to needs

lw
 orking

with partners to expand prevention

options.

Page 105

6i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

What we will do
We will expand this offer by:
Delivering an improved housing options advice
service by:
ls
 uccessfully creating a face-to-face service
provision specifically tailored to individual need
awareness with partners about the ‘duty
to refer’ obligation and support them to spot the
signs of homelessness early so that we can work
together to prevent homelessness

ensure discretionary housing payments are
available to more households threatened with
homelessness
l r egularising

our offers of financial support to
those who are homeless or threatened with
homelessness in the PRS so that finance is more
easily accessible, e.g. through our partnership
with the credit union

l r aising

data more effectively to identify
households at risk of homelessness or repeat
homelessness, taking proactive action where
possible

ld
 eveloping

our mediation service to work with
landlords, family and friends where relationships
have broken down

lu
 sing

le
 xploring

working with local legal advocates and
court services with a view to getting information
at the earliest opportunity, and also promoting
better outcomes for residents

l i mproving

outreach provision prevention work in
the borough.

Supporting those at risk of homelessness to remain
where they are by:
lw
 orking with housing benefit colleagues to

ld
 eveloping

partnerships with local landlords to
reduce PRS eviction

lb
 uilding

trust with our clients so that they feel
able to make contact early on

What we are aiming for
lW
 e

will measure our progress through:

la
n

increase in the number of households that
have homelessness prevented or relieved

la


Page 106

decrease in the number of households entering
temporary accommodation.

7i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Priority 2: Support people to access a stable and secure home
Everyone deserves a stable, secure and affordable home
to call their own. Working with households to enable
them to find the home that is right for them is crucial to
achieving this. Our priority is to prevent homelessness
through working together. We will make sure that
we offer comprehensive advice and support so that
residents can take responsibility for their housing needs.
We aim to empower residents to take ownership of and
make decisions about their future housing.
Temporary accommodation should be a last resort
where our joint efforts have not been enough to stop
homelessness, and where the household meets the
statutory threshold. Where we are unable to prevent
homelessness through the use of the private rented
sector, we will provide access to suitable, decent and
good value temporary accommodation.
The temporary accommodation journey is challenging.
We know that temporary accommodation has a
detrimental effect on outcomes for families and
children. We will seek to minimise the amount of time
that households spend in temporary accommodation
by working with them to find suitable long-term settled
accommodation that is right for them.
There is extremely limited social housing available and
whilst we are working to build our own social housing,
we know that there is simply not enough for everyone.
We will review the way we allocate these homes, making
sure that we always prioritise the most vulnerable
residents who are in housing need.

We must ensure that we support vulnerable people and
young people facing homelessness. Those fleeing abuse
and violence are at particular risk of homelessness. We
will work with our social care, health and commissioned
partners to ensure that our housing provision and
dedicated pathways are able to effectively respond to the
needs of vulnerable people in housing need.

Where we are
Some of the work we already undertake includes:
lp
 roviding financial assistance to prevent or
relieve homelessness
lw
 orking

with residents to create personalised
housing plans to empower them to resolve their
housing need

ls
 upporting households to identify suitable, affordable

properties for rent in the private rented sector
lp
 rocuring

properties in the private rented sector
to prevent or relieve homelessness, and as a longterm route out of temporary accommodation

l r eferring

individuals with specific needs to the
appropriate supported housing pathways

ls
 topping

the placement of families into shared,
nightly paid, temporary accommodation

la
 llocating

social homes to homeless households
through our choice based lettings scheme

lp
 articipating

in the ‘Setting the Standard’ scheme to
improve the standard of temporary accommodation.

Page 107

8i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

What we will do
We will expand this offer by:
Strengthening our support for households to find
a home in the private rented sector. This will be
done by:
l i ncreasing the procurement of properties in
the private rented sector as an alternative to
temporary accommodation
lc
 ontinuing

to develop effective tools to support
residents to search and secure private rented
sector accommodation independently
with landlords in order to increase
number of properties available for housing
benefit recipients and at Local Housing
Allowance (LHA) rates

incentivise residents to work with us to prevent
homelessness.
Ensuring our supported housing pathways and
specialist housing meet the needs of our vulnerable
residents by:
l r eviewing the demand for and use of our
supported housing pathways
l r eviewing

housing provision and pathways for
young people including 16 –17 year olds, care
leavers and children with no recourse to public
funds

le
 ngaging

with landlords to bring about longer
term minimum tenancies.

l r eviewing

service provision for those fleeing
domestic abuse to ensure it is suitable and
appropriate.

lw
 orking

Reviewing our policies and practices around
temporary accommodation and housing
allocation by:
le
 xpanding our in-house stock of temporary
accommodation through development and
acquisition
the use of temporary accommodation
with shared facilities

What we are aiming for
We will measure our progress through:
l i ncreasing the number of homes that we procure
l i ncreasing

the number of households where
homelessness is prevented or relieved

ld
 ecreasing

the number of households in
temporary accommodation

l r eviewing

l r educing

l r educing

the number of families placed into
accommodation with shared facilities

the use of nightly paid accommodation

l r eviewing

our allocation policy and temporary
accommodation placement policies. We will
make best use of our limited social housing and

l i ncreasing

Page 108

the number of households that exit
the supported housing pathway with a positive
outcome.

9i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Priority 3: Support rough sleepers to enable access
to services and accommodation
One rough sleeper on the streets of Lewisham is one
too many. The impact that sleeping rough has on one’s
mental and physical health cannot be understated, and
those who are rough sleeping often have a wide range
of needs that need to be addressed to help keep them
off the streets.
Lewisham has a wide range of commissioned and
voluntary support services working with us to reduce
rough sleeping. We are committed to a Londonwide approach as demonstrated by our part in the
‘No Second Night Out’ hub and other approaches
coordinated by the Greater London Authority (GLA).
However, we need to develop a longer-term, more
holistic approach to addressing rough sleeping, one that
focuses on individual need and local conditions.
People experiencing rough sleeping come from so many
different circumstances, and the support we are able
to provide is often dictated by these circumstances.
Although our offer cannot be the same for everyone, we
want to be able to support every single rough sleeper to
obtain sustainable accommodation.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a massive impact
on rough sleeping. In the early days of the pandemic,
the government instructed authorities to identify and
accommodate all rough sleepers and those in shared
sleep facilities. The government has since established

a Rough Sleeping COVID-19 response taskforce to
direct this work, with a view to supporting authorities in
finding long-term solutions for those accommodated.
We are committed to building on the work that has
been done to date, and supporting rough sleepers to
access the accommodation and support they need to
have improved outcomes.

Where we are
Our current support for rough sleepers includes:
lp
 roviding a ‘Housing First’ offer for rough sleepers
lo
 ffering

outreach provision co-ordinated at the
regional level

la
 ssigning

rough sleeping co-ordinators and
navigators to undertake casework, co-ordinate
support activity and deliver improved outcomes

lo
 ffering

satellite health services at key sites for
rough sleepers across the borough

lp
 roviding

an outreach health service in conjunction
with the broader outreach provision

lp
 roviding

an extensive support offer for those
accommodated under the ‘Everybody In’ scheme
to identify an appropriate accommodation and
support package; with a view to facilitate a move
into long-term accommodation.

Page 109

10i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

What we will do
We will expand this offer by:
Developing the support we offer to rough
sleepers by:
le
 xpanding our interventions for chaotic,
entrenched rough sleepers in need of long
term support
a robust private rented sector offer
with move-on assistance

sleeping services, all the while adapting and
improving them according to lessons learnt, both
generally and through what we have learnt from
COVID-19
lw
 orking

with health partners to ensure that
health pathways meet the varied and complex
needs of rough sleepers

ld
 eveloping

our use of shared facilities
accommodation in light of COVID-19

ls
 triving,

with health partners, to address health
inequalities experienced by rough sleepers.

l r eviewing

lb
 uilding

on our current outreach offer to
ensure it reflects the needs of rough sleepers
in Lewisham

le
 xpanding

support to help regularise the
immigration status of rough sleepers where
appropriate

le
 nsuring

that our range of support and housing
offers can help all rough sleepers, from all
circumstances, to start a journey to sustainable
accommodation.

Embedding new ways of working with health and
commissioning partners by:
lc
 reating a new Strategic Rough Sleeping group
to drive this agenda, alongside public health and
NHS colleagues
le
 stablishing

a director level reference group to
oversee our rough sleeping action plan, while
ensuring a systemic approach is taken to end
rough sleeping

ld
 eveloping

the way we support former rough
sleepers to retain long-term tenancies according
to their specific needs

le
 nsuring

continuous development of rough

What we are aiming for
We will measure our progress through improvements
in outcomes including:
la
 n overall reduction of rough sleepers, including
bedded-down contacts, new rough sleepers and
Streetlink referrals
la


reduction in repeat rough sleepers

lc
 lient

move-on into long term solutions

l r econnections

with family and / or friends

la
n

increase in long-term tenancies sustained
by previous rough sleepers

le
 ngagement

with health services, and improved
outcomes in clients taking up these services

l r eduction

in A&E attendance

l r eduction

in the use of drug and alcohol through
an increase in accessing treatment and support

l r egularisation

of immigration statuses.

We will also strive to understand the factors that drive
health inequalities for Lewisham’s rough sleepers in
Lewisham. We will consider the appropriate indicators
to demonstrate improvements in these areas.

Page 110

11i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Priority 4: Adapt and be agile in our service delivery to support
residents impacted by COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has put immense pressure on
resources as we work to support vulnerable people and
households who are in desperate need as a result of the
virus itself and the resulting economic decline.

fully realised which is why we need to be able to shape
our service in the face of an ever-changing future.

Where we are
We have had to adapt quickly to the changing
environment since the outbreak of COVID-19, including:
la
 dapting housing allocations to ensure that our
most vulnerable residents were prioritised during
the peak of the pandemic

COVID-19 has affected all our lives in significant
ways. People experiencing homelessness are
disproportionately affected and face even greater
challenges. Factor in additional vulnerabilities, such
as poor health, complex immigration statuses, rough
sleeping and domestic abuse and it is clear that we
need to adapt our services to address the varied and
complex needs of people in housing crisis.

le
 nsuring

that landlords were complying with the
nationwide eviction ban, thereby preventing illegal
evictions

During the pandemic evictions have been paused. Whilst
this has acted as a temporary safety net for tenants, we
need to prepare for the increased demand for our services
as landlords and courts begin evictions once again.
Safety has been a key concern during the pandemic.
Already we have had to adapt our ways of working in
order to protect clients and staff from COVID-19, and
it is clear that new, agile ways of working need to be
embedded in the longer term. This includes how we
deliver our advisory services, and the ways in which
we address emergency housing need. We need to
work even closer with public health and NHS partners
to reduce infection spread and keep the clinically
vulnerable as safe as possible.

la
 dapting

working practices to ensure safety of
clients and staff, e.g. improved technical and
remote-working capabilities following the closure
of our front door

le
 nsuring

our resources were placed in the areas
where need was highest

lc
 reating

space in pathways to provide
accommodation in case of local virus breakouts

l i ntegrating

cohorting into our emergency and
temporary accommodation provision to avoid
cross-contamination

le
 nsuring

that social distancing and isolation
guidelines can be adhered to in our service provision

ls
 upporting

The longer term impacts of COVID-19 are still to be

rough sleepers into emergency
accommodation under the ‘Everybody In’ scheme.

Page 111

12i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

What we will do
We will expand our work by:
Striving for innovation and continuous
improvement by:
lp
 roviding innovative solutions to those
with complex immigration statuses facing
homelessness
with those experiencing homelessness
during the pandemic to ensure effective and
efficient service provision

Ensuring our supply of housing meets new needs
as a result of the pandemic by:
le
 nsuring service provision for those fleeing
domestic abuse is able to meet potential
increased demand due to pandemic lockdowns
ld
 eveloping

and acquiring new accommodation
options for rough sleepers

lc
 onsulting

the impact of our work and adapt
according to lessons learnt

lk
 eeping

the cohorting approach integral
when developing temporary and emergency
accommodation solutions.

l r eviewing

Creating new ways of working with health and
public health bodies by:
lb
 uilding on work done by the Rough Sleeping
COVID-19 response taskforce (see Priority 3)
health pathways and service
provision to ensure they are able to address
the needs of clinically vulnerable people whilst
keeping them safe from COVID-19

What we are aiming for
We will measure our progress through:
l t he number of illegal evictions prevented
following the commencement of evictions
lo
 ur

ability to adapt quickly when faced with local
outbreaks and further lockdowns

ls
 trengthening

le
 nsuring

effective partnerships and
coordination with health and other public
bodies (see Priority 5)

l t he

suitability of accommodation provision; i.e.
whether it allows adequate social distancing and
isolation where necessary

le
 fficiency

of remote and online service provision

lc
 ustomer

satisfaction in our services.

Page 112

13i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Priority 5: Strengthen partnership working
Homelessness and rough sleeping are not simply
a housing issue. Homelessness prevention needs
to be a priority for everyone. We need to work
with partners across sectors to achieve the best
outcomes. COVID-19 makes collaborative, integrated
approaches even more vital in order to secure access
to appropriate services and for continuity of care.
Managing through the pandemic has seen us working
even closer with partners, and we want to strengthen
this even further.
At its best, collaboration means the council’s services
working together to place individuals and families at the
centre of our support. It means designing and delivering
services that are shaped by a range of partners, as well
as by those with lived experience of homelessness and
rough sleeping. This will allow us to identify and solve
problems in a faster and better way.
There are a number of areas where the work between
housing and other services is closely aligned. We want
to improve joint working processes to ensure that

households can seamlessly access the support they
need across services in a way that works for everyone.

Where we are
Our partnership work currently includes:
la
 n effective ‘duty to refer’ mechanism with internal
and external agencies
le
 ngagement

with the multi-agency Homelessness

Forum
l t ask

and target meetings held with rough
sleeping partners to provide a rapid response,
setting actions for all rough sleepers identified
within the borough

lc
 lear

processes to minimise the risk of
homelessness to households that are
accommodated within our housing stock
and facing eviction

lw
 orking

with health and social care teams to
ensure work is joined up.

What we will do
We will expand this through:
le
 stablishing new ways of working across
partnerships to collectively reduce the risk of
homelessness for families and individuals at risk
la
 greeing

a joint working protocol with children’s
social care to ensure the safety and security of
young people faced with homelessness

le
 nsuring

that local delivery plans in response
to the COVID-19 pandemic are developed with
public health, social care and health colleagues,
and that these plans are coordinated with local
and regional NHS colleagues

lw
 orking

with public health and substance
misuse services to improve targeted support for
individuals with these specific needs

lp
 artnering

with other local authorities to address
additional need brought about by COVID-19

lp
 artnering

with other local authorities to secure
private rented accommodation for homeless
households

ld
 eveloping

future strategy and service provision
in collaboration with those with lived experience
of homelessness.

What we are aiming for
We will measure our progress through:
la
 n increase in the number of appropriate referrals
made through the ‘duty to refer’ mechanism
la


decrease in the number of emergency
approaches from households that are
accommodated with partner agencies.

Page 113

14i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Implementation
Governance
This strategy is informed by and sits underneath the
Housing Strategy 2020-2026. Any amendments to the
Housing Strategy will be reflected in this document as
and where appropriate.
The strategy is owned by the Housing division of the
Council, but the objectives are delivered far more widely
by partners internally and externally. It will be part
of the Council’s role to monitor progress against the
objectives in this wider local landscape.
A Strategic Homelessness and Rough Sleeping group
which has been established between Housing and
key partners. This group will oversee delivery of this
strategy.

Resources
There are significant costs associated with the provision
of housing services including the direct delivery of
housing, managing the provision of council housing and
providing services to those experiencing homelessness
or the threat of homelessness. All of these are affected
by the changing demand for housing and levels of
residents who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.
Grant funding is time-limited and often for highly
specific purposes. This piecemeal approach to funding
creates additional pressures in trying to deliver against

our vision. Even small changes in the available funding
will have a substantial impact on the Council’s ability
to deliver services. A budget report is agreed annually
that sets out the resources to be made available to the
Council for Homelessness provision.
It is also recognised that our partners bear similar costs
– whether these are internal partners commissioning
services on which there is increasing demand, statutory
agencies like the NHS, or partners in the community
and voluntary sector who are dependent on fundraising
and grant income themselves.
The aim of this strategy is to work more innovatively
with the resources we have, while recognising the reality
that reduced funding and increased demand will have
an absolute impact, and as a result, this strategy directs
resources where they can be most impactful, around the
key priorities set out.

Timeframes
This strategy governs the approach to homelessness
locally, in combination with the Housing Strategy, over
two years.
The work against this strategy will be reviewed on an
ongoing basis to ensure delivery against the priorities
and actions.

Page 114

15i

Lewisham’s Homelessness strategy 2020–2022

Appendix A: Partnership map
Public sector agencies

Housing organisations

Council services including:
l Housing services
l Joint commissioning
lC
 hildren’s and adult social care,
including leaving care
lE
 conomy and partnerships
lB
 enefits
lM
 ain grants
lC
 rime enforcement and youth offending

Housing charities:
l9
 99 Club
lB
 ench Outreach
lT
 hames Reach
lD
 eptford Reach
lC
 risis
Registered providers including:
lL
 ewisham Homes
lR
 egenter B3
lP
 hoenix
lL
 &Q
lH
 yde
lA
 dditional smaller registered providers

Health providers including:
lL
 ewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
lO
 ther trusts including GSTT and Kings
lN
 HS England and Public Health England
lC
 CG and related provision e.g. GPs, SLAM
Local, regional and central government including:
l Greater London Authority
l London Councils
lL
 ocal Government Association
lM
 inistry for Housing, Communities
and Local Government
lD
 epartment for Work and Pensions
Other public services including:
l Prisons
l Probation services
l Colleges

and universities
l Schools

Other housing providers including:
lP
 rivate Landlords
lL
 ettings agents

CVS

Main grant funded organisations including:
lA
 dvice Lewisham
Other local charities and community groups
including:
lC
 itizen’s Advice Bureau

Commissioned providers
Supported housing providers including:
lS
 HP and other commissioned partners
Children’s services including:
lC
 hildren’s centres
lY
 outh services
lH
 ealth visitors
Adult services including:
lS
 ubstance misuse services
lV
 iolence Against Women and Girls provision

Page 115

16i

Agenda Item 6
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

11/11/20

Originator of Report

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing

x

x

Housing Allocations Policy review
Ext.

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Signed:
Cllr Paul Bell Cabinet Member for Housing
Date: 2nd November 2020
Signed :
Kevin Sheehan Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm
Date: 2nd November 2020
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 116

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\8\9\3\ai00026398\$0qym5cg5.doc

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Report title: Housing Allocation Policy review
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: Yes.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing Services

Outline and recommendations


Lewisham Council’s housing allocations policy has been reviewed. This report and
accompanying documents outline a series of proposed changes to the policy.



Mayor and Cabinet are requested to make decisions pertaining to proposed
changes, and to approve a 12-week public consultation on the proposals.

Page 117

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
11 November
2020

Proposed changes to be presented to Mayor and Cabinet, with
recommendations to consult immediately

18 November
2020

Proposed changes to be presented to Housing Select Committee

Late November
for 12 weeks

Proposed public consultation on changes

1.

Summary

1.1.

This report seeks to obtain approval to proceed to a 12 week public consultation on a
series of proposed changes to the Allocations Policy.

1.2.

This report sets the policy context and highlights the background and purpose of the
current Allocations Policy, introduced in 2017.

1.3.

It then outlines the key allocation challenges faced in the borough, and the rationale for
the review.

1.4.

The report goes to on summarise the amendments to the existing Allocations Policy
proposed by officers, and refers to the accompanying documents where further detail
of the proposals is provided.

1.5.

This report considers the financial and legal implications of the proposed changes and
makes a number of recommendations to Mayor and Cabinet.

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are asked to:

2.1.1. Approve a 12 week public consultation on the proposed changes to the Allocations
Policy, as set out below, summarised in section 9 of this report, and detailed in
Appendix A, and namely to consult on:
2.1.1.1.

changes to the banding structure

2.1.1.2.

changes to band allocation for several primary rehousing reasons

2.1.1.3.

introducing a new ‘smart letting’ approach to maximise the number of properties
available to let

2.1.1.4.

reducing the ‘three offer’ rule to ‘two offer’ rule

2.1.1.5.

updating the bidding process

2.1.1.6.

reviewing how large properties are let

2.1.1.7.

delegating powers

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

Section 166a of the Housing Act 1996 requires local housing authorities to have a

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 118
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

policy in place for determining priorities and procedures to be followed in allocating
housing.
3.2.

The Allocation Policy sets out the Council’s policies relating to the allocation of social
housing and the procedures and processes used by officers to implement those
policies.

3.3.

Priority for accommodation must be given to the groups who fall within the statutory
reasonable preference categories, namely:

3.3.1. people who are homeless (within the meaning of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996)
3.3.2. people who are owed a duty by a local housing authority
3.3.3. people occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing, or otherwise living in
unsatisfactory housing conditions
3.3.4. people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds
3.3.5. people who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the authority, where
failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to others)
3.4.

The latest Allocation Policy was published in April 2017.

3.5.

The Council is legally required to consult on major policy changes and so, before
ratifying the proposed changes, a consultation process will need to be completed.

3.6.

The contents of this report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It
supports the achievements of the Corporate Strategy objectives:

3.6.1. Tackling the housing crisis – Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.
3.7.

In response to the changing landscape and increasing demands on our services, the
council will imminently adopt a new five-year Housing strategy, and a two-year
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy. Both strategies respond to the rising
pressures of the housing crisis and additional need created by the COVID-19
pandemic.

4.

Background

4.1.

The Allocation Policy was reviewed extensively in 2012, in response to the Localism
Act 2011 and the Code of Guidance on Allocations June 2012.

4.2.

In 2017 further changes were made in response to increasing demand for social
housing and rising homelessness levels.

4.3.

There are almost 10,000 households on the housing register. It would take over nine
years to provide social homes to everyone on the housing register if the number of
available homes stays the same, and if no more households are added to the register.
It is likely that many of those on our register will never move into social housing.

4.4.

Until recently, the Allocation Policy has been supplemented by an Annual Lettings
Plan. Since 2017 we have used the ALP to define our key priorities, which has in
particular given significant priority to rehousing homeless households on the basis that
there was an urgent and temporary need to prioritise this group to respond to the
increasing numbers of homeless applicants occupying temporary accommodation.

4.5.

Over time it has become clear that we need to amend our allocations policy to ensure
that it reflects our current priorities, and to ensure that applicants with most acute need
are prioritised. This review of the allocation policy will ensure that the priority banding
scheme more accurately reflects the councils rehousing priorities, particularly given the
continuing high demand for social housing and continuing high numbers of applicants
placed in temporary accommodation.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 119
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4.6.

For the above reasons, a number of changes to the Allocation Policy are proposed.
These changes will ensure that the housing allocation scheme more accurately reflects
the rehousing priorities for the borough.

5.

Purpose of the Allocations Policy

5.1.

The Allocations Policy defines who can apply to join the housing waiting list, identifies
those with the greatest housing needs and sets out how individuals will be prioritised
for council and other registered provider housing that comes available. It is therefore at
the forefront of the council’s response to housing need.

5.2.

The policy must clearly state how bands for reasonable preference, and priority within
bands, are determined and assessed and recognise the need to ensure fair and equal
access to social housing.

5.3.

The policy aims to use resources available as efficiently as possible, retaining flexibility
to respond to fluctuations in demand from different client groups, preventing
homelessness and offering choice to applicants.

5.4.

The Policy must also reflect our strategic priorities, the relevant ones from the Housing
Strategy 2020-25 being:

5.4.1. Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need;
5.4.2. Supporting people to access a stable and secure home.

6.

Priorities for the Allocations Policy

6.1.

Based on the current housing landscape, and demand in Lewisham, our priorities for
the Allocations Policy are:

6.1.1. Reducing the number of homeless households who are living in unsuitable and costly
temporary accommodation;
6.1.2. Reducing under occupation and severe overcrowding ;
6.1.3. Supporting independent move-on for single vulnerable households who are currently
housed in supported and semi-independent accommodation;
6.1.4. Supporting those who are fleeing violence
6.1.5. Supporting the regeneration of designated housing estates.
6.1.6. Delivering on our corporate responsibilities, including in our role as a corporate parent
and in relation to members of the armed forces who are in housing need.

7.

Challenges

7.1.

The allocation of social housing is a challenging process because there is a worsening
lack of supply to match demand.

7.2.

Over recent years, the number of social housing properties available for letting has
been steadily decreasing. There are now almost 10,000 households on the housing
register, and on average we let around 1000 properties. We anticipate even lower lets
in this financial year (20/21) due to the impact of Covid-19.

7.3.

The lack of supply is also exacerbating the level of need in the borough. Increasing
numbers of households are in need of larger family homes for instance, however the
number of larger houses available is very small. In 2019/20 there were 363 families in
need of a five-bedroom property and only one of this size was let. The below table
illustrates this, and the lets vs need for other house sizes:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 120
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Bedroom

Let in 19/20

Number on the
register in
housing need

1 bedroom

624

1694

2 bedroom

305

3814

3 bedroom

171

2980

4 bedroom

27

986

5 bedroom

1

363

7.4.

Over the past years, there has been a significant rise in the number of homeless
households who require temporary accommodation. As of September 2020 almost
2,500 households are in temporary accommodation arranged by the Council, an
increase of almost 650 compared to March 2017. In 2019/20 temporary
accommodation cost the council approximately £3m.

7.5.

In light of the substantial challenges we face in allocating such a scarce resource, and
that the last major review of the allocations policy and banding scheme was in 2012,
there is a need to review the Allocations Policy.

8.

Approach

8.1.

Due to the challenges discussed above, the approach to the review of the Allocations
Policy has been manifold and extensive. Methods include:

8.1.1. Reviewing other boroughs’ policies, to ensure relative consistency, whilst also taking
into account Lewisham’s particular characteristics;
8.1.2. Extensive data analysis, including the creation of a data model to simulate bid cycles to
inform the implications of proposed changes.
8.1.3. In-depth data analysis of the current housing register and lettings from previous years,
including continually analysing any equalities impacts.
8.1.4. Extensive discussion with legal counsel and officers across Housing, supported
housing, and Children’s Social Care.
8.2.

Undoubtedly the changes proposed will be subject to varied opinions. Our residents
who are in need of social housing are at the forefront of the review and those in the
most critical need have been prioritised.

8.3.

A 12-week consultation is proposed to ensure that residents affected are able to
comment, and an extensive analysis will follow the consultation to ensure that all
opinions and situations are considered when finalising the Allocations Policy.

9.

Summary of proposed changes

9.1.

Appended to this report are the following documents:

9.1.1. Appendix A: “Allocations Scheme major policy revisions” which summarises the
substantive changes proposed to the policy and the reasoning;
9.1.2. Appendix B: “Summary of all proposed changes to Allocations Policy” which is a table
of all proposed major and minor changes.
9.1.3. Appendix C: “Summary of current and proposed banding schemes” which contains two

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 121
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

tables showing the current banding scheme and the proposed new banding scheme,
along with the estimated number of applicants to fall in each band.
9.2.

Below are high-level references to the proposed major changes; please refer to the
above documents for further detail.

9.2.1. Changes to the banding structure
9.2.1.1.

The below changes are proposed, including the introduction of a new Band 4. The
detail surrounding the changes is provided at 9.2.2:

Current band
Band 1:

Change?

Proposed new band

No

Band 1:

Emergency Priority
Band 2:
High Priority
Band 3:

Emergency priority
Yes – new priority groups,
homeless with additional need
and overcrowded by three bed,
added to band 2
Yes - overcrowded by two bed
moved to band 3

Priority
N/A

Band 2:
High priority
Band 3:
Medium priority

Introduced a new band for
overcrowded by one bed

Band 4:
Low priority

9.2.2. Changes to band allocation for several primary rehousing reasons, namely:
9.2.2.1.

Introducing a new homeless with additional need primary rehousing reason in band
2 will ensure the Council is able to respond to those very specific group of
homeless applicants who through the support they receive from the Council have a
need to remain within the Borough, and for whom other tenures such as the private
rented sector are untenable.

9.2.2.2.

Introducing a new overcrowded by three bed primary rehousing reason in band 2 to
prioritise those households living in the most acute overcrowded conditions. We
estimate that around 160 applicants within Lewisham are overcrowded by three
beds or more. At present they will wait many years before being allocated
accommodation, and it is appropriate to increase their priority given the high level
of housing need they are in.

9.2.2.3.

It is proposed that when awarding overcrowded by three bed, adult children are not
considered when calculating the size of property required for applicants, unless
they are dependents or are caring for another adult or adults in the household.
Because the council has a disproportionately few large properties available it is
necessary to ensure that this priority group targets these properties at households
with dependent children.

9.2.2.4.

Moving the overcrowded by two bed priority to band 3. The reasoning is due to the
proposed additional prioritisation allowed for those overcrowded by three bed, who
are placed in band two. The overcrowded by three bed cohort is a sizeable group
with acute housing need, who are also bidding for rarer properties. It is therefore
necessary to prioritise the most severe overcrowding needs and move
overcrowded by two bed to band 3 to reflect this.

9.2.2.5.

Allocating those households overcrowded by one bed low priority in a new band 4.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 122
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

This group will be moved to a new band 4 to reflect the moving of overcrowded by
2 bed to band 3 medium.
9.2.3. A new ‘smart letting’ approach to maximise the number of lets available
9.2.3.1.

Within the new Policy we propose ring-fencing up to 20% of properties to applicants
who are currently living in social housing (a transfer applicant) and who have a
housing need (“smart letting”).

9.2.3.2.

We propose ring-fencing up to 20% of available properties to someone already
living in social housing (transferring tenant) who is in need, and made sure that the
property they vacate is ring-fenced to someone living in the PRS / Temporary
Accommodation (non-transfer applicant). This policy has been proposed as it
represents an opportunity to solve more housing need with the resources we have.

9.2.3.3.

Aside from building new social homes, this is a key way for us to make best use of
the available social housing with the resources we have. For each property, we
could solve two households’ needs, whilst also maintaining equitable access to the
available lets.

9.2.4. Reducing the ‘three offer’ rule to ‘two offer’ rule
9.2.4.1.

A ‘Two Offer’ policy is deemed reasonable, given that:

9.2.4.1.1. there is a scarcity of housing available;
9.2.4.1.2. there is a need for the Council to let properties as quickly as possible;
9.2.4.1.3. there is an administrative burden for officers when an offer is refused; and
9.2.4.1.4. the resident has bid for the property and indicated preference for that property.
9.2.5. Reforming the bidding process
9.2.5.1.

Currently, applicants are able to place one bid a week for a property. We propose
increasing the number of bids an applicant can make so that they can bid for
multiple properties per week. This is beneficial for applicants as they will be able to
express preference for more than one property and not be constrained by the
system. This proposal will only be implemented if the system is operationally
deliverable – officials will review the Council’s new online system to assess this.

10.

Financial implications

10.1.

As has been previously narrated and outlined in this report, the current housing issues
experienced both nationally and in the borough are putting severe pressure on the
council’s housing allocations and budgets. There are significant costs associated with
housing generally, including managing the allocations service, managing the provision
of council housing and providing services to those experiencing homelessness or the
threat of homelessness.

10.2.

All of these are affected over time by the demand for housing. The allocations policy is
the means by which that demand is allocated to existing properties. As such, changes
to the plan do not have direct financial implications.

10.3.

The changes to the allocations policy set out in the report are expected to assist in
managing those pressures and assist in officers making the best use of the resources
available to them.

11.

Legal implications

11.1.

The allocation of housing by local housing authorities is regulated by Part 6 of the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 123
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Housing Act 1996 (HA 1996). A local housing authority (LHA) must comply with the
provisions of Part 6 when allocating housing accommodation (section 159(1), HA
1996). However, subject to this compliance, authorities may otherwise allocate housing
in any manner they consider appropriate
11.2.

Section 166A (1) of the HA 1996 provides that every LHA must have an allocation
scheme for determining priorities between qualifying persons and as to the procedure
to be followed

11.3.

Section 166A (2) through to (14) sets out which sets out the procedure to be followed
when allocating housing accommodation

11.4.

Section 166A (13) Before adopting an allocation scheme or making an alteration to
their scheme reflecting a major change of policy, a local housing authority must
(a). send a copy of the draft scheme, or proposed alteration, to every private registered
provider of social housing and registered social landlord with which they have
nomination arrangements [s159(4)] , and
(b). afford those persons a reasonable opportunity to comment on the proposals

11.5.

The Localism Act 2011 received royal assent on 15th November 2011. The 2011 Act
introduces a number of significant amendments to Part 6 of the 1996 Act. Of particular
relevance here are the following provisions: Section 160ZA replaces s.160A in relation
to allocations by housing authorities. Social housing may only be allocated to
‘qualifying persons’ and housing authorities are given the power to determine what
classes of persons are or are not qualified to be allocated housing (s.160ZA(6) and
(7)).

11.6.

The statutory guidance on social housing allocations is entitled “Allocation of
accommodation: Guidance for Local Authorities in England and was revised in June
2012 Authorities are obliged to have regard to this guidance when devising and
implementing their schemes.

11.7.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the
equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

11.8.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:

11.9.



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is
not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity or foster good relations.

11.10. The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
11.11. Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 124
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/adviceand-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
11.12. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:


The essential guide to the public sector equality duty



Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making



Engagement and the equality duty



Equality objectives and the equality duty



Equality information and the equality duty

12.

Equalities implications

12.1.

An equality analysis has been started and can be found at Appendix D. It will be
updated following the consultation period and will be finalised before mayor and
cabinet considered the final proposed changes to the policy.

13.

Climate change and environmental implications

13.1.

There are no anticipated climate change and environmental implications.

14.

Crime and disorder implications

14.1.

There are no anticipated crime and disorder implications.

15.

Health and wellbeing implications

15.1.

The Allocations Policy gives preference to residents with medical need (classified in
terms of Exceptional medical need, High medical need and Low medical need).

15.2.

Those in Exceptional medical need are expected to remain at the most urgent level
(Band 1) and therefore should experience no significant impact as a result of proposed
changes.

15.3.

Those in High medical need are expected to remain at the second level of need (Band
2). Changes proposed to this band have been recommended in order to ensure those
in the most need are able to access social housing. Numbers within this band are
expected to remain relatively stable or even decrease, therefore any impact on people
with High medical need is anticipated to be positive.

15.4.

Those in Low medical need are expected to remain at the third level of need (Band 3).
Currently this cohort are grouped with households overcrowded by one bedroom.
Changes proposed include overcrowded by one bedroom being moved to a new Band
4 with lower priority, thereby decreasing the size of Band 3 significantly. Therefore any
impact on people in Low medical need is anticipated to be positive as the likelihood of
them being awarded social housing will increase.

15.5.

Implications for residents with disabilities will be fully explored within the Equalities
Analysis Assessment.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 125
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

16.

Appendices

16.1.

Appendix A: “Allocations Scheme major policy revisions” which summarises the
substantive changes proposed to the policy and the reasoning;

16.2.

Appendix B: “Summary of all proposed changes to Allocations Policy” which is a table
of all proposed major and minor changes.

16.3.

Appendix C: “Summary of current and proposed banding schemes” which contains two
tables showing the current banding scheme and the proposed new banding scheme,
along with the estimated number of applicants to fall in each band.

16.4.

Appendix D: “Equalities Impact Assessment” which details the full equalities impact
assessment for the proposed policy changes

16.5.

Appendix E: “Public consultation questions” which outlines the proposed public
consultation questions

16.6.

Appendix F: Supporting policies: Location Priority Policy and PRSO Discharge Policy

17.

Background papers

17.1.

Current 2017 Allocations policy – approved by Mayor and Cabinet in 2017

18.

Glossary

Term

Definition

Allocations

Term used by social landlords to describe the process of
identifying properties and letting them to people, who then
become their tenants.

Annual lettings plan

A plan drawn up by a social landlord covering the various
groups that the landlord intends to let properties to over the
year. It also sets targets and monitors procedures.

Choice-based lettings

Based on the Dutch style of advertising and letting homes,
aiming to give a more customer-focused approach to the
letting of social housing.

Supported Housing

Accommodation for people with specific care needs.
Residents are ‘supported’ in their accommodation by paid
staff. Tenures can cover people in various groups, such as
older people, people with learning disabilities, or those with
needs around addiction and homelessness services.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 126
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Term

Definition

Under-occupation

When the tenants in a property are not fully occupying it.

19.

Report author and contact

19.1.

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing, 020 8314 8632;
Fenella.Beckman@lewisham.gov.uk

19.2.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources:
Tony Riordan, principle accountant, 020 8314 6854, Tony.Riordan@lewisham.gov.uk

19.3.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance &HR
Leonard Tribe, Senior Lawyer; 020 8314 7820, Leonard.Tribe@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 127
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Appendix A - Allocations Scheme major policy revisions
Purpose of this document
1. To summarise the major changes proposed to Lewisham Council’s Allocation Policy (“the
Policy”), and decisions for Mayor and Cabinet to make in advance of consultation.
Background
2. As per the Housing Act 1996, every local authority in England must have a Policy to determine
prioritisation and procedure for allocating housing accommodation.
3. The Policy is a way of distributing a small number of homes as fairly as possible, while using
the resources available to us as efficiently as possible, retaining flexibility to respond to
fluctuations in demand from different client groups, preventing homelessness and offering
choice to applicants where we can.
4. We are in the process of reviewing the Policy. The Council is legally required to consult on
policy changes and so, before ratifying the proposed changes, a consultation process will need
to be completed.
Proposed changes to the Policy
5. Over time it has become clear that we need to amend our allocations policy to ensure that it
reflects our current priorities, and to ensure that applicants with most acute need are
prioritised. This review of the allocation policy will ensure that the priority banding scheme
more accurately reflects the councils rehousing priorities, particularly given the continuing high
demand for social housing and continuing high numbers of applicants placed in temporary
accommodation.
6. Note that the changes here are deemed major, substantive policy changes, altering the nature
of the policy – it is not an exhaustive list. The full list of proposed changes both major and
minor can be found at Appendix B.
7. Table 3, paragraph 32, sets out a summary of the major changes proposed, as detailed in the
following paragraphs 9-31.
A revised banding structure
8. Officers propose changes to the banding structure, subject to consultation. The aim of
these changes is to create a more system that better responds to housing need within the
borough.
Renaming bands
9. A summary of proposed new bands and their group is displayed below.
Table 1: Band changes
Current band
Band 1: Emergency Priority
Band 2: High Priority

Band 3: Priority
No band

Change made
None
Yes – new groups with new
primary rehousing reasons
added to this band;
previous group moved to
band 3 (see Table 2)
Yes – see Table 2
Introduced new band

Proposed new band
Band 1: Emergency priority
Band 2: High priority

Band 3: Medium priority
Band 4: Low priority

10. The updated bands are necessary due to increased demand for social housing from certain
groups since April 2017. Since 2017, there has been a significant increase in demand from

Page 128

homeless households, and due to the lack of supply of new social housing and the overall
decrease in social lettings, the need of those already on our housing register has become
more acute.
Changes to band allocation
11. Section 166A of the Housing Act 1996 requires the Council to give “due preference” to certain
groups. Beyond these preferences the Council is able to decide which cohorts it prioritises.
Given the high demand for social housing in the borough and the relative scarcity of available
properties, this means that the Council has been required to prioritise certain cohorts so that it
is able to address what it determines to be the greatest needs and to achieve its strategic
aims, as set out in the Housing Strategy 2020-2026.
12. Officers propose the new bands and group allocations, outlined in Table 2. The rationale
for these reallocations is explained in paragraphs 13-19. A similar table in Appendix C gives
estimated numbers of applicants that fit within each band.
Table 2: Potential group reallocation
Proposed new band
Band 1: Emergency

Band 2: High

Band 3: Medium

Band 4: Low

Original band
Decants
Emergency Priority
Exceptional Medical circumstance
Leaving Care
Management Discretion
Occupier no longer requires specialist unit
Discretionary succession
Retiring Lewisham Council residential employees
Starred decant priority
Succession to large property
Former armed forces personnel with housing need
Tenant-free Special Unit
Under-occupied property
Priority homeless with additional need
Supported housing move on
Medical high
Overcrowded by three beds
Medical
Management Discretion 2
Overcrowded by two bed
Request to return following a decant
Priority Homeless with no additional need
Prohibition order
Welfare - give or receive support
Welfare - housing for older people
Overcrowded by one bed

Current band for rehousing reason
Band 1: emergency

New primary rehousing reason
Band 2: high
Band 2: high
New primary rehousing reason
Band 3: priority
Band 2: high
Band 2: high
Band 2: high
Band 3: priority
Band 3: priority
Band 3: priority
Band 3: priority
Band 3: priority

Band Two: High Priority
13. We propose introducing a new homeless with additional need priority will ensure the Council is
able to respond to those very specific group of homeless applicants who through the support
they receive from the Council have a need to remain within the Borough, and for whom other
tenures such as the private rented sector are untenable.
14. We will consult on how to determine homeless with additional need. We propose using
the principle of our location priority policy and private rented sector offer (PRSO) policy. Those
who are awarded ‘in borough priority’ under our Location Priority Policy, or who are determined
to be unable to sustain a PRS tenancy under the PRSO policy, we propose as being awarded

Page 129

the homeless with additional need band. If necessary, these policies will be reviewed as part of
this consultation. These policies can be found at Appendix F.
15. Maintaining supported housing move on within band 2 will reduce pressure on local services
and help move vulnerable residents on support housing pathways in to suitable
accommodation.
16. There is demand in the borough for large properties. We believe that the housing need of
those overcrowded by three bed is substantial and therefore warrants a new primary rehousing
reason to help these households secure a suitable property more quickly.
i.

A new overcrowded by three bed primary rehousing reason will prioritise those
households living in the most acute overcrowded conditions. We estimate that around
160 applicants within Lewisham are overcrowded by three beds or more. At present
they will wait many years before being allocated accommodation, and it is appropriate
to increase their priority given the high level of housing need they are in.

ii.

We propose introducing that, when awarding this rehousing reason, adult children are
not considered when calculating the size of property required for applicants, unless
they are dependents or are caring for another adult or adults in the household.
Because the council has a disproportionately few large properties available it is
necessary to ensure that this priority group targets these properties at households with
dependent children.

17. We believe that the housing need of medical high applicants is sufficient enough to warrant the
continued allocation of high priority to this group.
Band Three: Medium priority
18. This band is a combination of previous bands two and three. The most significant change in
this group is the inclusion of the overcrowded by two bed cohort. This group has been
modified, due to the proposed additional prioritisation allowed for those overcrowded by three
bed, who are placed in priority two.
Band Four: Low priority
19. We have introduced a new Band Four to reflect the moving of overcrowded by two bed to
“Band 3 Medium”.
Smart letting properties
Current policy
20. The Council already makes provision to reserve up to five per cent of its properties for panLondon mobility arrangements.
21. Section 3.4.6 of the 2017 Policy also makes provision for the Council to ‘set a target for the
number of properties for the number of homes to be let to … priority groups’ and remove a
number of properties from being advertised to applicants.
Proposed change
22. Within the new Policy we propose ring-fencing up to 20% of properties to applicants who
are currently living in social housing (a transfer applicant) who have a housing need (“smart
letting”) and ensure that the property they vacate is ringfenced to someone living in the
private rented sector or temporary accommodation (a non-transfer applicant). This policy
has been proposed as it represents an opportunity to solve more housing need with the
resources we have. Aside from building new social homes, this is a key way for us to make

Page 130

best use of the available social housing with the resources we have. For each property, we
could solve two households’ needs, whilst also maintaining equitable access to the available
lets.
23. For example, an applicant in social housing would be helped in to a property more suited to
their needs which has been ring-fenced by the Council. The property that this household
vacates would also be ringfenced for an applicant on the housing register who does not
currently live in social housing, and who also has a housing need. The Housing Needs
Manager would use their discretion to decide which properites would be used to form part of
this scheme.
24. This smart letting system would enable “churn” in the system so that the Council could resolve
housing needs for multiple households by increasing lets. The use of ring-fencing would be
subject to an equalities impact assessment. See Appendix D for a preliminary assessment.

Reducing the ‘Three Offer’ rule to a ‘Two Offer’ rule
Current policy
25. Applicants are allowed to refuse a set number of suitable offers of a property that they have bid
for and are offered. This set number varies according to the primary rehousing reason
allocated to the applicant and is in detailed within section 2.2.3 and 2.2.4 of the current policy.
The set number is either once (the ‘One Offer’ rule) or three times (the ‘Three Offer’ rule). If the
number of suitable properties an applicant refuses exceeds the rule they are prescribed to they
are disqualified from the housing register for 12 months.
26. Operationally, there is a scarcity of social housing available and so a need to let properties as
quickly as possible. The ‘Three Offer’ rule also increases the administrative burden.
Proposed change
27. We propose reducing the ‘Three Offer’ rule to a ‘Two Offer’ rule. This would not apply to
applicants living in underoccupied properties as it is counter-productive to disqualify this cohort,
given the high demand and low supply of larger properties. We are not proposing to amend
which primary rehousing reasons the ‘Two Offer’ and ‘One Offer’ rules apply to – those currently
eligible for three offers will move to two offers, whilst those eligible for ‘One Offer’ will remain the
same.
28. We believe that a ‘Two Offer’ policy is reasonable, given that:
i.

there is a scarcity of housing available;

ii.

that there is a need for the Council to let properties as quickly as possible;

iii.

that there is an administrative burden for officials for those who refuse offers; and

iv.

that the resident has bid for the property and indicated preference for that property.

Changes to how applicants bid
Current policy
29. The current system permits applicants to bid for one property per week. Applicants are then
offered an viewing of a property by the landlord. This change was introduced because of
system constraints; we are currently implementing a new integrated housing system which will
make the administrative process of letting more efficient.
Proposed change

Page 131

30. We propose increasing the number of bids an applicant can make so that they can bid for
multiple properties per week. This is beneficial for applicants as they will be able to express
preference for more than one property and not be constrained by the system. This proposal
will only be implemented if the system is operationally deliverable – officials will review the
Council’s online system to assess this.
31. Applicants would be able to bid throughout the week for these properties and, if successful,
would then be offered one viewing. Officers propose consulting on changes to how
applicants bid.
Summary of major changes
Table 3: summary of major changes proposed for consultation
32.
Change being consulted on
Change band structuring

Changes to band allocation
for several rehousing
reasons

Determining homeless with
additional need

Calculating the size of
property required for
families with adult children

Smart letting

Number of offers an
applicant can reject

Rationale for change
- The updated bands are necessary due to
increased demand for social housing from
certain groups since April 2017. Since
2017, there has been a significant
increase in demand from homeless
households, and due to the lack of supply
of new social housing and the overall
decrease in social lettings, the need of
those already on our housing register has
become more acute.
- Since the previous Allocations Policy was
published, there has been increased
demand for social housing from certain
groups. Changes to band allocation reflect
these factors.
- There is a need to provide housing for a
very specific group of homeless applicants
who through the support they receive from
the Council have a need to remain within
the Borough.
- A new overcrowded by three bed primary
rehousing reason will prioritise those
households living in the most acute
overcrowded conditions. We estimate that
around 160 applicants within Lewisham are
overcrowded by three beds or more. At
present they will wait many years before
being allocated accommodation, and it is
appropriate to increase their priority given
the high level of housing need they are in.
Because the council has a
disproportionately few large properties
available it is necessary to ensure that this
priority group targets these properties at
households with dependent children.
- This policy would enable “churn” in the
system so that the Council could resolve
housing needs for multiple households and
resolve more housing needs with the
resource we have.
- We believe that a ‘Two Offer’ policy is
reasonable, given that:
i.
there is a scarcity of housing available;

Page 132

References in appendices
Appendix A, Paragraphs 910
Appendix B, #1
Appendix D, Table 2, #1

Appendix A, Paragraphs
11-19
Appendix B, #1
Appendix D, Table 2, #1
Appendix A, Paragraph 1314
Appendix B, #1
Appendix D, Table 2, #1
Appendix A, Paragraph 16
Appendix B, #4
Appendix D, Table 2, #5

Appendix A, Paragraphs
20-24
Appendix B, #2
Appendix D, Table 2, #2
Appendix A, Paragraphs
25-28
Appendix B, #3

ii.

that there is a need for the Council to let
properties as quickly as possible;
that there is an administrative burden for
officials for those who refuse offers; and
that the resident has bid for the property
and indicated preference for that property.

iii.
iv.

Reforming the bidding
process

-

Allowing applicants to bid on multiple
properties that they are eligible to bid for,
ranking these in order of preference but
viewing only one. This will maximise
applicants chance of being successful
when bidding.

Appendix D, Table 2, #3

Appendix A, Paragraphs
29-31
Appendix B, #5
Appendix D, Table 2, #4

Equalities impact assessment
33. Officers have carried out an Equalities impact assessment on the proposed changes. Full
detail of this is available at Appendix D.
Note on annual lettings plan (ALP)
34. In order to maintain the capacity to respond to unforeseen changes in housing need, the new
Allocations Scheme will maintain a provision to publish an ALP.
Next steps
35. Mayor and Cabinet will review the policy changes proposed in this document at a meeting on
11th November. Prior to that, the proposals will be subject to legal scrutiny and presented to
appropriate internal stakeholders.
36. Pending approval, we will launch a public consultation, estimated to last up to 12 weeks. Once
the consultation process is completed we will review the policy again inlight of the consultation
responses, seek approval from Mayor and Cabinet for a new policy and following approval we
will publish and implement the new Allocations Policy.

Page 133

Appendix B: Summary of change to Allocations Policy
Purpose of this document: To provide a summary of proposed changes to the Allocation Scheme and the April 2017 document.
#

Section

1

Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.1-2.5.3

Previous version (where applicable) & proposed change
-

-

Page 134

Our proposed new banding is:
1. Band 1: Emergency
2. Band 2: High
3. Band 3: Medium
4. Band 4: Low
The following band changes have been proposed:
1. Homeless with additional need will be moved
to “High”;
2. Current rehousing reason within “High” band
will be placed in “Medium” band (unless
otherwise stated);
3. Medical High moved in to “High” (instead of
“Medium”);
4. We propose introducing an “overcrowded by
3 bed” rehousing reason in “High”;
5. All previous “Band 3 Priority” will remain in
“Band 3 Medium Priority” except for:
 Overcrowded by 1 bed, which will be
placed within “Low” priority.

Rationale
-

The reasons for this new banding structure are:
1. To create a banding system that responds to
housing need within the borough given the high
demand for social housing and the scarcity of social
housing available.
2. Introducing a new homeless with additional need
priority will ensure the Council is able to respond to
those very specific group of homeless applicants
who through the support they receive from the
Council have a need to remain within the Borough,
and for whom other tenures such as the private
rented sector are untenable.
3. Overcrowded by 3 bed – This proposal recognises
that overcrowding is now more severe than ever
within the Borough. We estimate that around 160
applicants within Lewisham are overcrowded by
three beds or more. At present they will wait many
years before being allocated accommodation, and it
is appropriate to increase their priority given the
high level of housing need they are in. The
likelihood of this group receiving those properties is
low given the scarcity of large properties available
on the social housing register. We propose that
when awarding this primary rehousing reason, adult
children are not considered when calculating the
size of property required for applicants, unless they
are dependents or are caring for another adult or
adults in the household. Households who are
overcrowded by 3 bed for the reason of having nondependent adult children in the household will be
awarded overcrowded by 2 bed.

Major / minor?
Major

4. Overcrowded by 1 bed – this group will be moved
to a new band 4 to reflect the moving of
overcrowded by 2 bed to band 3 medium.
5. Medical high - we believe that the housing need of
these applicants is sufficient enough to warrant the
continued allocation of high priority to this group.
2

Allocation
Scheme

-

-

Page 135

3

Allocation
Scheme, 2.2.

-

We propose the introduction of a “smart letting”
scheme. We propose ring-fencing up to 20% of
available properties to someone already living in
social housing (a transfer applicant) who is in need,
and made sure that the property they vacate is ringfenced to someone living in the PRS / Temporary
Accommodation (non-transfer applicant).
This policy has been proposed as it represents an
opportunity to solve more housing need with the
resources we have. Aside from building new social
homes, this is a key way for us to make best use of
the available social housing with the resources we
have. For each property, we could solve two
households’ needs, whilst also maintaining equitable
access to the available lets.
This will be subject to a review after 12 months
We propose changing the Three Offer rule to a two
offer rule

-

This smart letting system would enable the Council to
resolve housing needs for multiple households. This policy
has been proposed as it represents an opportunity to solve
more housing need with the resources we have. For each
property, we could solve two households’ needs, whilst also
maintaining equitable access to the available lets.

We believe that a ‘Two Offer’ policy is reasonable, given that:

Major

Major

1. that there is a need for the Council to let properties as
quickly as possible;
2. that there is an administrative burden for officials for
those who refuse offers; and
3. that the resident has bid for the property and indicated
preference for that property.
4

Allocation
Scheme,
3.1.8

-

We propose increasing the number of bids an
applicant can make so that they can bid for multiple
properties per week. This proposal will only be
implemented if the system is operationally
deliverable – officials will review the Council’s online
system to assess this.

-

This is beneficial for applicants as they will be able to
express preference for more than one property and not be
constrained by the system.

Major

5

How the
Policy is
applied, 3.3.1

-

6

How the
Policy is
applied, 3.4.4

-

7

Front page &
contents

-

8

10
11

12

-

Update terminology.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

-

Phone numbers, emails and links to check and
update.
Introduction will be rewritten.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

-

Minor

Introduction,
1.1

-

Paragraph 1 - Numbers on housing list (9,500) and
number of properties allocated (1,000) needs
updating
Paragraph 7 – tenancy strategy wording needs to be
amended or deleted
Paragraph 8 – Need to check and update the
documents that the policy complies with.
List of housing options requires checking and
updating.
Para 10 (“Our officers or your landlord will…”) –
rewording required.

-

Agreed wording needs to be clearer, updated and the
purpose of the policy needs to be simpler for residents to
understand.
Accuracy
Tenancy strategy last published in 2011

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

-

Wording is unclear and needs to be simpler to understand.

Minor

Page 136

9

Whole
document
Whole
document
Whole
document
Introduction,
1.1

We propose excluding adult children over 21 from
calculating how many bedrooms are required for the
consideration of the new overcrowded by 3 bed
primary rehousing reason, unless they are a
dependent or are caring for another adult or adults in
the household.
We propose adding delegated powers for officers to
implement minor changes to the policy, so that they
do not have to go to Mayor and Cabinet for approval
of future minor changes.
Title updated to “Housing Allocation Policy”
Updates required to contact details
Contents – section numbers and titles require
updating.
Use numbered paragraphs.

-

13
14

Introduction,
1.2
Introduction,
1.2

-

-

Because the council has a disproportionately few large
properties available it is necessary to ensure that this
priority group targets these properties at households with
dependent children.

Major

-

This would mean officials can be more flexible and
responsive to changes.

Minor

-

Minor

-

Allocation Policy is more accurate about what the document
is
Contents and contact details need to be accurate
Terminology throughout document must be consistent.
Clarity, ease of navigation.

Minor

Minor

Introduction,
1.2

-

Para 13 – “you should liaise with the Housing
Medical Officer and the Community Occupational
Therapy Team” – requires additional information.

-

Wording is unclear and needs to communicate to residents
how they would access these officers (phone number,
email).

Minor

16

Introduction,
1.2

-

-

Needs to accurately reflect current service provision.

Minor

17

Introduction,
1.2
Introduction,
1.3

-

Para 14 – “There are a number of initiatives the
Council supports…” – requires checking and
updating
Para 15 – requires updating in line with Council
policy.
Properties excluded requires checking and updating
Final paragraph – housing needs group – requires
checking.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

Introduction,
1.4
Introduction,
1.4
Allocation
Scheme
policy, 2.1.1
Allocation
Scheme,
2.2.2

-

References require updating.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

-

Equalities Analysis Assessment requires carrying out
alongside policy development.
Section requires review and update.

-

Legal requirement and good practice.

Minor

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

-

Requires updating in line with equalities impact
assessment.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy

Minor

23

Allocation
Scheme,
2.2.2

-

Paragraph 2 – “Housing Panel and Supported
Housing priority cases are allowed to bid for
themselves” requires updating.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

24

Allocation
Scheme, 2.4

-

Section - What happens to other people currently
living with me? - Fresh Start requires updating.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

25

Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.2

-

Para 3 – requires updating.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

18

19
20
21

22

Page 137

15

-

-

26

27

28

29

Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.2
Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.3
Allocation
scheme 2.5.3

-

Para 5 – requires updating.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

-

Para 1 – requires updating.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy, and following
discussions with Legal Counsel.

Minor

-

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.1-2.5.3

-

A number of rehousing reasons within this band not
included within the previous policy document; these
need to be included.
Homeless prevention rehousing reason to be
removed from bands
Welfare – affordability rehousing reason to be
removed from bands
Update band name ‘Occupier is unable to succeed
tenancy’ to ‘Discretionary succession’
Update band name ‘Medical Low’ to ‘Medical’
Requires updating as per changes to banding.

-

Minor

-

There are very few people who have these rehousing
reason. These applicants will not be removed from the
register but will be absorbed into other reasons.
The homeless prevention rehousing reason is now out of
date following introduction of Homelessness Reduction Act.
Band name changes proposed for clarity and ease of
understanding
Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Online housing application link requires updating;
references to Homesearch require updating if
appropriate.
Need to add a clause regarding a new requirement
that residents must review their application and reregister on the housing register on an annual basis.
We need to add a quorate number for the
Emergency Housing panel
Additional sentence required stating that panel has
discretion to offer bed size or any larger bed size.
Para 4 – “4 bedroom properties are offered to
households consisting of a couple or lone parent,
with four or five children, or 4 adults where no two
are living as a couple as set out above” – requires
updating
Add clarification :
1. If you are moved to a new, higher band, your
list date will move to the date you were
moved to the new band

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Minor

-

Administrative efficiency.

Minor

-

Ensures transparency.

Minor

-

Requires amendment to be in line with housing benefit
rules and following discussions with Legal Counsel.

Minor

-

Clarification

Minor

-

31

Page 138

30

Allocation
scheme, 2.6

-

How the
Policy is
applied, 3.1.1
How the
Policy is
applied, 3.1.5
How the
Policy is
applied, 3.1.7

-

34

How the
Policy is
applied, 3.3.1

-

35

How the
Policy is
applied, 3.3.3

-

32

33

-

-

-

Minor

2. If you are moved to a lower band you will
keep your original list date.
36

37

38

-

We propose merging the local lettings and annual
lettings plan paragraphs, maintaining a provision to
publish these plans at our discretion.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy and a simpler document
for residents to understand.

Minor

-

Remove reference to Annual Lettings Plan. Amend
wording relating to delegation.

-

Minor

How the
Policy is
applied, 3.1.3

-

Policy needs to be GDPR compliant and wording in
place to reflect this.

-

Amendment to wording proposed: “Amendments to this
policy not reflecting a major change of policy, may be made
by the Executive Director for Customer Services in
consultation with the Head of Law [Director of Law
Governance and HR] and such changes will be reported to
Members annually.”
Consistency, legality.

Page 139

How the
Policy is
applied,
3.4.3, 3.4.4
(lettings
plans)
Reviewing
this Policy
section of
policy

Minor

Appendix C

Proposed banding and numbers of applicants in each band
Total

Current banding and numbers of applicants in each band
Total

Page 140

Band 1 - Emergency
Decant
Leaving Care
Freeing up a unit (including under occupiers)
All other Band 1
Band 2 - High
Overcrowded by 2 bed
Supported Housing Move On
Medical High
All other Band 2
Band 3 - Priority
Overcrowded By 1 Bed
Homeless
Medical Low

4612
2212
892

All other Band 3
Total

458
9859

40
45
441
39
559
52
476
33

Band 1 - Emergency
Decant
Leaving Care
Freeing up a unit
All other Band 1
Band 2 - High
Overcrowded by 3 bed
Homeless with additional need
Supported Housing Move On
Medical High
All other Band 2
Band 3 - Medium
Overcrowded By 2 Bed
Homeless
Medical
All other Band 3
Band 4 - Low
Overcrowded by 1 Bed
Total

40
45
441
39
160
Approx. 350*
52
476
16
399
1862
892
475
4612
9859

*This figure is the estimated number of applicants that would be in this
category when using the proposed approach as outlined in section 9.2.2.1 of
the Mayor and Cabinet report, and section 14 and 15 of Appendix A.

Appendix D – Equality Impact Assessment
Table 1
Author
Jack Skelly
Directorate Housing
Date
29/10/20
Service
Housing
1. The project or decision that this assessment is being undertaken for
Allocations policy review 2020
As per the Housing Act 1996, every local authority in England must have an Allocations Policy to determine
prioritisation and procedure for allocating housing accommodation.
The Policy is a way of distributing a small number of homes as fairly as possible, while using the resources available
to us as efficiently as possible, retaining flexibility to respond to fluctuations in demand from different client groups,
preventing homelessness and offering choice to applicants where we can.
We are in the process of reviewing the Policy. The Council is legally required to consult on policy changes and so,
before ratifying the proposed changes, a consultation process will need to be completed.
This policy underpins the service’s work under Housing and Homelessness strategies.
2. The protected characteristics or other equalities factors potentially impacted by this decision
☒ Age

☒ Race

☒ Maternity and
pregnancy
☒ Gender reassignment ☒ Disability
☒ Carer status
☒ Sexual orientation

☒ Marriage and civil
partnership

☐Other, please
define:

☒ Gender
☒ Religion or
belief
The Allocations Policy denotes the way social housing is allocated to residents on the social housing register. There
are currently over 9,000 households on the register and so there is a potential impact on all of the protected
characteristics and other equalities factors outlined above.
The current policy organises those on the social housing register into rehousing reason groups. These groups are
then allocated one of three Band Priorities. The Band Priority determines how long an applicant to the register is
likely to wait before successfully bidding for a property.
Officials propose amendments to the band priorities, introducing new rehousing reason groups and moving some
groups from one band to another, and introducing a new band. This is likely to impact the length of time some
applicants will be on the housing register before successfully bidding for a property.
In particular, we believe the proposed amendments protected characteristics and other equalities factors, we
believe there could be a particular impact on:
-

Age;
Religion;
Ethnicity;
Disability;
Gender; and
Household type.

Full details of the anticipated impacts and mitigations are found in the “impact summary” table below.

3. The evidence to support the analysis
The key data needed for this assessment is the service-user profile – i.e. those applying for social housing. Much of
this information is provided as part of a housing application and can be sourced from the in-house system. That
said, the council has limited data on the protected characteristics of applicants – applicants are not required to
enter data on protected characteristics. Therefore we are unable to provide a detailed assessment of the impact of
re-allocating groups, or forecast the impact with a significant degree of confidence. It should be noted that the

Page 141

housing service is currently implementing a new integrated housing system. In time, and with a re-registration
process proposed as part of the policy review, our data quality should improve over time.
Analysis has been undertaken into the profile of applicants from the below sources:
- Those who are on the Housing Register as at September 2020;
- Homelessness applications from April 2018 – August 2020 to establish the impacts of suggested banding
changes to homeless applicants on the housing register; and
- Segments of data on clients already housed within our own stock to establish impacts of policy changes on
this cohort.
Where key data is not available this will be clearly stated alongside the action that will be taken to minimise any
potential negative impact.
 The analysis
Age
Housing register
Age band
18-25
26-35
36-40
41-50
51-60
61+
Grand Total





Count
5%
22%
16%
27%
18%
12%
100.00%

Homelessness
applications
Age Range
Less than 18
18-25
26-35
36-40
41-50
51-60
More than 60
Grand Total

Count
0.8%
21.4%
27.9%
12.5%
19.4%
12.4%
5.5%
100.00%

The most represented age bracket in the social housing register is 41-50
The most represented age bracket in homelessness applications is 26-35
The number of homelessness applications from young people aged 18-25 is significantly higher than the
prevalence of this group on the housing register

Ethnicity
Housing register
Ethnicity
(blank)
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British
African
Caribbean
Not disclosed
Any other White background
Any other Black/ African/ Caribbean background
Any other ethnic group
White and Black Caribbean
Any other Asian background
Any other mixed/ multiple ethnic background
Chinese
Irish
White and Black African
Indian
Bangladeshi
Pakistani
White and Asian

Count

Page 142

70.3%
8.0%
6.0%
5.6%
2.2%
2.0%
1.2%
1.2%
0.8%
0.8%
0.5%
0.4%
0.3%
0.2%
0.2%
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%

Arab
Grand Total
Homelessness applications
Ethnicity
13 BLACK AFRICAN
12 BLACK CARIBBEAN
01 WHITE BRITISH
16 OTHER ETHNICITY
17 REFUSED
03 WHITE OTHER
04 WHITE & CARIBBEAN
14 BLACK OTHER
06 WHITE & ASIAN
20 OTHER MIXED
08 INDIAN
19 ARAB
05 WHITE & AFRICAN
15 CHINESE
09 PAKISTANI
10 BANGLADESHI
02 WHITE IRISH
18 GYPSY/IRISH TRAVE
11 OTHER ASIAN
Grand Total




0.0%
100.00%

Count
23.50%
23.34%
20.82%
6.62%
6.04%
6.01%
4.31%
2.48%
2.27%
1.15%
0.74%
0.70%
0.64%
0.53%
0.40%
0.30%
0.08%
0.05%
0.02%
100.00%

The data regarding the ethnicity of applicants on the general housing register is limited, with more than 70%
of those not disclosing their ethnicity. Most applications to the general housing register are made online so
a large number of applicants are choosing not to disclose this data
We do, however, hold high quality data about the ethnicity of residents who make an application of
homelessness, as this is collected by officers from the applicants. This is shown in the second table above
This shows that over half of homeless households from the past year have been from BME households

Ethnicity (Lewisham Homes tenants)
13 BLACK AFRICAN
16 OTHER ETHNICITY
17 REFUSED
07 WHITE & OTHER
20 OTHER MIXED
05 WHITE & AFRICAN
10 BANGLADESHI
04 WHITE & CARIBBEAN
06 WHITE & ASIAN
09 PAKISTANI
08 INDIAN
19 ARAB
02 WHITE IRISH
03 WHITE OTHER
14 BLACK OTHER

Proportionally overrepresented in
overcrowded cohort
17.40%
2.00%
2.00%
0.50%
0.50%
0.40%
0.20%
0.10%
0.10%
0.00%
-0.10%
-0.10%
-0.20%
-0.20%
-0.50%

Page 143

15 CHINESE
11 OTHER ASIAN
12 BLACK CARIBBEAN
01 WHITE BRITISH



-0.50%
-0.60%
-8.50%
-12.70%

The above table is an assessment of overcrowded households within our own stock (Lewisham Homes)
compared to the total number of households in that cohort. The percentages demonstrate whether
particular ethnicities are over or underrepresented in the overcrowded cohort.
The numbers show that people of Black African origin are disproportionately represented in the
overcrowded cohort.

Maternity
A small number of applicants on the housing register (less than 2%) are listed as pregnant.
Language spoken
We do not have data on language spoken in the data extract; however Lewisham’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
2019 suggests that there are over 170 languages spoken in Lewisham. Communications on policy changes will need
to be sensitive to people’s language needs, as will our working processes and customer service delivery.
Gender
 Almost a quarter of applicants on the housing register are female. This is most likely because there are more
single women with dependent children accepted onto the register (as dependent children is indicative of a
priority need).
 57.8% of homeless applicants in the extract analysed were female.
Gender identity
 1.48% of applicants on the housing register have identified as transgender
 There is no data for gender identity within homeless applicants.
Disability
 Over 16% of applicants on the housing register have declared a disability.
 As at August 2020, there were 149 households on the housing register awaiting accessible social housing.
109 of these households were already in social housing not currently suitable for their needs. At least 15
were in temporary accommodation.
 Less than 1% of homelessness applicants in the extract declared a disability; however this relates to lead
applicant only.
Household type
Minimum
bedroom need
0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
Grand Total

Count
0.24%
17.00%
38.73%
33.83%
7.75%
1.88%
0.40%
0.12%
0.04%
0.01%
100.00%

Page 144







Household type is not collected in housing register data; however the minimum number of bedrooms
required gives us an idea of the sizes of the households. Almost three quarters of households waiting for
social housing need a minimum of 2 or 3 bedrooms.
As expected, larger households are more likely to be affected by overcrowding. 635 households within our
own stock (Lewisham Homes) are overcrowded by more than one bedroom. Almost three quarters of these
households have 5 or more occupants, suggestive of families with more children or multi-generational
households.
812 households within our own stock are overcrowded by 0.5-1 bedroom. Almost half of this cohort are a
household of 6 occupants.
According to the 2014-based CLG household projections, the number of households with children is
expected to increase by around 6,300 over the period 2018–2033.

Religion
Religion
Not disclosed
Christian (all denominations)
None
Muslim
Any other religion/belief
Prefer not to say
Buddhist
Hindu
Sikh
Jewish
Grand Total

Count
58.33%
23.93%
9.82%
5.43%
0.82%
0.74%
0.45%
0.41%
0.03%
0.03%
100.00
%




Over 50% of housing register applicants have not disclosed a religion.
Out of the remaining applicants, almost a quarter have identified as Christian. The next most prevalent
declaration is ‘no religion’, following by Muslim.
Religion, overcrowded by 2 bed+
Count
Not disclosed
46.77%
Christian (all denominations)
28.67%
Muslim
13.98%
None
9.50%
Any other religion/belief
0.72%
Prefer not to say
0.18%
Buddhist
0.18%
100.00
Grand Total
%





When looking at households on the register that are overcrowded by 2 bedrooms or more, those who are
Muslim are overrepresented (almost 14% even though they account for only 5.4% of the overall register),
suggesting that any changes to policy relating to overcrowding may have a disproportionate affect on this
group.
Religion data not available for over 75% of Lewisham Homes tenants.
For homelessness applications, religion data is held on less than 10% of clients, so meaningful analysis is not
possible.

Carer status
There is no data for carers within the housing register or homelessness applications.
Sexual orientation

Page 145





Over half of applicants on the housing register have not disclosed their sexual orientation
44% have identified as straight / heterosexual
Less than 1% have identified as gay, lesbian, bisexual or other.

Income
 By definition, applicants on the housing register are on low incomes and / or in receipt of housing benefit or
Universal Credit
4. Impact summary
A full impact is provided in the impact summary table, below.
5. Mitigation
Mitigations are provided in the impact summary table, below.
6. Service user journey that this decision or project impacts
Consultation contact: Jack skelly – jack.skelly@lewisham.gov.uk
If you think you may become homeless, you should contact the Council for advice at the earliest opportunity. The
earlier you contact us the more chance we have of helping you to avoid becoming homeless. You can call the
Housing Options Centre [HOC] on 020 8314 7007 or e-mail HOC at www.housingoptionsenquiry@lewisham.gov.uk.
If you want to join the housing list you can do this by referring to our information on the website
www.lewisham.gov.uk or http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/housing/find/Pages/Apply-for-socialhousing.aspx.
For advice about your housing options, please contact the Allocations and Lettings Service on 020 8314 7007.
If you are vulnerable (for example you are elderly, have learning or other disability, or do not have the ability to read
English or another language) we can assist you in accessing housing and bidding for properties. The Homesearch
Support Officer, based in the Allocations and Lettings Service, assists applicants to engage with the choice based
lettings system and can assist clients with bidding. Please contact the Allocations and Lettings Service for further
information on 020 8314 7007.
Single Homelessness Intervention and Prevention (SHIP): The Council is committed to working with partner
agencies to promote housing options for single young people and there are a number of supported housing
schemes that may be suitable for your needs funded throughout the borough. For more information on how to
access these schemes please contact the SHIP service at SHIP@lewisham.gov.uk or 020 8314 7007.
Signature of Head
of Service
For further information please see the full Corporate Equality Policy.

Page 146

Table 2 – Equality Impact Assessment summary
Purpose of this document: This table lists the proposed major change to the Allocations Policy, and indicates any protected characteristic group that may be positive or
negatively impacted by the proposed change. The impacts have been assessed and potential mitigation explored.
The Council has limited data on the protected characteristics of applicants. Therefore we are unable to provide a detailed assessment of the impact of re-allocating groups,
or forecast the impact with a significant degree of confidence.
Please note this is a working progress document and will continue to be updated throughout the policy update work.
# Section

Proposed new policy

1 Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.1-2.5.3

1.

Our proposed new banding is:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Page 147

2.

Band 1: Emergency
Band 2: High
Band 3: Medium
Band 4: Low

Protected characteristic groups
potentially impacted by change
1. Disability
2. Religion
3. Household type
4. Age
5. Ethnicity
6. Gender

Assessment of impact

Mitigation

1.

Placing rehousing reason groups in different
Band Priorities, compared to the 2017 Policy,
is likely to impact the length of time they will
be on the housing register before securing a
property.

1.

We are introducing an
“overcrowded by three” rehousing
reason in Band Two. This will
allow some larger households to
move more quickly than they are
currently able.

2.

The Counsel has limited data on the protected
characteristics of applicants. Therefore we are
unable to provide a detailed assessment of the
impact of re-allocating groups, or forecast the
impact with a significant degree of confidence.

2.

Communications on policy
changes will need to be sensitive
to people’s language needs, as will
our working processes and
customer service delivery.

3.

Officials will monitor lets that are
offered and keep data on
protected characteristics to
ensure groups are not
discriminated against.

4.

The Council operates a number of
services, including Allocations and
Lettings service and Housing
Options service, which provide
advice to residents about their
housing options. These can be
contacted by phone or online and
can provide guidance on what
housing options are viable for
applicants with a range of
characteristics

The following band changes have been
proposed:
1.
2.

3.
4.

5.

6.

7.

Homeless with additional need
will be moved to “High”;
Current cohorts within “High”
band will be placed in “Medium”
band (unless otherwise stated);
Medical High moved in to “High”
(instead of “Medium”);
Supported Housing Move on
moved to “High” (instead of
“Medium”)
We propose introducing an
“overcrowded by 3 bed” cohort in
“High”;
All previous “Band 3 Priority” will
remain in “Band 3 Medium
Priority” except for:
Overcrowded by 1 bed, which will
be placed within “Low” priority.

3.

4.

We anticipate, however, that the proposed
policies may impact in the following ways:
Moving “overcrowded by two” in to Medium
Priority, and “overcrowded by one” to Low
Priority, may impact those with “religion”,
“household type” or “ethnicity” protected
characteristics. Individuals with these
characteristics are more likely to have larger
households than the national average, and so
be experiencing overcrowding. Individuals of
Black African ethnicity are disproportionately
represented in the overcrowded cohort.
Placing this rehousing reason in Band Three is
likely to increase the time an applicant will
wait in order to successfully bid for social
housing.

5.

Implementing the proposed banding structure
may allow those with a disability to move
more quickly within the “medical high”
rehousing reason, which will be placed within
Band Two.

6.

Implementing the proposed banding structure
may allow younger applicants to move more
quickly within the “Supported Housing Move
On” rehousing reason, which will be placed
within Band Two.

7.

Page 148
2 Allocation
Scheme

1.

We propose ring-fencing properties,
whereby Council ring-fences a percentage
of properties to enable transfer of tenants
(“smart letting”).

2.

We will ring-fence a set number of
properties to residents who are both
currently in social housing and on the
housing list, so that they are able to move
to a house more suited to their need.

1.
2.
3.
4.

Disability
Age
Religion
Ethnicity

1.

2.

Implementing the proposed banding structure
may allow individuals with specific “ethnicity”,
“gender” and “age” characteristics to move
more quickly within the “Homeless with
additional need” rehousing reason, which will
be placed within Band Two. Data suggests
that:
1. a disproportionate number of
homelessness applications are from
Black African and Black Caribbean
ethnicities;
2. a high number of applicants are aged
between 26 and 35;
3. The number of homelessness
applications from young people aged
18-25 is significantly higher than the
prevalence of this group on the
housing register; and
4. 57.8% of homeless applicants in the
data extracted were female
Smart letting will prioritise initially transferring
applicants but overall the impact of the policy
will be neutral as the properties that are
released from the transferring tenants will go
to non-transferring applicants.
Smart letting may improve the likelihood of
individuals with “disability” characteristics
successfully bidding for a property, as scarce
properties that are suitable for those with

5.

The Council provides help for
those who wish to access housing
or bid for properties on the
housing register that are
vulnerable (e.g. those who are
elderly, have a disability or do not
have the ability to read English or
another language)

6.

The Council also runs a number of
social care pathways (e.g. the
young persons’ pathway) and
other support initiatives (Single
Homeless Intervention and
Prevention service) to support
specific homeless cohorts.

1.

Officials will monitor lets that are
offered via the ‘smart lettings’
scheme and keep data on
protected characteristics to
ensure groups are not
discriminated against.

2.

Communications on policy
changes will need to be sensitive
to people’s language needs, as will

disabilities may be let using this system. 16%
of applicants on the housing register have
declared a disability. As at August 2020, there
were 149 households on the housing register
awaiting accessible social housing. 109 of
these households were already in social
housing not currently suitable for their needs.
At least 15 were in temporary
accommodation.
3 Allocation
Scheme,
2.2.

1.

We propose changing the Three Offer rule
to a Two Offer rule

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Disability
Ethnicity
Religion
Age
Household type
Gender

1.

Page 149

Reducing the number of offers for
“overcrowded by two” and “overcrowded by
one” to One Offer, may impact those with
“religion”, “household type” or “ethnicity”
protected characteristics. Individuals with
these characteristics are more likely to have
larger households than the national average,
and so be experiencing overcrowding who will
have a reduced number of refusals for
properties. Individuals of Black African
ethnicity are disproportionately represented in
the overcrowded cohort.

2.

Reducing the number of offers for those with
specially adapted homes, “medical high” and
“medical low” rehousing reasons may impact
individuals with “disability” who will have a
reduced number of refusals for properties.

3.

Implementing the reduced number of offers
may impact individuals with specific
“ethnicity” and “age” characteristics to, as this
will reduce the number of refusals those with
“Homeless with additional need” and
“homeless without additional need” rehousing
reasons can make. Data suggests that:
1. a disproportionate number of
homelessness applications are from
Black African and Black Caribbean
ethnicities;
2. a high number of applicants are aged
between 26 and 35;

our working processes and
customer service delivery.

1.

The Council provides help for
those who wish to access housing
or bid for properties on the
housing register that are
vulnerable (e.g. those who are
elderly, have a disability or do not
have the ability to read English or
another language)

2.

The Council operates a number of
services, including Allocations and
Lettings service and Housing
Options service, which provide
advice to residents about their
housing options. These can be
contacted by phone or online and
can provide guidance on what
housing options are viable for
applicants with a range of
characteristics

3.

Officials will monitor lets that are
offered via the ‘smart lettings’
scheme and keep data on
protected characteristics to
ensure groups are not
discriminated against.

4.

The Council also runs a number of
social care pathways (e.g. the
young persons’ pathway) and
other support initiatives (Single

3.

4.

4 Allocation
Scheme,
3.1.8

Page 150

5 How the
Policy is
applied,
3.3.1

1. We propose updating bidding procedure so
that applicants can bid for multiple
properties per week. If the applicant
successfully bid for multiple properties,
they would only be eligible to view one
property, which would be the property for
which they stated their highest preference.

1.

We propose excluding adult children over
21 from calculating how many bedrooms
are required for the new band
‘overcrowded by 3 bed’, unless they are
dependents or are caring for a main
households member

1.

1.
2.
3.
4.

The number of homelessness
applications from young people aged
18-25 is significantly higher than the
prevalence of this group on the
housing register; and
57.8% of homeless applicants in the
data extracted were female

None

Age
Religion
Ethnicity
Household type

Homeless Intervention and
Prevention service) to support
specific homeless cohorts.
5.

1.

1.

2.

Excluding adult children over 21 from the
higher banded ‘overcrowded by 3 bed’ may
impact those with “religion” or “ethnicity”
protected characteristics. Individuals with
these characteristics are more likely to have
larger households than the national average,
with adult children staying with their parents
for longer. Individuals of Black African
ethnicity are disproportionately represented in
the overcrowded cohort.
Excluding adult children over 21 impacts those
with “age” characteristics. We do not have
detailed data on the number of adult children
living in large properties with their parents but
where this is the case, these families will not
be able to access the higher band 2 and will be
behind those large families with children in the
waiting list.

Communications on policy
changes will need to be sensitive
to people’s language needs, as will
our working processes and
customer service delivery.
The Council provides help for
those who wish to access housing
or bid for properties on the
housing register that are
vulnerable (e.g. those who are
elderly, have a disability or do not
have the ability to read English or
another language)

1.

Officials will monitor lets that are
offered and keep data on
protected characteristics to
ensure groups are not
discriminated against.

2.

The Council operates a number of
services, including Allocations and
Lettings service and Housing
Options service, which provide
advice to residents about their
housing options. These can be
contacted by phone or online and
can provide guidance on what
housing options are viable for
applicants with a range of
characteristics

3.

The Council provides help for
those who wish to access housing
or bid for properties on the
housing register that are
vulnerable (e.g. those who are
elderly, have a disability or do not

have the ability to read English or
another language)

Page 151

4.

Adult children who are
dependents or who are carers for
a main household member will be
included in bedroom calculations

5.

The Smart letting scheme may
enable larger properties to be
accessed by transferring tenants
and so may reduce the time
families with these characteristics
have to wait to secure a property.

6.

Communications on policy
changes will need to be sensitive
to people’s language needs, as will
our working processes and
customer service delivery.

Consultation questions
Introduction
We are required by law to have a housing allocations policy. The policy sets out how we allocate the
social housing that becomes available in Lewisham. The policy also outlines the procedures we have
to follow to allocate these homes. The housing allocations policy is governed by legislation and
guidance from the Government.
The policy makes sure we distribute the small number of social homes that are available as fairly as
possible. Our approach aims to reflect local pressures and priorities, while offering applicants as
much choice as possible.
We are in the process of reviewing the policy. As part of this, we are legally required to consult with
the public on the proposed policy changes we would like to make.
The purpose of this consultation is to seek your views on:
-

Changes to banding
new primary rehousing reasons
A new ‘Smart lettings’ approach
The ‘Three Offer’ rule
Changes to how applicants bid

Full details of these proposed changes are provided within the questions below.

Page 152

Question 1: Creating a “priority homeless with additional need” rehousing reason
Our current policy:
We will assess your application based on the rehousing reasons that your household may have. You
will then be placed into a priority band. The higher the priority, the more likely you will be successful in
your bid for social housing.
If your household has multiple rehousing reasons, it will be placed into the highest band based on
those reasons.
Properties are offered to applicants based on applications that meet the highest priority band. For
example, if you are an applicant in the ‘Emergency Priority’ band, and an applicant in the ‘High
Priority’ band bids for the same house, your application will be prioritised and you will receive an offer.
Each priority band contains groups of rehousing reasons. We use these to describe your housing
need so that we can offer you a suitable property.
Homeless applicants are currently allocated within the Band 3 priority band category
Our proposed change:
We propose introducing a new “homeless with additional need priority” within the Band 2 category.
This will ensure that we are able to respond to very specific cases of homelessness across the
borough. Homeless applications without additional needs will remain unchanged within the Band 3
category.
We could use a number of criteria to determine “additional need”:
1. If you are an applicant who has been awarded ‘in-borough priority’ under our Location Priority
Policy. The Location Priority Policy:
i.

Sets out how the Borough will fairly allocate temporary accommodation within and
close to Lewisham;

ii.

‘In-borough priority’ is given to residents who have a particular need to be housed
within Lewisham (e.g. these include people: receiving specialist treatment that cannot
be transferred to another location; where moving away from Lewisham would be
detrimental to a household member’s health); or

2. If you are an applicant whose application is seen as unable to sustain a private rented sector
tenancy under the private rented sector discharge policy;
i.

The private rented sector discharge policy sets out how the Council will arrange an
offer of accommodation for homeless households, as part of its main housing duty to
residents.

ii.

We will arrange a private rented sector offer of housing for homeless households,
except in cases where it is not possible to house the household in this
accommodation (e.g. health reasons); or

3. A combination of both of these policies.
Question 1a:
Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new “homeless with additional need
priority” group?
-

Agree
Disagree

Page 153

Further comments:

Question 1b:
How should we decide additional need for homeless applicants?
-

Using “in-borough priority” under the Location Priority Policy
Using the private rented sector discharge policy
A combination of both of these policies
Other (please specify)

Further comments

Page 154

Question 2: Changing the priority of “overcrowded” rehousing reasons
Our current policy:
Overcrowded rehousing reasons are currently:
“Overcrowded by 2 beds”, in Priority band 2; and
“Overcrowded by 1 bed”, in Priority Band 3
Our proposed change:
We propose introducing a new “overcrowded by three bed” rehousing reason. This will help us to be
more successful in allocating properties to households who are in the worst overcrowded situations.
We propose:
-

the new overcrowded by 3 bed rehousing reason to be placed in band 2
the overcrowded by 2 bed to be in band 3
overcrowded by 1 bed to be moved to a new band 4.

Overcrowding has created a substantial pressure across the Borough. We estimate that around 160
applicants within Lewisham are overcrowded by three beds or more. That means these families may
be living in one or two bed accommodation but will be in need of four and five bed properties.
Given the shortage of large properties that are available on the social housing register, the likelihood
of this group receiving those properties is currently low.
To help with this issue, we propose that adult children (over 21 years old) are not considered when
calculating the size of properties required for applicants in this band, unless they are dependents or
have caring responsibilities.
In addition, we propose moving overcrowded by 1 bed to a new band 4. This is so that we are able to
prioritise households who require larger properties.
Question 2a:
Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new ‘overcrowded by three bed’ group?
-

Agree
Disagree

Further comments:
Question 2b:
Do you agree that we should not include adult children for the new ‘overcrowded by 3 bed’
band?
-

Agree
Disagree

Further comments:
Question 2c:
Do you agree that we should consider moving “overcrowded by one bed” to a new Band 4
priority group?
-

Agree
Disagree

Further comments

Page 155

Question 3: Banding reallocation
Our current policy:
We will assess your application based on the rehousing reasons that your household may have. You
will then be placed into a priority band. The higher the priority, the more likely you will be successful in
your bid for social housing.
If your household has multiple rehousing reasons, it will be placed into the highest band based on
those reasons.
Properties are offered to applicants based on applications that meet the highest priority band. For
example, if you are an applicant in the ‘Emergency Priority’ band, and an applicant in the ‘High
Priority’ band bids for the same house, your application will be prioritised and you will receive an offer.
Each priority band contains groups of rehousing reasons. We use these to describe your housing
need so that we can offer you a suitable property.
Our proposed change:
Table 1, below, shows the proposed allocation of rehousing reasons within the proposed new banding
structure.
We believe that, given the shortage of properties and the high housing need within the borough, this
proposal will help target those in most need.
Table 1: Proposed group reallocation
Proposed new band

Rehousing reason

Band 1: Emergency

Decants
Emergency Priority
Exceptional Medical circumstance
Leaving Care
Management Discretion
Occupier no longer requires specialist unit
Discretionary succession
Retiring Lewisham Council residential employees
Starred decant priority
Succession to large property
Tenant-free Special Unit
Under-occupied property
Former armed forces personnel with housing need
Priority homeless with additional need*
Supported housing move on
Medical high
Overcrowded by three beds*
Priority Homeless with no additional need
Management Discretion 2
Overcrowded by two bed
Request to return following a decant
Medical
Prohibition order
Welfare - give or receive support
Welfare - housing for older people
Overcrowded by one bed

Band 2: High

Band 3: Medium

Band 4: Low**

* indicates proposed new rehousing reason
** indicates proposed new band priority

Page 156

Question 3:
Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority bands as outlined
above (Table 1)?
-

Agree
Disagree

Further comments:

Page 157

Question 4: “Smart letting” properties
Our current policy:
We already make provision to reserve up to five per cent of its properties for pan-London mobility
arrangements.
Section 3.4.6 of the 2017 Allocation Policy also makes provision for us to ‘set a target for the number
of properties for the number of homes to be let to … priority groups’. It also removes a number of
properties from being advertised to applicants.
Our proposed change:
Within the new policy, we propose ring-fencing up to 20% of properties to applicants who are
currently living in social housing and who have a housing need. We would call this “smart letting”
properties.
We would make sure that the social housing property vacated by the applicant is ring-fenced to
someone who is in need and living in private rented housing or temporary accommodation.
For example, if you are already living in social housing and are on the register, you could bid for one
of the properties within the ‘smart letting’ scheme. The property that you vacate would then be ringfenced for another individual or family with a housing need. This individual or family would not
currently be in social housing, and would move from temporary accommodation or the private rented
sector.
Aside from building new social homes, this is a key way for us to make best use of the available social
housing with the resources that we already have. For each property, we could solve two households’
needs. The approach makes sure that we are fairly allocating the available housing to all applicants.
Question 4:
To the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider operating a “smart
letting” system?
-

Agree
Disagree

Further comments:

Page 158

Question 5: Changing the ‘Three Offer’ Rule
Our current policy:
You are within your rights to refuse a set number of suitable offers of a property that you have bid for
and have been subsequently offered. This set number varies according to the primary rehousing
reason that has been allocated to your application. For further information, please see section 2.2.3
and 2.2.4 of the current allocations policy.
The set number is either once (the ‘One Offer’ rule) or three times (the ‘Three Offer’ rule). If the
number of suitable properties that you have refused exceeds the rule for your housing reason, you
may be disqualified from the housing register for 12 months.
Our proposed change:
We propose reducing the ‘Three Offer’ rule to a ‘Two Offer’ rule. If you are an applicant living in
under-occupied properties, this will not apply to you. We are not proposing to amend the primary
rehousing reasons that the ‘Two Offer’ and ‘One Offer’ rules apply to – applicants currently eligible for
three offers will move to two offers, while applicants eligible for ‘One Offer’ will remain the same.
We believe that a ‘Two Offer’ policy is reasonable, given that:
i. there is a lack of housing available
ii. there is a need for us to let properties as quickly as possible
iii. there is an administrative burden for us for those who refuse offers
iv. the resident has bid for the property and indicated preference for that property
Question 5:
Do you agree that we should reduce the ‘Three Offer’ rule to a ‘Two Offer’ rule for eligible
groups?
-

Agree
Disagree

Further comments:

Page 159

Question 6: Changes to how applicants bid
Our current policy:
The current system allows you to bid for one property per week. You will then then be offered an
interview/viewing of a property.
Our proposed change:
To make the bidding process more efficient for users and for us, we propose increasing the number of
bids you can make so that you can bid for multiple properties. This is beneficial for applicants as you
will be able to express preference for more than one property and not be constrained by the system.
You would be able to bid throughout the week for these properties and, if successful, you would then
be offered one viewing.
Question 6:
Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties so that you can bid
for multiple properties each week?
-

Agree
Disagree

Further comments:

Page 160

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM
LOCATION PRIORITY POLICY

General
1.1.

This Location Priority Policy will provide a framework for the fair allocation of
affordable temporary accommodation within and close to the London Borough of
Lewisham. This policy applies to the allocation of temporary accommodation
secured under Part VII, Housing Act 1996 and under Part III, Children Act 1989.

1.2.

Officers will endeavour to place all households within or as close as possible to
the London Borough of Lewisham. This policy outlines which households will
have priority for accommodation in these areas.

1.3.

This policy does not prevent a household from considering other housing options,
including asking the Council for advice, support and assistance in relocating to
more settled accommodation.

Categories of Location Priority
2.1.

If the local authority has a duty to secure accommodation, an assessment will be
carried out to determine the location priority of the applicant. The assessment will
determine whether the applicant has:
 Priority to be located in the London Borough of Lewisham
 Priority to be located close to the London Borough of Lewisham
 No priority as to the location of a property.

2.2.

The award of an ‘In-borough’ or ‘Close to Borough’ location priority does not
guarantee the provision of temporary accommodation within those areas, rather
priority for such accommodation should it be available and suitable.

2.3.

Where the household is in receipt of welfare benefits, this may place additional
constraints on the availability of affordable accommodation, including constraints
on its type and location.

1

Page 161

2.4.

The Council will have due regard to the principal needs of any children in the
household, and the need to safeguard and promote the children’s welfare. In
particular, regard will be had to any disruption to schools, medical care, social
work, other key services and other support.

In-borough Priority
3.1.

Priority for available in-borough accommodation will be given to certain
households who have a particular need to be housed within the London Borough
of Lewisham. Applicants and their household members to be housed with them
who satisfy one or more of the following criteria will qualify for ‘In-borough’
priority:
a. They are receiving treatment for a physical or mental health condition from a
specialist hospital unit which cannot be transferred to another NHS service or
they are at a critical point in their treatment.
b. Children subject to a Child Protection Plan in the London Borough of
Lewisham which cannot be transferred to another local authority without
causing serious detriment to a child’s welfare.
c. Children subject to an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) or a
Statement of Special Educational Needs in the London Borough of Lewisham
which cannot be transferred to another local authority without causing serious
detriment to the child’s welfare.
d. They have a longstanding arrangement to provide essential care to another
family member in the London Borough of Lewisham who is not part of the
household. Carers must be in receipt of Carer’s Allowance.
e. Other circumstances which demonstrate an exceptional need which cannot
be met outside of the London Borough of Lewisham.

3.2.

An ‘In-borough’ priority does not guarantee an in-borough placement, but should
suitable and affordable accommodation be available within that area, it does give
that household priority over others without this assessed priority.

Close to Borough Priority
4.1.

‘Close to Borough’ priority is defined as priority for accommodation located within
90 minutes travelling distance of the London Borough of Lewisham by public
transport.
2

Page 162

4.2.

Such priority does not guarantee a placement within 90 minutes travelling
distance of the London Borough of Lewisham by public transport, but should
suitable and affordable accommodation be available within that area, it does give
the household priority over others without that assessed priority.

4.3.

Applicants or their household members to be housed with them who satisfy one
or more of the following criteria will qualify for ‘Close to Borough’ priority:
a. They have been continuously employed close to the London Borough of
Lewisham for 16 hours or more per week in a role which cannot be
transferred to another area. Applicants must have been employed in this role
for six months prior to the date of application and remain so employed.
Wherever practicable, the Local Authority will seek to place such households
within 90 minutes travelling distance, by public transport, from the place of
employment at the time of application.
b. Women who are on maternity leave from employment and meet the above
criteria will also be prioritised for placements close to the London Borough of
Lewisham. Wherever practicable the Local Authority will seek to place such
households within 90 minutes travelling distance by public transport from their
place of employment.
c. Children who are enrolled in GCSE, AS, or A level courses in the London
Borough of Lewisham, with public exams to be taken within the current or
next academic year. Wherever practicable the Local Authority will seek to
place such households within 90 minutes travelling distance by public
transport of their school or college.
d. Other exceptional circumstances, where applicants demonstrate an
exceptional need to be housed close to the London Borough of Lewisham.

No Locational Priority
5.1.

Applicants who meet none of the ‘In-borough’ or ‘Close to Borough’ criteria will be
offered properties further afield than 90 minutes travelling distance of the London
Borough of Lewisham by public transport, when no suitable property is available
within these areas.

5.2.

The Council will have regard to the principal needs of any children in the
household, and the need to safeguard and promote the children’s welfare. In
3

Page 163

particular, regard will be had to any disruption to schools, medical care, social
work, other key services and other support.

4

Page 164

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM
PRIVATE RENTED SECTOR POLICY
Scope
1.1

This Private Rented Sector Discharge Policy will provide a framework for the way in
which the London Borough of Lewisham (‘the Council’) will discharge the main
housing duty under s.193 Housing Act 1996 (‘the main housing duty’) by arranging
an offer of suitable accommodation in the private rented sector. The policy therefore
applies to applicants for housing assistance under Part VII Housing Act 1996 (‘HA
1996’) and not allocations under Part VI HA 1996.

1.2

All PRSOs secured by the Council must satisfy the requirements as to suitability
under the HA 1996 and delegated legislation (which includes affordability). In
addition, the Council will apply the locational priorities set out in its Location
Priority Policy to PRSOs.

1.3

When making decisions under this policy, in accordance with section 11(2) Children
Act 2004, the Council will have regard to the principal needs of any children in the
household, and the need to safeguard and promote the children’s welfare. In
particular, regard will be had to any disruption to schools, medical care, social work,
and other key services and support.

1.4

The Council will also have regard to the circumstances of the entire household and
will have due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (‘PSED’) under s.149 Equality
Act 2010 when making decisions under this policy which affect those with a
‘protected characteristic’ as defined under the Act. This policy will be monitored and
reviewed, as set out below.

When PRSOs will be arranged
2.1

The Council will normally seek to bring the main housing duty under Part VII to an
end by arranging a PRSO, subject to the exceptions set out below, and provided that
the Council can identify available accommodation which it is satisfied is suitable for
the circumstances of the individual household.

2.2

A PRSO will not normally be offered where there are exceptional circumstances
which make a PRSO inappropriate. Such cases may include the following:
(a)

Where a household requires adaptations to meet health and disability
related needs which it is not reasonably practicable to achieve in
private rented sector accommodation.

(b)

Where a household is unable to manage a tenancy in the private
rented sector without a substantial level of tenancy related support. 2

Page 165

Duty accepted before Pre-November 9th 2012
3.1

Where an applicant has applied to the Council for accommodation or for assistance
in obtaining accommodation under Part VII HA 1996 Act; and the duty to secure that
accommodation is available for the applicant’s occupation under Part VII has arisen
and not ceased, before 9th November 2012, no PRSO will be made.

Viewing and Offers
4.1

So far as is reasonably practicable, applicants will be given an opportunity to view a
property proposed to be subject to a PRSO before deciding whether to accept or
reject it. Where this is not reasonably practicable, an Information Pack will be
provided.

Monitoring & Review of this Policy
5.1

The Council will monitor the application of this policy and it will be reviewed within
12 months of the date of its commencement.
Dated 22nd March 2017

Page 166

Agenda Item 7
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for:
Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 X Part 2
Key Decision

X

Date of Meeting
Title of Report

11 November 2020
Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2020/21

Originator of Report

David Austin

Ext. 49114

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the
report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

X
X
X
X
X
X

Signed:
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Date: 2 November 2020
Signed:
Executive Director for Corporate Resources
Date: 2 November 2020
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 167

c:\users\ctownsen\appdata\local\microsoft\windows\inetcache\content.outlook\nzc0jj6j\treasury management mid-year review 2020-21.doc

Date

Mayor and Cabinet
Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2020/21
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1.
Ward(s) affected: None specifically
Contributors: Director of Corporate Resources

Outline:
The purpose of this report is to set out the following:
-

An economic update for the first half of the 2020/21 financial year;
A review of the Treasury Management Strategy;
An update on the Council’s capital expenditure programme and prudential
indicators;
A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2020/21;
A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2020/21; and
A review of compliance with treasury and prudential limits for 2020/21.

Recommendation:
Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
1. Agree to change the Council’s 2020/21 Investment Strategy to exclude the UK from
the minimum sovereign rating requirement of AA-; and
2. Note the report, in particular the macroeconomic updates, performance of
investments to date, updates on capital expenditure and borrowing in line with the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) prudential
indicators, and compliance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

Timeline of engagement and decision-making:
26 February 2020 – Budget Report to Council (Section 10: Treasury Management Strategy)

Page 168

1.

Executive Summary

1.1.

This report sets out the current economic conditions in which the Council is operating
in respect of its investments and borrowing. It details the Council’s treasury
performance (focused on security, liquidity and return in that order) and forecast capital
position as at 30 September 2020, and provides updates on performance against the
current Treasury Management Strategy as required by the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice.

1.2.

The outbreak of coronavirus in March 2020 and the global response in implementing
lockdowns and coordinating economic support packages has created an
unprecedented and prolonged period of economic and fiscal uncertainty, the impact of
which is likely to be felt for years to come. In the UK, despite a sharp recovery from
April through to August, the second half of 2020/21 is likely to show no growth, and as
the second wave of the virus spreads throughout Europe downside risks will likely
persist in both the short and medium term, including:


The pace and scale of any future changes to the UK Bank Rate;



Geopolitical risks in Europe, the Middle East and Asia, which could lead to
increasing safe haven flows;



A resurgence of the Eurozone debt crisis; and



UK/EU trade negotiations causing significant economic disruption and a fresh
major downturn in the rate of growth.

1.3.

In terms of Council performance, the overall capital expenditure estimate for 2020/21
has decreased from £194m per the February 2020 Budget Report to £164m as at 30
September 2020, which is in large part due to the coronavirus pandemic causing work
to stall across a number of schemes as well as longer term slippage. Although the
General Fund programme is forecast to spend £5m more than originally budgeted,
capital expenditure against the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is expected to
decrease by approximately £35m.

1.4.

As a result of these amendments there have been changes to the financing sources to
be used for the programme. The General Fund schemes are forecast to receive more
in grants and contributions and make less use of reserves, whilst the HRA schemes
will make use £89.6m of reserves and revenue to finance HRA expenditure in lieu of
the £88.6m of prudential borrowing originally forecast.

1.5.

The Council’s Operational Boundary (being the limit which external debt is not normally
expected to exceed) and Authorised Limit (being the limit beyond which borrowing is
prohibited) have not been breached in the year to date, and no difficulties are
envisaged for the current or future years in complying with the Code’s requirements for
prudential borrowing.

1.6.

Council investments are managed within the agreed parameters and delivered an
annualised average yield for the six months to 30 September 2020 of 0.61%
(compared to 0.98% at September 2019). With interest rates continuing to fall, it is
likely that the final 2020/21 yield will fall short of the 0.95% achieved in 2019/20.
However, for the risk profile inherent in the portfolio, current performance exceeds
modelled yield and is in line with a wider benchmark group of London authorities.

1.7.

As a result of ongoing market uncertainty there is a risk that the UK’s sovereign rating,
currently at AA-, will fall below that allowed by the existing Treasury Management
Strategy. With almost 70% of the Council’s treasury portfolio currently invested in UK
institutions it is proposed for Mayor and Cabinet’s approval that the minimum sovereign
rating requirement is removed for the UK only. Individual institutions would remain
subject to the usual creditworthiness checks as per the 2020/21 Investment Strategy.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 169
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:

2.1.1. Agree to change the Council’s 2020/21 Investment Strategy to exclude the UK from the
minimum sovereign rating requirement of AA-; and
2.1.2. Note the report, in particular the macroeconomic updates, performance of investments
to date, updates on capital expenditure and borrowing in line with the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) prudential indicators, and
compliance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

The Council’s 2018 to 2022 Corporate Strategy identifies seven corporate priorities and
four core values which are the driving force behind what we do as an organisation. It
sets out a vision for Lewisham and priority outcomes that organisations, communities
and individuals can work towards to make this vision a reality.

3.2.

In taking action to implement and review the Council’s treasury management function,
with the overriding objective to achieve security, maintain adequate liquidity, and seek
yield in line with the Council’s risk appetite, we will be driven by the Council’s four core
values:

3.3.



We put service to the public first;



We respect all people and all communities;



We invest in employees; and



We are open, honest and fair in all we do.

These core values align with the Council’s seven corporate priorities, as follows:


Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all where we
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us.



Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.



Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has
access to an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they need
to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.



Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local
economy.



Delivering and defending health, social care and support - Ensuring
everyone receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they
need.



Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces and benefits
from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local
environment.



Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as
we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 170
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4.

Structure of the Report

4.1.

The remainder of this report is structured as follows:
5.

Background and Prior Year Outturn

6.

Economic Update

7.

Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy Update

8.

Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)

9.

Investment Portfolio 2020/21

10.

Borrowing and Debt Rescheduling

11.

Financial Implications

12.

Legal Implications

13.

Equalities Implications

14.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications

15.

Crime and Disorder Implications

16.

Health and Wellbeing Implications

17.

Background Papers

18.

Report Author and Contact
Appendix 1 – Extract from Credit Worthiness Policy
Appendix 2 – Benchmarking Extract
Appendix 3 – Economic Update from Link Asset Services

5.

Background and Prior Year Outturn

5.1.

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means cash
raised during the year will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management
operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being
invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before
considering optimising investment return. The onset of the coronavirus pandemic has
led to unprecedented levels of economic and fiscal uncertainty, making a balanced
budget even more challenging to achieve than in the previous years of austerity.

5.2.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of
the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can
meet its capital spending operations. This management of longer term cash may
involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses,
and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or
cost objectives.

5.3.

Accordingly, treasury management is defined as “the management of the local
authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

5.4.

The Council complies with the requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management
(revised 2017). The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 171
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

a)

Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which
sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management
activities.

b)

Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives.

c)

Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue
Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual
Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the previous year.

d)

Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and
administration of treasury management decisions.

e)

Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy
and policies to a specific named body. For this Council the delegated body is the
Public Accounts Select Committee.

a)

Capital Strategy

5.5.

In December 2017, CIPFA issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management
Codes. As from 2020/21, all local authorities have been required to prepare a Capital
Strategy which is to provide the following:


A high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury
management activity contribute to the provision of services;



An overview of how the associated risk is managed; and



The implications for future financial stability.

5.6.

The 2020/21 Capital Strategy was approved by Council on 26 February 2020.

b)

2019/20 Treasury Management Outturn

5.7.

The overall treasury management outturn for the year ending 31 March 2020 is set out
in the table below:

Treasury Management
Outturn 2019/20

Outstanding
at 31 March
2020
£m

Average
Coupon
Rate
%

96.7
82.5

4.5
4.1

20.3
34.0

96.7
82.5

179.2

4.3

22.6

179.2

0.0
37.8

0.0
2.2

0.0
38.3

0.0
38.0

37.8

2.2

38.3

38.0

Fixed Rate Borrowing
Public Works Loan Board
Market Loans
Subtotal – Fixed Rate
Borrowing
Variable Rate Borrowing
Public Works Loan Board
Market Loans
Subtotal – Variable Rate
Borrowing

Average Outstanding
Remaining at 31 March
Duration
2019
Years
£m

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 172
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Treasury Management
Outturn 2019/20

Total Debt

Outstanding
at 31 March
2020
£m
217.0

Average
Coupon
Rate
%
4.0

175.0

1.01

157 (days)

260.0

13.0

1.15

269 (days)

0.0

188.0

1.01

168 (days)

260.0

114.7
80.0

0.72
1.09

N/A
156 (days)

82.4
80.0

194.7

0.88

156 (days)

162.4

382.7

0.95

166 (days)

422.4

Fixed Rate Investments
Banks and Building
Societies
Local Authorities
Subtotal – Fixed Rate
Investments
Variable Rate Investments
Money Markets
Notice Accounts
Subtotal – Variable Rate
Investments
Total Investments
5.8.

5.9.

Average Outstanding
Remaining at 31 March
Duration
2019
Years
£m
23.0
217.2

In respect of the net borrowing requirement for 2019/20 was £40.7m, this being £36.3m
higher than the net borrowing requirement of £4.4m for 2018/19 as set out in the table
below:
Net Borrowing Requirement

2019/20

2018/19

Capital Investment
Capital Grants
Capital Receipts
Revenue
Net position
MRP
Maturing Debt
Net Borrowing Requirement

£m
73.3
(15.7)
(9.7)
(3.0)
(44.9)
(4.0)
(0.2)
40.7

£m
39.0
(10.8)
(2.5)
(13.3)
(12.4)
(5.8)
(2.2)
4.4

The main reason for this was the progress made with the acquisition of temporary
accommodation to support the Council’s social housing supply priority. In previous
years the Council has financed its net borrowing requirement from temporary cash
balances it holds. As at 31 March 2020, this internal borrowing was estimated to be
£74.7m, which is the difference between the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and
the Council’s actual borrowing – see calculation at 8.9 below. If the effect of the
‘Adjustment A’ entry is removed (which is a technical accounting adjustment designed
to ensure consistency in calculating the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) from the
old to the revised system of capital controls introduced in April 2004), the estimated
internal borrowing at 31 March 2020 reduces to £33.1m.
Debt and CFR Movement
Capital Financing Requirement*
External Debt**

2019/20
£m
291.7
(217.0)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 173
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

2018/19
£m
250.9
(217.2)

Debt and CFR Movement

2019/20
£m
74.7

Difference – Internal Borrowing

2018/19
£m
33.7

* Excluding other long term liabilities.
**Excluding Fair Value adjustments.

6.

Economic Update

6.1.

The Economic update is provided by the Council’s treasury advisors Link Assets
Services and is at Appendix 3; this includes commentary on the impact of coronavirus
on global markets.

a)

Interest Rate Forecasts

6.2.

The Council’s treasury adviser, Link Asset Services, has published its latest interest
rate forecasts up to 31 March 2023 as below:
Dec20

Mar21

Jun21

Sep21

Dec21

Mar22

Jun22

Sep22

Dec22

Mar23

Bank Rate View

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

3 Month average
earnings

0.05%

0.05%

0.05%

0.05%

0.05%

0.05%

0.05%

0.05%

0.05%

0.05%

6 Month average
earnings

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

12 Month average
earnings

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

5yr PWLB Rate

1.90%

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

2.10%

2.10%

2.10%

2.10%

10yr PWLB Rate

2.10%

2.10%

2.10%

2.10%

2.20%

2.20%

2.20%

2.30%

2.30%

2.30%

25yr PWLB Rate

2.50%

2.50%

2.50%

2.60%

2.60%

2.60%

2.70%

2.70%

2.70%

2.70%

50yr PWLB Rate

2.30%

2.30%

2.30%

2.40%

2.40%

2.40%

2.50%

2.50%

2.50%

2.50%

6.3.

The coronavirus outbreak has caused huge economic damage to the UK and
economies around the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in
March to cut the Bank Rate to first 0.25%, and then to 0.10%, it left the Bank Rate
unchanged at its meeting on 6 August (and the subsequent September meeting),
although some forecasters had suggested that a cut into negative territory could
happen. However, the Governor of the Bank of England has made it clear that he
currently thinks such a move would do more damage than good and that more
quantitative easing is the favoured tool if further action becomes necessary. As shown
in the forecast table above, no increase in the Bank Rate is expected within the
forecast horizon up to 31 March 2023 as economic recovery is expected to be gradual
and, therefore, prolonged.

6.4.

The PWLB rates shown in the table are at the discounted certainty rate, being 180

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 174
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

basis points above gilt yields, available to qualifying local authorities. There is likely to
be little upward movement in PWLB rates over the next two years as it will take
economies, including the UK, a prolonged period to recover all the momentum they
have lost in the sharp recession caused during the coronavirus shut down period.
Inflation is also likely to be very low during this period and could even turn negative in
some major western economies during 2020/21.

b)

Balance of Risks to the UK

6.5.

The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably relatively even,
but is subject to major uncertainty due to the coronavirus. There is relatively little UK
domestic risk of increases or decreases in the Bank Rate and significant changes in
shorter term PWLB rates. The Bank of England has effectively ruled out the use of
negative interest rates in the near term and increases in the Bank Rate are likely to be
some years away given the underlying economic expectations. However, it is always
possible that safe haven flows, due to unexpected domestic developments and those
in other major economies, could impact gilt yields (and so PWLB rates) in the UK.

6.6.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:

6.7.



The scale and pace of the second UK nationwide wave of coronavirus
infections and extent of further economic restrictions from lockdown measures;



UK/EU trade negotiations causing significant economic disruption and a fresh
major downturn in the rate of growth;



The Bank of England taking action too quickly, or too far, over the next three
years to raise the Bank Rate, causing UK economic growth, and increases in
inflation, to be weaker than currently anticipated;



A resurgence of the Eurozone debt crisis;



Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners, the EU and US;



Weak capitalisation of some European banks, which could be undermined
further depending on the extent of credit losses resultant of the pandemic;



Geopolitical risks in Europe, the Middle East and Asia, which could lead to
increasing safe haven flows; and



The US presidential election, which could have repercussions for the US
economy and SINO-US trade relations.

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include:


A stronger than currently expected recovery in the UK economy with the
likelihood of a successful vaccine;



The potential for a post-Brexit agreement being reached that removes the
majority of threats of economic disruption between the EU and the UK; and



The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in the
Bank Rate, therefore allowing inflationary pressures to build up too strongly
within the UK economy which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases
in the Bank Rate faster than currently expected.

7.

Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment
Strategy Update

7.1.

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2020/21 was approved by

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 175
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Council on 26 February 2020.
7.2.

In mid-October 2020 Moody’s, one of the main credit rating agencies and one of three
used by the Council to determine creditworthiness as part of its Annual Investment
Strategy, downgraded the UK’s sovereign rating one notch from Aa2 to Aa3. This was
a direct response to the UK’s diminishing economic and fiscal strength, and the
agency’s view that the UK’s institutions and their governance has weakened in recent
years.

7.3.

The downgrade moves the agency in line with the AA- Fitch rating, with Standard and
Poor’s (S&P) still rating the UK one notch higher with an AA rating. The Council’s
current investment strategy sets out an approved list of countries in which it can invest,
all of which must have a minimum sovereign rating of AA-/Aa3 or higher.

7.4.

Given the extraordinary economic and fiscal environment caused by the coronavirus
outbreak, and the ongoing uncertainty over the outcome of Brexit negotiations, the risk
of further downgrades to the UK’s sovereign rating cannot be predicted with any
certainty. Should such a downgrade take place, not only would the Council’s existing
investments in UK institutions be in breach of the investment strategy but the available
options for the investment of those funds upon maturity would be extremely limited.

7.5.

At 30 September 2020 almost 70% of the Council’s investment portfolio is invested
within the UK. Officers therefore consider it prudent to consider a revision to the
existing investment strategy, and recommend that the UK be excluded from the
minimum sovereign rating requirement of AA-, which would allow the Council to
continue to invest in UK banks and building societies should its sovereign rating fall
below AA-.

7.6.

It should be noted that no changes are proposed to the existing creditworthiness policy,
whereby individual institutions must still meet certain credit criteria before being
considered for investment, and remain subject to existing financial and maturity limits.
Even if the UK’s sovereign rating were to fall below AA-, there remains the risk that
some UK banks and building societies will also be downgraded and fall outside the
Council’s lending criteria; however, such an event would not prove as restrictive to the
security and liquidity of funds as not being able to invest in the UK at all.

8.

Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)

8.1.

This section of the report is structured to update on:


The Council’s capital expenditure plans;



How these plans are being financed;



The impact of any changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and



Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

a)

Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure

8.2.

The table below shows the original estimates for capital expenditure in 2020/21 as
agreed by Council in February 2020 and the latest revised estimates.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 176
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Capital Expenditure

General Fund
Schools – Pupil Places and
Other Capital Works
Highways, Footways and
Bridges
Regeneration Schemes
Lewisham Homes Property
Acquisition
Town Centres and High Street
Improvements
Asset Management
Programme
Fleet Replacement Programme
Beckenham Place Park
Residential Portfolio
Acquisition
Other Schemes
Subtotal
Housing Revenue Account
HRA
Total

Original
Feb 20
£m

Revised
Sep 20
£m

Change

Change

£m

%

10.9

10.3

(0.6)

(6%)

3.3
12.2

4.8
26.5

1.5
14.3

45%
117%

3.0

0.0

(3.0)

(100%)

3.7

1.0

(2.7)

(73%)

7.5
8.1
0.6

2.4
7.8
0.7

(5.1)
(0.3)
0.1

(68%)
(4%)
17%

0.0
8.8
58.1

2.9
6.8
63.2

2.9
(2.0)
5.1

N/A
(23%)
9%

136.3
194.4

100.4
163.6

(35.9)
(30.8)

(26%)
(16%)

8.3.

The overall capital programme has been reduced down from £194.4m to £163.6m,
largely as a result of the coronavirus pandemic causing work to stall across a number
of schemes and longer term slippage expected to occur.

8.4.

The General Fund’s revised capital expenditure forecast at September 2020 has
increased by £5.1m, or 9%, from the position reported in the February budget report,
with material adjustments to several forecasts throughout the programme.

8.5.



Within the overall schools programme the estimated spend on school places
has decreased from £10.5m to £4.7m, whilst estimated spend on the schools
minor works programme has increased from £0.1m to £3.9m;



The overall increase of £14.3m on regeneration schemes is in most part due to
the inclusion of £14.8m expected spend on Phase 2 of the Lewisham Gateway
development; and



The reduction of £5.1m in planned spend against the asset management
programme is largely due to a re-phasing of 2020/21 expenditure on various
schemes to later years.

The HRA reduction of £35.9m includes several material movements; the estimated
spend on the Housing Matters Programme has reduced from £97.5m to £36.5m due to
delays and uncertainty caused by the coronavirus outbreak, the Decent Homes
Programme has increased by £10m, and new estimates have been made for the
Creekside acquisition (£5.7m), Ladywell Leisure Centre Development (£4.5m) and the
Achilles Street Development (£4.3m).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 177
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

b)

Financing of the Capital Programme

8.6.

The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure
plans (above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the
capital programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital
expenditure in 2020/21. The borrowing element of the table increases the underlying
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR),
although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the
Minimum Revenue Provision). If the CFR is positive, the Council may borrow from the
PWLB or the market (external borrowing), or from internal balances on a temporary
basis (internal borrowing). The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally
driven by market conditions

8.7.

This direct borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing debt and other
treasury requirements. The table below shows a reduction of £91.2m in the amount of
prudential borrowing required to meet the revised capital programme; this is the result
of slippage due to the coronavirus pandemic, uncertainty about the timing and extent of
economic recovery and future funding streams, and changing priorities/shifts in ways of
working highlighted by the pandemic.
Capital Expenditure
Financing
Grants and contributions
Capital Receipts
General reserves / revenue
Subtotal
Borrowing Required
Total

Original
Feb 20
£m
36.4
5.6
43.9
85.9
108.5
194.4

Revised
Sep 20
£m
44.6
2.6
99.1
146.3
17.3
163.6

Change

Change

£m
8.2
(3.0)
55.2
60.4
(91.2)
(30.8)

%
23%
(54%)
126%
70%
(84%)
(16%)

c)

Limits to Borrowing Activity

8.8.

The first key control over treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over
the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) is only undertaken for
capital purposes. Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term,
exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR
for 2020/21 and next two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited early
borrowing for future years. The Council’s policy is not to borrow more than or in
advance of its needs purely in order to profit from the investment of the additional sums
borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within the approved CFR
estimates and will be utilised if it is deemed to be prudent.

8.9.

The forecast gross debt position for the end of 2020/21 has changed from that reported
in the February Budget due to an expected decrease in the external debt balance.
This is partly a result of delays to the capital programme caused by the coronavirus
outbreak but also due to a change in financing for HRA capital expenditure, with
reserves and revenue contributions replacing previously planned prudential borrowing.
With a corresponding decrease in the CFR, the forecast over/under borrowing position
for 2020/21 is an under-borrowed position of £51.7m, as shown in the below table.
2019/20
Actual

External Debt at 1 April

£m
217.2

2020/21 Forecast
(as per February
2020 Budget)
£m
225.1

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 178
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

2020/21 Forecast
(as at 30
September 2020)
£m
217.0

2019/20
Actual

Change in External Debt
Other Long-Term Liabilities*
Gross Debt at 31 March
Capital Financing
Requirement at 31 March*
Borrowing – Over / (Under)

£m
(0.2)
228.1
445.1

2020/21 Forecast
(as per February
2020 Budget)
£m
86.6
229.2
540.9

2020/21 Forecast
(as at 30
September 2020)
£m
36.3
219.2
472.5

519.8
(74.7)

632.5
(91.6)

524.2
(51.7)

*Includes on balance sheet PFI schemes.

8.10.

The CFR forecast for 2020/21, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing
for a capital purpose, has decreased since it was reported in February’s Budget. This
largely reflects the decrease in the underlying prudential borrowing figures. The final
actuals for 2020/21, as well as forecasts for 2021/22 to 2023/24, will be presented with
the 2021/22 Treasury Management Strategy in February 2021.

8.11.

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the
Authorised Limit, which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and
needs to be set and revised by Members. It reflects the level of borrowing which, while
not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer
term. It includes ‘on balance sheet’ PFI schemes and finance leases as well as
external borrowing, and is the expected maximum borrowing need with some
headroom for unexpected movements. It is also a statutory limit determined under
section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. The level for 2020/21 was originally
forecast at £596.9m and agreed by Council as part of the Treasury Management
Strategy in February 2020.

8.12.

The table below shows the updated Operational Boundary forecast for 2020/21 as at
30 September 2020, which is the limit that external debt is not normally expected to
exceed, and how this compares to the approved 2020/21 Authorised Limit. Mid-year
forecasts indicate that the approved 2020/21 Operational Boundary exceeds current
requirements due to the expected reduction in 2020/21 external debt, and as such the
Authorised Limit is also expected to exceed final outturn; as such, no request is made
in this report to increase the Limit.
2019/20
Actual

Maximum External Debt at 31
March
Other Long-Term Liabilities
Operational Boundary for
the Year
Provision for Non Receipt of
Expected Income
Authorised Limit for Year
8.13.

£m
217.0

2020/21 (as per
February 2020
Budget)
£m
311.7

2020/21 Forecast
(as at 30
September 2020)
£m
253.3

228.1
445.1

229.2
540.9

219.2
472.5

56.0

56.0

56.0

501.1

596.9

528.5

It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the affordable
borrowing limits. During the half year ended 30 September 2020, the Council has
operated within the prudential indicators set out in the Treasury Management Strategy
for 2020/21. The Executive Director for Corporate Resources reports that although no

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 179
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years in complying with the prudential
indicators, officers will closely monitor adherence to the limits for the remainder of the
year. Approval will be sought when necessary to amend the indicators to reflect the
authority’s developing capital programme.

9.

Investment Portfolio 2020/21

9.1.

In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and
liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the
Council’s risk appetite. In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to
keep investments short term to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value
available in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, using
the Link suggested creditworthiness approach, including a minimum sovereign credit
rating and Credit Default Swap (CDS) overlay information. As set out in Section 6, it is
now impossible to earn the level of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades
as all investment rates are barely above zero now that the Bank Rate is at 0.10%.
While some entities, including more recently the Debt Management Account Deposit
Facility (DMADF), are offering negative rates of return in some shorter time periods.
Given this risk environment and the fact that increases in the Bank Rate are unlikely to
occur before the end of the current forecast horizon of 31 March 2023, investment
returns are expected to remain extremely low.

a)

Negative Interest Rates

9.2.

Whilst the Bank of England has indicated it is unlikely to introduce a negative Bank
Rate, at least in the short term, some deposit accounts are already offering negative
rates for shorter periods. As part of the response to the pandemic and lockdown, the
Bank and the Government have provided financial markets and businesses with
significant access to credit, either directly or through commercial banks. In addition, the
Government has provided grants to local authorities to help deal with the coronavirus
crisis. This has caused some local authorities to have sudden large increases in
investment balances, some of which was only very short term until those sums were
able to be passed on.

9.3.

Money Market Fund (MMF) yields have continued to drift lower. Some managers have
suggested they might resort to trimming fee levels to ensure that net yields for
investors remain in positive territory where possible and practical. Investor cash flow
uncertainty, and the need to maintain liquidity, has resulted in a glut of money moving
around at the very short end of the market pushing rates into negative territory; interlocal authority lending and borrowing rates have also declined due to the surge in the
levels of cash seeking a short-term home. However, MMFs are still offering a
marginally positive return, as are a number of financial institutions.

b)

Performance as at 30 September 2020

9.4.

The Council held £385m of investments as at 30 September 2020 (£383m at 31 March
2020) and the portfolio annualised yield for the first six months of the year is 0.61%
(compared to 0.98% for the same period last year). These investments provide some
assurance when matched to the level of debt held, represent the reserves held for
investment, and provide the working balances and cash flow to support the Council’s
service delivery.

9.5.

The Council is a member of a treasury benchmarking group (organised by Link Asset
Services) containing 15 authorities, including 12 other London authorities. An extract

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 180
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

from the latest available benchmarking report is shown in Appendix 2; this shows that
the return on investments as at June 2020 is above the Council’s model weighted
average rate of return provided by the treasury advisors, which is adjusted for the risks
inherent in the portfolio. Portfolio performance is also in line with the overall
benchmarking group, as well as a wider group of 20 London boroughs.
9.6.

A full list of outstanding investments held as at 30 September is shown below:
Counterparty

Duration Principal
(Days)
£m
Fixed Rate Investments – Banks and Building Societies
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group
364
25.0
Close Brothers Ltd
181
20.0
DBS Bank Ltd.
364
15.0
DBS Bank Ltd
186
5.0
DBS Bank Ltd
273
5.0
Goldman Sachs International Bank
185
5.0
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen
364
10.0
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen
364
10.0
Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB)
364
5.0
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB)
364
10.0
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB)
274
10.0
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB)
364
10.0
Norddeutsche Landesbank
91
15.0
OP Corporate Bank plc
184
10.0
Standard Chartered Bank
183
10.0
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
183
10.0
Toronto-Dominion Bank
365
10.0
Toronto-Dominion Bank
365
15.0
Fixed Rate Investments – Local Authorities
London Borough of Southwark
364
10.0
London Borough of Hillingdon
364
5.0
London Borough of Waltham Forest
364
3.0
Variable Rate Investments – Money Markets
Aberdeen Standard
N/A
30.0
Federated Hermes
N/A
30.0
Insight
N/A
24.2
Variable Rate Investments – Notice Accounts
Bank of Scotland Plc (RFB)
175
20.0
Barclays Bank Plc (NRFB)
95
20.0
Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB)
175
20.0
Santander UK Plc
180
20.0

Interest
Rate

Interest
£

0.90%
0.45%
0.95%
0.28%
0.24%
0.90%
0.95%
0.84%
1.05%
1.00%
0.92%
0.30%
0.18%
0.54%
0.35%
0.75%
1.05%
1.01%

224,384
44,630
142,110
7,134
8,975
22,808
94,740
83,770
52,356
99,227
69,063
29,918
6,732
27,222
17,548
37,603
105,000
151,500

0.95%
0.32%
0.30%

94.740
15,956
8,975

0.08%
0.05%
0.01%

N/A
N/A
N/A

0.21%
0.35%
0.21%
0.55%

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

9.7.

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources confirms that the approved limits within
the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of
2020/21.

9.8.

The current investment counterparty criteria as set out in the Credit Worthiness Policy
and included at Appendix 1 of this report are meeting the requirements of the treasury
management function, although the current low rate environment and the reluctance of
banks and building societies to accept new deposits reduces the available pool of
counterparties that meet guideline investment rates.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 181
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

10.

Borrowing and Debt Rescheduling

10.1.

The Council’s latest forecast CFR for 2020/21 is £524.2m. As at 30 September 2020,
the Council has external borrowings of £213m and has utilised an estimated £41m of
cash in lieu of borrowing. This has proven to be a prudent and cost effective approach
in the recent past, and in the current economic climate but will require ongoing
monitoring in the event that any upside risk to gilt yields prevails.

10.2.

No new external borrowing has been undertaken to date in 2020/21; the increase in
PWLB margins over gilt yields in October 2019 and the subsequent consultation on
these margins by HM Treasury, together with the impact of coronavirus on the capital
programme, has led the Council to make use of internal borrowing where required this
financial year. It is anticipated, however, that external borrowing will be undertaken
later this financial year, and the borrowing strategy will be reviewed and then revised
as necessary for the Treasury Management Strategy update in February 2021 in order
to achieve optimum value and risk exposure in the long-term.

10.3.

Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic climate
and following the various increases in the margins added to gilt yields which have
impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. No debt rescheduling has
therefore been undertaken to date in the current financial year.

11.

Financial Implications

11.1.

There are no additional financial implications besides those mentioned elsewhere in
this report.

12.

Legal Implications

12.1.

Local authorities are required to produce and monitor for the forthcoming year a range
of indicators based on actual figures; these are set out in the report. The CIPFA
Treasury Management Code of Practice says that movement may be made between
the various indicators during the year by an Authority’s Chief Finance Officer so long as
the indicators for the total Authorised Limit and the total Operational Boundary for
external debt remain unchanged. Any such changes are to be reported to the next
meeting of the Council.

12.2.

Under Section 5 of the Local Government Act 2003, the prudential indicator for the total
Authorised Limit for external debt is deemed to be increased by an amount of any
unforeseen payment which becomes due to the Authority within the period to which the
limit relates, which would include, for example, additional external funding becoming
available but not taken into account by the Authority when determining the Authorised
Limit. Where Section 5 of the Act is relied upon to borrow above the Authorised Limit,
the Code requires that this fact is reported to the next meeting of the Council.

12.3.

Authority is delegated to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources to make
amendments to the limits on the Council’s counterparty list and to undertake treasury
management in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the Council’s
Treasury Policies.

13.

Equalities Implications

13.1.

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 182
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

14.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications

14.1.

There are no direct climate or environmental implications arising from this report.

15.

Crime and Disorder Implications

15.1.

There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

16.

Health and Wellbeing Implications

16.1.

There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from this report.

17.

Background Papers

17.1.

The following papers are appended to this report:


Appendix 1 – Extract from Credit Worthiness Policy



Appendix 2 – Benchmarking Extract



Appendix 3 – Economic Update from Link Asset Services

18.

Report Author and Contact

18.1.

For more information please contact David Austin, Director of Corporate Resources, 1st
Floor Laurence House, 020 8314 9114, David.Austin@lewisham.gov.uk.

18.2.

Financial implications: Robert Browning, Treasury accountant

18.3.

Legal implications: Mia Agnew, Contracts lawyer

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 183
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX 1: Extract from Credit Worthiness Policy
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are:
Minimum credit
criteria / colour
band

Maximum % of
total investments /
£ limit per
institution

Maximum
maturity
period

N/A

100%

6 months

UK Government gilts

UK sovereign
rating

£20m

1 year

UK Government
Treasury bills

UK sovereign
rating

£60m

6 months

AAA

£30m

Liquid

AAA

£30m

Liquid

AAA

£30m

Liquid

N/A

£10m

1 year

Yellow*
Purple
Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour
Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour
Yellow*
Purple
Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

£30m
£25m
£40m
£25m
£20m
£15m
Not for use
£40m
£25m
£20m
£15m
Not for use
£30m
£25m
£40m
£25m
£20m
£15m
Not for use

Up to 5 years
Up to 2 years
Up to 1 year
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 months
Up to 100 days
Not for use
Up to 1 year
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

£50m

At least 5 years

DMADF – UK
Government

Money Market Funds CNAV
Money Market Funds LVNAV
Money Market Funds VNAV
Local authorities

Term deposits with
banks and building
societies

CDs or corporate
bonds with banks and
building societies

Call accounts and
notice accounts

Pooled asset funds

Liquid

*for UK government debt, or its equivalent, Constant Net Asset Value (CNAV) money market funds, and
collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 184
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX 2: Benchmarking Extract
The following three pages present an extract, with glossary, of the Council’s treasury benchmarking report as at 30 September 2020.

Page 185

Page 186
Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Definitions

Page 187

WARoR

Weighted Average Rate of Return

This is the average annualised rate of return weighted by the principal amount in each
rate.

WAM

Weighted Average Time to Maturity

This is the average time, in days, till the portfolio matures, weighted by principal
amount.

WATT

Weighted Average Total Time

This is the average time, in days, that deposits are lent out for, weighted by principal
amount.

WA Risk

Weighted Average Credit Risk
Number

Each institution is assigned a colour corresponding to a suggested duration using Link
Asset Services' Suggested Credit Methodology 1 = Yellow; 1.25 = Pink 1; 1.5 = Pink 2,
2 = Purple; 3 = Blue; 4 = Orange; 5 = Red; 6 = Green; 7 = No Colour

Model
WARoR

Model Weighted Average Rate of
Return

This is the WARoR that the model produces by taking into account the risks inherent in
the portfolio.

Difference

Difference

This is the difference between the actual WARoR and the model WARoR; Actual
WARoR minus Model WARoR.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX 3: Economic Update from Link Asset Services
UK Economy
1.1

As expected, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee kept Bank Rate
unchanged on 6 August. It also kept unchanged the level of quantitative easing at
£745bn. Its forecasts were optimistic in terms of three areas:


The fall in GDP in the first half of 2020 was revised from 28% to 23%
(subsequently revised to -21.8%). This is still one of the largest falls in output of
any developed nation. However, it is only to be expected as the UK economy is
heavily skewed towards consumer-facing services, an area which was
particularly vulnerable to being damaged by lockdown.



The peak in the unemployment rate was revised down from 9% in Q2 to 7½%
by Q4 2020.



It forecast that there would be excess demand in the economy by Q3 2022
causing CPI inflation to rise above the 2% target in Q3 2022 (based on market
interest rate expectations for a further loosening in policy). Nevertheless, even if
the Bank were to leave policy unchanged, inflation was still projected to be
above 2% in 2023.

1.2

It also quashed any idea of using negative interest rates, at least in the next six months
or so. It suggested that while negative rates can work in some circumstances, it would
be “less effective as a tool to stimulate the economy” at this time when banks are
worried about future loan losses. It also has “other instruments available”, including QE
and the use of forward guidance.

1.3

The MPC expected the £300bn of quantitative easing purchases announced between
its March and June meetings to continue until the “turn of the year”. This implies that
the pace of purchases will slow further to about £4bn a week, down from £14bn a week
at the height of the crisis and £7bn more recently.

1.4

In conclusion, this would indicate that the Bank could now just sit on its hands as the
economy is recovering better than expected. However, the MPC acknowledged that the
“medium-term projections were a less informative guide than usual” and the minutes
had multiple references to downside risks, which were judged to persist both in the
short and medium term. One has only to look at the way in which second waves of the
virus are now impacting many countries, including Britain, to see the dangers.
However, rather than a national lockdown, as in March, any spikes in virus infections
are now likely to be dealt with by localised measures and this should limit the amount
of economic damage caused.

1.5

In addition, Brexit uncertainties ahead of the year-end deadline are likely to be a drag
on recovery. The wind down of the initial generous furlough scheme through to the end
of October is another development that could cause the Bank to review the need for
more support for the economy later in the year. Admittedly, the Chancellor announced
in late September a second six month package from 1 November of government
support for jobs whereby it will pay up to 22% of the costs of retaining an employee
working a minimum of one third of their normal hours. There was further help for the
self-employed, freelancers and the hospitality industry. However, this is a much less
generous scheme than the furlough package and will inevitably mean there will be
further job losses from the 11% of the workforce still on furlough in mid-September.

1.6

Overall, the pace of recovery is not expected to be in the form of a rapid V shape, but a
more elongated and prolonged one after a sharp recovery in June through to August

Page 188

which left the economy 11.7% smaller than in February. The last three months of 2020
are now likely to show no growth as consumers will probably remain cautious in
spending, and uncertainty over the outcome of the UK/EU trade negotiations
concluding at the end of the year will also be a headwind. If the Bank felt it did need to
provide further support to recovery, then it is likely that the tool of choice would be
more QE.
1.7

There will be some painful longer term adjustments as e.g. office space and travel by
planes, trains and buses may not recover to their previous level of use for several
years, or possibly ever. There is also likely to be a reversal of globalisation as this crisis
has shown up how vulnerable long-distance supply chains are. On the other hand,
digital services is one area that has already seen huge growth.

1.8

One key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance was a new phrase in the policy
statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear
evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and
achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if
inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC
to raise the Bank Rate, until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be
persistently above target if it takes no action to raise the Bank Rate.

1.9

The Financial Policy Committee (FPC) report on 6th August revised down its expected
credit losses for the banking sector to “somewhat less than £80bn”. It stated that in its
assessment “banks have buffers of capital more than sufficient to absorb the losses
that are likely to arise under the MPC’s central projection”. The FPC stated that for real
stress in the sector, the economic output would need to be twice as bad as the MPC’s
projection, with unemployment rising to above 15%.

USA Economy
1.10

The incoming sets of data during the first week of August were almost universally
stronger than expected. With the number of new daily coronavirus infections beginning
to abate, recovery from its contraction this year of 10.2% should continue over the
coming months and employment growth should also pick up again. However, growth
will be dampened by continuing outbreaks of the virus in some states leading to fresh
localised restrictions. At its end of August meeting, the Fed tweaked its inflation target
from 2% to maintaining an average of 2% over an unspecified time period i.e. following
periods when inflation has been running persistently below 2%, appropriate monetary
policy will likely aim to achieve inflation moderately above 2% for some time.

1.11

This change is aimed to provide more stimulus for economic growth and higher levels
of employment, and to avoid the danger of getting caught in a deflationary “trap” like
Japan. It is to be noted that inflation has actually been under-shooting the 2% target
significantly for most of the last decade so financial markets took note that higher levels
of inflation are likely to be in the pipeline; long term bond yields duly rose after the
meeting.

1.12

The Fed also called on Congress to end its political disagreement over providing more
support for the unemployed as there is a limit to what monetary policy can do
compared to more directed central government fiscal policy. The FOMC’s updated
economic and rate projections in mid-September showed that officials expect to leave
the fed funds rate at near-zero until at least end-2023 and probably for another year or
two beyond that. There is now some expectation that where the Fed has led in
changing its inflation target, other major central banks will follow. The increase in
tension over the last year between the US and China is likely to lead to a lack of
momentum in progressing the initial positive moves to agree a phase one trade deal.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 189
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Eurozone Economy
1.13

The economy was recovering well towards the end of Q2 after a sharp drop in GDP,
(e.g. France 18.9%, Italy 17.6%). However, the second wave of the virus affecting
some countries could cause a significant slowdown in the pace of recovery, especially
in countries more dependent on tourism. The fiscal support package, eventually agreed
by the EU after prolonged disagreement between various countries, is unlikely to
provide significant support and quickly enough to make an appreciable difference in
weaker countries. The ECB has been struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target and
it is therefore expected that it will have to provide more monetary policy support
through more quantitative easing purchases of bonds in the absence of sufficient fiscal
support.

Asian Economy
1.14

After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1, economic recovery in
China was strong in Q2 and has enabled it to recover all of the contraction in Q1.
However, this was achieved by major central government funding of yet more
infrastructure spending. After years of growth having been focused on this same area,
any further spending in this area is likely to lead to increasingly weaker economic
returns. This could, therefore, lead to a further misallocation of resources which will
weigh on growth in future years.

1.15

In Japan, there are some concerns that a second wave of the virus is gaining
momentum and could dampen economic recovery from its contraction of 8.5% in GDP.
It has been struggling to get out of a deflation trap for many years and to stimulate
consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up to its target of 2%, despite
huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on fundamental
reform of the economy. The resignation of Prime Minister Abe is not expected to result
in any significant change in economic policy.

Global Growth Prospects
1.16

Latin America and India are currently hotspots for virus infections. World growth will be
in recession this year. Inflation is unlikely to be a problem for some years due to the
creation of excess production capacity and depressed demand caused by the
coronavirus crisis.

Gilt Yields/PWLB Rates
1.17

There was much speculation during the second half of 2019 that bond markets were in
a bubble which was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very low
levels. The context for that was heightened expectations that the US could have been
heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there were growing expectations of a
downturn in world economic growth, especially due to fears around the impact of the
trade war between the US and China, together with inflation generally at low levels in
most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these conditions were
conducive to very low bond yields.

1.18

While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the last
30 years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central rates has
fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers. This means that
central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major impact on
consumer spending, inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the gradual
lowering of the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over
the last 30 years. Over the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this has seen many

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 190
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

bond yields up to 10 years turn negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there has, at
times, been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10 year yields have fallen
below shorter term yields; in the past, this has been a precursor of a recession. The
other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated as investors would be expected
to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in anticipation of a downturn in corporate
earnings and so selling out of equities.
1.19

Gilt yields had therefore already been on a generally falling trend up until the
coronavirus crisis hit western economies during March 2020. After gilt yields spiked up
during the initial phases of the health crisis in March, we have seen these yields fall
sharply to unprecedented lows as major western central banks took rapid action to deal
with excessive stress in financial markets, and started massive quantitative easing
purchases of government bonds; this also acted to put downward pressure on
government bond yields at a time when there has been a huge and quick expansion of
government expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such unprecedented
levels of issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields to rise sharply. At
the close of the day on 30 September, all gilt yields from 1 to 6 years were in negative
territory, while even 25-year yields were at only 0.76% and 50 year at 0.60%.

1.20

From the local authority borrowing perspective, HM Treasury imposed two changes of
margins over gilt yields for PWLB rates in 2019/20 without any prior warning. The first
took place on 9 October 2019, adding an additional 1% margin over gilts to all PWLB
period rates. That increase was then at least partially reversed for some forms of
borrowing on 11 March 2020, but not for mainstream General Fund capital schemes; at
the same time, the Government announced in the Budget a programme of increased
infrastructure expenditure. It also announced that there would be a consultation with
local authorities on possibly further amending these margins; this was to end on 4
June, but that date was subsequently put back to 31 July. It is clear HM Treasury will
no longer allow local authorities to borrow money from the PWLB to purchase
commercial property if the aim is solely to generate an income stream (assets for
yield).

1.21

Following the changes on 11 March 2020 in margins over gilt yields, the current
situation is as follows: -

1.22



PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 200 basis points (G+200bps);



PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 180 basis points (G+180bps);



PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps);



PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps); and



Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps).

It is possible that the non-HRA Certainty Rate will be subject to revision downwards
after the conclusion of the PWLB consultation; however, the timing of such a change is
currently unknown, although it would be likely to be within the current financial year.

Creditworthiness
1.23

Although the credit rating agencies changed their outlook on many UK banks from
stable to negative outlook during the quarter ended 30 June 2020 due to upcoming
risks to banks’ earnings and asset quality during the economic downturn caused by the
pandemic, the majority of ratings were affirmed due to the continuing strong credit
profiles of UK banks. However, during Q1 and Q2 2020, banks made provisions for
expected credit losses and the rating changes reflected these provisions. As we move
into the next quarters ahead, more information will emerge on actual levels of credit
losses (quarterly performance is normally announced in the second half of the month
following the end of the quarter). This has the potential to cause rating agencies to

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 191
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

revisit their initial rating adjustments earlier in the current year. These adjustments
could be negative or positive, although it should also be noted that UK banks went into
this pandemic with strong balance sheets.
1.24

All three ratings agencies have reviewed banks around the world with similar results in
many countries of most banks being placed on negative watch, but with a small
number of actual downgrades.

1.25

Link have conducted some stress testing on the Link credit methodology based list of
counterparties supplied to clients, to test for the results of a 1 notch downgrade to all
Long Term Ratings from all agencies. Under such a scenario, only Commerzbank,
Norddeutsche Landesbank, NatWest Markets Plc (non-ring-fenced entity), Leeds,
Skipton and Yorkshire Building Societies moved from Green to No Colour. While there
are a further 17 drops in other entities’ suggested durations, in these instances, these
entities still remain potentially available for use (note that this scenario excludes any
additional impact from relative movement in Credit Default Swap (CDS) pricing).

1.26

CDS prices, which are market indicators of credit risk, for UK banks spiked upwards at
the end of March/early April due to the liquidity crisis throughout financial markets;
prices have returned to more average levels since then, although they are still elevated
compared to the end of February. Pricing is likely to remain volatile as uncertainty
continues. However, sentiment can easily shift, so it remains important to undertake
continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and return in the current circumstances.

END

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 192
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 8
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for:
Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 X Part 2
Key Decision

Date of Meeting
Title of Report
Originator of Report

X

11 November 2020
Financial Monitoring Report 2020/21 – Period 5 (August
2020)
Selwyn Thompson, Director of Financial
Ext. 46932
Services

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the
report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

X
X
X
X
X
X

Signed:
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Date: 2 November 2020

Signed:
Executive Director for Corporate Resources
Date: 3 November 2020
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 193

\\wff01vca000\home\ctownsen\my documents\mayor&cabinet\financial monitoring report 2020-21 – period 5 - august 2020.doc

Date

Page 194

\\wff01vca000\home\ctownsen\my documents\mayor&cabinet\financial monitoring report 2020-21 – period 5 - august 2020.doc

MAYOR & CABINET

Financial Monitoring Report 2020/21 – Period 5 (August 2020)

Date: 11th November 2020
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: N/A
Contributors: Executive Director for Corporate Resources

Page
195
1

Outline and recommendations
This report sets out the financial forecasts for 2020/21 as at 31 August 2020,
updated for any exceptional items to the end of October 2020.
The report covers the position on the Council’s General Fund, DSG, HRA,
Collection Fund and Capital programme and provides an update on the work
being done to assess and monitor the financial implications of the Covid-19
response.
The key headline for members to note is that there is a forecast overspend of
£6.7m against the directorates’ net general fund revenue budget, after the
application of £35.3m of additional government funding. The period 5 forecasts
does not include potential coronavirus second wave costs or the likely costs of
further national lockdown. The full extent of these costs will be difficult to
estimate; much is dependent on the impact of Covid-19 on our economy, the
increased level of support provided to our residents and our communities.
Work is ongoing to reduce the £10.4m non Covid-19 expenditure and additional
expenditure controls have now been introduced that require sign-off of all
purchase orders by Directors for expenditure up to £5k and Executive Directors
for expenditure over £5k in the expectation that the additional scrutiny may
reduce non essential expenditure. Staffing controls are also in place to ensure
that any recruitment is essential to the provision of services.
Further to recommendations on the budget stabilisation report presented to
Mayor & Cabinet, the position reported includes additional in-year cuts of
£5.4m that officers are delivering on.
The Mayor and Cabinet are asked to note the current financial forecasts for
the year ending 31 March 2021.

Page
2 196

1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report sets out the financial forecasts for 2020/21 as at 31 August 2020, noting
any exceptional items to the end of October 2020. The key areas to note are as
follows:
i. There is a forecast overspend of £6.7m against the directorates’ net general fund
revenue budget, after the application of additional government funding to support
the local authority’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic.
ii. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is currently projected to overspend by
between £2.6m and £4m at the end of the financial year. There are five schools
with loans totalling £1.4m. This is set out in more detail in section 12 of this
report.
iii. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is currently projecting a balanced budget
position. This is set out in more detail in section 13 of this report.
iv. As at 31 August 2020, some 41.3% of council tax due and 52.2% of business
rates due had been collected. At this point last year, 42.5% of council tax due
and 54.4% of business rates due had been collected
v. The Capital Programme spend as at 31 August 2020 is £27.3m, which is 17% of
the 2020/21 of the proposed revised capital budget of £163.6m. At this point last
year, 25% of the revised budget had been spent, with the final outturn being 72%
(£121.2m) of the revised budget of £169.1m. This has been set out in more
detail in section 15 of this report.

2.

PURPOSE

2.1

The purpose of this report is set out the financial forecasts for 2020/21 as at the end of
August 2020, noting any exceptional items to the end of October 2020 and projected to the
year end, 31 March 2021.

3.

RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1

The Mayor & Cabinet is asked to:

3.3.1 Note the current financial forecasts for the year ending 31 March 2021 and request Executive
Directors to complete detailed action plans to manage down budget pressures within their
directorates;
3.3.2 Note the proposed revision of the capital programme budget, as set out in section 14 of this
report, with further detail attached at appendices 3 and 4.

4.

POLICY CONTEXT

4.1

This financial position demonstrates the impact of the very severe financial constraints
which have been imposed on Council services with the cuts made year on year, despite
the increasing demand to deliver services to the borough’s residents.

4.2

All local authorities are under significant financial strain following the outbreak of the
coronavirus with business rates, council tax and income levels from fees and charges all
falling significantly. Maintaining Council income was always important to ensure these
critical services can continue, but the cost of coronavirus in Lewisham is estimated to be

Page
197
3

£60m this year and with the onset of the second wave coronvirus, these costs are
expected to rise further. Without substantial extra funding from government then it will be
extremely difficult for local authorities to balance their budgets whilst adequately
maintaining essential services.
4.3

The level of support received from government to date has not been sufficient and
additional funding is urgently needed. It will be essential that government recognises that
local authorities are at the heart of the pandemic recovery and appropriate financial
support is vital to all of those across the borough who rely on council services at this time.

4.4

It stand that the Council's strategy and priorities drive the Budget with changes in resource
allocation determined in accordance with policies and strategy. The Council launched its
new Corporate Strategy in 2019, with seven corporate priorities as stated below:

4.4.1

Corporate Priorities

4.5



Open Lewisham - Lewisham will be a place where diversity and cultural heritage is
recognised as a strength and is celebrated.



Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.



Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has access to
an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they need to keep
them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.



Building and inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local economy.



Delivering and defending health, social care and support - Ensuring everyone
receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they need.



Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces, and benefits from a
healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment.



Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as we
work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

Values are critical to the Council’s role as an employer, regulator, and securer of services
and steward of public funds. The Council’s values shape interactions and behaviours
across the organisational hierarchy, between officers, and members, between the council
and partners and between the council and citizens. In delivering our duties, we are guided
by the Council's four core values:





5.

We put service to the public first
We respect all people and all communities
We invest in employees
We are open, honest, and fair in all we do.

FINANCIAL CONTEXT AND DIRECTORATE FORECAST OUTTURN
Council-wide Financial Position

5.1

The forecasts against the directorates’ general fund revenue budgets are shown in Table 1.
In summary, a forecast year-end gross overspend of £40.6m is being reported as at the end
of August 2020 (before the application of cash reductions and Covid-19 funding), where
£30.2m is considered Covid-19 related and the balance of £10.4m are classified as service
directorate pressures.

Page
4 198

5.2

The overspend is offset by in-year cash reductions identified by Directorates totalling £5.4m
and additional government funding to provide financial support to councils to undertake
additional activities in recognition of the unplanned costs which have been incurred in
responding to Covid-19. The amount received by Lewisham to date, or due for imminent
arrival for such purposes, totals £35.3m.

5.3

Once applied to the gross spend projections, this has the effect of reducing the overall
pressure for these services down to £6.7m split between a covid related underspend of
£3.7m and a non Covid-19 overspend of £10.4m. The position on covid related expenditure
is due to additional grant of £8.2m being recently notified in October 2020. However, it is
important to note that although not entirely captured in this report, the full extent of the
Council’s costs as a result of the coronavirus pandemic, including the losses on sales, fees
and charges, losses on collection fund income and the potential second wave costs, go way
beyond the existing resources provided by government to date. In addition to the COVID
related service pressures and loss of income, the Council is also forecasting losses on its
collection fund of over £20m.
Table 1 – Overall Directorate Position for 2020/21
Directorate

Gross
Gross
budgeted budgeted
spend
income
2020/21
2020/21

1
£m
Children & Young People (1)
Community Services
Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm
Corporate Resources (2)
Chief Executive
Directorate Totals
Covid Grant Funding
Corporate Items
Net Revenue Budget

2
£m

Net
budget
2020/21

3
(1+2)
£m

Forecast Forecast
Outturn Variance
2020/21
Over/
As at end (Under)
of August Spend
2020
August
2020
4
£m

5
(4-3)
£m

Covid-19
Related
Variance
August
2020

Non
Covid-19
Service
Variance
August
2020

Non
Covid-19
Service
Variance
July
2020

Non
Covid-19
Service
Variance
June
2020

6

7
(5-6)
£m

8

9

£m

£m

£m

223.8
181.0

(163.5)
(92.3)

60.3
88.7

76.0
98.7

15.7
10.0

5.7
12.2

10.0
(2.2)

12.4
1.3

12.3
0.8

73.5

(50.3)

23.2

33.8

10.6

9.5

1.1

2.9

3.5

53.1
13.0
544.4
N/A
29.4
573.8

(18.2)
(0.9)
(325.2)
N/A
(0.0)
(325.2)

34.9
12.1
219.2
N/A
29.4
248.6

38.8
12.5
259.9
N/A
29.4
289.3

3.9
0.4
40.6
(35.3)
1.4
6.7

2.5
0.3
30.2
(35.3)
1.4
(3.7)

1.4
0.1
10.4
0.0
0.0
10.4

(0.3)
0.0
16.3
0.0
0.0
16.3

0.6
0.0
17.2
0.0
0.0
17.2

(1) – gross figures exclude £180m Dedicated Schools’ Grant expenditure and matching grant income
(2) – gross figures exclude approximately £213m of matching income and expenditure for housing benefits.

6.

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE DIRECTORATE

6.1

As at the end of August 2020, there is a projected overspend of £15.7m for the Children
and Young People (CYP) Directorate. This represents a £0.6m increase compared to the
figure reported at the end of July 2020. The overall figure reported to the end June, which
was the last public report, was £22.5m. Of the projected overspend to the end of August,
£5.7m relates specifically to pressures arising from Covid-19 activity, an increase from the
July 2020 reported figure of £5.1m. This reflects an assumption that additional payments to
carers such as forster carers will continue to the end of the financial year. This therefore
leaves non Covid-19 related service directorate budget pressures of £10m for the year, no
movement from the July position .

6.2

An outline of the budget recovery plan was set out in the first quarter report in July.
Progress is being made on the £1.7m recovery plan devised by the directorate and an
agreement to fund a previously reported overspend in the Access to Records Service from
corporate funds. It should also be noted that the service budget has increased by £2.9m as
a result of the Council restructure moving Estates Compliance and the Youth Offending
Service (YOS) into the directorate. Budgets for YOS are projected to underspend by
£0.3m. This is included in the projection above.

Page
199
5

6.3

The figure above is anticipated to be the worst case scenario and officers from the
directorate continue to work with officers from the financial services division on a financial
recovery plan which seeks to reduce the projected overspend. The main overspend relates
to Children’s Social Care (CSC) and will continue to be closely monitored.

6.4

Members are asked to note that the service has progressed the following actions with a
view to reducing costs:








Strengthening processes to track the costs associated with the placement of children
Ensuring that partner contributions for such placements are obtained
The recently established high cost placements review board chaired by the Executive
Director to ensure that high cost placements are kept to a minimum
Monthly review meetings to monitor directorate spend with a focus on budget areas
where spend is high
Reviewing and reducing the number of interim and agency staff employed within the
directorate
Introducing directorate specific recruitment controls
Reviewing all external contracts

6.5

The CSC service continues to be a volatie and high risk area with potential risks arising
from Covid-19 and Brexit. The Covid projections has identified some level of risk relating to
this area.

6.6

The overall position for the directorate has been set out in the table below.
Table 2 – Children & Young People Directorate
Service Area

Gross
Gross
budgeted budgeted
Spend
income
2020/21 2020/21 –
including
grants*
£m

Children’s Social Care (1)

£m

Net
budget
2020/21

£m

Forecast Forecast Covid-19
Non
Non
Outturn Variance Related Covid-19 Covid-19
2020/21
Over/ Variance Related
Related
As at end (Under) August Variance Variance
of August Spend
2020
August
July
2020
August
2020
2020
2020
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m

53.1

(12.0)

41.1

54.8

13.7

3.7

10.0

10.0

2.9

0.0

2.9

2.9

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

154.6

(143.9)

10.7

14.6

3.9

2.0

1.9

1.9

13.2

(6.3)

6.9

6.7

(0.2)

0.0

(0.2)

(0.2)

0.0
223.8

(1.3)
(163.5)

(1.3)
60.3

(1.3)
77.7

0.0
17 4

0.0
5.7

0.0
11.7

0.0
11.7

Management Action – Recovery plan

(1.7)

(1.7)

0

(1.7)

(1.7)

Revised total

76.1

15.7

5.7

10.0

10.0

No Recourse to Public
Funds
Education Services (1) (2) (3)
Joint Commissioning / Early
Help (1) (4) (5)
Schools
Total

* (1) includes £9.8m of once-off funding for 2020/21 to be reviewed in 2021/22 (CSC £8.2m, ES £0.7m, EHJC £0.9m)
* (2) Includes £82m centrally managed DSG expenditure and income.
* (3) Includes transfer of Estates Compliance (£0.8m) from Housing, Regeneration & Public Realm.
* (4) Includes transfer of Youth Offending Services (£2.1m) from Community Services.
* (5) the actual shows a £250k underspend arising from the transfer of YOS service.

Cost of Covid-19
6.6

The estimated financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on base budgets for expenditure
and income in Children and Young People directorate is £5.7m and as summarised in the
table below.

Page
6 200

Table 3 – Covid-19 Pressures for the CYP Directorate
Service

Children’s Social Care

Education Services

Schools
Children’s Social Care
Total

Area

Workforce
Residential
Care leavers
Other
SENS
Home to School Transport
School meals contract and Supporting Low
income families with food hampers
Loss of income in schools
Unachieved savings

Total Cost Total Cost
August
July
2020
2020
£m
£m
0.4
0.8
0.2
0.9
0.5
1.0
0.5

0.4
0.6
0.2
0.6
0.5
1.0
0.4

0.0
1.4
5.7

0.0
1.4
5.1

6.7

The position for Covid-19, has now been revised upwards to £5.7m. This is to reflect the
potential of making additional payment to carers, such as foster carers for the full financial
year.

6.8

With regards to the estimated position, there are various assumptions around the post
Covid-19 impact on CSC and assumes a 5% increase on the budget. It also assumes that
the savings position will be compromised. As stated above, CSC is continuing to review
processes, so therefore, this is being indicated as a potential risk. There is a continued
concern that the post Covid-19 trauma of circumstances such as domestic abuse, mental
illness, breakdown in families will result in higher demand for services.

6.9

Furthermore, there is also the potential impact on Special Educational Needs (SEN),
especially around social distancing of £800k and travel permit transport of £200k. The
Department for Education (DfE) and Transport for London (TfL) are continuing to provide
assurance that there will be no impact on local authorities as a result of the withdrawal of
the Under-18 travel permit. However, some clarity of guidance is still being sought on the
position relating to pupils attending further education provision. For this reason a £200k
estimate has been noted as a risk.
Children’s Social Care

6.10

As at the end of August 2020, the Children Social Care division continues to report a
budget pressures of £10m. The overspend is expected in the placement budgets which
overspent by £4m in 2019/20. Further details are given in the following paragraphs. Other
services are expected to finish the year within budget as a result of an allocation from
corporate resources of £1.2m being allocated to cover historic pressures in legal fees,
Section 17 costs and other care services. This excludes any additional costs relating to
Covid–19 mentioned above. As identified in paragraphs above, the directorate is
undertaking various actions to reduce this overspending position.

6.11

The CSC staffing review conducted through the first half of 2019 is currently being
implemented. The budget for the new structure has been costed at £18m and the service is
expecting to operate within budget, with a reduced reliance on agency staff, again subject
to the constraint of Covid-19.

6.12

The Placements budget is £28.5m, having been reduced by £1.4m in 2020/21. The outturn
in 2019/20 was £33.8m. Based on the current number of placements, the trend in the last
quarter of last year and the average costs per case, calculated using actual costs, the
spend for the year is expected to be in the region of £38.5m. This takes into account
projected inflationary increases, but not additional costs related to Covid-19. This
represents an overall overspend of £10m against the current budget. However, as stated
above, the recovery plan will seek to reduce this financial pressure.

Page
201
7

6.13

The graphical presentation below shows the number of Children Looked After and those
Leaving Care at 18 plus for the period from April 2019 to August 2020. The total number of
children has increased from 725 to 744 over this period. Whilst the total number of Children
Looked After, i.e, those in residential, foster and semi-independent placements has
dropped overall from 470 to 458, there has been a significant increase in the residential
placements category which has increased from 47 to 62 children. Furthermore, for leaving
care 18+ service, this has increased on average from 46 to 57 over the same period.
Special Guardianship Orders have also increased during that period from 209 to 229.

6.14

The numbers for each category from April 2019 to August 2020 period has been attached
at Appendix 2.
Charts for Children Looked After

Placement numbers Apr-19 to Aug-20
250
200
150
100
50
0

Local Authority Fostering

Agency Fostering

Residential Placement

Semi-Independent

SGOs

Staying Put 18+

Residential Placements Apr 19 - August 20
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Residential Placement

Page
8 202

Local Authority vs Agency Fostering Apr 19 to Aug 20
250
200
150
100
50
0

Local Authority Fostering

Agency Fostering

No Recourse to Public Funds
6.15

The No Recourse to Public Funds budget is expected to remain within budget despite a
small increase in numbers towards the end of the last financial year. The budget has been
reduced by £1m in 2020/21. It is possible that if the numbers remain constant, then the
budget may underspend. However, until there is a clearer trend on demand, it remains too
early in the year to project anything other than a balanced budget.
Education Services

6.16

As at the end of August 2020, the Education Services division is projected to overspend by
£2.2m. With regards to the position for July, the main cost pressure within the Education
Services division relates to Special Educational Needs (SEN) transport with a projected
overspend of £1.9m, and this is before taking into account additional costs as a result of
Covid-19. The overspend is consistent with the position for the previous three financial
years for this demand led budget. Consistent with the national position, the Council has
experienced an increase in the numbers of pupils with Education, Health and Care Plans
(EHCPs). Officers are closely monitoring the impact of this.
Joint Commissioning and Early Help

6.17

As at the end of August 2020, the Joint Commissioning and Early Help service is reporting
budget pressure of £0.2m, no movement from the figure reported in July, but a reduction of
£0.3m from the figure reported to the end of June.

6.18

The early help offer for families is funded mainly by the Troubled Families (TF) grant.
Although the Council’s TF claims are at the level expected by MHCLG, the service is again
overspent by £1.1m. Some £0.9m was a legacy from the 2015/16 savings process,
however corporate resources have been used to rectify this. This leaves a projected
overspend of £0.2m. This is offset in the current financial year by an underspend in the
Children’s Centres budget of £0.2m.

6.19

A budget shortfall of £0.1m is expected relating to the provision of youth services. This is a
£0.4m reduction in the projection reported in June resulting from negotiating terms for a
further extension the Youth Service contract approved by Mayor & Cabinet at the end of
June.
Progress on Savings for 2020/21

6.20

The progress on revenue budget savings and agreed cash reductions are set out in
Appendix 1.

Page
203
9

7.

COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTORATE

7.1

As at the end of August 2020, there is a projected overspend of £10m for the Community
Services Directorate. This is after once-off in-year measures of £2.3m. The overall position
is an increase of £0.6m from the projected overspend of £9.4m reported to the end of July
2020 for the same services. It should be noted however that the August projection includes
an overspend on bereavement services which formed part of the HRPR Directorate the
previous month. Of the variance reported, £12.2m relates specifically to previously
unanticipated Covid-19 budget pressures (£9.9m reported to the end of July). This
therefore leaves a non Covid-19 related service directorate budget underspend of £2.1m for
the year. For these specific service directorate variances, this represents an increase of
£1.0m from the £1.3m overspend projected as at the end of June 2020. The projections
include in-year cash reductions totalling £2.3m are set out in the table below.
Table 4 – Community Services Directorate
Service Area

Gross
Gross
budgeted budgeted
Spend
income
2020/21
2020/21

£m

Adult Social Care
Integrated
Commissioning
Public Health
Communities,
Partnerships and
Leisure
Culture, Learning
and Libraries
Strategy
Reserves
Sub-total
Management action
Total

7.2

£m

Net
budget
2020/21

Forecast
Outturn
2020/21
As at end
of August
2020

£m

£m

Forecast Covid-19
Non
Non
Variance Related Covid-19 Covid-19
Over/
Variance Related
Related
(Under)
August Variance Variance
Spend
2020
August
July
August
2020
2020
2020
£m
£m
£m
£m

121.5

(55.4)

66.1

70.8

4.7

4.6

0.2

1.8

16.2

(7.7)

8.5

8.1

(0.4)

0.2

(0.6)

(0.4)

16.2

(16.5)

(0.3)

1.3

1.7

2.5

(0.9)

0.4

17.2

(7.9)

9.3

13.9

4.6

4.6

0.0

0.8

8.8

(4.8)

4.0

3.9

(0.1)

0.3

(0.4)

(0.1)

1.2
0.0
181.0

0
0
(92.3)

1.1
0.0
88.7

1.1
(0.7)
98.7

0.0
(0.7)
10.0

0.0
0.0
12.3

0.0
(0.7)
2.2

0.0
(0.7)
1.9

0.0
181.0

0.0
(92.3)

0.0
88.7

0.0
98.7

0.0
10.0

0.0
12.2

0.0
(2.2)

(2.1)
(0.2)

The most significant cost variances for the directorate fall within the Adult Social Care
division. The following sections provide a summary of the revenue forecast by division. It
provides an explanation of the cause of the variance and any movements from the previous
period. It also makes clear what the impact of any management action or other intervention
will have on the forecast projected to the year-end. Where any variance is impacted upon
by demand driven activity, then these are also set out and made clear in this section.
Cost of Covid-19

7.3

The estimated financial impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for expenditure and income in
Community Services is £12.2m. These pressures are included in projections below.
These, and similar pressures in other directorates, will be alleviated by the Covid grant that
the Council has received and from other specific grants. This is summarised as follows:

Table 5 – Covid-19 Pressures for the Community Services Directorate

Page
10 204

Service

Adult Social Care

Integrated
Commissioning
Public Health

Communities,
Partnerships & Leisure

Culture, Learning &
Libraries

Area

Total Cost
August 2020
£m
2.2
1.4
2.5
0.5
(2.1)

Total Cost
July 2020
£m
2.2
1.9
2.5
0.6
(2.1)

0.2

0.1

Test and Trace
Volume pressure on contracts
Other
Community Hub

2.2
0.3
0.1
0.5

2.2
0.3
0.1
0.6

Leisure – additional payments
Leisure income
Licensing income
Green Scene income
Bereavment
Other
ALL

1.8
0.1
0.1
0.4
1.6
0.1
0.2

0.6
0.1
0.1
0.4
0.1
0.2

Other income

0.1

0.1

12.2

9.9

PPE and Infection Control
Market Support
Unachieved Savings
Other
Recharge to health for hospital
discharges (net)
Prevention and Inclusion

Total

7.4

The Council has been allocated £1.6m from the Infection Control Fund. In accordance with
the fund’s conditions 75% has been allocated to residential and nursing homes in the
borough (£1 per bed); the remaining 25% has been allocated to other care services –
supported accommodation, extracare and home care. The expenditure is included in the
Adult Social Care figures below. An additional £1.4m of Infection Control Fund grant is
expected, but not yet reflected in the figures shown.

7.5

The Council has also been allocated £2.2m for Test and Trace. This is included in the
Public Health figures shown below.

7.6

Some £1.3bn has been awarded to Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) nationally to
fund the costs of hospital discharges since 19th March 2020. This projected income is
included in the adult social care projections below as is the matching additional
expenditure.
Adult Social Care Services

7.7

As at the end of August 2020, the Adult Social Care Services is reporting budget pressures
of £4.7m, including Covid-19 related costs of £4.6m. This compares to the projected
overspend of £4.6m reported to the end of July 2020.

7.8

The residual overspend is largely due to the cost of transition cases and delay in
implementing the main IT systems used by the service. The main areas of Covid-related
spend are: supporting the market, PPE & infection control and delay in achievement of
savings.

7.9

Covid-19 has had a complex impact on activity and costs in adult social care. In March and
April, there was an unusually high number of deaths of older service users, particularly in
residential settings. In late March however, hospital discharge activity increased as
hospitals prepared for an increase in Covid-19 cases. Discharges were largely to nursing

Page
205
11

homes, but overall both nursing and residential numbers are down. New admissions have
also dropped probably reflecting a reluctance of service users and their families to move
into a residential settings in the current climate. As occupancy has fallen and costs have
increased (need for staff cover, PPE etc.,) care providers have required financial support
and the Council has increased its weekly rates on a short term basis in response.
7.10

Non-residential payments have varied less, but again the detail is complex. The Council
has not increased hourly rates for the three lead providers of home care rates, but have
continued to pay based on pre-Covid activity despite the fact that the number of hours
delivered has dropped. This reduction in hours is attributable to a combination of death,
less hospital discharge activity recently and the fact that some services are not required
currently as families are able to provide more of the care. The Council has also continued
to pay day care providers at pre-Covid rates, despite the fact building based care has not
been possible (although some providers have been able to maintain an outreach service).

7.11

In addition to this impact on demand, Covid-19 has also changed the way social care
activity has been carried out.

7.12

To date only part of the planned budget savings have been achieved. There has been
improved management of enquiries and how these can be resolved by the staff who handle
them. Such new approaches to demand management have reduced the numbers of older
service users, particularly smaller care packages. However, there have been two obstacles
to delivery: (a) the impact of Covid-19 (diversion of social work activity to dealing with
hospital discharges and difficulty of carrying out face to face reviews with current social
distancing rules) (b) delays in full implementation of the planned re-organisation of the
social work function and (c) delays in carrying out improvements to the main systems used
by adult social care staff (LAS and Controcc). An updated position of the progress of
delivering the revenue savings has been set out in appendix 1 and 2.

7.13

Projections are still only indicative at this stage of the year. Overall numbers and costs of
residential and nursing placements dropped significantly in April and May but have since
increased, if not to pre-Covid levels. Costs of new or increased packages for patients who
have been discharged from hospital are currently recharged to the CCG. These
arrangements ended on 31st August. From 1st September 2020, costs will continue to be
charged to the CCG until service users are formally assessed with NHS colleagues, this will
be before the end of the financial year. The claim for the full year for this group of users is
£4.6m.

7.14

It is likely that service user numbers will continue to increase as the incidence of Covid-19
recedes, but it is not certain this will happen for different services. Although the demand for
residential and nursing placements has reduced overall, demand to clear hospital beds to
address the second wave is underway. It can also not be said with any certainty at this
point how quickly it will be possible to establish the new ways of working on which many of
the planned savings depend.

7.15

Projections include management action totalling £1.6m.
Integrated Commissioning

7.16

The Integrated Commissioning division is expected to underspend by £0.4m; this position
includes Covid-19 pressures of £0.2m, and is a £0.2m improvement on the position at the
end of July.

7.17

The Prevention and Inclusion budget is expected to underspend by £35k on staffing
budgets. The Supporting People budget is projected to underspend by £50k - this is
primarily contract savings. The Drug and Alcohol budget is now expected to underspend by
£200k - £21k contract savings, £25k on campaigns and £154k across detoxification and
rehabilitation budgets which has meant treatment delays resulting from the impact of Covid-

Page
12 206

19 on service providers. These underspends are offset by Covid-19 related costs of £180k
which are mostly temporary increases in contact costs to providers.
Public Health
7.18

The Public Health division is projected to overspend by £1.7m as at end August (compared
to £2.6m at July). This overspend includes spend against the £2.2m for track and trace will
be offset in full by the grant received from central government for these purposes. The
balance of the overspend is due to Covid-19, some £140k and £126k for costs associated
with uncapping of sexual health e-services and the establishment of an online contraception
offer to mitigate against the reduction in face-to-face sexual health clinic services during the
pandemic, respectively; and a further £40k for the joint Lewisham and Birmingham work to
address health inequalities in Black African and Black Caribbean communities.

7.19

An underspend of £0.9m is now expected on sexual health services. This reflects reduced
activity and lower payments to out of borough clinics. The Public Health Grant released by
this underspend will be used to fund eligible activity elsewhere in the Council.
Communities, Leisure and Partnerships

7.20

The Communities, Leisure and Partnerships service is currently projecting an overspend of
£4.6m, which is entirely Covid-19 costs. This compares to a projected overspend of £3.1m
reported to the end of July 2020. The new figure now includes the Bereavement Services
following the transfer from HRPR. In total, the movement of services into this division has
increased the overspend position by £2.8m.

7.21

The Leisure Management budget is expected to overspend by £2.1m. This includes
estimated additional costs of £1.4m to reflect new contractual arrangements.

7.22

All leisure centres were closed for the first four months although Downham has now
reopened. Emergency contract payments have been made to Fusion Lifestyles and 1-Life
from the Covid-19 cost centre in Community Services (estimated cost £420k). In addition,
there is a projected income shortfall of £105k on the Leisure Management Contract with
Fusion Lifestyles and also a £50k pressure on the Downham PFI budget resulting from the
annual inflationary increase on the unitary charge contract with Linteum which was not
covered from non-pay inflation this year as part of the budget process.

7.23

The community sector grants programme is showing no variance. The new three-year
programme came into effect on 1 August 2019 meaning that the full saving of £600k agreed
as part of the 2019/20 budget process will be fully achieved for the 2020/21 financial year.

7.24

There is a projected overspend of £40k on the community centres budget which is resulting
from the loss of regular room hire income as a result of Covid-19.

7.25

The estimated cost of the community hub set up to help residents of the borough who are
shielding from Covid-19 is £0.5m.

7.26

The Community Safety budget is projected to underspend by £20k – underspends on
staffing and operational budgets of £80k under the core Crime, Enforcement and
Regulation budget are offset by a potential shortfall of £60k on Licensing income (primarily
Gambling Act and Licensing Act) as a result of Covid-19. An overspend of £23k is
expected on the CCTV budget for the Management and Operation of the CCTV control
room – the phasing of the contract payments over the 5 year life of the new contract which
started in February 2020 has created a pressure in the first year of operation.

7.27

The projected overspend for Green Scene services is £500k, of which £400k (primarily for
pest control and parks income), relates to Covid-19. For services such as Parks, including
Beckenham Place Park (BPP), events and associated income have been suspended whilst

Page
207
13

on-going costs remain. The open water swimming has been shut temporarily and even
after Covid-19 and its associated lockdown are lifted, it could be a while for this to pick up.
Parks represent some £340k of this pressure, whilst the other two service areas account for
the remaining £60k. There is a £100k pressure for Arboreal Services which is not deemed
to be Covid-19 related. There are health and safety works required on old and damaged
trees across the borough. This work is essential to mitigate the risks to the general public.
The service will aim to contain this pressure within existing budgets. This will be monitored
as the year progresses. The reported overpend will reduce in future months when budgets
totalling £200k for Beckenham Place Park are transferred from HRPR
7.28

There is forecast overspend of £1.78m on Bereavement Services, of which £1.62m is
Covid-19 related. This is an unchanged position from that reported at the end of July and
includes the impact of management action of £40k. Due to the nature of the service, it is
extremely difficult to forecast income. An in-year income increase measure of £140k was
introduced in order to bring down the service overspend. Covid-19 costs of £1.62m have
been forecast for the year. The majority of these costs are as a result of Lewisham’s
£1.266m contribution to the London Borough wide mortality management scheme spend
incurred under the pandemic plan for London. Other costs include the cost of extra
security, PPE, cleaning, and £30k for additional agency worker recruited to cover staff
unable to work a due to the virus.

7.29

There will be a staffing underspend of £20k on the budget for Community Development
Management.
Culture, Learning and Libraries

7.30

The Culture, Learning and Libraries division is currently projecting no overall variance, this
includes Covid-19 costs of £0.3m.

7.31

The Libraries budget is projected to underspend by £65k. There are projected staffing
underspends of £125k due to vacant posts and associated recruitment drag during the
library closures resulting from Covid-19. This is offset by an income shortfall on fees and
charges income of £60k of which approximately 50% is linked to the closure of the libraries
building during the pandemic.

7.32

The Broadway Theatre is expected to be closed for the whole 2020/21 financial year partly
as a result of Covid-19 and partly to facilitate essential works. During this time, there will be
ongoing staff costs which will not be able to be recovered from income and a budget
pressure of £50k is projected. It has now been agreed that the that the annual Blackheath
Firework event will not go ahead in November and this forms part of the management
action described below. Although Peoples’ Day did not go ahead in 2020, the funding of
£35k has been earmarked against the Arts Service for the ‘virtual culture’ offer agreed by
the Executive Management Team and so no variance is currently projected.

7.33

The Adult Learning budget is reliant of £500k of student fee income generated from the
courses run by the service. As a result of the course closures brought about by Covid-19,
the service has lost first term income of approximately £160k and with the future social
distancing policiesin place limiting class sizes will only be able to operate at a two thirds
capacity for the two remaining terms. This is expected to result in a further loss of income
of at least a £120k. Against this, there will now be potential costs savings of £80k on tutor
sickness cover, tutor training and on course materials and resources. This will still leave a
net budget pressure of £200k.

7.34

Projections include management action totalling £0.05m described below.
Strategy and Performance

7.35

The Strategy and Performance division is reporting a nil variance at this stage of the year
and is expected to spend to budget by the year-end.

Page
14 208

Trends in activity
7.36

The following tables illustrate some trends in activity for adult social care.
Table 6 – Number of 18+ Clients in service:
Adults 18+ in each type of care (numbers)
May-20

June-20

July-20

421
269

422
271

426
274

426
279

Non-Residential

2,142

2,154

2,160

2,171

Total

2,832

2,847

2,860

2,876

Residential
Nursing

Aug-20

Table 7 – Average Weekly Cost of 18+ Clients in service:
Adults 18+ in each type of care (average cost)
May-20
Residential

June-20

July-20

Aug-20

£1,170

£1,172

£1,167

£1,172

Nursing

£849

£852

£875

£876

Non-Residential

£403

£402

£404

£402

Average Gross v. Numbers

£559

£559

£563

£562

Table 8 – Weekly Gross Cost of 18+ Clients in service:
Adults 18+ in each type of care (gross cost)
May-20

June-20

July-20

Aug-20

Residential

£ 492,456

£ 494,676

£ 497,150

£ 499,122

Nursing

£ 228,502

£ 230,827

£ 239,647

£ 244,297

Non-Residential

£ 862,877

£ 864,917

£ 871,970

£ 873,318

Total

£ 1,583,835

£ 1,590,420

£1,608,768

£1,616,736

Progress on Savings for 2020/21
7.37

The progress on revenue budget savings and agreed cash reductions are set out in
Appendix 1.

8.

HOUSING, REGENERATION AND PUBLIC REALM

8.1

As at the end of August 2020, there is a projected overspend of £10.6m. This comes after
allowing once-off in year measures of £876k for the Housing, Regeneration and Public
Realm Directorate. Of this sum, £9.5m relates specifically to previously unanticipated
Covid-19 budget pressures. This therefore leaves non Covid-19 related service directorate
budget pressures of £1.1m for the year.

8.2

Under the new Council structure, the Directorate has seen large changes to its make up. A
number of services have moved to other Directorates whilst services for parking, economic
development and environmental health have moved into the Directorate. The net budget
change is (£12.7m).

8.3

A summary of the overall Directorate position is shown in the table below:

Page
209
15

Table 9 – Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm Directorate
Service Area

Gross
Gross
Net budget Forecast
budgeted budgeted
2020/21
Outturn
Spend
income
2020/21
2020/21
2020/21
As at end
of August
2020

£m
Strategic Housing
Public Realm
Regeneration
Planning
Reserves/Provisions
Management Action
Total

£m

£m

33.4
26.8
10.2
2.7
0.4

(28.8)
(9.8)
(9.3)
(2.0)
(0.4)

4.6
17.0
0.9
0.7
(0.0)

73.5

(50.3)

23.2

£m
6.1
24.3
2.3
2.0
(0.0)
(0.9)
33.8

Forecast Covid-19
Non
Non
Variance Related Covid-19 Covid-19
Over/
Variance Related Related
(Under)
August Variance Variance
Spend
2020
August
July
August
2020
2020
2020

£m
1.5
7.3
1.4
1.3
0.0
(0.9)
10.6

£m

£m

1.5
5.7
1.0
1.3
0.0
0.0
9.5

0.0
1.6
0.4
0.0
0.0
(0.9)
1.1

8.4

In order to address the non-covid related overspend, the Directorate is implementing inyear once off cash savings totalling £876k. These savings have been included in calculating
the non-covid related variance above.

8.5

The most significant cost pressures for the directorate fall within the Public Realm division.
The following sections provide a summary of the revenue forecast by division. They
provide an explanation of the cause of the variances and identifies Covid-19 related costs
and income losses. This section also provides a directorate summary table of the progress
being made on delivering agreed savings for 2020/21 and what impact if any, slippage on
those savings is having on the overall directorate position. It also provides a summary table
of the in-year cash saving measures being introduced in order to reduce the projected
overspend
Cost of Covid-19

8.6

The estimated financial impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for expenditure and income in
Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm is £9.5m. These pressures are included in
projections below. These, along with similar pressures in other directorates, will be
alleviated by the Covid grant the Council received from central government. The Covid
pressures are summarised as follows:
Table 10 – Covid-19 Pressures for the HRE Directorate
Service

Strategic Housing
Public Realm

Regeneration
Planning

Area

Housing Needs
Private Sector Housing
Refuse Collection
Strategic Waste
Street Management
Street Markets
Highways and Transport
Parking
Capital Programme Delivery
Property Strategy
Development Management
Land Charges

Total

Strategic Housing

Page
16 210

Total Cost
August 2020
£m
1.5
0.0
1.6
0.3
0.2
0.4
0.6
2.6
1.0
0.0
1.2
0.1
9.5

Total Cost
July 2020
£m
1.2
0.2
1.2
0.3
0.2
0.3
0.5
2.6
0.3
0.9
1.2
0.1
10.0

£m
0.0
2.1
1.3
0.0
0.0
0.0
3.5

8.7

As at the end of August 2020, the Housing Services division is reporting budget pressures
of £1.3m, which is attributable to Covid-19 activity of £1.5m and an underspend of £231k.
This compares to the projected overspend of £1.4m reported to the end of July 2020, which
was entirely attributed to Covid 19. The underspend is a result of in-year cash saving
measures the service will implement as a result of management actions introduced to
address the overall directorate overspend.

8.8

There are overspends in the Housing Needs service of £1.5m which relates to increased
costs that have materialised in dealing with homelessness due to the effects of Covid-19.
This includes additional costs relating to;









Rough Sleeping Costs £420k
Accommodation costs (block bookings, individual reservations) £125k
Accommodations costs (restriction on moving-on clients) £85k
Accommodation Costs (transfers from shared to self-contained) £100k
Furniture & Removals (related to transfers of clients etc.) £40k
PMA Void loss (over and above budgeted allowance) £111k
PSL Void loss (over and above budgeted allowance) £36k
Increase in bad debt (clients not paying, no recourse to funds etc.) £450k

8.9

In addition to the above, there will be costs incurred which will come through as additional
Housing Benefit (HB) limitation recharges relating to clients who are in receipt of benefits,
but should have moved on by now. Whilst the analysis in this area is complex as it requires
further in-depth analysis of the current recharge levels, it is expected to be in the region of
£150k.

8.10

The service is also forecasting an end of year non-Covid related overspend on salaries of
£535k, this will be off-set by use of additional grant funding. It should be noted that the
service has benefited from £4.6m of grant awarded for 2020/21 on a once-off basis to
homelessness to cover the effects of the implementation of the Housing Reduction Act and
compensation for the removal of Temporary Accommodation (TA) management allowances
in the HB regulations. The service intends to use part of this grant to cover these nonCovid related overspends. There is currently no announcement on grant availability for the
financial year 2021/22 onwards. Should grant not be available, then there will be an
immediate pressure of at least £4.6m.
Public Realm

8.11

As at the end of August 2020, the newly formed Public Realm division is reporting a
projected overspend of £6.8m (£7.3m before measures), £5.7m of which is attributable to
Covid-19 related activity. The overspend excluding Covid costs and after in year measures
is £1.1m. This compares to an overall projected overspend (based on the same structure)
of £8.2m (£6m covid related) at the end of July 2020. The reduction in forecast overspend
is due to in-year cash saving measures of £497k being introduced as part of the
management actions aimed at reducing the overspend, and improved income generation.
Details of these in-year management actions are provided in Table 15 below.

8.12

Parking Services

8.12.1 There is a projected overspend of £2.6m within Parking Services, which is entirely
attributable to a drop in income due to Covid-19, the same as last month. Income has been
significantly down in the first five months of the year due to the Covid-19 related restrictions.
The full year income forecast is subject to much uncertainty in relation to the extent of
Covid-19 related restrictions throughout the remainder of the year and the pace of the
economic recovery.
8.13

Environmental Health

Page
211
17

8.13.1 There is a projected underspend on the Environmental Health budget of £100k which is the
same as last month. This still primarily relates to staffing in the Food Safety Team. During
last year, there was a significant increase in staff turnover in the team and an ongoing
difficulty in recruiting suitable replacement agency staff to carry out food inspection activity
however we a currently in the process of advertising a number of vacant posts across both
the Food and Environmental Protection Team and hope to have people in post earlier than
previously projected.
8.14

Highways & Transport

8.14.1 The forecast overspend for Highways & Transport amounts to £516k. This compares to
£701k forecast in July. The reduction in overspend is mainly due to in-year cash savings of
£250k to be implemented from September. The service would have been reporting a
forecast underspend of £56k, but for the extra Covid related forecast income loss of £572k.
8.14.2 The Covid-19 related forecast income losses are mainly as follows:

8.15



Income Capital Fees of £349k. The underachievement of capital fees income is
primarily as a result of the Transport for London (TfL) LIP funding for 2020/21 no
longer being available. TfL have secured a funding settlement from government for
the period to October 2020 and is making funding available for boroughs for
temporary measures. Some of this funding is expected to be secured and other
funding bids are being made to secure additional investment. The achievement of
income to date is based on the first six months of the financial year and it is expected
that additional income will be secured from October, subject to funding being
available from TfL and Department for Transport.



Income Other – Underachievement of income of £110k is from skips, crossovers and
permits this is due to covid-19. The Transport service should have the ability to
recover this later in the year.



Income Electric Vehicles – The expected income of £68k including the saving of £50k
is unlikely to be achieved this year, as this was reliant on getting further charging
points delivered by the end of last year and throughout this year. Delivery was
already hindered last year due to resourcing issues and this was further impacted as
a result of the Covid lockdown. The latter meant that site works on a tranche of over
40 charging points had to be put on hold. Staff resource has now been diverted onto
the Covid transport response. This has also had an impact on the site identification
and design process for the subsequent phases.



Bus Shelters Advertising - Under recovery of £38k.

Refuse Collection

8.15.1 The Refuse Collection service is projected to overspend by £2.1m. The majority of this
pressure, some £1.6m, is attributable to Covid-19 activity. For the previous reporting
period, the service was forecasting an overspend of £1.74m, of which 1.23m was attributed
to Covid. The service has introduced in-year once-off cash saving measures of £32k to
reduce the level of non-covid overspend. The increase in covid related spend is due to a
reduction in the number of customers using the Garden Waste Service due to the effects of
Covid-19. A further breakdown of the overspend is detailed in paragraphs below.
8.15.2 Refuse collection transport costs are forecast to overspend by £434k. During 2019/20, it
was reported that there would be a £620k overspend. In March 2020, this reduced to
£420k after rebate. It was anticipated that this overspend would drop significantly once the
Council had received all of the replacement vehicles on order. Unfortunately, due to Covid19, not all the replacement vehicles have been received to date. When they ultimately

Page
18 212

arrive, the first 11 vehicles are set to replace those hired in, the remaining ones will replace
the older vehicles, but as they are of a certain age, there is the higher risk of breakdown
which in turn means hiring in external vehicles.
8.15.3 There is a forecast shortfall in income of £1.7m. There are a number attributable factors to
this shortfall as detailed below:
 Covid-19 related £650k Commercial Waste income - due to the pandemic, a
significant amount of income has been lost as many businesses were not operating,
and therefore not charged, during the first three months of this financial year.
Businesses have gradually reopened, but the customer base is not yet back to its preCovid levels. This level of lost income assumes that the customer database will
return to its former level during the course of the financial year, i.e. businesses have
not permanently closed due to the pandemic. This is being closely monitored and
customers are being contacted.
 Commercial Waste £490k ongoing income shortfall based on 2019/20 income and
current budget. As mentioned above, in-year measures have been introduced to
reduce the effect of this income shortfall.
 Also within Commercial Waste there is an income budget of £30k for sales of items
such as dustbins. Last year less than £4k income was achieved. A shortfall of £20k
has been assumed.
 Garden Waste – income for this service is subject to the take up of full subscriptions.
This uptake is greatly reduced so far this year in comparison to previous years and is
taking longer than expected. Loss in income has been reviewed and treated as Covid
19 related on the premise that this service is not a seen as a priority for people facing
financial difficulty. We are currently showing a loss of income of £500k. This is being
reviewed on a monthly basis and customers are being contacted to remind them to
take up their subscriptions.
8.15.4 There is also a level of overspend attributable to the use of agency staff as a consequence
of Covid-19. During the height of the lockdown period there were a number of staff that
were self-isolating and off sick, and had to be replaced by agency staff.
8.16

Strategic Waste Management

8.16.1 For Strategic Waste Management services, there is a projected overspend of £970k. Some
£200k of this overspend is represented by a 2% increase in tonnage rates in costs for the
following contracts: SELCHP, Veolia Food/Garden waste and SELWDG. Due to the nature
of the mix of waste and more people working from home, it is anticipated that more waste
will go to recycling which is at a higher cost. A cost of £250k has been deemed to relate to
Covid-19 activity. A further £600k relates to the new dry recyclable contract with Bywaters.
Within the new contract, prices changed from £103 per tonne to an initial processing fee of
£115.02 per tonne. Contamination levels up to 15% will be covered in the processing fee.
Contamination levels between 16-20% will be charged at £133.42 per tonne and
contamination over 21% will be charged at £147.11 per tonne. It is anticipated that the
increase will be covered corporately.
8.16.2 The Civic Amenities service is again projecting an overspend of £68k mainly relating to
staffing. There are units within the strategic waste management service that are projecting
underspends based on their respective 2019/20 outturns, Street Cleaning disposal and
Animal Welfare of £137k and £10k, respectively. The former will be reviewed and if
necessary have budget redirected to one of the other waste disposal services.
8.17

Street Management

Page
213
19

8.17.1 The Street Management service is projected to overspend by £180k. A projection of £336k
was reported in the last period. The reduction of the forecast overspend is due to the
service identifying in-year savings within Street Cleansing of £215k. Due to these in-year
spend reductions, the service would have been in a position to report an underspend of
£30k, but has a covid related forecast overspend of £210k.
8.17.2 The Covid overspend relates to an additional £80k potential loss in income within Cleansing
Enforcement due to the Government announcing the cheaper option of obtaining a
Pavement Licence in place of the Forecourt license to help small businesses through the
Covid period till September 2021. There is also a Covid related overspend relating to street
cleansing of £74k, due to the staffing levels required to achieve the level of service currently
being provided, and a Covid-19 related loss of income on lumber collection of £30k and
Cleansing Enforcement of £26k.
8.18

Street Markets

8.18.1 The Street Markets service is forecasting a loss of income of £420k, an increase of £90k
from June), and is due to the closure of markets during the pandemic and lower returnees.
The three council-run markets in the borough were closed. When the markets re-opened in
July, the number of stall holders that returned was lower than anticipated. This loss of
income is entirely Covid-19 related. There are approximately 180 stalls across the three
markets, with mixed occupancies. The service is expecting to achieve a reduction in costs
relating to street cleaning during this period. It is to be noted however, that reductions in
costs achieved here may result in a loss of income to other internal services. There may be
an increase in uptake later on in the year, this will be closely monitored.
8.19

Other Environmental Services

8.19.1 The services for Environmental Administration and Fleet, are projecting balanced budget
positions by the year-end. The Director’s salary budget is forecast to be overspent this year
by £100k due to staffing and structure changes. The budget will be reviewed during the
2021/22 budget process.
Regeneration
8.20

The Regeneration Division (based on the new structure) is forecasting an overspend of
£1.3m in 2020/21, £1m of which relates to Covid-19. This is after applying once-off in year
savings of £62k. This compares to an overall projected overspend of £1.7m in July.
Commercial Investment and Delivery

8.20.1 The Commercial Investment and Delivery service is reporting £91k underspend due to
vacancies.
8.21

Capital Programme Delivery

8.21.1 There is a forecast overspend of £1.4m in the Capital Programme Delivery (CPD) Service,
£1m relating to Covid. The overspend is made up as follows:


Capital Delivery Service – There is a forecast overspend of £100k (£250k last
month) which is entirely Covid-19 related. All staffing costs for the CPD team are
recharged to the relevant projects and external grants, but due to the impact of
Covid-19, some of these projects may not be finished or even start.



Valuers Team – There is a forecast underspend of £64k due to a staff vacancy and
a reduction in agency costs this month.



Building Control – There is a forecast overspend of £441k. Due to Covid-19, the
service is not able to generate income of up to £404k, as all construction work was

Page
20 214

put on hold during lockdown. Some of the overspend is forecast as the service was
incurring higher than anticipated staffing costs due to the use of agency staff, the
service is now looking to address this issue.

8.23



Commercial Properties – There is an estimated income shortfall of £908k, which is
partly due to Covid19 and resulting business failures and re-letting costs (542k).
This figure, which represents 20% of the budget, will be kept under constant review,
and is based on early indicators from commercial leaseholders and anticipated
repercussions coming out of Covid-19. An additional income target of £750k was
previously agreed, without factoring in a shortage of properties to let. Only £250k is
likely to be achieved, leaving a £500k shortfall in income. The most significant
challenge is that this relies on achieving income earmarked from significant one off
projects such as the land disposal at Copperas St and growth in higher value retail
parades. The delivery of Copperas St is now affected due to a change in corporate
priorities over what the site should deliver, whilst the latter has been put on hold due
to emerging social housing development plans. The service is working with tenants
to increase its income and some tenants have now accepted payment plans rather
than ending their tenancies.



Business Rates – A forecast overspend of £49k is as a result of 2020/21 business
rates increases.



Garages – This service is expected to have a nil variance due to the demand for
garages remaining higher than anticipated over the lockdown period. It is currently
anticipated that the budget figure can be achieved.

Economic Development

8.23.1 It is currently anticipated that this service will have a nil variance, however the service is
currently undergoing a major restructuring and more detailed information will be available
for the next monitoring period.
8.24

Strategic Development

8.24.1 This service was previously reporting a nil variance, however in-year cash savings of £64k
have been identified from an unfilled vacant post. It is therefore forecasting an underspend
of £64k.
8.25

Property Strategy

8.25.1 There is a forecast overspend of £67k for this service (£150k in July). The reduction is due
to lower agency staff costs as the service is working at reducing its costs.
Planning Service
8.26

The Planning Service is forecasting an overall £1.2m overspend in 2020/21. The Covid-19
related overspend is £1.275m due to loss of income, however the service is introducing
£84k measures to reduce spend in 2020/21. The non-Covid forecast is therefore an
underspend of £84k.

8.27

The in-year spending reduction of £84k will be achieved by holding vacancies in the service
for the rest of the year.

8.28

The service is heavily reliant on income, but has had a large reduction in planning
applications and pre-application enquiries. The projected loss of income in its entirety
comes as a result of Covid-19.

Page
215
21

8.29

Development Management accounts for £1.2m of the income shortfall. The service was
hopeful that income would recover by Quarter 4 as the lockdown eased and confidence in
the economy returned, however with the current possibility of further restrictions those
assumptions are being reviewed and further actions identified to reduce expenditure. The
service is anticipating that two large planning application fees, approximately £200k in total,
will be received within the next nine months. Income levels and planning application
volumes are being monitored on a weekly basis, and staffing costs will be reduced
wherever possible in response to falling volume of applications.

8.30

The loss of fee income for land charges accounts for the remaining £100k. Local Land
Charges’ fee income in Quarter 1 was down 50% when compared to seasonal demand.
This is due to Covid-19 impacting the housing market. July saw signs of recovery and
income levels have improved, but the service is forecasting a £100k loss of income against
budget due to Covid-19.
Progress on Savings for 2020/21

8.31

The progress on revenue budget savings and agreed cash reductions are set out in
Appendix 1.

9.

CORPORATE RESOURCES DIRECTORATE

9.1

As at the end of August 2020, there is a projected overspend of £3.9m for the Corporate
Resources Directorate. This is a decrease of £1m from the overall projected overspend of
£4.9m to the end of June 2020 for the former Corporate Services Directorate, but the
comparison is distorted by the Council restructure described earlier in the report. Of this
sum, £2.5m relates specifically to previously unanticipated Covid-19 budget pressures.
This therefore leaves a non Covid-19 related service directorate projected overspend of
£1.4m for the year. For these specific service directorate variances, this represents an
increase of £1.7m from the £0.3m underspend projected as at the end of July 2020. The
projections include in-year cash reductions totalling £0.4m.
Table 11 – Corporate Resources Directorate
Service Area

Gross
Gross
budgeted budgeted
Spend
income
2020/21
2020/21

£m
Corporate Services
Financial Services *
Executive Office
Public Services
IT & Digital Services

Reserves
Total

6.4
5.6
0.2
33.7
7.3
0.0
53.1

Net
budget
2020/21

Forecast
Outturn
2020/21
As at end
of
August
2020

Forecast
Variance
Over/
(Under)
Spend
August
2020

Covid-19
Related
Variance
August
2020

Non
Covid-19
Related
Variance
August
2020

Non
Covid-19
Related
Variance
July
2020

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

(3.2)
(1.5)
0.0
(12.8)
0.0
(0.7)
(18.2)

3.2
4.1
0.2
20.9
7.3
(0.7)
34.9

3.2
4.8
0.2
22.8
8.6
(0.7)
38.8

0.0
0.7
0.0
1.9
1.3
0.0
3.9

0.0
0.0
0.0
1.7
0.8
0.0
2.5

0.0
0.7
0.0
0.2
0.5
0.0
1.4

* The variance for the Financial Services Division includes an overspend £700k which relates to the delay in implementing
Human Capital Management (HCM), including Payroll Services as part of the Council-wide Oracle Cloud Programme.

Cost of Covid-19
9.2

The estimated financial impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for expenditure and income in
Corporate Resources is £2.5m. These pressures are included in projections below. These,

Page
22 216

(0.1)
0.2
0.0
(0.4)
0.0
0.0
(0.3)

along with similar pressures in other directorates, will be alleviated by the Covid grant the
Council received from central government. The Covid-19 pressures are summarised in the
following table.
Table 12 – Covid-19 Pressures for the Corporate Services Directorate
Service

IT and Digital Services
Public Services

Area

Emergency rollout of IT hardware, licences for
software, buy your own IT scheme etc.,
Sundry Debt – Delay in Invest to Save to improve
debt collection
Revenues Services – Loss of income collected
through enforcement and court fees
Registrars – Loss of fee income
Building cleaning, staffing etc.,

Total

Total
forecast
August
2020
£m
0.8
0.5
0.6
0.2
0.4
2.5

9.3

The Corporate Services and the Executive Office Divisions are not forecasting any
significant budget variances.

9.4

The Financial Services division is forecasting an overspend on £0.7m. There is existing
pressure on staffing budgets, including the delayed achievement of the savings on the
wider Oracle Programme, as per the saving tracker included in this section of the report. It
had previously been assumed that reserve funding would meet these costs, but it has been
confirmed that no sums are available in reserves for this purpose.

9.5

The IT & Digital Services division is now forecasting a £0.5m non-covid related pressure.
Following the 2020/21 budget setting process, ongoing service pressures and new
commitments have been identified and funded. The service budget has increased by
£1.4m for the new financial year. The forecast overspend is due to:


Evosys (Oracle) support costs of £350k – unbudgeted but expected to be an ongoing
requirement.



Extended reliance on contractors – the service has been unable to complete a restructure
and create permanent posts. The service are currently trying to get an ER/VR panel
convened to move this forwards.
Public Services Division

9.6

The Public Services division is forecasting a net overspend of £1.9m, of which £1.7m is
covid-19 related. The £1.7m of covid-related pressures is made up of: loss of income in
Revenues (£0.6m); unachieved sundry debt saving (£0.5m); loss of income in Registrars /
Service Point (£0.2m); additional cleaning, security and miscellaneous costs (£0.4m).

9.7

There are significant pressures within Revenue services (£0.6m) due to loss of income
collected by the Enforcement Team and loss of income from Court Fees. Courts have been
closed during the pandemic, and the Enforcement Team has had to put much activity on
hold. The forecast assumes a degree of recovery during the remainder of the year which is
highly uncertain.

9.8

The Housing Benefit service area is forecasting an underspend of £0.1m. There is an
overspend forecast on Housing Benefit subsidy of (£0.5m), but this is offset by forecast
underspend on Housing Benefit Admin (£0.3m) and Concessionary Fares (£0.3m).

Page
217
23

9.9

The Service Point area is now forecasting a Covid-19 related pressure due to reduced
Registrar’s fee income.

9.10

The Director of Public Services budget line includes a £480k saving in relation to Sundry
debt collection. This is considered unachievable at present as much income recovery work
has been on hold, and collected would in any case benefit the wider Council rather than
directly benefit the Public Services Division budget.

9.11

The Facilities Management section is forecasting a pressure of £0.3m, mainly on Utilities
which is forecasting a £350k overspend. Utility prices have risen over time and have not
always been matched by budgetary increases. There are also legacy issues over
unresolved debt with utility providers. The position is improved by a £0.1m in-year saving
(Facilities Management - delay with the in-sourcing cleaning contract).
Progress on Savings for 2020/21

9.12

The progress on revenue budget savings and agreed cash reductions are set out in
Appendix 1.

10.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE

10.1

As at the end of August 2020, there is a projected overspend of £0.4m for the Chief
Executive Directorate. Of this sum, £0.3m relates specifically to previously unanticipated
Covid-19 budget pressures. This therefore leaves a non Covid-19 related service
directorate projected overspend of £0.1m for the year. The projections include in-year cash
reductions totalling £0.2m.
Table 13 – Chief Executive’s Directorate
Service Area

Gross
Gross
Net
Forecast Forecast Covid-19
Non
Non
budgeted budgeted budget
Outturn Variance Related Covid-19 Covid-19
Spend
income 2020/21
2020/21
Over/
Variance Related Related
2020/21 2020/21
As at end (Under)
August Variance Variance
of August Spend
2020
August
July
2020
August
2020
2020
2020

£m
Assistant Chief Executive
Law, Governance & HR

Total

5.2
7.8
13.0

£m
(0.1)
(0.8)
(0.9)

£m
5.1
7.0
12.1

£m
5.0
7.5
12.5

£m
(0.1)
0.5
0.4

£m
0.1
0.2
0.3

£m
(0.2)
0.3
0.1

Cost of Covid-19
10.2

The estimated financial impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for expenditure and income in
the Chief Executive Directorate is £0.3m. These pressures are included in projections
below. These, along with similar pressures in other directorates, will be alleviated by the
Covid grant the Council received from central government. The Covid-19 pressures are
summarised in the following table.

Table 14 – Covid-19 Pressures for the Chief Executive’s Directorate
Service

Area

Page
24 218

Total
forecast

£m
0.0
0.0
0.0

Strategy and
Communications

Human Resoures

Legal Services

Increases in communications capacity to support
response to the coronavirus pandemic. This is
partly offset by delays in recruitment related to
covid and pause on production of Lewisham Life
magazine
Increases in HR capacity to support response to
the coronavirus pandemic with regards to
emergency recruitment and HR advice
Loss of income due to covid-related reduction in
activity

Total

August
2020
£m
0.1

0.1

0.1
0.3

Assistant Chief Exective Division
10.3

In the Assistant Chief Executive Division, a £199k underspend is currently forecast in the
Corporate Communications team. Activity, such as the production of the Lewisham Life
magazine has been halted, which has reduced costs. There are also vacancies in the
team, resulting in a significant forecast underspend.

10.4

The Mayor & Cabinet office is forecasting an underspend of £32k due to vacancies. The
Chief Executive Management service area, including the Executive Support Office, is
forecasting an underspend of £145k due to vacant posts.

10.5

Performance & Policy is forecasting an underspend of £50k in relation to an in-year saving
(vacant post held for Service Development and Integration Manager).
Law, Governance & Human Resources Division

10.6

Legal Services is forecasting an overspend of £105k. There is an overspend of £20k on
salaries due to additional payments and an overspend of £126k on various income targets
due to covid-19. Income that is not recoverable at the moment includes RTBs, Capital,
Court cost, Lease Extensions and name changes. Offsetting the overspend is a £41k
underspend on supplies & services.

10.7

The Human Resources (HR) unit is forecasting an overspend of £301k. This is driven by
forecast spend of £345k on the HR support cost centre, which is where staff supporting the
Oracle project have been coded. There is no budget on this cost centre and costs in
previous financial years have been funded from corporate reserves. It has been confirmed
that there is no further earmarked reserves for this project, and therefore these costs must
fall upon the core HR budget. There is a net underspend of £44k forecast across other
areas of HR, and the budgets require some restructuring and realignment to improve
monitoring.
Progress on Savings for 2020/21

10.8

The progress on revenue budget savings and cash reductions are set out in Appendix 1.

11.

GOVERNMENT FUNDING

11.1

The Council has taken measures to support both businesses and residents who are facing
financial hardship as a result of the Coronvirus (Covid-19) pandemic. The table below
provides an overall summary of the additional resources which have been received the
Council to date to help with this support.
Table 15 – Government Funding

Page
219
25

Funding Description
Section 31 – Infection Control Grant
Section 31 – Test, Track and Contain Grant
Section 31 – Food and Essential Supplies
Section 31 – Infection Control Grant – Round 2
Covid-19 LA Support Grant (Tranches 1 to 4)
Reopening High Street Safely Fund
Reclaim for costs from the Health Sector
Claim for lost income to be offset by government grant
Sub-Total – for service costs

Lewisham’s
Allocation
£m
1.624
2.267
0.401
1.354
29.395
0.272
In progress
TBC by MHCLG
35.313

Funding allocated directly to residents and businesses
Covid-19 Hardship Fund
Nursery Discount – Local Share
Expanded Retail Discount – Local Share
Business Support Grant (Small business grant fund and Retail,
Leisure and Hospitality Fund)
Discretionary business grants (up to 5% of business support
grant)
Sub-Total – for businesses and citizens
Grand Total

3.241
0.905
29.511
47.000
TBC
80.657
115.970

Council Tax Payers
11.2

In March, the government announced a hardship grant would be provided to local authorities
in response to Covid-19 to provide council tax relief to vulnerable people and households.
Lewisham received £3.2m of hardship funding and has made these funds available to
individual Council Tax payers through two routes:
 Grants aligned to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme
 Emergency support for residents.

11.3

The first is an additional grant of £150 per working age claimant of the Council’s Council Tax
Reduction Scheme (CTRS). On 8 July, 16,300 households’ accounts were credited with
£150. Any remaining balance of this funding is being used to support additional hardship
claims for those in crisis via the local support scheme, where no other assistance is
available. As at 30 August 2020, more than 400 applications had been received.
Businesses

11.4

Central government has turned to local authorities to deliver a number of new schemes
aimed at supported local businesses who have been impacted by Covid-19.

11.5

For businesses, support measures include extended business rates relief for 2020/21, grants
to small businesses and those in the retail, hospitality, and leisure sectors, and a grant to
support Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) – those with less than 50 employees – not
covered by the initial grant arrangements.

11.6

The Council has received £47m to distribute in grants of £10k or £25k to small business
within certain rateable values and/or in the retail, hospitality, and leisure sectors. The
Council had assessed all those who have applied and disbursed more than 3,225 grants to
the 3,384 businesses eligible which equates to more than £41m. The scheme formally
closed at the end of August.
Government grant for Council Services

Page
26 220

11.7

The Council received £18m from the first two tranches of emergency government Covid-19
funding. A further £3.2m of funding (third tranche) was announced on 17 July 2020, followed
by a fourth tranche of £8.2m in October. The Council will also receive £1.6m plus a further
£1.4m in grants for ‘infection control’ and £2.2m for ‘test, track and trace’. An allocation of
£400k has been received for ‘food and essential supplies’. Furthermore, an allocation of
£300k was received as Lewisham’s share of the ‘re-opening the high street safely’ fund. This
brings the overall total of funding for these council services to £35.3m. For the purpose of
this report, the gross costs of the coronavirus response has been set out in each directorate
section, expressing the financial position in gross terms and before the application of the
£35.3m emergency government funding.

12.

DEDICATED SCHOOLS’ GRANT

12.1

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2020/21 is now confirmed at £264.251m. This
figure is after the DfE recoupment for Academy Schools and the adjustment for the interborough use of high needs places. This is an overall reduction of £1.031m to the
previously advised figure. The majority of this reduction of £0.951 relates to Early Years.
This comes as a consequence of the pupil data clearance process relating to January
2020. In theory, the majority of this should be containable as that aspect relates to funding
to providers for Early Years Provision. The reduction will have some impact on centrally
managed aspect of this funding, for example circa £50k supporting managed functions
supporting Early Years Provision.

12.2

The DfE has also confirmed the final 2019/20 allocation. Again and as previously reported,
the DSG 2019/20 remains provisional until the clearance of the January 2020 data, and as
a consequence there has been a reduction of £547k. This means that the 2019/20 revised
closing position is now £655k. This will be the first call on the 2020/21 High Needs Block
Allocation.

12.3

The allocation for the High Needs Block is £55m. The projection for 2020/21 suggests that
it is anticipated to overspend by between £2.6m to £4m. The table below shows the
increase in Education Health Care Plans (EHCP) of 45 pupils since April 2020 to July 20.
The majority of the new plans appear to be within the under 5s and Primary age cohort who
are then being placed out of borough. This could potentially increase the pressure by circa
£750k. The position will be revised following the Autumn update incorporating secondary
transfer for the next monthly report.
Table 16 – Education Health Care Plans (EHCP) – First Quarter 2020/21
Phase - EHCPs

Under 5s

Primary

Secondary

Postsecondary

Grand
Total

2020/21 April

57

985

903

775

2,720

2020/21 July

69

1010

910

776

2,765

Increase on Baseline

12

25

7

1

45

21.1%

2.5%

0.8%

0.1%

1.7%

Increase on Baseline %

12.4

The service has been working on a mitigation plan from 2018/19 the outcomes of which are
beginning to embed. However, there remains a concern that the demand coming through
from pupil numbers and pricing is continuing to outweigh the benefits of the mitigation plan.
Careful and considered monitoring of the position will need to continue throughout the year.

12.5

The funding for high needs is based on a baseline that was determined in 2012/13, which
was prior to the changes established as part of the SEND reforms. The baseline was
determined when the scope was from 5 to 19 years old. The local authority’s liability now
covers the 0 to 25 age range. Overall, the number of EHCPs is continuing to increase
coupled with increases in the severity of cases and prices. The table below shows the

Page
221
27

increase in the number of EHCPs since 2017/18. Updated since the last report for July
data.
Table 17 – EHCP since 2017/18
Phase - EHCPs

Under
5s

Primary

Secondary

Postsecondary

Grand
Total

FY17/18 Used As Base Line

42

831

769

537

2,179

FY18/19

24

889

821

626

2,360

FY19/20

37

929

887

774

2,627

FY20/21 current

69

1,010

910

776

2,765

Increase on Baseline Numbers
Increase on Baseline %

27

179

141

239

586

64.3%

21.5%

18.3%

44.5%

26.9%

12.6

The element for the early years block is provisionally set at £23.9m for 2020/21. The early
years funding remains provisional as it is based on January 2020 and January 2021 pupil
census data. Demand on the service remains uncertain in light of the covid pandemic, DfE
position remains that providers are funded in line with anticipated takeup.

12.7

Further grants are given to schools and routed through the local authority. These include
the pupil premium estimate (13.8m), post 16 funding (£4.5m), and the universal free school
meals grant estimate (£3.4m). Furthermore, the Teachers’ Pay Grant (£2m) and Teachers’
Pension (£6m) making total funds of £293.9m.
Schools

12.8

Coming into 2020/21, there are now five schools with loans, totalling £1.4m. In total, there
are 11 schools with deficits and 13 schools with balances that are within 8% of their
delegated budget share. There are however 53 schools with balances in excess of 9%.

12.9

Budget plans have been received by most schools, these will be assessed in detail over the
coming weeks with a view to formally advising schools of RAG rating based on their
submission.

12.10 The Schools Finance Team will continue to work with schools in developing sustainable
budget plans. Budget plans incorporating metrics management have been developed to
support schools to review budgets with a strategic view. This enables schools to compare
their deployment on leadership, teaching, support administration, contact time etc.,
Feedback from schools has been very positive.
13.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

13.1

The table below sets out the current budget for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in
2020/21. The balanced HRA budget seen in the table includes a budgeted contribution
from reserves of £47.8m, which is to be used to fund the HRA major works and new supply
programme and is included as a part of the 30 year HRA business plan. At this relatively
early stage of the financial year, a minor variation is being reported.

13.2

Repairs & Maintenance (R&M) continues to be forecasting spend to budget within the
monitoring statement. However, Lewisham Homes is currently forecasting an underspend
at this stage in the financial year. There was an underspend in this area in 2019/20. This
area will continue to be closely monitored in 2020/21 to ensure that spend does not exceed
budget and that costs can be contained within overall allocations.

13.3

The current 30 year HRA financial model has been recently refreshed, with the final outturn
for 2019/20 as well as the latest updates for the general capital programme, revised stock

Page
28 222

numbers and reserves allocations incorporated into the plans. Budgets have been updated
in July 2020 to reflect starting stock numbers from 1 April 2020, as well as incorporating a
May/June 2020 consolidation update for the new supply programme to reflect the latest
position. The revisions to the budgets have been agreed with Lewisham Homes and has
pushed some of the planned capital and new supply expenditure into 2021/22 due to a reprogramming of works and programme delays due to the Covid-19 pandemic.
13.4

At the present time, the forecasts have been updated with costs related to Covid-19. Those
costs which have currently been identified include additional bad debt impairments in the
region of £500k, void losses on units unable to be let in the early period of the lockdown
and there is a guarantee to Lewisham Homes that the local authority will cover up to £1.2m
of operative workforce related pressures due to the slowdown of repairs works undertaken
which will represent lost income to their trading account. These are all currently contained
within current projections and use of reserves.

13.5

Additional income is currently being forecast from tenant’s rents and service charges due to
lower than budgeted void rates. There is also a surplus of garage rents for garages
remaining in the HRA and subject to development proposals. These garages will continue
to provide income until such time as they are decanted for the development to proceed.

13.6

There is a significant major works income budget of £6.1m, which is based on the General
Capital Programme allocation of £47m. However, raising of bills is dependent on the
Lewisham Homes Capital Programme undertaking works which can/are recharged to
Leaseholders. As at week 21 (up to 29/8/20) a total of £245k has been charged to
leaseholders. This are will be continually reviewed and forecasts updated where necessary.
Table 18 – Housing Revenue Account
Expenditure
Budget
2020/21

Income
Budget
2020/21

Net
Budget
2020/21

Forecast
Variance
over/
(under)
spend
August
2020

£m

£m

£m

£m

Service Area

Housing, Regeneration and
Environment – Housing
Lewisham Homes & R&M
Resources
Centrally Managed Budgets
Total

19.2
38.4
1.6
90.3
149.5

(3.6)
0
0
(145.9)
(149.5)

15.6
38.4
1.6
(55.6)
0

(0.1)
0
0
(1.0)
(1.1)

14.

COLLECTION FUND

14.1

As at 31 August 2020, some £61.9m of council tax had been collected. This represents
41.1% of the total amount due for the year. This is below the profiled collection rate of 43.7%
if the overall target for the year of 96% is to be met.

Table 19 – Council Tax collection to end of August 2020

Page
223
29

14.2

Previous
Year
Collection
Rate
(20192020)

difference

Required
Collection
Rate to
reach
96%

10.86%

-0.88%

10.97%

-0.99%

17.49%

19.01%

-1.52%

19.35%

-1.86%

-2,638,677.15

25.46%

26.72%

-1.26%

27.31%

-1.85%

53,530,031.48

-2,754,124.63

33.83%

34.87%

-1.04%

35.72%

-1.89%

65,444,854.90

-3,537,910.21

41.32%

42.52%

-1.20%

43.68%

-2.36%

difference
between
collected and
96% profile

Current
Year
Collection
Rate%

Cash
Collected
(cumulative)

Cash needed
to meet 96%
Profile

Apr-20

15,214,801.26

16,439,946.85

-1,225,145.59

9.98%

May-20

26,675,961.23

28,990,328.54

-2,314,367.31

Jun-20

38,288,334.52

40,927,011.67

Jul-20

50,775,906.85

Aug-20

61,906,944.69

difference

Business rates collection to 31 August is at 52.2%. This is an decrease of 2.2% compared to
the same period last year, and 1.8% lower than the profiled collection rate if the overall target
rate for the year of 99% is to be achieved. It should be noted though, that the collectible
amount for the year has been reduced by over £30m due to Covid-19 related additional
reliefs for businesses.

Table 20 – Business Rate collection to end of August 2020
Previous year (%)

Difference from
previous year (%)

Current year (%)

Excluding
Credits

Including
Credits

Excluding
Credits

Including
Credits

Profile

Excluding
Credits

Including
Credits

April

22.35

22.39

20.40

18.24

11.87%

-1.95

-4.15

June

31.00

31.09

33.44

33.04

26.28%

2.44

1.96

July

37.82

37.96

37.56

38.90

36.54%

-0.25

0.94

July

45.55

45.74

46.35

47.60

45.61%

0.80

1.86

August

53.97

54.39

51.03

52.15

53.97%

-2.94

-2.25

15.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

15.1

The Capital Programme spend as at 31 August 2020 is £27.3m, which is 17% of the
proposed revised 2020/21 budget of £163.6m. At this point last year, 25% of the revised
budget had been spent, with the final outturn being 72% (£121.2m) of the revised budget of
£169.1m. Although this is still considered relatively early in the financial year, the current
spend against the programme remains considerably lower than the levels expected at this
stage of the year.

15.2

There continues to be considerable uncertainty for London over future property values and
rents as the market has stalled during the Covid-19 response and the impact through
recovery on employment is not yet understood. This comes on top of the Brexit
uncertainties already in place going into this pandemic. Additionally, the Covid-19
response is beginning to show a shift of the ways of working of the Council and the current
plans may no longer reflect the estate the Council needs to maintain.

15.3

For these reasons and while the programme is effectively stalled, a review of the capital
programme set in the annual Budget is being undertaken as part of the Council’s Covid-19
recovery planning phase. The budget for 2020/21 has been reviewed and spend on some
schemes has been re-profiled into future years.

15.4

The table below shows the current position on the major projects in the 2020/21 Capital
programme (i.e. those over £1m in 2020/21). Appendix 4 shows the major projects over
the three year period 2020/21 to 2021/22, and Appendix 5 provides a reconciliation of the

Page
30 224

latest capital programme budget for 2020/21 to the version presented to Mayor and Cabinet
on 9th July 2020.
Table 21 – Capital Programme 2020/21 (Major Projects)
2020/21 Capital Programme

20/21
Budget
Report
£m

GENERAL FUND
School Places Programme
Schools - Other (inc. Minor) Capital
Works
Highways & Bridges - LBL
Highways & Bridges – TfL
Highways & Bridges - Others
Catford town centre
Asset Management Programme
Other AMP Schemes
Lewisham Gateway (Phase 2)
Excalibur Regeneration
Lewisham Homes – Property
Acquisition
Private Sector Grants and Loans
(inc. DFG)
Achilles St. Development
Ladywell Leisure Centre
Development Site
Edward St. Development
Residential Portfolio Acquisition –
Hyde Housing Association
Travellers Site Relocation
Fleet Replacement Programme
Other General Fund schemes
TOTAL GENERAL FUND

Revised
Budget
(M&C
09/07/20)
£m

10.5

Revised
Budget
(Sep 2020)

Spend to
31 Aug
2020

£m

£m

9.1
6.3

4.7
5.7

2.9
0.0
1.1
4.0
2.4
3.7
0.0
1.4
3.0

3.0
1.2
0.6
1.0
1.3
1.1
14.8
0.3
0.0

1.6

0.6

0.0

10.3

1.1
9.0
0.0

Spent to
Date
(Revised
Budget)
%

0.5

11%

1.8
0.9
0.0
0.0
0.3
0.2
0.2
7.0
0.1

32%
30%
0%
0%
30%
15%
18%
47%
33%

0.0

0%

0.8

0.1
0.0

17%
0%

1.3
9.0
2.9

0.1
9.0
2.9

0.1
0.7
2.2

100%
8%
76%

2.1
8.1
3.7
58.1

0.2
7.8
7.4
74.4

0.2
7.8
8.1
63.2

0.0
0.0
1.3
15.4

0%
0%
16%
24%

97.5

78.4
37.2

36.5
47.7

2.1

6%

19.1
0.0

5.7
4.5

4.7
4.7

10%
82%

0.1
2.5
0.0
0.8
3.7
1.7
7.3
0.0
1.2
3.0
3.3

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Building for Lewisham Programme
HRA Capital Programme ( Decent
Works)
Creekside Acquisition
Ladywell Leisure Centre
Development Site
Achilles St. development
Mayow Road development
Other HRA schemes
TOTAL HOUSING REVENUE
ACCOUNT

0.0
0.0
1.6

0.0
0.0
1.8

4.3
1.1
0.6

0.3
0.0
0.0
0.1

7%
0%
0%
17%

136.3

136.5

100.4

11.9

12%

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME

194.4

210.9

163.6

27.3

17%

37.2
0.0
0.0

15.5

The main sources of financing the programme are grants and contributions, and capital
receipts from the sale of property assets. Some £17.6m has been received so far this year,
comprising £5.5m (net) from Housing Right to buy sales and other capital receipts and
£12.1m of grants and contributions.

16.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Page
225
31

16.1

This report concerns the financial forecasts for the 2020/21 financial year. However, there are
no direct financial implications in noting these.

16.2

Even before the coronavirus crisis, Lewisham faced significant financial pressures. The
additional work the Council is currently undertaking in its response to the pandemic and as
part of the early phases of recovery, coupled with the impact of substantial reductions in
income is putting its finances under considerable strain. Officers are joining other councils
in the push for a commitment from the government that it will meet the extra costs local
authorities are facing due to Covid-19.

16.3

The Council priority will always be to protect the most vulnerable people in our communities
and officers are fully aware that this period has also brought considerable challenges for
many of our residents and businesses. Although funding received by government to date
has gone some way in alleviating some of the financial pressures being experienced, this
still leaves a significant budget gap.

16.4

Taking the estimated costs and lost income considerations of the Covid-19 response and
additional support from government into account, the Council has sufficient reserves to
meet these financial commitments at present. However, without further investment, it is
highly likely that members will be faced with some difficult choices and will be met by the
inevitability that the Council will need to both look different and be required to reduce and
cease services in the long term.

17.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

17.1

The Council is under a duty to balance its budget and cannot knowingly budget for a deficit.
It is imperative that there is diligent monitoring of the Council’s spend and steps taken to
bring it into balance. The proposals in the body of the report suggest this can be achieved
this year by use of reserves.

17.2

Section 114 Local Government and Finance Act 1988 places a duty on the Council’s
Section 151 officer to prepare a report if the Council has taken or is about to take a course
of action which if pursued to conclusion would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or
deficiency on the part of the Council. The effect of a s114 notice would be to prevent any
further expenditure by the authority. This is effected with the approval of the s151 officer on
the basis that it would prevent the financial situation worsening, to improve it or to prevent it
recurring. The Council is not yet in that position, but the situation will have to be carefully
monitored in future.

17.3

The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 as
amended provide that if a decision is concerned with the Council’s budget, borrowing or
capital expenditure and is an executive function, the decision cannot be taken by the
Executive if it would not be wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget or plan/strategy
relating to borrowing or capital expenditure. The Acting Chief Finance (s151) officer has
advised that this situation has not yet arisen, but it will need to be borne in mind in relation
to any future decisions.

17.4

Under Section 17 Crime and disorder Act 1998, the Council has a duty in the exercise of its
functions to consider the impact of all their functions and decisions on crime and disorder in
their local area.

17.5

Section 12 of the Health and Social Care Act inserted a new section 2B into the NHS Act
2006 to give a local authority a new duty to take such steps as it considers appropriate to
improve the health of the people in its area. The steps in this report are consistent with that
duty.

Page
32 226

17.6

Under s3 Local Government Act 1999, the Council must make arrangements to secure
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. This duty remains even in these
exceptional circumstances.

18.

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT IMPLICATIONS

18.1

There are no specific crime and disorder implications directly arising from this report.

19.

CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENT IMPLICATIONS

19.1

There are no specific climate or environment implications directly arising from this report.

20.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

20.1

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality duty or
the duty). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation.

20.2

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need
to:




eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not; and
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not.

20.3

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do
not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed in the paragraph
above.

20.4

The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision and
the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for members, bearing in mind the
issues of relevance and proportionality. They must understand the impact or likely impact
of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are potentially affected by the
decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from case to case and due regard is
such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.

20.5

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the Public
Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public
Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard to the
statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which
deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well
as recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless
regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of
evidential value. The statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at:
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice#

Page
227
33

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technicalguidance
20.6

20.7

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides for
public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:
 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty


Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making



Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities



Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities



Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirement including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on key
areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available at:
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-dutyguidance

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND APPENDICES
Short Title of Report

Date

Location

Contact

Financial Forecasts for
2020/21 (June 2020)

9th July 2020
(M&C)

1st Floor Laurence
House

Selwyn Thompson

For further information on this report, please contact:
Selwyn Thompson, Director of Financial Services on 020 8314 6932
Legal implications: Katharine Kazantzis, Principal Lawyer, Legal Services

Page
34 228

APPENDIX 1 – Progress On Directorate Savings Taken For 2020/21
Ref

Proposal

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORATE
RES02

Legal fees increase

RES04

Policy, service design and
intelligence - reduction on
staffing

RES10

Cease graduate
programme
Total for Chief Executive Directorate
CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE
DIRECTORATE
CYP01
More efficient use of
residential placements
CYP03
More systematic and
proactive management of
the market
CYP04
Commission semiindependent
accommodation for care
leavers
CYP05
Residential framework for
young people. Joint South
East London
Commissioning Programme
CYP06
Cease funding for former
CYP funded post in
Voluntary Action Lewisham
CUS15
No Recourse to Public
Funds
Total for Children & Young People
Directorate
COMMUNITY SERVICES
DIRECTORATE
COM02
Ensuring support plans
optimise value for money
COM04
Reduce costs for Learning
Disability and Transitions

COM05
COM06
COM07

Increased focus of
personalisation
Reduction in Mental Health
Residential care costs
Reduction in Adult Social
Care contribution to Mental
Health Integrated
Community Services (Sirs)

2020/21
2020/21
2020/21
Comment:
£’000
£’000
£’000
Agreed
Achieved
Gap
Savings
32
0
32 Not being
achieved
due to
Covid-19
155
50
105 On Track
(n.b. saving
was
reduced to
£50k)
78
78
0 On Track
265

128

300

0

300 At Risk

600

0

600 At Risk

250

0

250 At Risk

200

0

200 At Risk

25

0

25 At Risk

1,000

1,000

2,375

1,000

250

250

0 Achieved

1,000

200

482

350

200

200

800 Partial
Achieveme
nt, balance
delayed
132 Largely
achieved
0 Achieved

50

50

0 Achieved

Page
229
35

137

0 On Track
1,375

Ref

Proposal

COM08

Change in the public
engagement responsibilities
for air quality and dedicated
funding
Crime, Enforcement &
Regulation reorganisation
Extended Use of Broadway
Theatre

COM10
COM15

COM16

COM18

COM1A

Cultural & Community
Development Service
Staffing
Funding inflationary
increase from within the
ASC Grant
Managing demand at the
point of access to adult
social care services

COM2A

Ensuring support plans
optimise value for money
COM3A
Increase revenue from
charging Adult Social Care
clients
CUS06
Bereavement Services
increase income targets
RES17
Beckenham Place Park income generation
Total for Community Services
Directorate
CORPORATE SERVICES
DIRECTORATE
CUS10
Invest to save - create
revenues protection team
CUS11
Process automation in
Revenues and Benefits
CUS13
Invest to save - improve
sundry debt collection

RES01
RES03

RES14

RES21

Benefits realisation of
oracle cloud
Executive Office Administrative Support Staff
Reduction
Corporate Estate Facilities
Management Contract
Insourcing
Reduced allocation of
inflation to contract cost

2020/21
2020/21
2020/21
£’000
£’000
£’000
60
60

Comment:
0 Achieved

161

161

0 Achieved

50

0

75

75

50 Savings
offset by
pressures
funding
0 On Track

2,000

2,000

0 Achieved

1,000

100

500

0

900 Partial
Achieveme
nt, balance
delayed
500 Delayed

500

0

500 Delayed

67

0

67 At Risk

105

0

105 At Risk

6,500

3,446

394

394

0 Achieved

250

250

0 On Track

480

0

350

0

480 Delayed
due to
Covid-19
related
reduction in
collection
activity
350 Delayed

104

0

104 At Risk

100

0

100 At Risk

1,000

1,000

Page
36 230

3,054

0 Achieved

Ref

Proposal

RES22

Reduced allocation of
inflation as dividend for
improved ICT Provision
Total for Corporate Services Directorate
HOUSING, REGENERATION &
PUBLIC REALM DIRECTORATE
CUS02
Income generation increase of garden waste
subscription
CUS04
Income generation increase in commercial
waste charges
CUS09
Cost reductions in
homelessness provision income generation and net
budget reductions

2020/21
2020/21
2020/21
£’000
£’000
£’000
1,500
1,500

4,178

3,144

485

0

300

0

696

696

Comment:
0 Achieved

1,034

CUS14A

Parking service budget
review

500

0

CUS16

Operational savings in the
private sector housing
agency through service
improvements
Increase income supporting
the Funding Officer post
and review the Economy
and Partnerships Function
Reduce corporate
apprenticeships salaries
budget
Increase in pre-application
fees

175

175

485 Achievabilit
y affected
by Covid-19
300 Achievabilit
y affected
by Covid-19
0 In 2020/21
this saving
will not be
achieved,
but will be
covered by
once off
funds
500 Achievabilit
y affected
by Covid-19
0 On Track

80

80

0 Achieved

55

55

0 On Track

100

0

RES12

Catford complex office
rationalisation

250

150

RES13

Reduction in business rates
for the corporate estate
Commercial estate growth

100

100

100 Achievabilit
y affected
by Covid-19
100 Only £150k
will be
achieved
0 On Track

500

100

50

0

3,291

1,356

400 Only £100k
will be
achieved
50 Achievabilit
y affected
by Covid-19
1,935

16,609

9,074

7,535

RES06

RES07

RES11

RES15

RES18

Electric vehicle charging
points

Total for Housing, Regeneration &
Public Realm Directorate
GRAND TOTAL

Page
231
37

APPENDIX 2 – Looked After Children Data – August 2019 to August 2020
Numbers

Local
Authority
Fostering

Agency
Fostering

Residential
Placement

SemiIndependent

Apr-19

196

195

47

32

209

46

725

May-19

197

190

42

32

213

46

720

Jun-19

189

189

43

40

214

50

725

Jul-19

167

197

46

39

219

59

727

Aug-19

168

192

52

42

223

63

740

Sep-19

164

189

57

42

222

60

734

Oct-19

162

190

61

42

224

63

742

Nov-19

162

191

60

38

224

64

739

Dec-19

162

191

60

38

226

64

741

Jan-20

162

194

62

38

226

65

747

Feb-20

165

195

60

38

231

70

759

Mar-20

161

195

62

40

231

68

757

Apr-20

168

194

63

39

233

68

765

May-20

167

197

62

35

233

61

755

Jun-20

166

195

62

33

232

58

746

Jul-20

173

195

62

31

229

58

748

Aug-20

167

199

62

30

229

57

744

Page
38 232

SGOs

Staying Put
18+

Total

APPENDIX 3 – Capital Programme Major Projects 2020/21 – 2022/23

Major Projects over £2m

GENERAL FUND
Schools - School Places Programme
Schools – Minor Works Capital Programme
Schools - Other Capital Works
Highways & Bridges - LBL
Highways & Bridges – TfL and Others
Asset Management Programme
Other AMP Schemes
Beckenham Place Park ( Inc. Eastern Part)
Catford Phase 1 – Thomas Lane Yard/ CCC
Lewisham Gateway ( Phase 2)
Lewisham Homes – Property Acquisition
Residential Portfolio Acquisition – Hyde Housing Ass.
Disabled Facilities Grant
Private Sector Grants and Loans
Edward St. Development
Achilles St Development
Mayow Rd Development
Canonbie Rd Development
Fleet Replacement Programme
Ladywell Leisure Centre Development Site
Travellers Site Relocation
Other Schemes

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Building for Lewisham Programme
Creekside Acquisition
HRA Capital Programme ( Decent works)
Ladywell Leisure Centre Development
Achilles St. Development
Mayow Rd Development
Other HRA Schemes

TOTAL PROGRAMME

Page
233
39

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

4.7
3.9
1.7
3.0
1.8
1.3
1.1
0.7
0.2
14.8
0.0
2.9
0.4
0.2
9.0
0.8
0.6
0.8
7.8
0.1
0.2
7.2

9.1
0.1
1.6
2.5
0.6
3.1
5.7
1.7
3.1
3.5
3.0

1.5

16.2
4.0
3.3
8.0
2.5
6.9
8.5
2.4
3.3
23.1
3.0
2.9
2.5
2.3
17.4
1.8
8.3
2.5
9.4
2.8
3.8
11.5

63.2

65.5

17.7

146.4

36.5
5.7
47.7
4.5
4.3
1.1
0.6

72.9
13.9
30.6
15.4
0.4
0.8
1.0

94
2.0
42.2
43.4
1.0
1.0

203.4
21.6
120.5
63.3
5.7
1.9
2.6

100.4

135.0

183.6

419

163.6

200.5

201.3

565.4

2.1
2.1
8.4
1.0
6.6
1.4
0.8
2.7
3.6
2.8

2.4

2.5
0.1
2.5
1.7

4.8

1.1
0.3
0.8

APPENDIX 4 – Capital Programme revised 20/21 budget – reconciliation from budget in
Finance Forecasts report to Mayor & Cabinet on 9 July 2020
Total

Total

£’000

£’000

APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET
M&C – 9th July, 2020

210,947

New Schemes
Lewisham Market Scheme
20/21 LIP Programme
Lewisham Gateway Phase 2
Catford Phase 1 – Thomas Lane Yard /
Catford Constitution Club’
Phoenix Acquisitions - S106 Funded
Beckenham Place Park (Eastern Part)

322
1,220
14,812
200

Approved variations on existing schemes
Excalibur (Phase 3)
Canonbie Road Development

Re allocated Budgets
Lewisham Library - Repairs & Refurb.
Re profiled Budgets
CYP CERA
Achilles St. Development (Design Work)
Achilles St. Development
Ladywell Leisure Centre Development
Unallocated AMP
Excalibur (Phases 4&5)
Milford Towers Decant
Creekside Acquisition
19, Yeoman St. Improvements
Deptford Southern Sites
Lewisham homes property acquisition
Schools Pupils Places Programme
2020 Schools Minor Works Capital
Programme
Heathside & Lethbridge
Milford Towers Decant
DFG & Disc Grants
9-19 Rushey Green
Sydenham park footbridge
Broadway Theatre - Works
Acquisition of homes in inner LHA Area
Watson Street Streetscape Improvements
Refurbishment of 43-45 Bromley Road
Essential footpath resurfacing parks

450
200

17,204

200
677

877

(1,000)

(1,000)

(500)
(401)
(4,764)
3,290
(1,072)
(1,265)
(2,769)
5,711
7
(329)
(3,000)
(4,494)
(79)
(244)
(100)
(1,040)
(250)
(489)
(1,594)
(75)
(120)
(235)
(7)

Page
40 234

(5)

Catford Broadway - Phase 2

(13,824)

Re-Phasing Budgets
HRA

(50,585)

Revised Capital Programme Budget 20/21

163,619

Page
235
41

Agenda Item 9
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

11/11/20

Originator of Report

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing

x

Amendments to Lewisham Homes articles
Ext.

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Signed:
Cllr Paul Bell Cabinet Member for Housing
Date: 2nd November 2020
Signed :
Kevin Sheehan Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm
Date: 2nd November 2020
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 236

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\9\3\ai00026399\$mgb4jj4n.doc

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Report title: Amendments to Lewisham Homes articles
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: Yes.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing Services

Outline and recommendations




This report outlines proposed changes to Lewisham Homes Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association.
The changes proposed modernise and update the articles. The changes also
ensure that the articles fully reflect the range of activity that Lewisham Homes
conduct.
Mayor and Cabinet are requested to approve these changes.

Page 237

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
N/A

1. Summary
1.1.

This report asks Mayor and Cabinet to approve the proposed changes to Lewisham
Homes Memorandum of Association (MoA) and Articles of Association (AoA).

1.2.

The AoA and MoA are legal documents that define the powers, objects and
governance framework for Lewisham Homes. They are the written rules that define
what activities Lewisham Homes undertakes on behalf of the council. The documents
have been updated twice since Lewisham Homes was incorporated, in 2006 and 2011.

1.3.

Following a governance review conducted by Lewisham Homes and a review of the
proposed changes by the Council, a number of changes are now being proposed.

1.4.

The changes are being recommended for a number of reasons:

1.4.1. Changes are required to strengthen and modernise the governance framework;
1.4.2. Changes are required to reflect the activities Lewisham Homes are undertaking on
behalf of the council, since the Articles were last approved in 2011.
1.4.3. Under the 2006 Companies Act the MoA became a much simpler document in law, and
elements of the MoA are now deemed to be part of the AoA. The governance review
highlighted changes required to ensure these documents are fit for purpose,
1.5.

The full changes proposed are detailed in this report. The proposed new articles are at
appendix 1 of this report. A full comparison of the current articles with the proposed
new articles are at appendix 2 of this report.

2. Recommendations
2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:

2.1.1. Approve the changes outlined in this report to Lewisham Homes Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association

3. Policy Context
3.1.

The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2022)[1] outlines the Councils vision to deliver
for residents over the next four years. Building on Lewisham’s historic values of fairness,
equality and putting our community at the heart of everything we do, the Council will
create deliverable policies underpinned by a desire to promote vibrant communities,
champion local diversity and promote social, economic and environmental sustainability.
Delivering this strategy includes the following priority outcomes that relate to the
management and provision of affordable homes by the Council’s ALMO, Lewisham
Homes:

[1]

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s61022/Draft%20Corporate%20Strategy
%202018-2022.pdf

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 238
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports





3.2.

Homes for Lewisham, Lewisham’s Housing Strategy (2015-2020)[2], includes the
following priority outcomes that relate to the management and provision of affordable
homes:




3.3.

Tackling the Housing Crisis – Providing a decent and secure home for everyone.
Building an Inclusive Economy – Ensuring every resident can access high-quality
job opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local
economy.
Building Safer Communities – Ensuring every resident feels safe and secure
living here as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

Key Objective 1 – Helping residents in times of severe and urgent housing need.
Key Objective 2 – Building the homes our residents need.
Key Objective 4 – Promoting health and wellbeing by improving our resident’s
homes.

The new Lewisham Housing Strategy 2020-26, which is being considered by Mayor and
Cabinet on the 11th November 2020, also contains the following priorities that are met by
this report.




Delivering the homes that Lewisham needs.
Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need.
Supporting our residents to live safe, independent and active lives.

4. Background
4.1.

Lewisham Homes was incorporated on 26 July 2006, as Lewisham Council’s Arms
Length Management Company (ALMO). Lewisham Homes manages nearly 14,000
social housing tenancies, and 5000 leasehold properties, on behalf of the Council. The
creation of Lewisham Homes as an ALMO was a major strand of the Councils decent
homes strategy, to bring in the investment needed to improve the standard and
condition of council owned homes.

4.2.

Lewisham Homes is the main organisation undertaking operational housing
management services for the Council. A number of services have been delegated from
the Council to Lewisham Homes in recent years, including sheltered housing, new
homes development construction, grounds maintenance, and the management of the
temporary accommodation portfolio. Lewisham Homes have also acquired their own
properties for the use of temporary accommodation, and taken on the management of
council property acquisitions.

4.3.

The full details of the arrangements between the Council and the ALMO for the delivery
of the housing management service are set out in the management agreement, which
can be found in the background reading to this report. The management agreement
was extended and revised in 2017, when Mayor and Cabinet agreed to extend the
management agreement for a further 10 years.

4.4.

Lewisham Homes was incorporated as a company with two main documents; the
Memorandum of Association (MoA) and the Articles of Association (AoA). The AoA and
MoA are legal documents that define the powers, objects and governance framework
for Lewisham Homes. They are the written rules that define what activities Lewisham
Homes undertakes on behalf of the council. They sit alongside the management

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 239
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

agreement to define the activity undertaken, responsibilities and accountability to the
council of Lewisham Homes.
4.5.

Currently, the MoA contains the objects, powers, application of income and property
and members guarantee clauses, while the AoA contain clauses for internal
administration and governance.

4.6.

Since Lewisham Homes was incorporated the MoA has been amended once in 2006,
and the AoA has been amended twice in 2006 and 2011.

4.7.

In 2019, Lewisham Homes undertook a governance review as part of their business
plan ‘good governance’ objectives. Following discussion and officer review, a number
of changes are being proposed to the AoA, which will now incorporate the MoA. The
changes are being proposed for a number of reasons:


Under the 2006 Companies Act the MoA became a much simpler document in
law, and as such the MoA can be incorporated as part of the AoA. The
governance review highlighted that changes are required to ensure the AoA is
fit for purpose;



Changes are required to strengthen and modernise the governance framework;



Changes are required to reflect the activities Lewisham Homes are undertaking
on behalf of the council, since the Articles were last approved in 2011.

4.8.

As a Local Authority Trading Company (LATC), Lewisham Homes is classified as a
Teckal company. This means that it must conduct at least 80% of its business for
Lewisham Council (measured by turnover). The amendment to the AoA presented for
approval in this report are not intended, nor will they actually extend the work LH does.

4.9.

The proposed changes to the articles will ensure that Lewisham Homes governance
arrangements are modernised and fit for purpose for the current day.

5. Proposed changes to the articles
5.1.

The proposed new articles are attached at appendix 1 of this report.

5.2.

The full track changed version comparing the 2011 articles and proposed new version
is attached at appendix 2 of this report.

5.3.

Should these changes be approved, the amended articles as at appendix 1 will be filed
at Companies House, with the new Articles effective from the date accepted by
Companies House. Lewisham Homes’ governance documents will then be updated to
reflect the new Articles.

5.4.

The changes proposed, and the rationale for the changes, are summarised below:
Once formally approved by Lewisham Council as sole member

Proposed changes to the Articles of Association –
5.4.1. General meeting clauses - updated the General meeting clauses to remove the term
Extraordinary General meeting, as this term does not exist in law. All meetings are now
called General meetings.
5.4.2. Board Composition (Article 13) - reduced the maximum number of Board members
from 15 to 12, introduced as a range and not a fixed number. The split of board
members is proposed as follows: 5 Residents (includes Leaseholders), 5 Independents
and 2 Council nominees. This change has been proposed to bring the board
composition in line with the the National Housing Federation Code of Governance,
which sets out that the optimum size for any board should be between 9-12 members.
5.4.3. The reduction in board members is found through the reduction in council nominees
from 3 to 2. In addition to representation on the board, Lewisham Council retains

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 240
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

control through its position as a shareholder and through the management agreement.
5.4.4. Payment of Board members – the clause in the Articles (2.7.2) updated to allow for
payment of non-councillor board members. Lewisham Council agreed to the
remuneration of non-councillor board members at Mayor and Cabinet in September
2018. This report has been included in background information in section thirteen
below.
5.4.5. Retirement and Election of Tenant and Independent Directors (Articles 15) Introduced terms of office for the tenant and independent directors. Terms introduced
are 3 terms of 3 years, a maximum of 9 years in total. Also introducing the bar on reappointment of up to 2 years, for any Director who has served the maximum term of
office. This replaces the rotation requirements and has been introduced to modernise
and update the board in line with the recommendations in the National Housing
Federation Code of Governance.
5.4.6. Disqualification and Removal of Board members (Article 18) - updated clause to
remove the discriminatory clauses for people with mental health issues. Increased
absence threshold to 85% from 60%, to ensure better attendance at Board meetings
by Board members. This has been linked to a leave of absence policy, which has
previously been approved by Lewisham Homes board.
5.4.7. Quorum (Article 29.2) - the quorum clause has been updated, so that the quorum
reflects the reduced number of Board members, proposed above at 5.2.2. The quorum
also now reflects that either a council nominee (or duly authorised representative of the
Council), board member or a council officer needs to be present for a Board meeting to
be quorate.
5.4.8. Electronic meetings - updated clauses to ensure that holding Board meetings by
electronic means is explicitly stated within the Articles.
5.4.9. Terminology - updated throughout the revised document. For instance, council
member to be replaced with London Borough of Lewisham, Tenant/Leaseholder to be
replaced with Resident. Definition of Resident to only include people who occupy
property in the Lewisham Borough or properties managed by Lewisham Homes. This
additional clause is to ensure that absentee leaseholders are not selected as serving
Board members.
5.4.10. Chair - Introduced a 3-year term for the Chair’s position, rather than the rolling annual
term. The Chair is to be allowed to serve a maximum of 2 x 3 year terms. The Board
members, with the written consent of the Council (32.1), can appoint the Chair.
5.4.11. Written Resolution - allow written resolutions to be passed by electronic means.
5.4.12. Co-option - increased the number of co-optees from two to five with explicit no-voting
rights. This provides Lewisham Homes with the opportunity to bring in short term skills
to support the Board, as well as provide succession planning in the event of
absenteeism. This change would also enable a co-optee to attend as a committee
member to help fulfil a skills gap.
5.4.13. Objects – The objects have been strengthened to reflect the expanded activity
Lewisham Homes now undertakes. Article 2.3.1 has been added to reflect Lewisham
Homes acquisition of stock outside the borough boundaries. Article 2.3.12 ensures that
Lewisham Homes must get written consent from the Council prior to carrying out any
other business.
5.4.14. Powers - Article 2.5.3 has been strengthened to ensure that Lewisham Homes would
get consent from Lewisham Council on each occasion to borrow money, issue loan
stock or raise money. The amendment to the objects and powers are not intended, nor
will they actually extend the work LH does, thus they will not breach the Teckal
limitations highlighted at 4.8 of this report.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 241
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.4.15. Statutory references - Statutory references within the 2011 articles have been
deleted, due to them being out of date. The extended article 2.6 with new wording
ensures that the context of the statutory references have not been lost and ensures the
council will not be in breach of any such act.
5.4.16. Notice - updated section to allow notice to be given by electronic means.
5.4.17. Conflict of Interests clauses - updated the conflict clauses to cover transactional and
situational conflicts and allowing the Board to authorise situational conflicts in
accordance with the 2006 Companies Act. (31.4)

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

Lewisham Homes’ management costs are funded through the fee paid via the HRA for
the management of the majority of the social housing and leasehold stock in the
borough. Additional fees are paid to Lewisham Homes for the delivery of the
development programme.

6.2.

The proposed changes to the articles of association does not affect the payments
made to the organisation for the services supplied. As such, there are no direct
financial implications arising from this report.

7.

Legal implications

7.1.

Section 27 of the Housing Act 1985, provides the power to allow another person to
exercise housing management on behalf of the local housing authority. This power
enabled Lewisham Homes to be set up in 2007.

7.2.

Lewisham Homes Limited is a company limited by guarantee and is wholly owned by
the Council. It is registered at Companies House with its own registration number,
05887410.

7.3.

It has its own governance arrangements which are governed by its Articles which sets
out its objects. Its decision making is though a Board. The Board hasrepresentatives
from tenants and leaseholders and also a number of independent Board members.
This conforms to the model for ALMOs recommended by the Ministry of Housing
Communities and Local Government. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act
2006 and following the directions of the London Borough of Lewisham in general
meetings, the business of Lewisham Homes is managed by its Board.

7.4.

Articles of Association may be amended in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act. Amended Articles are filed with Companies House.

7.5.

A company’s Memorandum of Association states the objects for which the company is
formed. It contains the rights, privileges and powers of a company. It may be lawfully
amended in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act and if amended it is
then filed with Companies House.

7.6.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.7.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 242
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

7.8.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above.

7.9.

The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.

7.10.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the
Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/adviceand-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice and
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technicalguidance

7.11.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:






The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities
Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities
Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities

7.12.

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources
are available at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/publicsector-equality-duty-guidance#h1

8.

Equalities implications

8.1.

There are no anticipated equalities implications

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1.

There are no anticipated climate change and environmental implications.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

There are no anticipated crime and disorder implications.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 243
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

There are no anticipated health and wellbeing implications

12.

Appendices

12.1.

Appendix 1: “Proposed Articles.” This is a full version of the proposed new articles.

12.2.

Appendix 2: “Current articles versus proposed articles.” This contains a comparison of
the current articles and the proposed new articles.

13.

Background papers

13.1.

Lewisham Homes management agreement approved by Mayor and Cabinet on
22/03/17

13.2.

Lewisham Homes Governance Review. Approved by Mayor and Cabinet on 20/09/18

14.

Report author and contact

14.1.

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing, 020 8314 8632;
Fenella.Beckman@lewisham.gov.uk

14.2.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources:
Tony Riordan, principle accountant, 020 8314 6854, Tony.Riordan@lewisham.gov.uk

14.3.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance &HR
Petra De Man, principal lawyer; 020 8314 6440, Petra.DerMan@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 244
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Lewisham Homes Limited
Company No: 5887410
Incorporation date: 26 July 2006
The Companies Act 2006
___________________________________________
Company Limited by Guarantee
and not having a Share Capital
___________________________________________
Articles of Association
-ofLewisham Homes Limited
___________________________________________
1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
1.1. In these Articles unless the context otherwise requires:
the Act

Means the Companies Act 2006 and any statutory
modification or re-enactment thereof for the time
being in force.

the 1989 Act

Shall mean the Local Government and Housing Act
1989 as amended or re-enacted from time to time

the Articles

21.09.20

Means these Articles of Association as originally
adopted or as altered from time to time.

Board

Means the Board of Directors of the Organisation from
time to time.

Board Members

Means the directors for the time being of the
Organisation.

Chair

Means the Chair of the Organisation appointed
pursuant to Article 32.1 or in his absence any vice or
deputy Chair appointed pursuant to Article 32.3.

clear days

In relation to the period of a notice means that period
excluding the day when the notice is given or deemed
to be given and the day for which it is given or on
which it is to take effect.

Page 245

Council Board Member

Means a Board Member appointed by the London
Borough of Lewisham pursuant to Article 14.

executed

Means in relation to any contract, agreement or other
document consent thereto and includes any mode of
execution.

Independent Board
Member

Means a Board Member who is neither a Council
Board Member nor a Resident Board Member and
who is appointed pursuant to Article 15 (or 16 as the
case may be).

Leaseholder

Means an individual who either:
(i)

holds a lease of a residential property belonging
to the London Borough of Lewisham; or

(ii)

owns the freehold of a property on an estate
belonging to the London Borough of Lewisham
and pays service charges to the London
Borough of Lewisham,
and who occupies the property as their only or
main home.

Local Authority Person

21.09.20

Means any person:
(i)

who is a member of the London Borough of
Lewisham; or

(ii)

who is an officer of the London Borough of
Lewisham (which for these purposes shall not
include employees with non-managerial posts
apart from housing employees).

London Borough of
Lewisham

Means the London Borough of Lewisham or any
successor body thereto which shall be the sole
member of the Organisation.

Office

Means the registered office of the Organisation.

Order

shall mean the Local Authorities (Companies) Order
1995 as amended or re-enacted from time to time.

Resident

Means a Leaseholder or Tenant.

Resident Board
Member

Means a Board Member who is a Resident and who
is appointed pursuant to Article 15 (or 16 as the case
may be).

Tenant

Means an individual who holds a secure tenancy from
and occupies a property belonging to the London

Page 246

Borough of Lewisham or managed by Lewisham
Homes
the United Kingdom

Means Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

1.2.

Unless the context otherwise requires, words or expressions contained in
these regulations bear the same meaning as in the Act but excluding any
statutory modification thereof not in force when these regulations become
binding on the Organisation.

1.3.

In these Articles words importing individuals shall, unless the context
otherwise require, include corporations and words importing the singular
number shall include the plural, and vice versa and words importing the
masculine gender shall include the feminine gender.

2. GENERAL
2.1.

Name
The name of the company is Lewisham Homes Limited (the
Organisation).

2.2.

Registered Office
The Organisation’s registered office is to be located in England.

2.3.

Objects
The objects of the Organisation shall be to:

2.3.1.

acquire assets and provide, construct, improve or manage accommodation
including temporary accommodation and to do anything ancillary to this
activity to further support the business of the Organisation;

2.3.2.

provide, manage, maintain, improve, demolish or convert the housing
stock owned or managed by the London Borough of Lewisham (the
Council) or by the Organisation from time to time together with any other
amenities or facilities for the benefit of residents of such housing stock
either exclusively or together with persons who are not residents of such
housing stock;

2.3.3.

provide amenities and services of any description for residents of housing
stock owned or managed by the Council or by the Organisation from time
to time either exclusively or together with persons who are not residents of
such housing stock;

2.3.4.

provide advice and assistance to all tenants, leaseholders, and licensees,
of the Council or the Organisation and applicants for housing and
applicants for housing advice in respect of the Council’s housing;

21.09.20

Page 247

2.3.5.

carry out any activity which contributes to regeneration or development
including but not limited to:-

2.3.5.1.

securing that land and buildings are brought into effective use;

2.3.5.2.

contributing to or encouraging economic development;

2.3.5.3.

creating an attractive and safe environment;

2.3.5.4.

preventing crime or reducing the fear of crime;

2.3.5.5.

providing, constructing, managing, maintaining, demolishing or improving
housing or social and recreational facilities for the purpose of encouraging
people to live or work in the said area or for the purpose of benefiting
people who live there;

2.3.5.6.

providing employment for local people;

2.3.5.7.

providing or improving training, educational facilities or health services for
local people;

2.3.5.8.

assisting local people to make use of opportunities for education, training
or employment;

2.3.5.9.

meeting the special needs of local people which arise because of disability
or because of their sex or the racial group to which they belong.

2.3.6.

provide, construct, improve or manage housing (for sale on shared equity
or shared ownership or other similar basis) or to be kept available for letting
or hostels;

2.3.7.

provide, manage, maintain or improve accommodation required from time
to time for the benefit of persons who require temporary accommodation;

2.3.8.

provide services of any description for the Council,

2.3.9.

assess applicants for housing assistance;

2.3.10.

assess applications by residents of housing stock owned or managed by
the Council to exercise the right to buy under Part V of the Housing Act
1985;

2.3.11.

enabling or assisting any residents of the housing stock owned or managed
by either the Council or the Organisation to acquire, or to acquire and enter
into occupation of, houses;

2.3.12.

carry out any other business that may be carried out from time to time by
a private company limited by guarantee that is also an Arms Length
Management Organisation,

provided always that:

21.09.20

Page 248



its operations shall be carried out primarily within those areas in which
the London Borough of Lewisham owns or manages housing stock; and



from the date of adoption of the Articles, it obtains the London Borough
of Lewisham’s specific consent to carrying out any further business
outside those areas prior to starting such further business.

2.4.

POWERS

2.4.1.

Subject to Article 2.6 the Organisation shall have power to do any thing
that a natural or corporate person can lawfully do which is necessary or
expedient in furtherance with its objects unless prohibited by these Articles.

2.5.

Subject to Article 2.6 and without limiting the powers described in Article
2.4 the Organisation shall have power to:

2.5.1.

promote Resident participation in housing and estate management and to
encourage Resident and community empowerment;

2.5.2.

contract with the London Borough of Lewisham or any other person or
organisation in furtherance of its objects;

2.5.3.

subject to the prior written consent of the London Borough of Lewisham on
each occasion (and to such consents as may be required by law) borrow
money, issue loan stock or raise money and to secure the repayment of
any money borrowed raised or owing by such security as the Organisation
shall see fit (including by way of floating charge) upon the whole or any
part of the Organisation’s property or assets (whether present or future)
and also by giving similar security to secure and guarantee the
performance by the Organisation of any obligation or liability it may
undertake or which may become binding on it;

2.5.4.

insure and arrange insurance cover for the Organisation from and against
all such risks as the Board may think fit and to pay any premium in respect
of such insurance;

2.5.5.

insure and arrange insurance cover for and to indemnify its employees and
voluntary workers and the London Borough of Lewisham from and against
all such risks incurred in the proper performance of their duties as it shall
consider appropriate and to pay any premium in relation to indemnity
insurance in respect of liabilities of its Board Members or any of them which
would otherwise attach to them in respect of any negligence, default,
breach of duty or breach of trust of which they may be guilty in respect of
the Organisation PROVIDED THAT such insurance shall not extend to any
liability in respect of an act or omission which such Board Member or Board
Members knew or ought reasonably to have known was a breach of duty
or trust or which was committed by such Board Member or Board Members

21.09.20

Page 249

recklessly without due regard as to whether such act or omission might be
a breach of duty or trust;
2.5.6.

invest any monies of the Organisation not immediately required for the
furtherance of its objects as it determines and as permitted by law;

2.5.7.

subject to such consents as may be required by law and compliance with
all formal guidance issued by the Organisation’s regulators (if any) to
purchase or otherwise acquire or to encourage or promote and in any way
support or aid the establishment and development of any subsidiary, or
any other body established for the purposes of carrying on any trade or
business either for the purpose of raising funds for the Organisation or for
the furtherance of the objects of the Organisation;

2.5.8.

make donations, grants or loans or provide services or assistance to such
persons and organisations and on such terms as the Board shall think fit
to further the objects of the Organisation

2.5.9

PROVIDED THAT in case the Organisation shall take or hold any property
which may be subject to any trusts, the Organisation shall only deal with
or invest the same in such manner as allowed by law, having regard to
such trusts.

2.6.

The Organisation shall not do any act or thing which does or might cause
the Council to be in breach of the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities and any other statutory guidance which may
be issued under section 15 of the Local Government Act 2003.

2.7.

Application of Income and Property
The income and property of the Organisation shall be applied solely
towards the promotion of its objects as set forth in these Articles and no
portion thereof shall be paid or transferred, directly or indirectly, save as
provided below, by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise howsoever by way
of profit, to the London Borough of Lewisham PROVIDED THAT nothing
herein shall prevent any payment in good faith by the Organisation:-

2.7.1.

to Board Members or Committee Members of reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses in accordance with a policy determined from time to time by the
Board;

2.7.2.

to Board Members or Committee Members for their service of reasonable
and proper remuneration, fees, allowances or recompense for loss of
earnings and such other sums (subject to Article 2.7.1 above) as may be
determined by the Council Member , PROVIDED THAT no sum shall be
paid to a Board Member or a Committee Member who is an elected
member of the London Borough of Lewisham in excess of that permitted
by any guidance issued from time to time by the Department for
Communities and Local Government or such other of Her Majesty’s

21.09.20

Page 250

Government’s Departments relating to the payment of Board Members of
Arms Length Management Companies and PROVIDED FURTHER THAT
no sum shall be paid to a Board Member who is an elected member of the
London Borough of Lewisham in excess of that permitted by the Order;
2.7.3.

of reasonable and proper remuneration (including pensions, contributory
pension payments, payment of premiums to pension policies and terminal
grants and gratuities) to any officer or employee of the Organisation in
return for any services rendered to the Organisation;

2.7.4.

of fees, remuneration or other benefit in money or money's worth to a
company of which a Board Member or Committee Member may be a
member holding not more than 2% of the share capital of the company for
services provided to the Organisation;

2.7.5.

of reasonable and proper remuneration to the London Borough of
Lewisham or employees thereof (not being Board Members) in return for
any services rendered to the Organisation;

2.7.6.

of reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by the London
Borough of Lewisham;

2.7.7.

of reasonable and proper interest on money lent by the London Borough
of Lewisham
PROVIDED FURTHER THAT nothing shall prevent the Organisation from
managing a property in accordance with its objects (including the full range
of activities it may undertake) notwithstanding the fact that the tenant,
lessee or licensee (or prospective tenant, lessee or licensee) of such
property may be a Board Member SUBJECT TO the proviso that any Board
Member who is a beneficiary of the Organisation shall not be entitled to
speak in any debate or cast his/her vote in respect of any matter relating
solely to the property of which he/she is lessee, tenant or licensee and shall
absent himself/herself from such proceedings but such Board Member
shall be entitled to speak and vote in respect of matters which relate not
only to such property but also to other properties managed by the
Organisation.

2.8.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY
The Organisation shall at all times apply the principles of equality of
opportunity irrespective of age, gender, race, nationality, ethnic origin,
religion, sexual orientation or disability.

2.9.

LIMITED LIABILITY
The liability of the London Borough of Lewisham is limited.

2.10.

21.09.20

MEMBER GUARANTEE

Page 251

The London Borough of Lewisham undertakes to contribute to the assets
of the Organisation, in the event of the same being wound up while they
are a member of the Organisation, or within one year after they cease to
be a member of the Organisation, for payment of the debts and liabilities
of the Organisation contracted before they cease to be a member of the
Organisation, and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up, and
for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves,
such amount as may be required not exceeding one pound.
2.11.

WINDING UP
If, upon the winding up or dissolution of the Organisation, there remains,
after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities any property whatsoever,
the same shall be paid or transferred to the Housing Revenue Account (as
defined in the 1989 Act) of the London Borough of Lewisham.

ADMISSION OF MEMBERS
3.

No person other than the London Borough of Lewisham shall be admitted
to membership of the Organisation.

4.

The London Borough of Lewisham shall nominate a person to act as its
representative in the manner provided in Section 323 of the Act. Such
representative shall have the right on behalf of the London Borough of
Lewisham to attend meetings of the Organisation and vote thereat, and
generally exercise all rights of membership on behalf of the London
Borough of Lewisham. The London Borough of Lewisham may from time
to time revoke the nomination of such representative, and nominate
another representative in his place. All such nominations and revocations
shall be in writing. The London Borough of Lewisham shall notify the
Secretary of the identity of that person.

5.

The rights of the London Borough of Lewisham shall be personal and shall
not be transferable.

GENERAL MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS
6.

All general meetings other than annual general meetings shall be called
general meetings.

7.

The Board Members may call general meetings and, on the requisition of
the London Borough of Lewisham pursuant to the provisions of the Act,
shall forthwith proceed to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the Act. If there are not within the United Kingdom sufficient Board
Members to call a general meeting, any Board Member or the London
Borough of Lewisham may call a general meeting.

8.

Annual General Meetings

21.09.20

Page 252

8.1.

An Annual General Meeting and a General Meeting not called on the
requisition of the London Borough of Lewisham pursuant to Article 7 shall
be called by at least twenty-one clear days’ notice or by shorter notice if it
is so agreed by the London Borough of Lewisham.

8.2.

The notice shall specify the time and place of the Meeting and, in the case
of an Annual General Meeting, shall specify the Meeting as such.

8.3.

The notice shall be given to the London Borough of Lewisham and to the
Board Members and auditors.

9.

The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt
of notice of a meeting by, any person entitled to receive notice shall not
invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

10.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum
is present. The presence of a duly authorised representative of the London
Borough of Lewisham shall be a quorum.

11.

If the London Borough of Lewisham makes a decision which is required to
be taken in a general meeting or by means of a written resolution, that
decision shall be valid and effectual as if agreed by the Organisation in
general meeting. Any decision taken by the London Borough of Lewisham
pursuant to this Article 11 shall be recorded in writing and delivered by the
London Borough of Lewisham to the Company for entry in the Company’s
records.

12.

An entry stating that a resolution has been carried or lost in the minutes of
any meeting shall be conclusive evidence of the fact.

13.

NUMBER OF BOARD MEMBERS

13.1.

This Article 13 does not apply to any co-opted Board Members appointed
under Article 24.

13.1.1.

The number of Board Members shall be between five and twelve.

13.1.2.

Up to two Board Members shall be London Borough of Lewisham
nominees (Council Board Members).

13.1.3.

Up to Five Board Members shall be Resident Board Members. The Board
shall endeavour to ensure from time to time that one Resident Board
Member is a leaseholder.

13.1.4.

Up to Five Board Members shall be Independent Board Members.

13.2.

In the event that the number of Board Members shall be less than the
numbers specified in this Article 13 the remaining Board Members shall
use reasonable endeavours to appoint further Board Members as soon as
practicable. The Board may act notwithstanding this Article for up to twelve

21.09.20

Page 253

months, following which the Board Members’ only power shall be to appoint
enough Board Members to bring their number up to the minimum
mandated in Article 13.1.1.
13.3.

The First Board Members shall be those persons named in the statement
delivered pursuant to Section 10(2) of the Act who shall be deemed to have
been appointed under the Articles. Future Board Members shall be
appointed as provided in the Articles.

14.

APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF COUNCIL BOARD MEMBERS BY
LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM

14.1.

Subject to Article 17, the London Borough of Lewisham shall from time to
time appoint up to two Nominees as Board Members and shall have the
power to remove from office any such Board Member.

14.2.

Appointment or removal pursuant to Article 14.1 shall be effected by an
instrument in writing signed by the London Borough of Lewisham and shall
take effect upon lodgement at the registered office of the Organisation or
such date later than such lodgement as may be specified in the instrument.

14.3.

Notwithstanding any other provisions in these Articles the London Borough
of Lewisham shall have power at any time by notice in writing to the
Secretary to appoint and remove any Board Member.

15.

APPOINTMENT TO THE BOARD

15.1.

Subject to Article 14, all Board members shall be appointed and may be
removed by the Board in accordance with a policy adopted by the Board
from time to time.

15.2.

All Board members shall be appointed for a fixed term not exceeding 3
years expiring on the anniversary of their appointment. Any existing Board
member shall be deemed to have been appointed for the purpose of this
Article on the date of their initial appointment to the Board. The maximum
number of terms to be served by any Board member shall be 3. A Board
member’s letter of appointment may specify a shorter term. At the end of
each term the Board member shall retire from office, but may seek reappointment subject to other provisions contained in these Articles.

15.3.

Any retiring Board member having completed 9 years of continuous service
on the Board shall not be eligible for re-appointment until two years have
elapsed since the Board member’s retirement and the Board resolves to
re-appoint the Board member.

15.4.

The Board shall from time to time consider and agree a process for the
recruitment and selection of Board members to the Board.

CASUAL VACANCIES

21.09.20

Page 254

16.

Subject to Articles 13 to 15, the Board may appoint a person who is willing
to act to be a Board Member to fill a vacancy. The process of appointment
for the casual vacancies shall be decided by the Board from time to time
and an appointment made under casual vacancies shall be limited to 6
months.

17.

The Board may only fill vacancies occurring among London Borough of
Lewisham Nominees where the London Borough of Lewisham has failed
within three months of a written request by the Organisation to make the
appropriate appointments pursuant to Article 14.

18.

DISQUALIFICATION AND REMOVAL OF BOARD MEMBERS

18.1.

A person shall be ineligible for appointment to the Board and if already
appointed shall immediately cease to be a Board Member if the relevant
individual:-

18.1.1.

ceases to be a Board Member by virtue of any provision of the Act or
becomes prohibited by law from being a company director; or

18.1.2.

becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his
creditors generally; or

18.1.3.

is the subject of a written opinion given to the Organisation by a registered
medical practitioner who is treating that person stating that that person has
become physically or mentally incapable of acting as a board member and
may remain so for more than three months and the Board resolve that
his/her office be vacated as a result; or

18.1.4.

resigns his office by notice to the Organisation; or

18.1.5.

is removed from office by a resolution (or written notice signed by) at least
three quarters of all the other Board Members from time to time; or

18.1.6.

shall for more than six consecutive months have been absent without
permission of the Board from meetings of the Board held during that period
and the Board resolves that his office be vacated; or

18.1.7.

in any period of 12 months, he/she shall failed to attend 85% of relevant
meetings in contravention of the policy as agreed by Board and the Board
resolve that the office be vacated; or

18.1.8.

in the case of a Resident Board Member he/she ceases to be a Tenant or
Leaseholder of the London Borough of Lewisham PROVIDED THAT this
Article 18.1.8 shall not apply in respect of a Resident Board Member
temporarily ceasing to be a Tenant or Leaseholder as a result of the
demolition of or works carried out to that Resident Board Member’s home;
or

21.09.20

Page 255

18.1.9.

is a Resident and is (in the reasonable opinion of a majority of Board
Members) in serious breach of their obligations as a Tenant or Leaseholder
for example because the Council has obtained a possession order against
him or her; or

18.1.10.

is a Council Board Member and is or becomes a Tenant or Leaseholder
leading to a breach of the limit in Article 13.1.

18.1.11.

is a Resident Board Member and is or becomes a Local Authority Person
leading to a breach of the limit in Article 13.1; or

18.1.12.

is an Independent Board Member and is or becomes a Tenant,
Leaseholder or a Local Authority Person; or

18.1.13.

is removed by resolution of the London Borough of Lewisham pursuant to
Article 14.

19.

A Board Member who is being investigated for serious misconduct may be
suspended by the Chair (or in the event that the Chair is being investigated,
following a majority decision of the Board) for such period as the Chair (or
the Board as the case may be) may determine. The suspension shall be
on such terms and conditions as the Chair (or the Board as the case may
be) shall think fit and may include restriction of access to board meetings
and board reports.

POWERS OF THE BOARD
20.

Subject to the provisions of the Act, directions of the London Borough of
Lewisham in general meeting or by written resolution and the Articles, the
business of the Organisation shall be managed by the Board who may
exercise all the powers of the Organisation. No alteration of the Articles or
directions of the London Borough of Lewisham shall invalidate any prior
act of the Board which would have been valid if that alteration had not been
made or those directions had not been given. The powers given by this
Article shall not be limited by any special power given to the Board by the
Articles and a meeting of the Board at which a quorum is present may
exercise all powers exercisable by the Board.

21.

The Board may, by power of attorney or otherwise, appoint any person to
be the agent of the Organisation for such purposes and on such conditions
as they determine, including authority for the agent to delegate all or any
of his powers.

BORROWING POWERS
22.

21.09.20

Subject to Articles 2.5.3 and 2.6 the Board may exercise the powers of
the Organisation to borrow money upon such terms and in such manner
as they think fit, and to grant any mortgage, charge or other security over
its undertaking and property, or any part thereof, and to issue any

Page 256

debenture, whether outright or as security for any debt, liability or obligation
of the Organisation or of any third party.
DELEGATION OF BOARD MEMBERS' POWERS
23.

The Board may delegate any of their powers to any committee consisting
of two or more Board Members together with such other persons as the
Board sees fit (with each such person having voting rights in relation to the
committee’s business but so that Board Members shall constitute a
majority). They may also delegate to the Chair/or any vice or deputy Chair
or to any executive officer such of their powers as they consider desirable
to be exercised by him/her. Any such delegation may be made subject to
any conditions the Board may impose, and either collaterally with or to the
exclusion of their own powers and may be revoked or altered. Subject to
any such conditions, the proceedings of a committee with two or more
members shall be governed by the Articles regulating the proceedings of
the Board so far as they are capable of applying.

CO-OPTION
24.

Subject to a maximum of 5, the Board may co-opt any person with suitable
skills, in a non-voting capacity onto the Board. The Board may place any
limitation on or revoke the co-option at any time. The same principle shall
apply to the co-option of additional individuals to a committee and shall be
subject to any additional criteria as laid down in the committee’s terms of
reference.

ALTERNATE BOARD MEMBERS
25.

No Board Member shall be entitled to appoint any person as an alternate
Board Member.
BOARD MEMBERS' EXPENSES

26.

21.09.20

The Board Members may be paid all travelling, hotel, and other expenses
reasonably and properly incurred by them in connection with their
attendance at meetings of the Board or committees of the Board or general
meetings or otherwise in connection with the discharge of their duties and
such other sums as may be determined by the Board PROVIDED THAT
no sums shall be paid to a Board Member in excess of that which would
be permitted to be paid to a board member pursuant to any guidance
issued from time to time by the Department for Communities and Local
Government or such other of Her Majesty’s Government’s Departments
relating to the payment of Board Members of Arms Length Management
Companies and PROVIDED FURTHER THAT no sum shall be paid to a
Board Member who is an elected member of the London Borough of
Lewisham in excess of that permitted by the Order.

Page 257

BOARD MEMBERS' APPOINTMENTS AND INTERESTS
27.

A Board Member may not have any financial interest personally or as a
member of a firm or as a director or senior employee (being an employee
with managerial status) or in any contract or other transaction of the
Organisation unless it is permitted by these Articles and is not prohibited
by Article 2.6.

28.

Each Board Member shall ensure that the Secretary has at all times an up
to date list of all bodies trading in which he or she has an interest as:

28.1.

a director or senior employee,

28.2.

a member of a firm,

28.3.

the owner or controller of more than 2% of the issued share capital in a
company,

28.4.

all interests as an official or elected member of any statutory body;

28.5.

all interests as the occupier of any property owned or managed by the
Organisation;

28.6.

any other significant or material interest.

29.

PROCEEDINGS OF BOARD MEETINGS

29.1.

Subject to any regulations established from time to time by the
Organisation in general meeting and compliance with Section 10(1) of the
Local Authorities (Companies Order 1995) the Board may regulate their
proceedings as they think fit and by any medium that allows those
attending to hear and comment on the proceedings and identify one
another. Any person attending a meeting in this way shall be deemed to
be present at the meeting.

29.2.

The quorum for the transaction of the business of the Board at the time
when the meeting proceeds to business shall be six comprising no fewer
than one Resident Board Member, one Independent Board Member and
one Council Board Member or duly authorised representative of the
Council (and such a duly authorised representative shall attend as an
observer and may take part in discussions but shall not have a vote),
PROVIDED THAT if the number of Board Members in one or more
category of Board Member falls below two then the quorum requirement
shall be reduced to one or none (as remain in office) in respect of such
category or categories.

29.3.

One third of the total number of Board Members (or such whole number of
Board Members nearest to one third ) may call a meeting of the Board. It

21.09.20

Page 258

shall not be necessary to give notice of a meeting to a Board Member who
is absent from the United Kingdom.
29.4.

If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for a
Board Meeting the Board Meeting shall, if requested by a majority of those
Board Members present, be adjourned to the same day in the next week
at the same time and place or to such other day and at such other time and
place as the Board Members present may determine.

29.5.

If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour from
the time appointed for the meeting then notwithstanding Article 29.2 the
Board Members present shall constitute a quorum.

30.

Resolutions of the Board shall be decided by a majority of votes and each
Board Member present in person shall be entitled to one vote. In the case
of an equality of votes, the Chair shall have a second or casting vote.

31.

AUTHORISATION OF BOARD MEMBERS’ INTERESTS

31.1.

Any Board Member having an interest in any arrangement between the
Organisation and another person or body shall disclose that interest to the
meeting before the matter is discussed by the Board or committee of the
Board. Unless the interest is of the type specified in Articles 31.2 or 31.3
the Board Member concerned shall not remain present during the
discussion of that item unless requested to do so by the remaining
members of the Board or committee of the Board. Unless permitted by
31.2 or 31.3 the Board Member concerned may not vote on the matter in
question, but no decision of the Board or any committee of the Board shall
be invalidated by the subsequent discovery of an interest which should
have been declared.

31.2.

Provided the interest has been properly disclosed pursuant to Article 31.1
a Board Member may remain present during the discussion and may vote
on the matter under discussion where the interest arises because:

31.2.1.

the Board Member is a Tenant or Leaseholder, so long as the matter in
question affects all or a substantial group of Tenants or Leaseholders as
appropriate; or

31.2.2.

the Board Member is a director or other officer of a company or body which
is a parent, subsidiary or associate of the Organisation; or

31.2.3.

the Board Member is an official or elected member of any statutory body.

31.3.

A Board Member shall not be treated as having an interest:

31.3.1.

of which the Board Member has no knowledge and of which it is
unreasonable to expect him/her to have knowledge;

21.09.20

Page 259

31.3.2.

in the establishment of a policy in respect of Board Member expenses
payable pursuant to Article 26.

31.4.

If an actual or potential conflict of interest arises for a Board Member other
than in relation to a transaction or arrangement with the Organisation and
the conflict is not authorised by virtue of any other provisions of the Articles,
the unconflicted Board Members may authorise such a conflict of interests
provided that

31.4.1.

any conflicted Board Member does not count in the quorum for such
authorisation and

31.4.2.

the unconflicted Board Members consider it is in the interests of the
Organisation to authorise the conflict of interest in the circumstances
applying.

31

If a question arises at a meeting of the Board or of a committee of the
Board as to the right of a Board Member to vote, the question may, before
the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the Chair of the meeting and
his/her ruling in relation to any Board Member other than himself/herself
shall be final and conclusive. If a question arises at a meeting of the Board
or a committee of the Board as to the right of the chair of the meeting to
vote, the rest of the Board shall rule on this question and their majority
decision shall be final and conclusive.

32.

APPOINTMENT OF THE CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR OF THE BOARD

32.1.

The chair shall be such person appointed by the Board members as such
remuneration upon such conditions and pursuant to such selection
procedure as the board may think fit and with the prior written consent of
the Council.

32.2.

Subject to the provisions of Article 32.1 the chair shall serve a term of 3
years; the term may be extended at the discretion of the board for up to a
further 1 term. No person shall serve as chair for more than 6 years.

32.3.

Unless he/she is unwilling to do so, the Board Member so appointed shall
preside at every meeting of the Board at which he/she is present but if
there is no Board Member holding that office, or if the Board Member
holding it is unwilling to preside or is not present within five minutes after
the time appointed for the meeting, the Board Members present may
appoint one of their number to be Chair of the meeting.

32.4.

The Board may appoint a vice or deputy Chair to act in the absence of the
Chair on such terms as the Board shall think fit.

33.

All acts done by a meeting of the Board, or of a committee of the Board or
by a person acting as a Board Member shall, notwithstanding that it be
afterwards discovered that there was a defect in the appointment of any

21.09.20

Page 260

Board Member or that any of them were disqualified from holding office, or
had vacated office, or were not entitled to vote, be as valid as if every such
person had been duly appointed and was qualified and had continued to
be a Board Member and had been entitled to vote.
WRITTEN RESOLUTION
34.

A resolution in writing signed or otherwise confirmed (which may include
by electronic means) by:

34.1.

three quarters of all the Board Members entitled to receive notice of a
meeting of the Board or of a committee of the Board; and

34.2.

the Chair of the Board or of the relevant committee; and

34.3.

which satisfies the quorum requirements of Article 29 shall be as valid and
effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board or (as the case
may be) a committee of the Board duly convened and held and may consist
of several documents in the like form each signed or confirmed by one or
more Board Members.

SECRETARY
35.

Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Secretary and any deputy or
alternate Secretary shall be appointed by the Board for such term, at such
remuneration and upon such conditions as they may think fit and any
Secretary so appointed may be removed by them.

MINUTES
36.

The Board shall cause minutes to be made in records kept for the purpose:-

36.1.

of all appointments of officers made by the Board Members; and

36.2.

of all proceedings at meetings of the Organisation and of the Board, and
of committees of the Board and of the London Borough of Lewisham in its
capacity as the sole member of the Organisation, including the names of
the Board Members present at each such meeting.

RECORDS ACCOUNTS AND RETURNS
37.

21.09.20

The Organisation shall comply with the provisions of Part VII of the Act in
respect of:-

Page 261

37.1.

the keeping and auditing of accounting records;

37.2.

the provision of accounts and annual reports of the directors; and

37.3.

making an annual return.

38.

THE SEAL

38.1.

If the Organisation has a seal it shall only be used with the specific or
general authority of the Board or of a committee of the Board. The Board
may determine who shall sign any instrument to which the seal is affixed
and unless otherwise so determined it shall be signed by a Board Member
and by the Secretary or a second Board Member.

38.2.

The Organisation may exercise the powers conferred by Section 39 of the
Act with regard to having an official seal for use abroad, and such powers
shall be vested in the Board Members.

NOTICES
39.

Any notice to be given to or by any person pursuant to the Articles may be
sent by hand, by post or suitable electronic means except that a notice
calling a meeting of the Board or of a committee of the Board may be called
in any other way which gives Board Members’ notice of the meeting.

40.

Notice given by post to the London Borough of Lewisham either personally
or by sending it by post in a prepaid envelope addressed to the London
Borough of Lewisham at their registered address or by leaving it at that
address.

41.

The London Borough of Lewisham present by duly authorised
representative at any meeting of the Organisation shall be deemed to have
received notice of the meeting and, where requisite, of the purposes for
which it was called.

42.

Any notice given in accordance with these Articles is to be treated for all
purposes as having been received

42.1.

immediately upon receipt if sent by electronic means or delivered by hand
to the relevant address

42.2.

two clear days after being sent by first class post to that address

42.3.

three clear days after being sent by second class or overseas post to that
address

42.4.

on being handed to the London Borough of Lewisham’s duly authorised
representative personally or in any of the cases above if earlier as soon as

21.09.20

Page 262

the London Borough of Lewisham’s duly authorised representative
acknowledges actual receipt.
43.

INDEMNITY

43.1.

Every Board Member or other officer of the Organisation shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Organisation against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto, including any liability
incurred by him/her in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgement is given in his/her favour or in which he/she is acquitted
or in connection with any application under Section 1157 of the Act in which
relief is granted to him/her and no Board Member or other officer shall be
liable for any loss, damage or misfortune which may happen to or be
incurred by the Organisation in the execution of the duties of his/her office
or in relation thereto PROVIDED THAT this Article shall only have effect in
so far as its provisions are not avoided by Section 232 of the Act.

43.2.

The Board shall have power to purchase and maintain for any Board
Member or officer of the Organisation insurance against any such liability
as is referred to in Section 232 of the Act.
OTHER GOVERNING REGULATIONS

44.

21.09.20

In addition to the rules herein, the Board shall be governed by and shall
comply with all relevant rules applicable to the Company and/or the
Companies activities, whether such rules emanate from relevant
legislation, regulations, policies or otherwise and as such rules apply from
time to time.

Page 263

Style Definition: Normal

The Companies Act 1985 and 1989

Style Definition: Header: Font: Times New Roman
Style Definition: Footer: Font: Times New Roman

Lewisham Homes Limited
Company No: 5887410
Incorporation date: 26 July 2006

Style Definition: Level 1: Tab stops: Not at 2.54 cm
Style Definition: Level 2
Style Definition: Level 3
Style Definition: Level 4
Style Definition: No Heading 3 Text

No. 5887410

Style Definition: Balloon Text
Style Definition: Comment Text

The Companies Act 19852006
___________________________________________
Company Limited by Guarantee
and not having a Share Capital
___________________________________________

Style Definition: Level 5
Style Definition: Body 4
Style Definition: Level 7: Outline numbered + Level: 7 +
Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at: 1.78 cm + Tab after: 3.56 cm + Indent at: 3.56
cm
Style Definition: Body 5
Style Definition: Level 8

MemorandumArticles of Association
-of-

Style Definition: Document Map
Formatted: Left: 3.17 cm, Right: 3.17 cm, Top: 2.54 cm,
Width: 21 cm, Height: 29.7 cm, Header distance from edge:
1.25 cm, Footer distance from edge: 1.25 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Lewisham Homes Limited
___________________________________________

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Underline

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Formatted: Normal, Space After: 12 pt

1.1. In these Articles unless the context otherwise requires:
the Act

Means the Companies Act 2006 and any statutory
modification or re-enactment thereof for the time
being in force.

the 1989 Act

Shall mean the Local Government and Housing Act
1989 as amended or re-enacted from time to time

the Articles

Means these Articles of Association as originally
adopted or as altered from time to time.

Board

Means the Board of Directors of the Organisation from
time to time.

Board Members

Means the directors for the time being of the
Organisation.

Chair

Means the Chair of the Organisation appointed
pursuant to Article 32.1 or in his absence any vice or
deputy Chair appointed pursuant to Article 32.3.

12.5.16

Page 264

clear days

In relation to the period of a notice means that period
excluding the day when the notice is given or deemed
to be given and the day for which it is given or on
which it is to take effect.

Council Board Member

Means a Board Member appointed by the London
Borough of Lewisham pursuant to Article 14.

executed

Means in relation to any contract, agreement or other
document consent thereto and includes any mode of
execution.

Independent Board
Member

Means a Board Member who is neither a Council
Board Member nor a Resident Board Member and
who is appointed pursuant to Article 15 (or 16 as the
case may be).

Leaseholder

Means an individual who either:
(i)

holds a lease of a residential property belonging
to the London Borough of Lewisham; or

(ii)

owns the freehold of a property on an estate
belonging to the London Borough of Lewisham
and pays service charges to the London
Borough of Lewisham,
and who occupies the property as their only or
main home.

Local Authority Person

Means any person:
(i)

who is a member of the London Borough of
Lewisham; or

(ii)

who is an officer of the London Borough of
Lewisham (which for these purposes shall not
include employees with non-managerial posts
apart from housing employees).

London Borough of
Lewisham

Means the London Borough of Lewisham or any
successor body thereto which shall be the sole
member of the Organisation.

Office

Means the registered office of the Organisation.

Order

shall mean the Local Authorities (Companies) Order
1995 as amended or re-enacted from time to time.

Resident

Means a Leaseholder or Tenant.

12.5.16

Page 265

Resident Board
Member

Means a Board Member who is a Resident and who
is appointed pursuant to Article 15 (or 16 as the case
may be).

Tenant

Means an individual who holds a secure tenancy from
and occupies a property belonging to the London
Borough of Lewisham or managed by Lewisham
Homes

the United Kingdom

Means Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

1.2.

Unless the context otherwise requires, words or expressions contained in
these regulations bear the same meaning as in the Act but excluding any
statutory modification thereof not in force when these regulations become
binding on the Organisation.

1.3.

In these Articles words importing individuals shall, unless the context
otherwise require, include corporations and words importing the singular
number shall include the plural, and vice versa and words importing the
masculine gender shall include the feminine gender.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left

2. GENERAL

1.2.1.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not All caps

Name

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.2.2.

The name of the company is Lewisham Homes Limited (the
Organisation).

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 2 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm,
Left

Registered Office

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not Bold

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not All caps

The Organisation’s registered office is to be located in England.

3.2.3.

Objects

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The objects of the Organisation shall be in the areas where the London

Borough of Lewisham (the Council) own or manage housing stock
to:to:
2.3.1.

2.3.2.

(1)
acquire assets and provide, construct, improve
or manage accommodation including temporary accommodation and to do
anything ancillary to this activity to further support the business of the
Organisation;
provide, manage, maintain, improve, demolish or convert the housing
stock owned or managed by the London Borough of Lewisham (the
Council) or by the Organisation from time to time together with any other
amenities or facilities for the benefit of residents of such housing stock
either exclusively or together with persons who are not residents of such
housing stock;

12.5.16

Page 266

Formatted: Indent: Left: 2 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not All caps
Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Indent: Left: 2 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.25 cm + Indent
at: 3.14 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 1.27 cm + 2.22
cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.3.3.

2.3.4.

2.3.5.

(2)

provide amenities and services of any description for residents of
housing stock owned or managed by the Council or by the Organisation
from time to time either exclusively or together with persons who are not
residents of such housing stock;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

(3)

provide advice and assistance to all tenants, leaseholders, and
licensees, of the Council or the Organisation and applicants for housing
and applicants for housing advice in respect of the Council’s housing;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

(4)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

carry out any activity which contributes to the regeneration or
development in the area of the Council (within the meaning of Section

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

126 of the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996)
including but not limited to:-

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.3.5.1.

(a) securing that land and buildings are brought into effective use;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.3.5.2.

(b) contributing to or encouraging economic development;

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

2.3.5.3.

(c) creating an attractive and safe environment;

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

(d) preventing crime or reducing the fear of crime;

2.3.5.4.

or,
providing
constructing,
managing,
maintaining, demolishing or
improving housing or social and recreational
facilities for the purpose of encouraging people to live or work in the said area or
for the purpose of benefiting people who live there;

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

2.3.5.6.

(f) providing employment for local people;

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

2.3.5.7.

(g) providing or improving training, educational facilities or health services for

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

2.3.5.5.

(e)

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

local people;

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

2.3.5.8.

(h)

assisting local people to make use of opportunities for
education, training or employment;

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

2.3.5.9.

(i)

meeting the special needs of local people which
arise because of disability or because of their sex or the racial group to
which they belong.

Formatted: No Heading 3 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

(5)

provide, construct, improve or manage housing (for sale
on shared equity or shared ownership or other similar basis) or to be kept
available for letting or hostels;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.3.7.

(6)

provide, manage, maintain or improve accommodation
required from time to time for the benefit of persons who require temporary
accommodation;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.3.8.

(7)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.3.6.

provide services of any description for the Council;,

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 267

2.3.9.

(8)

2.3.10.

(9)

assess applications by residents of housing stock owned
or managed by the Council to exercise the right to buy under Part V of the
Housing Act 1985;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.3.11.

(10)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

assess applicants for housing assistance;

enabling or assisting any residents of the housing stock
owned or managed by either the Council or the Organisation to acquire, or
to acquire and enter into occupation of, houses. ;

2.3.12.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

carry out any other business that may be carried out from time to time by
a private company limited by guarantee that is also an Arms Length
Management Organisation,

provided always that:


its operations shall be carried out primarily within those areas in which
the London Borough of Lewisham owns or manages housing stock; and



from the date of adoption of the Articles, it obtains the London Borough
of Lewisham’s specific consent to carrying out any further business
outside those areas prior to starting such further business.

4.2.4.

POWERS

2.4.1.

Subject to Clause Article 2.6 the Organisation shall have power to do any
thing that a natural or corporate person can lawfully do which is necessary
or expedient in furtherance ofwith its objects unless prohibited by this
Memorandumthese Articles.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Subject to Clause Article 2.6 and without limiting the powers described in
Clause Article 2.4 the Organisation shall have power to:

2.5.

(1)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

carry out works to land, buildings or other property;

2.5.1.

(2)
promote tenantResident participation in housing
and estate management and to encourage tenantResident and
community empowerment;

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.25 cm + Indent
at: 3.14 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 1.27 cm + 4.13
cm

2.5.2.

(3)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

contract with the Council MemberLondon Borough of
Lewisham or any other person or organisation in furtherance of its objects;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.5.3.

(4)

subject to the prior written consent of the Council
Member London Borough of Lewisham on each occasion (and to such
consents as may be required by law to) borrow money, issue loan stock
or raise money in such manner as the Organisation shall think fit and
to secure the repayment of any money borrowed raised or owing by such

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 268

security as the Organisation shall see fit (including by way of floating
charge) upon the whole or any part of the Organisation’s property or assets
(whether present or future) and also by giving similar security to secure
and guarantee the performance by the Organisation of any obligation or
liability it may undertake or which may become binding on it;

2.5.4.

(5)

2.5.5.

(6)

insure and arrange insurance cover for the Organisation from
and against all such risks as the Board may think fit and to pay any premium in
respect of such insurance;
insure and arrange insurance cover for and to indemnify
its employees and voluntary workers and the Council MemberLondon
Borough of Lewisham from and against all such risks incurred in the proper
performance of their duties as it shall consider appropriate and to pay any
premium in relation to indemnity insurance in respect of liabilities of its
Board Members or any of them which would otherwise attach to them in
respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust of
which they may be guilty in respect of the Organisation PROVIDED THAT
such insurance shall not extend to any liability in respect of an act or
omission which such Board Member or Board Members knew or ought
reasonably to have known was a breach of duty or trust or which was
committed by such Board Member or Board Members recklessly without
due regard as to whether such act or omission might be a breach of duty
or trust;

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.25 cm + Indent
at: 3.14 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 4.13 cm
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.5.6.

(7)
invest any monies of the Organisation not
immediately required for the furtherance of its objects as it determines and
as permitted by law;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.5.7.

(8)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.5.8.

(9)
subject to the prior written consent of the Council
Member, make donations, grants or loans or provide services or
assistance to such persons and Organisationsorganisations and on such
terms as the OrganisationBoard shall think fit to further the objects of the

2.5.9

subject to such consents as may be required by law and
compliance with all formal guidance issued by the Organisation’s
regulators (if any) to purchase or otherwise acquire or to encourage or
promote and in any way support or aid the establishment and development
of any subsidiary, or any other body established for the purposes of
carrying on any trade or business either for the purpose of raising funds for
the Organisation or for the furtherance of the objects of the Organisation;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Organisation

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

PROVIDED THAT in case the Organisation shall take or hold any property
which may be subject to any trusts, the Organisation shall only deal with

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 269

or invest the same in such manner as allowed by law, having regard to
such trusts.

The Organisation shall not, without the prior written consent of the
Council Member, have the power to:
(1)

receive a sum which, if it were a local authority, would be
a capital receipt;

(2)

receive consideration to which, if it were a local authority,
Section 61 of the 1989 Act would apply;

(3)

receive a sum by way of grant from a European Union
institution to which, if it were a local authority, Section 63(4)
of the 1989 Act would apply;

(4)

enter into a credit transaction (as defined by Article 12(2)
of the Order);

(5)

with respect to a credit transaction agree to a variation of
terms which, if it were a local authority, would be a variation
within the meaning of Section 51(1) of the 1989 Act;

(6)

incur additional liabilities within the meaning of Article 16
of the Order; or

(7)

reduce its liabilities within the meaning of Article 16 of the
Order.

2.6.

(8)
cause the same or similar effect under the
provisions of the Local Government Act 2003 and regulations there
under to the extent that the said Act replaces the provisions
rehearsed in sub-clause (1) – (7) above and in particular, theThe
Organisation shall not do any act or thing which does or might cause the
Council to be in breach of the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance
in Local Authorities and any other statutory guidance which may be issued
under section 15 of the Local Government Act 2003.

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent
at: 1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 1.27 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 11.5 pt, Italic

5.2.7.

Application of Income and Property

12.5.16

Page 270

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not All caps

The income and property of the Organisation shall be applied solely
towards the promotion of its objects as set forth in the Memorandum of
Associationthese Articles and no portion thereof shall be paid or
transferred, directly or indirectly, save as provided below, by way of
dividend, bonus or otherwise howsoever by way of profit, to the Council

Member and no Board Member shall be appointed to any office of
the Organisation paid by salary or fees or receive any remuneration
or other benefit or money or money's worth from the
OrganisationLondon Borough of Lewisham PROVIDED THAT nothing

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Indent: Left: 2 cm, Tab stops: Not at 1.9 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

herein shall prevent any payment in good faith by the Organisation:-

(1)

(2)

2.7.1.

2.7.2.

2.7.3.

Of reasonable and proper remuneration (including
pensions, contributory pension payments, payment of
premiums to pension policies and terminal grants and
gratuities) to any officer or employee of the Organisation
(not being a Board Member) in return for any services
rendered to the Organisation;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Of fees, remuneration or other benefit in money or money's
worth to a company of which a Board Member may be a
member holding not more than 2% of the share capital of
the company;

(3)
To any Board Member Members or Committee
Members of reasonable out-of -pocket expenses in accordance with a
policy determined from time to time by the Board;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

to Board Members or Committee Members for their service of reasonable
and proper remuneration, fees, allowances or recompense for loss of
earnings and such other sums (subject to Article 2.7.1 above) as may be
determined by the Council Member , PROVIDED THAT no sum shall be
paid to a Board Member or a Committee Member who is an elected
member of the London Borough of Lewisham in excess of that permitted
by any guidance issued from time to time by the Department for
Communities and Local Government or such other of Her Majesty’s
Government’s Departments relating to the payment of Board Members of
Arms Length Management Companies and PROVIDED FURTHER THAT
no sum shall be paid to a Board Member who is an elected member of the
Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham in excess of that permitted
by the Order;

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.25 cm + Indent
at: 3.14 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 1.59 cm + 3.81
cm

(4)

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

Ofof reasonable and proper remuneration (including
pensions, contributory pension payments, payment of premiums to
pension policies and terminal grants and gratuities) to any officer or
employee of the CouncilOrganisation in return for any services rendered
to the Organisation;

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 271

2.7.4.

of fees, remuneration or other benefit in money or money's worth to a
company of which a Board Member or Committee Member may be a
member holding not more than 2% of the share capital of the company for
services provided to the Organisation;

2.7.5.

of reasonable and proper remuneration to the London Borough of
Lewisham or employees thereof (not being Board Members) in return for
any services rendered to the Organisation;

2.7.6.

(5)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.25 cm + Indent
at: 3.14 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 3.81 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.7.7.

6.
2.8.

7.2.9.

Ofof reasonable and proper rent for premises demised
or let by the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham;

(6)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Ofof reasonable and proper interest on money lent by
the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

PROVIDED FURTHER THAT nothing shall prevent the Organisation from
managing a property in accordance with its objects (including the full range
of activities it may undertake) notwithstanding the fact that the tenant,
lessee or licensee (or prospective tenant, lessee or licensee) of such
property may be a Board Member SUBJECT TO the proviso that any Board
Member who is a beneficiary of the Organisation shall not be entitled to
speak in any debate or cast his/her vote in respect of any matter relating
solely to the property of which he/she is lessee, tenant or licensee and shall
absent himself/herself from such proceedings but such Board Member
shall be entitled to speak and vote in respect of matters which relate not
only to such property but also to other properties managed by the
Organisation.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 2 cm, Tab stops: 2.25 cm, Left +
Not at 1.9 cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11 pt

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY
The Organisation shall at all times take into considerationapply the
principles of equality of opportunity irrespective of age, gender, race,
nationality, ethnic origin, religion, sexual orientation or disability.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

LIMITED LIABILITY

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left

The liability of the Council Member London Borough of Lewisham is
limited.

8.2.10.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

MEMBERSMEMBER GUARANTEE

Formatted: Indent: Left: 2 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left: 2 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not
at 2.54 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham undertakes to
contribute to the assets of the Organisation, in the event of the same being
wound up while they are a member of the Organisation, or within one year
after they cease to be a member of the Organisation, for payment of the
debts and liabilities of the Organisation contracted before they cease to be
a member of the Organisation, and of the costs, charges and expenses of

12.5.16

Page 272

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Indent: Left: 2 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

winding up, and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories among
themselves, such amount as may be required not exceeding one pound.

9.2.11.

WINDING UP
If, upon the winding up or dissolution of the Organisation, there remains,
after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities any property whatsoever,
the same shall be paid or transferred to the Housing Revenue Account (as
defined in the 1989 Act) of the Council MemberLondon Borough of
Lewisham.

10.

DEFINITIONS
(a)

“Order” shall mean the Local Authorities (Companies)
Order 1995 as amended or re-enacted from time to time;

(b)

“the 1989 Act” shall mean the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989 as amended or re-enacted from time to
time;

(c)

terms defined in the Articles of Association of the
Organisation shall have the same meaning in this
Memorandum of Association.

12.5.16

Page 273

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Keep with next, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Indent: Left: 2 cm, Keep with next

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2.5 Articles of Association - Lewisham Homes
No. 5887410
The Companies Act 1985
___________________________________________
Company Limited by Guarantee
and not having a Share Capital
___________________________________________
Articles of Association
of
Lewisham Homes Limited

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
11.

In the Articles unless the context otherwise requires:
the Act

Means the Companies Act 1985 (as amended by
the Companies Act 1989) and any statutory
modification or re-enactment thereof for the time
being in force.

the Articles

Means these Articles of Association as originally
adopted or as altered from time to time.

Board

Means the Board of Directors of the Organisation
from time to time.

Board Members

Means the directors for the time being of the
Organisation.

Chair

Means the Chair of the Organisation appointed
pursuant to Article 31.1 or in his absence any vice
or deputy Chair appointed pursuant to Article
31.3.

clear days

In relation to the period of a notice means that
period excluding the day when the notice is given
or deemed to be given and the day for which it is
given or on which it is to take effect.

12.5.16

Page 274

Council Board
Member

Means a Board Member appointed by the Council
Member pursuant to Article 14.

Council Member

Means the London Borough of Lewisham or any
successor body thereto which shall be the sole
member of the Organisation.

executed

Means in relation to any contract, agreement or
other document consent thereto and includes any
mode of execution.

Independent Board
Member

Means a Board Member appointed pursuant to
Article 16.

Leaseholder

Means an individual who either:

Local Authority
Person

(i)

holds a lease of a residential property
belonging to the Council Member; or

(ii)

owns the freehold of a property on an
estate belonging to the Council Member
and pays service charges to the Council
Member.

Means any person:
(i)

who is a member of the Council Member; or

(ii)

who is an officer of the Council Member
(which for these purposes shall not include
employees with non-managerial posts
apart from housing employees).

Office

Means the registered office of the Organisation.

Resident

Means a Leaseholder or Tenant.

the seal

Means the common seal of the Organisation.

Secretary

Means the secretary of the Organisation or any
other person appointed to perform the duties of
the secretary of the Organisation, including a
joint, assistant or deputy secretary.

Tenant

Means an individual who holds a secure tenancy
or long lease of a residential property from and
occupies a property belonging to the Council
Member.

12.5.16

Page 275

2.

Tenant Board
Member

Means a Board Member appointed pursuant to
Article 15.

Resident Board
Member

Means a Tenant Board Member or a Leaseholder
Board Member appointed pursuant to Article 15

the United Kingdom

Means Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

(1)

(2)

Unless the context otherwise requires, words or expressions
contained in these regulations bear the same meaning as in
the Act but excluding any statutory modification thereof not
in force when these regulations become binding on the
Organisation.
In these Articles words importing individuals shall, unless
the context otherwise require, include corporations and
words importing the singular number shall include the plural,
and vice versa and words importing the masculine gender
shall include the feminine gender.

ADMISSION OF MEMBERS
3.

ADMISSION OF MEMBERS
3.

4.

5.

No person other than the Council Member London Borough of Lewisham
shall be admitted to membership of the Organisation.
The Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham shall nominate a
person to act as its representative in the manner provided in Section
375323 of the Act. Such representative shall have the right on behalf of
the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham to attend meetings of
the Organisation and vote thereat, and generally exercise all rights of
The Council
membership on behalf of the Council Member.
MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham. The London Borough of
Lewisham may from time to time revoke the nomination of such
representative, and nominate another representative in his place. All such
nominations and revocations shall be in writing. The London Borough of
Lewisham shall notify the Secretary of the identity of that person.
The rights of the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham shall be
personal and shall not be transferable.

GENERAL MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 1.9 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1.78 cm,
Space After: 0 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not Bold, No underline

12.5.16

Page 276

6.

7.

6.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Meetings no longer exist.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 1.9 cm

All general meetings other than annual general meetings shall
be called general meetings. NB New Companies Act – Extraordinary

The Board Members may call general meetings and, on the requisition of
the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham pursuant to the
provisions of the Act, shall forthwith proceed to convene a general meeting
for a date not later than eight weeks after receipt of the requisitionin
accordance with the Act. If there are not within the United Kingdom
sufficient Board Members to call a general meeting, any Board Member or
the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham may call a general
meeting.

8.

8.

1)

8.1.

An Annual General Meeting and a General Meeting not called on the
requisition of the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham pursuant
to Article 7 shall be called by at least twenty-one clear days’ notice or by
shorter notice if it is so agreed by the Council MemberLondon Borough
of Lewisham.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Annual General Meetings
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent
at: 1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 2.54 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

8.2.

2)

The notice shall specify the time and place of the
Meeting and, in the case of an Annual General Meeting, shall specify the
Meeting as such.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

8.3.

3)
The notice shall be given to the Council
MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham and to the Board Members and

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

auditors.
9.

The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice
of a meeting by, any person entitled to receive notice shall not invalidate the
proceedings at that meeting.

10.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present.
The presence of a duly authorised representative of the Council
MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham shall be a quorum.

11.

12.

If the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham makes a decision
which is required to be taken in a general meeting or by means of a written
resolution, that decision shall be valid and effectual as if agreed by the
CompanyOrganisation in general meeting. Any decision taken by the Council
MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham pursuant to this Article 11 shall be
recorded in writing and delivered by the Council MemberLondon Borough of
Lewisham to the Company for entry in the Company’s minute bookrecords.
An entry stating that a resolution has been carried or lost in the minutes of
any meeting shall be conclusive evidence of the fact.

Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 1 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 277

13.

NUMBER OF BOARD MEMBERS

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

13.13.1.

This Article 13 does not apply to any co-opted Board Members appointed
under Article 3424.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

1)13.1.1.

The number of Board Members shall be fifteenbetween five and twelve.

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

2)13.1.2.

ThreeUp to two Board Members shall be London Borough of Lewisham
nominees (Council Board Members.).

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

3)13.1.3.

SevenUp to Five Board Members shall be TenantResident Board Members.
The Board shall endeavour to ensure from time to time that one Resident
Board Member is a leaseholder.

4)13.1.4.

Up to Five Board Members shall be Independent Board Members.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

5)

No more than seven Board Members shall be Tenants.

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

6)

No more than two Tenant Board Members shall be

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

Leaseholders.
7)

No more than three Board Members shall be Local Authority
Persons.

8)13.2.

9)13.3.

In the event that the number of Board Members shall be less than the numbers
specified in this Article 13 the remaining Board Members shall use reasonable
endeavours to appoint further Board Members andas soon as practicable. The
Board may act notwithstanding this Article for up to twelve months, following
which the Board Members’ only power shall be to appoint enough Board
Members to bring their number up to the minimum mandated in Article
13.1.1.
The First Board Members shall be those persons named in the statement delivered
pursuant to Section 10(2) of the Act who shall be deemed to have been
appointed under the Articles. Future Board Members shall be appointed as
provided in the Articles.

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent
at: 1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 3.17 cm
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

14.

14.14.1.

APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF COUNCIL BOARD MEMBERS BY
THE COUNCIL MEMBERLONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM

1)

Subject to Article 1317, the Council MemberLondon
Borough of Lewisham shall from time to
time appoint three personsup
to two Nominees as Council Board Members and shall have the power to
remove from office any such Board Member.

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 278

2)14.2.

3)14.3.

Appointment or removal pursuant to Article 14.1 shall be effected by an
instrument in writing signed by the Council MemberLondon Borough of
Lewisham and shall take effect upon lodgement at the registered office of the
Organisation or such date later than such lodgement as may be specified in the
instrument.
Notwithstanding any other provisions in these Articles the Council
MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham shall have power at any time by

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

notice in writing to the Secretary to appoint and remove any Board
Member.

RETIREMENT AND SELECTION OF TENANT BOARD MEMBERS
15.

1)

At the first annual general meeting of the Organisation none
of the Tenant Board Members shall retire from office. From the
second and third annual general meeting of the Organisation
Tenant Board Members shall be required to retire from office
in the following rotation:
(a)

at the second annual general meeting, two Tenant
Board Members shall be required to retire;

(b)

at the third annual general meeting, a further three
Tenant Board Members, shall be required to retire; and

(c)

at the fourth subsequent annual general meeting, a
further two Tenant Board Members shall be required to
retire

and so forth such that
15.

APPOINTMENT TO THE BOARD

15.1.

Subject to Article 14, all Board members shall be appointed and may be
removed by the Board in accordance with a policy adopted by the Board
from time to time.

15.2.

All Board members shall be appointed for a fixed term not exceeding 3
years expiring on the anniversary of their appointment. Any existing Board
member shall be deemed to have been appointed for the purpose of this
Article on the date of their initial appointment to the Board. The maximum
number of terms to be served by any Board member shall be 3. A Board
member’s letter of appointment may specify a shorter term. At the end of
each term the Board member shall retire from office, but may seek reappointment subject to other provisions contained in these Articles.
Any retiring Board member having completed 9 years of continuous service
on the Tenant Board Members shall retire in subsequentnot be eligible

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 279

for re-appointment until two years in a rotation which mirrors that set out

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

above.
2)

3)15.3.

The Tenant Board Members required to retire at any such
subsequent annual general meeting shall be those who have
been longest in officeelapsed since they last became Tenant
Board Members, but as between persons who became Board
Members on the same day those to retire shall be chosen by
lot PROVIDED THAT where a Tenant Board Member is
appointed as a consequence of the death orthe Board
member’s retirement (other than by operation of this subparagraph) of another Tenant Board Member (“the
Predecessor”), the period of time for which the Tenant Board
Member shall have held office shall, for the purposes only of
this Article 15.2 be deemed to include the period since the last
election or appointment of the Predecessor.

Prior to every annual general meeting, direct or indirect selections
shall be held among the Tenants and Leaseholders to the extent that
a vacancy arises for the number of Tenant and the Board Members to
be appointed thereat. Only Tenants and (subject to Article 13.6)
Leaseholders shall be eligible to be appointed as Tenant resolves to
re-appoint the Board Members but otherwise the mode and manner of
such selections shall be as the Board may from time to time agree
subject at all times to compliance with Article 13member.
4)

1)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent
at: 1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 3.17 cm
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

The company secretary Board shall announce the results of the
selections referred from time to in Article 15.3 at each relevant
annual general meetingtime consider and the Tenantsagree a
process for the recruitment and Leaseholders so selected shall

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

be duly appointed as Tenant Board Members.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

RETIREMENT AND ELECTION OF INDEPENDENT selection of Board
MEMBERS
16.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

At the first annual general meeting of the Organisation none
of the Independent members to the Board Members shall retire
from office. From the second and third annual general
meeting of the Organisation the Independent Board Members
shall be required to retire from office in the following rotation:
(a)

at the second annual general meeting, two
Independent Board Members shall be required to retire;

12.5.16

Page 280

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not Bold, No underline, Not All caps

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

(b)

at the third annual general meeting, a further one
Independent Board Member shall be required to retire;
and

(c)

at the fourth annual general meeting, a further two
Independent Board Members shall be required to retire

and so forth such that the Independent Board Members shall be
required to retire in subsequent years in a rotation which mirrors that
set out above.
2)

The Independent Board Members required to retire at any
such subsequent annual general meeting shall be those who
have been longest in office since they last became
Independent Board Members but as between persons who
became Board Members on the same day those to retire shall
be chosen by lot PROVIDED THAT where an Independent
Board Member is appointed as a consequence of the death or
retirement (other than by operation of this sub-paragraph) of
another Independent Board Member (“the Predecessor”), the
period of time for which the Independent Board Member shall
have held office shall, for the purposes only of this Article 16.2
be deemed to include the period since the last election or
appointment of the Predecessor.

3)

If, at the meeting at which a Board Member retires in
accordance with Article 16.1, there are no other candidates to
fill the post the retiring Board Member shall, if willing to act, be
deemed to have been re-appointed unless a resolution not to
reappoint the Board Member is passed by the meeting.

4)

No person other than an Independent Board Member retiring
by rotation shall be appointed as an Independent Board
Member at any general meeting unless s/he is recommended
by the Board.

5)

Subject to Articles 16.1 – 16.4 the Council Member may by
Ordinary Resolution in General Meeting appoint any eligible
person who is willing to act as an Independent Board Member.

6)

Subject to Articles 13, 16 and 18 the Organisation may by
Ordinary Resolution in general meeting appoint any person
who is willing to act as an Independent Board Member to fill a
vacancy.

12.5.16

Page 281

7)

8)15.4.

Subject to Articles 13, 16 and 18 the Board may appoint any
person who is willing to act as an Independent Board Member
to fill a vacancy until the next Annual General Meeting.

Not less than seven nor more than twenty-eight clear days before
the date appointed for holding a general meeting notice shall be
given to the Council Member of any person (other than a Board
Member retiring by rotation at the meeting) who is recommended by
the Board for appointment or reappointment as an Independent
Board Member at the meeting. The notice shall give the particulars
of that person which would, if he were so appointed or re-appointed,
be required to be included in the Organisation's register of Board
Members.

CASUAL VACANCIES
16.

17.

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent
at: 1.01 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 3.17 cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

Subject to ArticleArticles 13 to 15, the Board may appoint a person who is
willing to act to be a Board Member to fill a vacancy. The process of
appointment for the casual vacancies shall be decided by the Board from
time to time and an appointment made under casual vacancies shall be
limited to 6 months.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The Board may only fill vacancies occurring among Council Board
MembersLondon Borough of Lewisham Nominees where the Council
Member shall haveLondon Borough of Lewisham has failed within three

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

months of a written request by the Organisation to make the appropriate
appointments pursuant to Article 14.1. A Board Member appointed

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

under this Article 17 shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting. If not re-appointed at such annual general
meeting he shall vacate office at the conclusion thereof.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

18.

DISQUALIFICATION AND REMOVAL OF BOARD MEMBERS

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

18.18.1.

A person shall be ineligible for appointment to the Board and if already
appointed shall immediately cease to be a Board Member if the relevant
individual:-

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

1)18.1.1.

ceases to be a Board Member by virtue of any provision of the Act or
becomes prohibited by law from being a company director; or

2)

3)18.1.2.

is or becomes a person disqualified from elected membership
of a local authority; or
becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his
creditors generally; or

4)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

is, or may be, suffering from mental disorder and either:-

12.5.16

Page 282

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.25 cm + Indent
at: 3.14 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 2.86 cm

18.1.3.

(a)

is admitted to hospital in pursuance of an application for
admission for treatment under the Mental Health Act
1983 or, in Scotland, an application for admission under
the Mental Health (Scotland) Act 1960; or

(b)

an order is made by a court having jurisdiction (whether
in the United Kingdom or elsewhere) in matters
concerning mental disorder for his/her detention or for
the appointment of a receiver, curator bonis or other
person to exercise powers with respect to his property or
affairs; or

is the subject of a written opinion given to the Organisation by a registered
medical practitioner who is treating that person stating that that person has
become physically or mentally incapable of acting as a board member and
may remain so for more than three months and the Board resolve that
his/her office be vacated as a result; or

5)18.1.4.

resigns his office by notice to the Organisation; or

6)18.1.5.

is removed from office by a resolution (or written notice signed by) at least three
quarters of all the other Board Members from time to time; or

7)18.1.6.

18.1.7.

9)18.1.8.

shall for more than six consecutive months have been absent without permission
of the Board from meetings of the Board held during that period and the Board
resolves that his office be vacated; or

8)
in any period of 12 months, he/she shall have been absent
(without the permissionfailed to attend 85% of the Board Members)
from at least 25% of the relevant meetings in contravention of the policy
as agreed by Board Members held during that period and the Board
Members resolve that his the office be vacated; or
in the case of a TenantResident Board Member he/she ceases to be a Tenant or
Leaseholder of the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham
PROVIDED THAT this Article 18.91.8 shall not apply in respect of a
TenantResident Board Member temporarily ceasing to be a Tenant or
Leaseholder as a result of the demolition of or works carried out to that
TenantResident Board Member’s home; or

10)18.1.9. is a Tenant Board MemberResident and is (in the reasonable opinion of a
majority of Board Members) in serious breach of their obligations as a Tenant or
Leaseholder’Leaseholder for example because the Council has obtained a
possession order against him or her; or

11)18.1.10.

is a Council Board Member and is or becomes a Tenant or
Leaseholder leading to a breach of the limit in Article 13.5 or 13.6; or1.

12.5.16

Page 283

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.25 cm + Indent
at: 3.14 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 2.86 cm
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

12)18.1.11.

is a TenantResident Board Member and is or becomes a
Local Authority Person leading to a breach of the limit in Article 13.71; or

13)18.1.12.

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt
Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

is an Independent Board Member and is or becomes a Tenant,
Leaseholder or a Local Authority Person; or

14)18.1.13.

is removed by resolution of the Council Member London
Borough of Lewisham pursuant to Article 14.

19.

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

A Board Member who is being investigated for serious misconduct may be
suspended by the Chair (or in the event that the Chair is being investigated,
following a majority decision of the Board) for such period as the Chair (or
the Board as the case may be) may determine. The suspension shall be
on such terms and conditions as the Chair (or the Board as the case may
be) shall think fit and may include restriction of access to board meetings
and board reports.

POWERS OF THE BOARD

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

19.20.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

20.21.

Subject to the provisions of the Act, directions of the Council
MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham in general meeting and the
Memorandumor by written resolution and the Articles, the business of the
Organisation shall be managed by the Board who may exercise all the
powers of the Organisation. No alteration of the Memorandum or Articles
or directions of the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham shall
invalidate any prior act of the Board which would have been valid if that
alteration had not been made. or those directions had not been given. The
powers given by this Article shall not be limited by any special power given
to the Board by the Articles and a meeting of the Board at which a quorum
is present may exercise all powers exercisable by the Board.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The Board may, by power of attorney or otherwise, appoint any person to
be the agent of the Organisation for such purposes and on such conditions
as they determine, including authority for the agent to delegate all or any
of his powers.

BORROWING POWERS

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

21.22.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Subject to Clause 6 of the MemorandumArticles 2.5.3 and 2.6 the Board
may exercise all the powers of the Organisation to borrow money without
limit as to amount and upon such terms and in such manner as they think
fit, and to grant any mortgage, charge or other security over its undertaking
and property, or any part thereof, and to issue any debenture, whether
outright or as security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Organisation
or of any third party.

12.5.16

Page 284

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

DELEGATION OF BOARD MEMBERS' POWERS

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

22.23.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The Board may delegate any of their powers to any committee consisting
of two or more Board Members together with such other persons as the
Board sees fit (with each such person having voting rights in relation to the
committee’s business but so that Board Members shall constitute a
majority). They may also delegate to the Chair/or any vice or deputy Chair
or to any executive officer such of their powers as they consider desirable
to be exercised by him/her. Any such delegation may be made subject to
any conditions the Board may impose, and either collaterally with or to the
exclusion of their own powers and may be revoked or altered. Subject to
any such conditions, the proceedings of a committee with two or more
members shall be governed by the Articles regulating the proceedings of
the Board so far as they are capable of applying.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

CO-OPTION
24.

Subject to a maximum of 5, the Board may co-opt any person with suitable
skills, in a non-voting capacity onto the Board. The Board may place any
limitation on or revoke the co-option at any time. The same principle shall
apply to the co-option of additional individuals to a committee and shall be
subject to any additional criteria as laid down in the committee’s terms of
reference.

ALTERNATE BOARD MEMBERS

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

23.25.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

No Board Member shall be entitled to appoint any person as an alternate
Board Member.
BOARD MEMBERS' EXPENSES

26.

The Board Members may be paid all travelling, hotel, and other expenses
reasonably and properly incurred by them in connection with their
attendance at meetings of the Board or committees of the Board or general
meetings or otherwise in connection with the discharge of their duties and
such other sums as may be determined by the Council MemberBoard
PROVIDED THAT no sums shall be paid to a Board Member in excess of
that which would be permitted byto be paid to a board member pursuant
to any guidance issued from time to time by the Department for
Communities and Local Government or such other of Her Majesty’s
Government’s Departments relating to the payment of Board Members of
Arms Length Management Companies and PROVIDED FURTHER THAT
no sum shall be paid to a Board Member who is an elected member of the
Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham in excess of that permitted
by the Order.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Widow/Orphan control, Don't keep lines together, Tab
stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline
Formatted: Indent: First line: 2 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11.5 pt

24.
BOARD MEMBERS' APPOINTMENTS AND INTERESTS

12.5.16

Page 285

Formatted: Body 1, Don't keep with next, Don't keep lines
together
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

25.27.

26.

A Board Member may not have any financial interest personally or as a
member of a firm or as a director or senior employee (being an employee
with managerial status) or in any contract or other transaction of the
Organisation unless it is permitted by these Articles and is not prohibited
by Clause 6 of the MemorandumArticle 2.6.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Each Board Member shall ensure that the Secretary has at all times an up
to date list of:-

1)28.

all bodies trading in which he or she has an interest as:

(a)28.1.

a director or senior employee,

(b)28.2.

a member of a firm,

(c)28.3.

the owner or controller of more than 2% of the issued share capital in a company,

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2)28.4.

all interests as an official or elected member of any statutory body;

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

3)28.5.

all interests as the occupier of any property owned or managed by the
Organisation;

4)28.6.

any other significant or material interest.

29.

PROCEEDINGS OF BOARD MEETINGS

29.1.

1)

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at:
0.63 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 3.17 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: Arial, 11 pt

27.29.2.

1)29.3.

Subject to any regulations established from time to time
by the Organisation in general meeting and compliance with Section 10(1)
of the Local Authorities (Companies Order 1995) the Board may regulate
their proceedings as they think fit and theby any medium that allows those
attending to hear and comment on the proceedings and identify one
another. Any person attending a meeting in this way shall be deemed to
be present at the meeting.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Space After: 0 pt, Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering
Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:
0 cm + Indent at: 0.63 cm, Don't keep with next, Tab stops:
2 cm, Left + Not at 2.86 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The quorum for the transaction of the business of the Board at the time
when the meeting proceeds to business shall be six comprising no fewer
than one TenantResident Board Member, one Independent Board
Member and one Council Board Member or duly authorised representative
of the Council (and such a duly authorised representative shall attend as
an observer and may take part in discussions but shall not have a vote),
PROVIDED THAT if the number of Board Members in one or more
category of Board Member falls below two then the quorum requirement
shall be reduced to one or none (as remain in office) in respect of such
category or categories.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Keep with next, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 1.9
cm + 2.86 cm

331/3 percentOne third of the total number of Board Members (or such whole
number of Board Members nearest to 331/3 percentone third ) may call a

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 286

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

meeting of the Board. It shall not be necessary to give notice of a meeting to a
Board Member who is absent from the United Kingdom.

2)29.4.

If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for a Board
Meeting the Board Meeting shall, if requested by a majority of those Board
Members present, be adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time
and place or to such other day and at such other time and place as the Board
Members present may determine.

3)29.5.

If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour from the
time appointed for the meeting then notwithstanding Article 27.129.2 the Board
Members present shall constitute a quorum.

28.30.

31.

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

Questions arising at aResolutions of the Board Meeting shall be decided

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

by a majority of votes and each Board Member present in person shall be
entitled to one vote. In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair shall
have a second or casting vote.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

1)

AUTHORISATION

OF

BOARD

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

MEMBERS’

INTERESTS

29.31.1.

1)31.2.

Any Board Member having an interest in any arrangement between the
Organisation and another person or body shall disclose that interest to the
meeting before the matter is discussed by the Board or committee of the
Board. Unless the interest is of the type specified in Articles 2931.2 or
2931.3 the Board Member concerned shall not remain present during the
discussion of that item unless requested to do so by the remaining
members of the Board or committee of the Board. Unless permitted by
Articles 2931.2 or 2931.3 the Board Member concerned may not vote on
the matter in question, but no decision of the Board or any committee of
the Board shall be invalidated by the subsequent discovery of an interest
which should have been declared.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Provided the interest has been properly disclosed pursuant to Article

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

2931.1 a Board Member may remain present during the discussion and

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Keep with next, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 2.86
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Bold, All caps

may vote on the matter under discussion where the interest arises
because:

(a)31.2.1. the Board Member is a Tenant or Leaseholder, so long as the matter in

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

question affects all or a substantial group of Tenants or Leaseholders as
appropriate; or

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

(b)31.2.2. the Board Member is a director or other officer of a company or body which
is a parent, subsidiary or associate of the Organisation; or

(c)31.2.3. the Board Member is an official or elected member of any statutory body.

12.5.16

Page 287

2)31.3.

A Board Member shall not be treated as having an interest:

(a)31.3.1. of which the Board Member has no knowledge and of which it is
unreasonable to expect him/her to have knowledge;

(b)31.3.2. in the establishment of a policy in respect of Board Member expenses payable
pursuant to Article 2426.

Formatted: No Heading 2 Text, Font: Times New Roman, 11
pt

31.4.

If an actual or potential conflict of interest arises for a Board Member other
than in relation to a transaction or arrangement with the Organisation and
the conflict is not authorised by virtue of any other provisions of the Articles,
the unconflicted Board Members may authorise such a conflict of interests
provided that

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

31.4.1.

any conflicted Board Member does not count in the quorum for such
authorisation and

31.4.2.

the unconflicted Board Members consider it is in the interests of the
Organisation to authorise the conflict of interest in the circumstances
applying.

30.

31
If a question arises at a meeting of the Board or of a
committee of the Board as to the right of a Board Member to vote, the
question may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the
Chair of the meeting and his/her ruling in relation to any Board Member
other than himself/herself shall be final and conclusive. If a question arises
at a meeting of the Board or a committee of the Board as to the right of the
chair of the meeting to vote, the rest of the Board shall rule on this question
and their majority decision shall be final and conclusive.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Tab stops:
2 cm, Left

ELECTIONAPPOINTMENT OF THE CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR OF THE

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

32.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Highlight

BOARD
32.1.

31.32.2.

AtThe chair shall be such person appointed by the first
1)
Board Meeting following each annual general meetingmembers as
such remuneration upon such conditions and pursuant to such selection
procedure as the Board Members shall appoint one of their number to
be board may think fit and with the Chairprior written consent of the
BoardCouncil.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Subject to hold office until the next annual general meeting and may
provisions of Article 32.1 the chair shall serve a term of 3 years; the term
may be extended at any time remove him/her from that officethe
discretion of the board for up to a further 1 term. No person shall serve as
chair for more than 6 years.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent at:
1.01 cm, Keep with next, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at 1.9

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

1)32.3.

Unless he/she is unwilling to do so, the Board Member so appointed shall
preside at every meeting of the Board at which he/she is present. But but

12.5.16

Page 288

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

if there is no Board Member holding that office, or if the Board Member
holding it is unwilling to preside or is not present within five minutes after
the time appointed for the meeting, the Board Members present may
appoint one of their number to be Chair of the meeting.

2)32.4.

The Board may appoint a vice or deputy Chair to act in the absence of the
Chair on such terms as the Board shall think fit.

32.33.

All acts done by a meeting of the Board, or of a committee of the Board or
by a person acting as a Board Member shall, notwithstanding that it be
afterwards discovered that there was a defect in the appointment of any
Board Member or that any of them were disqualified from holding office, or
had vacated office, or were not entitled to vote, be as valid as if every such
person had been duly appointed and was qualified and had continued to
be a Board Member and had been entitled to vote.

WRITTEN RESOLUTION

33.34.

1)34.1.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

A resolution in writing signed or otherwise confirmed (which may include
by electronic means) by:
three quarters of all the Board Members entitled to receive notice of a meeting of
the Board or of a committee of the Board; and

34.2.

the Chair of the OrganisationBoard or of the relevant committee; and

2)34.3.

which satisfies the quorum requirements of Article 27.129 shall be as valid
and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board or (as the
case may be) a committee of the Board duly convened and held and may
consist of several documents in the like form each signed or confirmed by
one or more Board Members.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25 cm + Indent
at: 1.01 cm, Keep with next, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at
3.49 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

CO-OPTION

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

34.
Subject to a maximum limit of two, the Board may co-opt any person onto
the Board in a non-voting capacity. The Board may place any limitation on or
revoke the co-option at any time.

Formatted: Normal

SECRETARY

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

35.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Secretary and any deputy or
alternate Secretary shall be appointed by the Board for such term, at such
remuneration and upon such conditions as they may think fit and any
Secretary so appointed may be removed by them.

MINUTES

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

36.

The Board shall cause minutes to be made in booksrecords kept for the
purpose:-

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 289

1)36.1.

of all appointments of officers made by the Board Members; and

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

2)36.2.

of all proceedings at meetings of the Organisation and of the Board, and
of committees of the Board and of the Council MemberLondon Borough
of Lewisham in its capacity as the sole member of the Organisation,
including the names of the Board Members present at each such meeting.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

RECORDS ACCOUNTS AND RETURNS

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

37.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The Organisation shall comply with the provisions of Part VII of the Act in
respect of:-

1)37.1.

the keeping and auditing of accounting records;

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left

2)37.2.

the provision of accounts and annual reports of the directors; and

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

3)37.3.

in making an annual return.

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

38.

THE SEAL

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

38.38.1.

1)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

1)38.2.

If the Organisation has a seal it shall only be used with
the specific or general authority of the Board or of a committee of the
Board. The Board may determine who shall sign any instrument to which
the seal is affixed and unless otherwise so determined it shall be signed
by a Board Member and by the Secretary or a second Board Member.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The Organisation may exercise the powers conferred by Section 39 of the
Act with regard to having an official seal for use abroad, and such powers
shall be vested in the Board Members.

NOTICES

39.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

Any notice to be given to or by any person pursuant to the Articles shallmay
be in writingsent by hand, by post or suitable electronic means except that
a notice calling a meeting of the Board or of a committee of the Board need
notmay be called in writing.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

39.

40.

The Organisation may give any other way which gives Board Members’

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

notice of the meeting.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Notice given by post to the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham
either personally or by sending it by post in a prepaid envelope addressed
to the Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham at their registered
address or by leaving it at that address.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Indent at: 0.63
cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 290

41.

The Council MemberLondon Borough of Lewisham present by duly
authorised representative at any meeting of the Organisation shall be
deemed to have received notice of the meeting and, where requisite, of the
purposes for which it was called.

42.

Proof that an envelope containing a notice was properly addressed,
prepaid and posted shall be conclusive evidence that the notice was
given. A notice shall be deemed to be given at the expiration of 48
hours after the envelope containing it was posted.

42.

Any notice given in accordance with these Articles is to be treated for all
purposes as having been received

42.1.

immediately upon receipt if sent by electronic means or delivered by hand
to the relevant address

42.2.

two clear days after being sent by first class post to that address

42.3.

three clear days after being sent by second class or overseas post to that
address

42.4.

on being handed to the London Borough of Lewisham’s duly authorised
representative personally or in any of the cases above if earlier as soon as
the London Borough of Lewisham’s duly authorised representative
acknowledges actual receipt.

43.

INDEMNITY

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

43.43.1.

1)

Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Space After: 0 pt, Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering
Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:
0 cm + Indent at: 0.63 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left

Every Board Member or other officer of the Organisation
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Organisation against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto, including any
liability incurred by him/her in defending any proceedings, whether civil or
criminal, in which judgement is given in his/her favour or in which he/she
is acquitted or in connection with any application under Section 7271157
of the Act in which relief is granted to him/her and no Board Member or
other officer shall be liable for any loss, damage or misfortune which may
happen to or be incurred by the Organisation in the execution of the duties
of his/her office or in relation thereto PROVIDED THAT this Article shall

12.5.16

Page 291

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

only have effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by Section

1)43.2.

44.

310232 of the Act.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

The Board shall have power to purchase and maintain for any Board
Member or officer of the Organisation insurance against any such liability
as is referred to in Section 310(1)232 of the Act.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

OTHER GOVERNING REGULATIONS

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, No underline

44.
1)
In addition to the rules herein, the Board shall be
governed by and shall comply with all relevant rules applicable to the
Company and/or the Companies activities, whether such rules emanate
from relevant legislation, regulations, policies or otherwise and as such
rules apply from time to time.

Formatted: Indent: First line: 2 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 2 cm,
Space After: 0 pt, Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering
Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:
0 cm + Indent at: 0.63 cm, Tab stops: 2 cm, Left + Not at
1.59 cm
Formatted: Font: 11 pt
Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: Times New
Roman, 11 pt

12.5.16

Page 292

Agenda Item 10
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for:
Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 √ Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

11 November 2020

Originator of Report

Lisa Hooper, Crime, Enforcement &
Regulation Service

√

√

Statement of Licensing Policy 2020-25

Ext. 46324

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the report
has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources

Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)

√
√
√
√
√

Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

-

Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications

No

Signed: Cllr Brenda Dacres
Cabinet Member for Safer Communities
Date: 3/11/20
Signed: Tom Brown
Executive Director for Community Services
Date: 22/10/20
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 293

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\9\3\ai00026396\$cgqbyxih.doc

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet
Statement of Licensing Policy 2020-25
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors:
Lisa Hooper, Crime, Enforcement & Regulation Service
Petra Der Man, Legal Services

Outline and recommendations
The Licensing Act 2003 provides Local Authorities with a duty to review its Statement of
Licensing Policy for premises licensed for alcohol and entertainment every five years. The
Lewisham Statement of Licensing Policy was last reviewed in 2015.
The revised Statement of Licensing Policy has been subject to necessary statutory public
consultation during February to April 2020. Feedback from the consultation has been fully
considered and further amendments made to the revised policy.
For Mayor and Cabinet to:
1. Note the revisions to the Statement of Licensing Policy.
2. Agree that the revised Statement of Licensing Policy for 2020-2025 be presented
to Full Council for it to be formally determined and published.

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
16 January 2020 - Cabinet Member Briefing
7 February 2020 – 6 week Consultation Start Date (extended to 8 weeks due to Covid-19
Pandemic)
3 March 2020 - Mayor & Cabinet Briefing
22 July 2020 - Consultation with Licensing Committee
11 November 2020 - Mayor and Cabinet
26 November 2020 - Full Council

Page 294

1.

Summary

1.1

The Licensing Act 2003 provides Local Authorities with a duty to review its Statement of
Licensing Policy every five years. The Lewisham Statement of Licensing Policy was last
reviewed in 2015.

1.2

The London Borough of Lewisham’s (‘the Licensing Authority’) Statement of Licensing
Policy sets out the matters which the Licensing Authority will take into consideration
when determining licence applications and covers all licensed premises throughout the
Borough. When drawing up the Policy, the Licensing Authority has considered the need
to promote the four licensing objectives under the Licensing Act 2003 at all times in its
decision making.

1.3

The Policy relates to applications for the following activities:
 Supply of alcohol by retail
 Supply of alcohol on behalf of a club
 Regulated Entertainment
 Late Night Refreshment

1.4

The revised Statement of Licensing Policy can be found in Appendix 2.

1.5

The revised policy has been subject to necessary statutory public consultation during
February to April 2020 (the initial consultation was extended due to Covid-19 pandemic).
Feedback from the consultation has been fully considered and further amendments have
been made to the revised policy.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

That Mayor and Cabinet note and approve the following:
1. Note the revisions to the Statement of Licensing Policy.
2. Agree that the revised Statement of Licensing Policy for 2020-2025 be presented to
Full Council for it to be formally determined and published.

3.

Policy Context

3.1

The Statement of Licensing Policy assists the Council in meeting its priorities set within
the Corporate Strategy 2018-22:
 Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all, where we
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us.
 Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local
economy.
 Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as
we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

3.2

Paragraph 4.2 (a) of Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution confirms that the Statement of
Licensing Policy (Alcohol and Entertainment) is a policy which, when adopted by
members sitting at Full Council, it will make up the Council’s policy framework.

3.3

The Policy also feeds in to the Vision for Evening and Night Time Economy Offer in
Lewisham 2019 and also the work of the Lewisham Backs Business Task Group created
to develop and coordinate an integrated response to supporting business recovery

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 295
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

quickly, inclusively and sustainably from the disruption of COVID-19. Details of the task
group are outlined on the Council website alongside information to support local
businesses that will be kept up to date as changes emerge.
4.

Background

4.1

The purpose the Licensing Policy is to outline the approach that the London Borough of
Lewisham will take to implementing the Licensing Act 2003 and promoting the licensing
objectives as set out in the act.

4.2

The licensing objectives are:
 Prevention of crime and disorder
 Public safety
 Prevention of public nuisance
 Protection of children from harm

4.3

The Licensing Authority must have regard to promoting these licensing objectives in all
of its decision making and when carrying out its licensing functions under the Licensing
Act 2003. Licensed premises are required to have regard to promoting these licensing
objectives when undertaking licensed activities.

4.4

The scope of the policy relates to the provision of licences for the undertaking of
licensable activities as set out in Licensing Act 2003. The Act regulates the following
licensable activities:
 The sale by retail of alcohol
 The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to a member of the club
 The provision of “late night refreshment” between 23:00 and 5:00
 The Provision of ‘’regulated entertainment’’ to a public audience or club
members or with a view to make a profit, including the following activities;
 Performance of a play
 Exhibition of a film
 Indoor sporting events
 boxing or wrestling entertainment
 performance of dance
 performance of live music
 playing of recorded music

4.5

The Act provides for four different types of authorisation as follows:
 Personal licences – to sell or authorise the sale of alcohol from a premises in
respect of which there is a premises licence.
 Premises licences – to use a premises for licensable activities.
 Club premises certificates – to allow a qualifying club to engage in qualifying
club activities.
 Temporary event notice (TENs) - to carry out licensable activities at a
temporary event.

4.6

The Council is responsible for the administration and determination of applications for
the above authorisations, as well as the transfer, variation, review, surrender and
suspension processes related to those authorisations.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 296
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4.7

The Licensing policy aims to:
 To help inform Members of the Licensing Committee to make decisions on licensing
matters.
 To provide information for applicants, residents, licensees, and responsible
authorities under the Act on their roles and responsibilities within the licensing
system and outline the parameters under which the Licensing Authority will make its
decisions.
 Set out the expectations the Licensing Authority has of its applicants and licensees
in adhering to their legal responsibilities and to promote of licensing objectives.
 To create a foundation upon which the Licensing Authority will undertake its
functions in promoting the licensing objectives and the wider aims of the Licensing
Act 2003 whilst also striking a balance with the need to encourage responsible
business ownership in the borough that provides a range of diverse entertainment
and cultural provision for residents and visitors to enjoy.

4.8

The revised Section 182 statutory guidance also outlines five other key aims and
purposes under the legislation. These are:
 Protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise
nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed premises;
 Giving the police and licensing authorities the powers they need to effectively manage
and police the night time economy and take action against those premises that are
causing problems;
 Recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in our
local communities by minimising the regulatory burden on business, encouraging
innovation and supporting responsible premises;
 Providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local
communities and empowers local authorities to make and enforce decisions about the
most appropriate licensing strategies for their local area; and
 Encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and giving local
residents the opportunity to have their say regarding licensing decision that may
affect them.1

5.

Review of Lewisham’s Licensing Policy

5.1

Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires each licensing authority to prepare and
publish a statement of its Licensing Policy every 5 years. The previous statement of
Licensing Policy was subject to public consultation during 2015 and a revised policy
published for November 2015.

5.2

The policy statement can be reviewed and revised by the licensing authority at any time
but as a minimum this must be done every 5 years.

5.3

Before determining its policy, the licensing authority must consult the persons listed in
section 5(3) of the 2003 Act. These are:
• the chief officer of police for the area;
• the fire and rescue authority for the area;
• each local authority’s Director of Public Health in England (DPH)
• persons/bodies representative of local premises licence holders;

1

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, April 2018, page 1, section 1.5

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 297
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

• persons/bodies representative of local club premises certificate holders;
• persons/bodies representative of local personal licence holders; and
• persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents in its area.
5.4

In line with statutory requirements, Lewisham’s Licensing Authority published its revised
version of the Licensing Policy for 2020-25 which went out to public consultation for 6
weeks on 7 February 2020 and was extended for a further 2 weeks due to Covid-19.
Further submissions were submitted by residents after this date, which were all
considered in the policy review.

5.5

The consultation was advertised on the Lewisham council website and sent to all
consultees on the consultee list below. Additionally a newspaper advert was also
published in the Lewisham & Catford News shopper on 19 February 2020 and a public
notice was also advertised outside the Civic Suite.

5.6

The following list of consultees will be directed contacted for feedback on these revisions
to the policy:
 Metropolitan Police
 London Fire Brigade
 Public Heath
 Planning
 Home Office Immigration
 Trading Standards, Noise Enforcement (CER)
 Children’s Services
 All Lewisham Premises Licence Holders
 All Lewisham Councillors
 All Lewisham MPs
 Blackheath Society
 Deptford Society
 Culverley Green Residents Association
 Lewisham Assemblies Contacts Lists
 Neighbourhood Watch Coordinators
 Lewisham Registered Social Landlords
 Safer Lewisham Business Partnership
 CGL
 Thames Reach
 999 Club
 Alcoholics Anonymous
 Alcohol Concern
 Metro Charity

6.

Consultation Response

6.1

The consultation received the following responses:

Residents
Residents Associations

12
2

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 298
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Local Amenity group
Association representing Businesses
Elected Members
Responsible Authorities

1
1
1
2 (Police, Public Health)

6.2

Officers also met with Licensing Committee Members, residents groups, Lewisham
Police and Public Health officers to discuss the proposed revisions. A Mayor and
Cabinet briefing was held on 3 March 2020.

6.3

Below is a summary of feedback:

Organisation /Group

Feedback

Metropolitan Police

 Satisfied with the revised statement and confident that sufficient
measures in place to manage impact of licence applications and
promote licensing objectives.

LBL Public Health

Advised the Licensing Authority to consider the following:
 Amendments to policy to update health information for borough.
 Supported inclusion of ‘school superzone’ in the list of
considerations for the Licensing Authority under the licensing
objective of protection of Children Harm, and advised the policy
include updated information around school superzones and
impact of alcohol harm on young people.
 Additional information around young people and alcohol as
outlined in the heath and social care centre information report
(Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use among Young People in
England, 2018).
 Raised concerns over the removal of the CIZs in New Cross
and Blackheath.
 Requested more detail on approach to vertical drinking
premises.
Residents
&  Clearer detail needed around reporting of ASB/crime/noise
Residents / Amenity
nuisance
Groups
 More detail on how residents can engage in consultation
process on applications and where to find up to date
information.
 More detail on how to make representations and what to
include.
 Amend Night Time economy references to suggest a favour
towards residents needs more than business needs.
 Consultation requirements should place more focus on
encouraging applicants to widely advertise and take additional
steps that minimum required by law.
 Better liaison between planning and licensing
 More detail on enforcement process
 Amend Deptford and Blackheath to a local hub not a district
hub (preferred hours of closure set out in policy 11 are earlier in
a local hub than a district hub).
 General concerns over removal of CIZs in New Cross and
Blackheath
Elected
Feedback

Member  Beckenham Place Park licensing arrangements and use of the
park; suggestion that there should be similar policy as

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 299
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Blackheath events – passed over to Regeneration and Parks
Departments.
7.

Changes to Policy Statement

7.1

The following revisions were made before consultation on the policy:
 Further information around ‘character of the borough’.
 Inclusion of 18 clearly outlined polices that the Licensing Authority will
consider when undertaking its duties under the licensing regime, licensable
activities, including management of outside spaces, noise management,
preferred hours of sale and location, delivery services and outdoor events.
 Removal of Cumulative Impact Zones in New Cross and Blackheath due to
lack of evidence to suggest they are required. (Since April 2018, such
Zones have been re-termed ‘Cumulative Impact Assessments’.)

The previous statement of licensing policy has been rewritten and reformatted to include
the following:
•
Part A Introduction and Overview of Legislative Framework
•
Part B Policies and Principles
•
Part C – Appendices
Part A includes the
following revisions:

Part B include the
following revisions:

Part C includes the
following revisions:



Amendments to information on ‘Lewisham Borough’.



Refresh of information around purpose and scope of the
policy.



Outline of relevant local and national strategies



Comprehensive overview of licensing objectives, potential
activities that may undermine these objectives and an outline
of measures that can be undertaken to promote licensing
objectives.

• Inclusion of 18 clearly outlined polices that the Licensing
Authority will consider when undertaking its duties under the
licensing regime.
• These policies cover a range of concerns linked to licensable
activities, including management of outside spaces, noise
management, preferred hours of sale and location, delivery
services and outdoor events.
• Under the Cumulative Impact Policy/Assessment section, it is
proposed that the existing CIPs should cease due to a lack of
evidence for the requirement to maintain them.
• Updated guidance on expectations of applicants in completing
operating schedules for licence applications and
considerations they should undertake around promoting
licensing objectives.
• Addition of table of Documents which demonstrate entitlement
to work in the UK
• Table of relevant offences under the 2003 Act.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 300
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7.2

Following a review of the consultation responses, it was decided that a number of areas
needed further amendments to strengthen the policy around the following:
 ensuring residents were clear on how to engage in the licensing process, how to
make representations and report concerns and what they could expect from the
licensing authority in response.
 Encouraging applicants to consult more widely than statutory requirements and
setting expectations that this is normal practice in the borough.
 Acknowledging concern around the classification of Deptford High Street and
Blackheath as district hubs with maximum preferred closing time at weekends of
1am,, despite their quiet characteristics during the evening and night time and
proximity to residents.
 Amendments to wording to neutralise message around night time economy and
purpose of the licensing policy and to provide more detail on expectations of
premises operating in night time economy.
 Addition of new Policy 20 – Vertical Drinking.
 More detail on conditions that can be added to licences and inclusion of a list of
‘model conditions’ that applicants and objectors can refer to.

7.3

The following revisions were made after the public consultation:

Part A includes the
following revisions:








Part B include the
following revisions:

Amended Aims of policy section 1.8 to be more specific in
purpose.
Updated section 2.14 ‘Lewisham Borough’ to reflect most
recent information
Amended section 2.19 to remove reference to evening and
night time entertainment and replaced with ‘diverse
entertainment offer’
Amended section 2.29 and 2.31 ‘Night time economy’ to
include a link to the Mayor of London’s Night Time Economy
Strategy, remove the word ‘encouraging’ based on feedback
from consultation that policy has too much emphasis on night
time economy.
Removed detail on advice on promoting Licensing Objections
to Part B under Policy 3 Promoting Licensing Objectives

 Total of 20 clear policies that the Licensing Authority will
consider when undertaking its duties under the licensing
regime.
 Additional information provided under section 5.1 and 5.7
‘Applications’ to include link to licensing register on council
website
 Additional information under section 5.8 steps for considering
an application.
 Insertion section 5.10 directing applicants to model conditions
set out in appendix
 Insertion 5.21 expectations on extra consultation steps from
applicants in addition to minimum of public notice and
newspaper advert.
 Amendment section 5.21 to add weblink to public register
 Amendment section 5.28 ‘representations’ providing a weblink
to website guidance document ‘how to make a
representation’.
 Insertion of advice on promoting Licensing Objections Policy 3

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 301
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports










Part C includes the
following revisions:

Promoting Licensing Objectives
Additions of section 9.10-12 ‘enforcement’ to provide more
detail on steps officers take to address problems, how to
report concerns and which services lead on the response.
Additions of 12.8-12.9 under ‘outdoor events’ to add more
detail about what may be required at ESAG and advice
around use of purple guide.
Amendment of section 15.6 ‘hours of sale and location’ to
amend the hubs category for Deptford High Street and
Blackheath. Both are now deemed as local hubs rather than
district centres. This change now recommends the preferred
closing times in these areas as midnight 7 days a week
instead of 1 am at weekends and midnight Monday – Friday.
Addition of 15.8 to explain the purpose of the preferred hours
of sale and location table and the right of the committee to
grant licences outside of this where they feel licence
objectives will not be negatively impacted.
Amendment of section 16.3 to add further detail on guidance
around irresponsible drinks promotions.
Insertion section 24. Policy 19 Vertical Drinking to outline
expectations to applicants around this type of premises.

• Addition of table of model conditions.
 Addition of contact details for advice and reporting problems

7.4. By making the above revisions, the licensing authority is satisfied that it has addressed
the feedback from both statutory and non-statutory consultees to ensure the policy as
best possible reflects views of residents, responsible authorities and elected
representatives in the borough alongside best practice established around promoting
licensing objectives.
7.5

The policy is evidence based, which has resulted in the proposal to remove the existing
Cumulative Impact policies (CIPs) (now termed Cumulative Impact Assessments
(“CIAs)) in New Cross and Blackheath, however the policy includes a number of
measures that will assist with managing licensing objectives, including the preferred
hours of sale and location, model conditions and expectations of licensees around
management of noise and outside spaces.

7.6

Additionally, the need for a CIA will be kept under constant review, and where issues
arise that can be evidenced officers can propose a revision to the licensing policy to also
include a CIA at any time, not just at the 5 year statutory review point.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

The delivery of a comprehensive Licensing policy and service is critical to businesses
and residents. Costs incurred through enforcement activity and court action are
necessary on occasion and decisions will be taken in line with the Council agreed
Enforcement Policy. The Service budgets for this action, but there may be occasions
where legal costs will be greater than predicted and decisions will be taken as
appropriate on a case by case basis.

9.

Legal implications

9.1

Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires the Licensing Authority to prepare and
publish a Statement of Licensing Policy every 5 years.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 302
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

9.2

Any other legal implications relating to the Statement of Licensing Policy are detailed
within the 2003 Act; in particular, pursuant to amendment brought into force on 6th April
2018 by the Policing and Crime Act 2018, Cumulative Impact Areas, s. 5A Licensing Act
2003 (as amended) introduced ‘Cumulative Impact Assessments to replace Cumulative
Impact zones. The Licensing Statement must explain how the licensing authority has
discharged its duty to have regard to any CIAs.

9.3

Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000, provides that the functions of a local
authority in England operating executive functions (in the form of an elected mayor and
cabinet) must be discharged by the executive unless those functions are specified not to
be the responsibility of the authority’s executive by virtue of regulations. The Local
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, as amended by
2004 Regulations (2004/2748), provide that the power to determine and publish a
licensing authority statement of policy is not an executive function, but is instead a
matter only for the Council.

9.4

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

9.5

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.
 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

9.6

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is
not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity or foster good relations.

9.7

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not
have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at:
http://equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equalityact-codes-ofpractice-and-technical-guidance/

9.8

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:
1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty
5. Equality information and the equality duty

9.9

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 303
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/publicsector- equalityduty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
9.10 Licensing Authorities, as defined by the Licensing Act 2003, s.3 (1) are public authorities
for the purposes of the Human Rights Act 1998. Accordingly, they are under a duty to
act compatibly with Convention rights in the exercise of their functions.
10.

Equalities implications

10.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
10.2 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.
 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.
10.3 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is
not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity or foster good relations.
10.4 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not
have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at:
http://equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equalityact-codes-ofpractice-and-technical-guidance/
10.5 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:
1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 304
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5. Equality information and the equality duty
10.6 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on key
areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/publicsector- equalityduty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
10.7 Licensing Authorities, as defined by the Licensing Act 2003, s.3 (1) are public authorities
for the purposes of the Human Rights Act 1998. Accordingly, they are under a duty to
act compatibly with Convention rights in the exercise of their functions.
11.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications

11.1 There are no environmental implications associated with this report.
12.

Crime and Disorder Implications

12.1 Section 17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on partners to do all they can to
reasonably prevent crime and disorder in their area. The level of crime and its impact is
influenced by the decisions and activities taken in the day-to-day of local bodies and
organisations. The responsible authorities are required to provide a range of services in
their community from policing, fire protection, planning, consumer and environmental
protection, transport and highways. They each have a key statutory role in providing
these services and, in carrying out their core activities, can significantly contribute to
reducing crime and improving the quality of life in their area.
12.2 Crime and disorder and nuisance issues may arise around licensed premises or can be
caused by unlicensed activity. As outlined in the Statement for Licensing Policy
document, enforcement is a priority for the licensing authority where it identifies
concerns, and it has a range of tools at its disposal to address those concerns.
Additionally. The police are a responsible authority and can object to licence
applications where there are identified crime and disorder issues, and can also work with
the licensing authority to undertake enforcement action where required.
12.3 Where there are complaints of crime, disorder or nuisance issues related to either
licensed or unlicensed premises, the licensing authority will investigate working with the
Police Licensing officer. Where problems can be evidenced, this can result in objections
to any further licence application at point of renewal, or prosecution for unlicensed
activity. Other powers could also be used to address unlicensed activity, such as
closure orders under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.
13.

Health and Wellbeing implications

13.1 The Licensing Policy has clear links to health implications given it relates to
authorisations around alcohol sales. The policy sets out clearly in section 2.20
considerations around public health in the borough. Key aims of policies within the
statement are to discourage drunkenness and excessive drinking and encourage
licensees to promote licence objectives by including more availability of food and seating
within their operating schedules. This is to encourage the enjoyment of alcohol
alongside other entertainment, not as the main offer.
13.2 The Council has also developed a wide range of initiatives to tackle alcohol related harm
through its alcohol delivery plan, the delivery of which is overseen by the Lewisham

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 305
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Health and Wellbeing Board. Additionally, Reducing Alcohol Harm is one of the key
priorities in the ten year Lewisham Health and Well Being Strategy (2013-23).
14. Glossary
Term

Appeal

Consultation

Cumulative Impact Assessment

Definition
Asking a court to overturn a lower court's decision. If
the decision of a court is disputed it may be possible
to ask a higher court to consider the case again by
lodging an appeal.
Before determining its policy, the licensing authority must
consult the persons listed in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act.
These are:
• the chief officer of police for the area;
• the fire and rescue authority for the area;
• each local authority’s Director of Public Health in England
(DPH)
• persons/bodies representative of local premises licence
holders;
• persons/bodies representative of local club premises
certificate holders;
• persons/bodies representative of local personal licence
holders; and
• persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents
in its area.
A cumulative impact assessment (CIA) may be published by a
licensing authority to help it to limit the number or types of
licence applications granted in areas where there is evidence
to show that the number or density of licensed premises in the
area is having a cumulative impact and leading to problems
which are undermining the licensing objectives. CIAs relate to
applications for new premises licences and club premises
certificates and applications to vary existing premises licences
and club premises certificates in a specified area.
14.25 Section 5A of the 2003 Act sets out what a licensing
authority needs to do in order to publish a CIA and review it,
including the requirement to consult with the persons listed in
section 5(3) of the 2003 Act. There must be an evidential
basis for the decision to publish a CIA which identifies
problems as being caused by the customers of licensed
premises. The Licensing Authority must review the policy
every 3 years to determine if it remains of the same opinion as
set out in the assessment.

Licence

an authority to do something.

Licensing Authority

The Council (London Borough of Lewisham)
Under section 3 of the 2003 Act, the licensing authority’s area
is the area for which the authority acts.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 306
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Term

Definition

Licensee

the holder of a licence to do something.

Licensing Committee

Licence Objectives

Premises Licence

Purple Guide

Relevant Representation

A committee of not less than ten and not greater than 15
Council members to which the discharge of the licensing
function is delegated by the Council. The whole committee
may sit or delegate its responsibility to sub committees
consisting of at least three members.
Under section 4 of the 2003 Act the Licensing Authority must
promote the following 4 objectives
 Prevention of crime and disorder
 Public safety
 Prevention of public nuisance
 Protection of children from harm

A written authorisation from the Licensing Authority allowing a
premises to carry out Licensable Activities under the Licensing
Act 2003.
The Purple Guide has been written by The Events Industry
Forum in consultation with the events industry. Its aim is to help
those event organisers who are dutyholders to manage health
and safety, particularly at large-scale music and similar events.

A representation that is specific to the premises in question,
related to the four licensing objectives and/or the local
licensing policy.
Public bodies that must be notified of all applications and
who are entitled to make representations in relation to
Premises Licences, as follows:

Responsible Authorities











Licensing Authority
Chief Officer of Police
London Fire Brigade
Trading Standards
Planning Authority
Public Health
Environmental Enforcement (with respect to Noise)
Children’s Services
Home Office Immigration

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 307
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Term

Definition

Statement of Licensing Policy

Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to
prepare and publish a statement of its licensing policy at least
every five years. Such a policy must be published before the
authority carries out any function in respect of individual
applications and notices made under the terms of the 2003
Act. During the five-year period, the policy must be kept under
review and the licensing authority may make any revisions to it
as it considers appropriate, for instance in the light of
feedback from the local community on whether the licensing
objectives are being met.

Variation

Application to make changes to an existing premises licence.
A minor variation is one where the application does not
negatively impact on licensing objectives, and as such, only
requires a 10 day consultation period. A full variation is one
that is deemed could negatively impact on licensing objectives
and therefore requires a full 28 day consultation process.

Vertical Drinking

Vertical drinking is a term that's come into use to refer to the
practice of drinking standing up in a crowded public bar.

15. Report author and contact
15.1 Lisa Hooper, Crime, Enforcement & Regulation Manager, lisa.hooper@lewisham.gov.uk
16. Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources
16.1 John Johnstone, Acting Group Finance Manager, Community Services Finance,
john.johnstone@lewisham.gov.uk
17. Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance and HR
17.1 Petra der Man, Principal Lawyer, Legal Services, petra.DerMan@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 308
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Statement of Licensing Policy
2020-25

Public Consultation for this policy took place for a period of 6 weeks on the 7 February 2020.
For further information on this statement please contact licensing@lewisham.gov.uk.

Contents

Page 309

Part A Introduction and Overview of Legislative Framework
1. Purpose of Statement of Licensing Policy
2. Scope of the Statement of Licensing Policy
3. The Licensing Objectives & Operating Schedules

3
4
9

Part B Policies and Principles
4. General Principles
5. Policy 1 Applications
6. Policy 2 Licensing Fees
7. Policy 3 Promoting Licensing Objectives
8. Policy 4 Partnership Working
9. Policy 5 Enforcement
10. Policy 6 Authority and Designated Premises Supervisor
11. Policy 7 Temporary Events
12. Policy 8 Outdoor Events
13. Policy 9 Management of Outside Spaces
14. Policy 10 Cumulative Impact Areas
15. Policy 11 Preferred Hours of Sale by Location
16. Policy 12 Minimum Unit Pricing
17. Policy 13 Delivery Services
18. Policy 14 Women’s Safety
19. Policy 15 Public Health
20. Policy 16 Age Verification and Test Purchasing
21. Policy 17 Early Morning Restriction Order and Late Night Levy
22. Policy 18 Entertainment involving Striptease and Nudity
23. Policy 19 Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking
24. Policy 20 Vertical Drinking

20
20
27
27
28
29
30
32
33
34
35
40
40
41
41
42
42
43
44
47

Part C – Appendices
I – Delegation of Functions
II – Mandatory Conditions under Licensing Act 2003
III- Cumulative Impact Areas and Maps
IV - Documents which demonstrate entitlement to work in the UK
V Table of relevant offences under the 2003 Act
VI Model Conditions
VII Contact Details

Page 310

46
47
50
50
53
53

2

Part A Introduction and Overview of Legislative Framework
1.

Purpose of Statement of Licensing Policy

1.1

The purpose of this Statement of Licensing Policy is to outline the approach that the
London Borough of Lewisham will take to implementing the Licensing Act 2003 and
promoting the licensing objectives as set out in the act.

1.2

Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires each licensing authority to prepare and
publish a statement of its Licensing Policy every 5 years. The previous statement of
Licensing Policy was subject to public consultation during 2015 and a revised policy
published for November 2015.

Licensing Objectives
1.2

The licensing objectives are:
 Prevention of crime and disorder
 Public safety
 Prevention of public nuisance
 Protection of children from harm

1.3

The Licensing Authority must have regard to promoting these licensing objectives in
all of its decision making and when carrying out its licensing functions under the
Licensing Act 2003. Licensed premises are required to have regard to promoting
these licensing objectives when undertaking licensed activities.

1.4

Each objective is of equal importance under the legislation and should be considered
with equal weight. There are no other statutory licensing objectives; the promotion of
the four licensing objectives is therefore a paramount consideration for the licensing
authority at all times.

1.5

The Licensing Authority must also have regard to Section 182 guidance issued by the
Home Office, currently the revised guidance issued April 2018, when producing this
statement of licensing policy.

1.6

The Licensing Authority reserves the right to depart from its own policies where it is
necessary and appropriate to do so to promote licensing objectives and the licensing
authority will give reasons for this.

1.7

The revised Section 182 guidance also outlines five other key aims and purposes
under the legislation. These are:
 Protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise
nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed premises;
 Giving the police and licensing authorities the powers they need to effectively
manage and police the night time economy and take action against those premises
that are causing problems;
 Recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in our
local communities by minimising the regulatory burden on business, encouraging
innovation and supporting responsible premises;

Page 311

3

 Providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local
communities and empowers local authorities to make and enforce decisions about
the most appropriate licensing strategies for their local area; and
 Encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and giving local
residents the opportunity to have their say regarding licensing decision that may
affect them.1
1.8

This policy aims to;
 To help inform Members of the Licensing Committee to make decisions on
licensing matters.
 To provide information for applicants, residents, licensees, and responsible
authorities under the Act on their roles and responsibilities within the licensing
system and outline the parameters under which the Licensing Authority will make
its decisions.
 Set out the expectations the Licensing Authority has of its applicants and
licensees in adhering to their legal responsibilities and to promote of licensing
objectives.
 To create a foundation upon which the Licensing Authority will undertake its
functions in promoting the licensing objectives and the wider aims of the Licensing
Act 2003 whilst also striking a balance with the need to encourage responsible
business ownership in the borough that provides a range of diverse entertainment
and cultural provision for residents and visitors to enjoy.

2.

Scope of Statement of Licensing Policy

2.1

The scope of the policy relates to the provision of licences for the undertaking of
licensable activities as set out in Licensing Act 2003. The Act regulates the following
licensable activities:





2.2

The sale by retail of alcohol
The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to a member of the club
The provision of “late night refreshment” between 23:00 and 5:00
The Provision of ‘’regulated entertainment’’ to a public audience or club members
or with a view to make a profit, including the following activities;
 Performance of a play
 Exhibition of a film
 Indoor sporting events
 boxing or wrestling entertainment
 performance of dance
 performance of live music
 playing of recorded music

The Act provides for four different types of authorisation as follows:
 Personal licences – to sell or authorise the sale of alcohol from a premises in
respect of which there is a premises licence.
 Premises licences – to use a premises for licensable activities.
 Club premises certificates – to allow a qualifying club to engage in qualifying club
activities.
 Temporary event notice (TENs) - to carry out licensable activities at a temporary
event.

1

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, April 2018, page 1, section 1.5

Page 312

4

2.3

The Council is responsible for the administration and determination of applications for
premises licences, club premises certificates, personal licences, provisional
statements, transfers, variation and review applications and temporary event notices.

2.4

The Council, acting as the Licensing Authority, has discretion on whether to grant
applications for licences and to impose conditions on granting and reviewing
licences, only where representations relevant to the licensing objectives are made by
‘responsible authorities’ under the act or ‘other persons’ including local residents and
businesses. Where no relevant representations are received, it is the duty of
licensing authority to grant the licence subject to conditions only consistent with the
operating schedule and the mandatory conditions under the Licensing Act 2003.
Applicants should be aware that where applications are incongruous with this policy
or are likely to negatively impact licencing objectives then they are likely to receive
objections from responsible authorities, therefore it is recommended that licence
applicants contact responsible authorities when preparing their operating schedules.2

2.5

Responsible Authorities under the Act are outlined below:
Responsible Authority

Contact Details

Licensing Authority

licensing@lewisham.gov.uk

Environmental Health

CER@lewisham.gov.uk
environmentalhealth@lewisham.gov.uk

Child Protection Authority

Licensing@lewisham.gov.uk

Planning Authority

planning@lewisham.gov.uk

Health and Safety

environmentalprotection@lewisham.gov.uk

Trading Standards

CER@Lewisham.gov.uk

Metropolitan Police

SE-LicensingLewisham@met.police.uk

London Fire Brigade

FSR-AdminSupport@london-fire.gov.uk

Director of Public Health

PublicHealth@lewisham.gov.uk

Home Office Immigration
Enforcement

alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk

2.6

This statement of policy does not undermine the right of any individual to apply under
the terms of the Act for a variety of authorisations and have such an application
considered on its own merits. Nor does this statement of policy override the right of
any person to make a representation on an application or seek a licence review,
where provision has been made for them to do so under the Act.

2.7

The Licensing Authority may attach conditions to the various authorisations granted
and these will be focused on matters which are within the control of individual licence
holders and others with relevant authorisations, i.e. the premises and its vicinity. This
will include the direct impacts of the activities taking place at the licensed premises

2

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, April 2018, page 1, section 1.15

Page 313

5

on members of the public living, working or engaged in normal activity in the area
concerned.
2.8

However, this Authority recognises that licensing law is not the primary mechanism
for the general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour caused by individuals
once they are away from licensed premises however, it does see it as a key aspect
as part of a holistic approach to the management of public nuisance and disorder of
the evening and night-time economy.

Lewisham Borough
2.9

The London Borough of Lewisham is an Inner South East London Borough covering
an area of 13.4 square miles. Lewisham is the 13th largest borough in London by
population size and 5th largest in inner London. The population was 300,600 in 2018.
Since the 2011 Census, the borough’s population has increased by 25,000 and is
forecast to reach 318,000 by the 2021 Census. Children and young people, aged 019, comprise one in four of all residents, whilst those aged 16-64 (of working age)
comprise 70 per cent of the population. Lewisham is one of the most ethnically
diverse local authorities in the country. Some 54 per cent of residents describe
themselves as White, whilst 46 per cent are of BME heritage. Nationals from more
than 75 countries, across five continents, make their home in Lewisham.

2.10

Lewisham ranks 48th out of 326 local authority areas in England for relative
deprivation (one equal’s high deprivation). Deprivation in Lewisham is particularly
high in respect of crime and disorder as well as income deprivation affecting both
children and adults. The average life expectancy of a Lewisham male is 79.1 years
and 83.1 years for female. Both are broadly in line with national averages.

2.11

Administratively, the borough is sub-divided into 18 wards. An elected mayor with a
cabinet of elected councillors selected by the mayor governs the business of the
Council.

2.12

The northern part of the Borough contains most of the industrial and commercial
areas although in general terms commercial and residential properties co-exist.
Lewisham borough is bordered by the Royal Borough of Greenwich to the east,
Southwark to the west, and Croydon and Bromley to the South, with the River
Thames to the north of the borough.

2.13

Lewisham has experienced a number of areas of growth, including housing, business
and licensed premises linked to regeneration programmes, notably in the north of the
borough in Deptford and New Cross, Lewisham Town Centre (known as Lewisham
Gateway) and most recently Catford. The Catford regeneration programme is
ongoing with a master plan due in the near future outlining improvements to
transport, namely the south circular, and the redevelopment of the town centre.

2.14

There has been significant growth in the licensed trade in the borough in recent
years. At the time of writing this policy statement there are over 1000 licensed
premises on the licensing register, up from 892 at the time of the last policy
statement’s publication in November 2015. This is an increase of around 20% years
in 5 years.

2.15

Lewisham is experiencing a growing evening and night time economy within town
centre areas including Catford, Lewisham, and smaller hubs such as Forest Hill, in
addition to the well-established hubs in New Cross, Deptford, and Blackheath.

Page 314

6

2.16

The GLA published figures on 24 August 2019 that identified a total of 11 London
boroughs saw an increase in the number of pubs between 2017 and 2018, one of
which was Lewisham.

2.17

Lewisham has a number of popular open spaces and parks including Blackheath and
Beckenham Place Park which are experiencing an increase in demand for use to
host large cultural and entertainment events.

Relevant Local Strategies
Corporate Strategy
2.18

As set out in the council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-22, Lewisham has 7 corporate
priorities, 3 of which are key aims of this Statement of Licensing Policy:




2.19

Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all, where we
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us.
Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local
economy.
Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here
as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

This Statement of Licensing Policy aims to support these priorities through the
promotion of the licensing objectives and working to support licensees in conducting
licensable activities responsibly as part of their business to encourage a wellmanaged diverse entertainment offer in the borough.

Public Heath
2.20

The Council recognises links between poor health and excessive alcohol
consumption. As part of the statutory NHS Health Checks programme, which in
2018/19 almost 5,500 Lewisham residents took up, 15% were seen to have
excessive alcohol intake. Key points from the Local Alcohol Profile for Lewisham
developed by Public Health England are as follows:



Men living in Lewisham are significantly more likely to be admitted to hospital with
alcohol related conditions than England average (broad definition), but not
significantly more likely than London (2018-19). For alcohol specific conditions,
Lewisham was not significantly different from London and England (2018/19)
 Since 2009/10 the Lewisham trend for admissions episodes for alcohol related
conditions for males has broadly been increasing. A similar trend is seen for women,
however this was not consistently significantly worse than England.
 Years of life lost due to alcohol related conditions in Lewisham are in-line with the
national average but worse than London for both men and women although no
significantly different for women.
 Amongst the 33 London boroughs, Lewisham’s men have the second highest rates
of death from (alcoholic) liver disease and women are in the 21st place (deaths that
occurred between 2016-18)
 In Lewisham 130 people died due to alcohol misuse over the period 2009 to
November 2015, far more than any other substance.
2.21

The Council has developed a wide range of initiatives to tackle alcohol related harm
through its alcohol delivery plan, the delivery of which is overseen by the Lewisham

Page 315

7

Health and Wellbeing Board. Additionally, Reducing Alcohol Harm is one of the key
priorities in the ten year Lewisham Health and Well Being Strategy (2013-23).
2.22

This further stresses the need to ensure licensees undertake responsible
management around the sale of alcohol in both the on and off trades, and have
regard to the licensing objectives of public safety.

2.22

LBL Public Health have implemented an initiative looking at school ‘superzones’
which is identified as the 400m radius around schools and identifying risks to children
within this zone. One of these risks identified was alcohol and the proximity of alcohol
premises within this radius of a school premises. The Chief Medical Officer advice
(2009) is that the healthiest and safest option for children is to remain alcohol free up
to 18. If they did drink alcohol it should not be at least until the age of 15. Drinking at
a young age can result in physical or mental health problems and is also associated
with poorer academic achievement and violent and anti-social behaviour. There is
evidence that 44% of young people aged 11-15 years have drunk alcohol at least
once, with 17% stating they usually drank alcohol at least once a month. Nearly a fifth
of current drinkers usually bought alcohol from a retailer or licences premises
(Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use among Young People in England, 2018). There is
evidence that exposure to alcohol marketing influences subsequent drinking
behaviour in young people, the exposure includes indirect methods such as in-store
promotions (Institute of Alcohol Studies). Therefore the Licensing Authority will
consider this potential negative impact on young people where applicants and
operators have premises near schools or other institutions associated with young
people, such as youth clubs. The Licensing Authority expects applicants to have fully
assessed their impact on the licensing objective of protection of children from harm
and identified ways to mitigate risks and outline these in their operating schedules
upon applying for a licence.

2.24

Key aims of policies within this statement are to discourage drunkenness and
excessive drinking and encourage licensees to promote licence objectives by
including more availability of food and seating within their operating schedules. This
is to encourage the enjoyment of alcohol alongside other entertainment, not as the
main offer.

Planning
2.25

The local Planning Authority is a responsible authority and can make representations
on applications. However it can only make representations related to licensing
objectives. The absence of lawful planning use is not itself a matter for licensing,
however the Planning Authority will take its own action around planning breaches,
and any planning restrictions supersede any permissions on a premises licence.
Whilst it is understood that Planning and Licensing are separate regimes governed
by their own legislative frameworks, it is also recognised that they do impact on each
other, and to residents, they are both administered under one Council.

2.24

Therefore the Licensing Authority is committed to working in alignment with the
Planning regime as closely as is possible and will share information between
services around the type of business being operated at specific premises and the
planning use at those premises. Both the Planning and Licensing regimes have
powers of enforcement for breaches of use or licence conditions, and each authority
will take its own enforcement action where breaches are identified.

2.26

The Licensing Authority therefore urges all applicants to ensure they have the correct
planning use for the business type they are operating before they apply for their
premises licence. Both planning and licensing consents must be in place for a

Page 316

8

business to operate legally. If there is a variation between opening hours given on a
premise licence and those permitted under planning, the earlier hours will apply.
2.27

Planning is the authority which governs how premises are used across the borough.
Licensing is the authority that is responsible for individual licensable activities and the
impact of those activities on the licensing objectives. The granting of planning
permission for a type of use does not limit the licensing authority from considering the
licensable activities taking place at that specific premises, their management and
conditions appropriate to them to promote licensing objectives.

Vision for Evening and Night Time Economy in Lewisham
2.28

During 2019 the Council consulted on an Evening and Night Time Economy Offer in
the borough and asked residents, businesses and visitors their feedback on the
current offer and what they would like to see more or less of. The feedback from this
consultation was used to develop the boroughs vision for the Evening and Night Time
Economy Offer, which was published in 20193.

2.29

The Vision was developed in cognisant of the launch of the Mayor of London’s vision
‘From good night to great night: A vision for London as a 24-hour city’4.

2.30

The Vision for the borough is of safe and attractive town centres providing a diverse
night-time economy, which offer decent work, are welcoming and accessible to all,
and help to foster creativity while protecting the quality of life for residents. The Vision
can also be summarised as offering:
 A diverse, inclusive offer for all communities.
 A safe and healthy night out.
 Decent work and an inclusive night-time economy.
 Well-connected and thriving town centres.
 A fostering of creativity, music and the arts.

2.32

The Licensing Authority will aim to strike a balance between promoting the licensing
objectives and a thriving evening and night time economy by ensuring that those
premises that operate in that economy are well managed, have suitable conditions to
promote licensing objectives, are operated in such a way that reflects the nature of
the area within which they are located and are compliant with law.

3.

Licensing Objectives & Operating Schedules

Operating Schedules
3.1

The licensing objectives are at the heart of the licensing regime:
 Prevention of crime and disorder
 Public safety
 Prevention of public nuisance
 Protection of children from harm

3.2

Applicants must demonstrate in their operating schedules as part of an application
how they will address and promote each objective. The Licensing Authority will make
decisions about new applications, variations and reviews based on the promotion of

3

www.lewisham.gov.uk/mediafiles/imported/eveningandnight-timeoffer
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/24_hour_london_vision.pdf

4

Page 317

9

these licence objectives. Those who make representations on applications to the
Licensing Authority and the Licensing Committee must base their representation on
these objectives.
3.3

These policies aim to assist applicants by setting out considerations that they should
have in mind when drafting an operating schedule. They highlight to applicants the
likely criteria that responsible authorities will be considering when deciding whether
to make representations on an application or when to call a review of the licence.

3.4

These considerations will also form the basis of any proposed conditions to be
attached to licence to promote licencing objectives.

3.5

The Licensing Authority expects all applications to have a full operating schedule
provided as part of any application received. Applicants are expected to carry out
their own research and where necessary seek the views of the responsible
authorities before submitting an application. Where no information is provided, it may
result in a representation being made by the licensing authority or a responsible
authority. Applicants are expected to demonstrate:
 Sufficient local knowledge of the area when outlining the steps they will be taking
to mitigate any negative impact on licensing objectives.
 Knowledge of local area including proximity to residential, commercial and other
licenced premises and how their activities will likely impact on these;
 An understanding of the crime levels and types in the area and any problem
hotspots where their activities may impact, e.g. areas subject to a PSPO, street
congregating;
 Knowledge of any local youth establishments including schools and youth clubs
and areas where children and young people may congregate;
 Any local initiatives such as the Safer Lewisham Business Partnership, Pubwatch
and taxi marshalling that may be useful to link in with to promote licensing
objectives.
 Consideration of any specific policies that apply such as cumulative impact
assessments and how their application is an exception to the policy.

Part B Principles and Policies
4.
4.1

General Principles
This Licensing Authority outlines the following principles as general principles that form
the basis of this statement of licensing policy:
a) Licensed premises can make a positive contribution to the community they
are based in where they are managed responsibly, are compliant with the
law, undertake measures appropriately and effectively to promote licensing
objectives and engage and work with the local authority and responsible
authorities.
b) Applicants should have a clear understanding of the locality in which they are
or intend to operate and this has been taken into account in their application,
in any voluntary conditions proposed and for these to be set out clearly in the
operating schedule.
c) Existing licensees should regularly review their practices and management
approaches to ensure that they are effective in promoting licensing objectives
and are current to the issues that affect the area within which they are located

Page 318

10

and their customers. This should be done in conjunction with the Licensing
Authority and Responsible Authorities where required, and always upon their
request.

5.

Policy 1: Applications

5.1

Applications for all licences and consents available under the 2003 Act must be
made on the relevant form prescribed under secondary regulations. Applications will
not be progressed until the form has been completed in full and received, together
with the correct relevant fee and all other required information, by the Licensing
Authority and the relevant responsible authorities. This includes section M ‘licensing
objective considerations’ as well as a full operating schedule.

5.2

Applications will be progressed in accordance with procedures laid down by the Act
and accompanying guidance and regulations. Prospective applicants should refer to
the separate relevant guidance documents for further details.

5.3

Applications forms are available on the council website at www.lewisham.gov.uk.
This Licencing Authority recommends that all applications are made online and
payments made online where online facilities are available.

5.4

Where electronic applications are made, the application will be taken as ‘given’ only
when the applicant has submitted a completed application form alongside the
appropriate fee.

5.5

Additionally applicants for new premises licences and variations are advised that
where an application is made online they should not submit their newspaper advert
until they have received confirmation from the Licensing Authority that the application
is correct and includes all the required information and what the last day for
representations will be5. Incorrect newspaper adverts will be required to be
undertaken again at a cost to the applicant, and the consultation period will be
extended as required.

5.6

Where applications do not provide sufficient information the Licensing Authority may
hold the application whilst waiting for the necessary information form the application.
The relevant consultation deadline will be extended as required. Should the
Licensing Authority not receive the necessary information it may refuse the
application and request the applicant submit a new application.

5.7

The licensing register and details of current applications can be also viewed on the
council website. https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/business/licences-and-streettrading/licences-issued-by-the-licensing-team/alcohol-and-entertainmentlicences/about-alcohol-and-entertainment-licenses

5.8

Steps for considering a licence application:
Application Received
For all applications - Application is fully reviewed and considered by Responsible
Authorities and Licensing Officers in line with this Licensing Policy.
Public consultation takes place for the statutory time period.

5

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, page 53, Section 8.27

Page 319

11

No Representations

Representations Received

If no relevant representations are made
against an application, then the Licensing
Authority must GRANT the licence in full.

If relevant representations are received,
then a hearing of the licensing Committee
must be held to consider the evidence
provided by applicants and those making
representations. (unless those making
representations agree in advance that this
is unnecessary. Mediation between the
applicant and those making representations
can take place up until the point of the
hearing).
At the Hearing
Conditions additional to those offered by
the applicant may be considered and added
to the licence to promote the licence
objectives in order to grant the licence.
Alternatively, adjustments may be made to
hours of activities applied for to mitigate
impact on licencing objectives, or
Committee may decide the application
should not be granted as licensing
objectives will be compromised.

Conditions
5.9

Conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate are important in setting
the parameters within which premises can lawfully operate. Licence conditions:
 must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives;
 must be precise and enforceable;
 must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve;
 should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities
placed on the employer by other legislation;
 must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises
and events concerned;
 should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated
that they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an
individual case;
 should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation;
 should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met;
 cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the
direct management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the
behaviour of customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter
or leave; and
 should be written in a prescriptive format.6

5.10

Appendix V provides a library of model conditions that can be used by applicants to
add to their operating schedules to promote licensing objectives. These can also be
use by responsible authorities and Licensing Officers.

6

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, page 4, Section 1.16

Page 320

12

New Applications
5.11

As outlined in section 3.2-3.5, this Licensing Authority expects all applications to
have a full operating schedule provided as part of any application received.
Applicants are expected to carry out their own research and where necessary seek
the views of the responsible authorities before submitting an application. Where no
information is provided, it may result in a representation being made by the licensing
authority or a responsible authority.

Personal Licences
5.12

Applications for Personal Licences must provide proof of right to work in the UK.
Licences must not be issued to individuals who are illegally present in the UK, who
are not permitted to work, or who are permitted to work but are subject to a condition
that prohibits them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity.
Applicants must provide one of the documents outlined in Appendix IV of this policy
in order to demonstrate to the Licensing Authority the right to work in the UK.

Variations
5.13

Where a premises licence holder wishes to amend their premises licence, the Act
allows, in most cases, for an application to vary the licence to be made rather than
requiring an application for a new premises licence. A minor variations process exists
for proposed variations to a licence that do not impact negatively upon the licensing
objectives. A separate major variations (full variation) process supplements this for
variations that carry potential impacts. It should be noted, however, that some
proposals to extend the current physical licensed area of the premises concerned
may require a new premises licence application to be made. Applicants should
discuss their proposals with the Licensing team before submitting an application in
order to ensure that the correct route is taken.

Applications for Club Premises Certificates
5.14

Club premises certificates may be issued to qualifying clubs, formerly registered
members clubs. To be eligible for a club premises certificate the members of the club
must have joined together for a particular social, sporting or political purpose and to
purchase alcohol in bulk, for supply to members and their guests. Qualifying
conditions are specified in Section 61 of the Act and the Licensing Authority must be
satisfied that these conditions have been met. This Authority will require evidence to
be submitted with any application that supports that the club is non-profit making and
that there is a minimum of a two-day interval between the application and the
acceptance of new members.

Provisional Statements
5.15





While applications for a full premises licence may be made in respect of a premises
that is not yet complete, this Council would prefer to see provisional statements
sought in the first instance in cases where the responsible bodies are not yet able to
confirm that works have been carried out in compliance with agreed schedules and to
standard. However, the Council acknowledges that any person falling within section
16 of the Act can apply for a premises licence before new premises are constructed,
extended or changed, as long as clear plans of the proposed structure exist and the
applicant is in a position to complete an operating schedule. The schedule will need
to contain details of:
The activities to take place there
The time at which such activities will take place
The proposed hours of opening

Page 321

13





Where the applicant wishes the licence to have effect for a limited period, that period
The steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives
Where the sale of alcohol is involved, whether supplies are proposed to be for
consumption on or off the premises (or both) and the name of the designated
premises supervisor the applicant wishes to specify.

Provision of scale plans
5.16

Applicants should note that a current scale plan of the premises should be submitted
with each new application for a premises licence and a scale plan of the proposed
layout for any application for a variation of a premises licence affecting approved
layout arrangements. Plans should normally be submitted in scale 1:100 unless
otherwise agreed by this Authority in writing. Plans need not be professionally drawn
but must be clear and legible in all material respects and provide sufficient detail for
this authority to determine the application. Applicants are asked to note that plans
should detail not only the arrangement of internal areas of the premises but also
external areas intended to be used as part of the licence. This includes patio or
garden areas and any temporary structures such as marquees or smoking shelters.

Temporary Event Notices (TENs)
5.17

The Act provides a system by way of “temporary event notices” for the temporary
carrying on of any licensable activity outside of the terms of a premises licence or
club premises certificate. Under this system no authorisation as such is required from
the licensing authority. Instead a person wishing to hold an event at which such
activities are proposed to be carried on (the “premises user”) gives notice to the
licensing authority of the event.

5.18

There are two types of TEN. A standard TEN and a late TEN. All TENs must be
given to the licensing authority in the form prescribed in regulations made under the
2003 Act, together with the relevant fee, and be copied to the police and this
authority’s environmental protection team. Please see section 10 for further guidance
on this Authority’s policy on TENs.

Consultation arrangements
5.19

It is important that the local community is fully aware of local licensing applications
being made within its area. Regulations governing the advertising of applications for
new premises licences, variation or review of premises licences and club premises
certificates require a public notice to be published in the local press and a brief
summary of the application to be displayed immediately on or outside premises
concerned. Failure to comply with the requirements in full will result in the
progression of the application being delayed.

5.20

This Authority understands that regulations to the Act require public notices to be of a
size equal or larger than A4; of pale blue colour and printed legibly in black ink or
typed in black, in a font of a size equal to or larger than 16.

5.21

Applications may be rejected or consultation time extended on the basis of improper
notification if public notices fail to comply with this minimum standard. Therefore to
ensure that the notice of application displayed at the premises may be clearly seen
and easily read by passers-by, this authority expects the following:


that public notices be of A3 size in pale blue colour printed legibly in black
ink in a font of size equal to or larger than 20.

Page 322

14






this Licensing Authority expects applicants to use paper that is of blue not
white tone, so that the public can clearly distinguish the notice as a blue
notice and different to a white notice as used for other applications;
This Authority also asks that the notice summarises the proposed licensable
activities and the proposed hours of opening and remains clearly displayed
in a position where it may be readily seen by passers-by for the period
during which representations may be made. Checks will be made to ensure
that the summary is properly displayed.
Template notices can be found on the Council’s licensing pages on the
website.

5.22

This Licensing Authority also expects applicants to take steps to consult with the
wider community within which their premises is located, including notifying local
businesses and neighbouring properties about their proposals in their application.
This is especially important for premises where there may be sale of alcohol at later
times of the day or regulated entertainment that may impact on neighbours. Early
consultation and agreement on any actions to mitigate negative impact at an early
stage may prevent objections to an application, or a review of licence being sought
after its grant due to problems of nuisance occurring to neighbouring properties.

5.23

The Council supports the consultation process by maintaining a public register for
view on the Council’s website. This details all current applications (alongside detail of
current licensed premises). https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/business/licencesand-street-trading/licences-issued-by-the-licensing-team/alcohol-and-entertainmentlicences/about-alcohol-and-entertainment-licenses

Responsible authorities
5.24

The responsible authorities (see section 2.5) must be notified of, and are entitled to
lodge representations about, applications for premises licences or club premises
certificates or variations. They may ask the licensing authority to review a premises
licence or club premises certificate. Responsible authorities will also provide advice
and information on established best management practice. Some information on
preparing an operating schedule is contained within this policy but applicants may
also wish to consult with the authorities directly.

5.25

This authority advises that it recognises the Lewisham’s Safeguarding Children’s
Board as the body competent to advise on matters concerning the protection of
children from harm.

5.26

It should be noted that the Director of Public Health is included as a responsible
authority. While health is not included as a licensing objective, the Guidance to the
Act recognises that health bodies may hold information which other responsible
authorities do not, but which would assist a licensing authority in exercising its
functions.

Representations
5.27

It is open to any “responsible authority”, as defined under the Act, or other person to
lodge representations concerning a premises licence or club premises certificate
application during the set consultation period.

5.28

A representation will only be “relevant” if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of
the licence on the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. A
representation that fails to do this is not “relevant” for the purposes of the 2003 Act. It

Page 323

15

is for the Licensing Authority to determine on its merits whether any representation
by an interested party is frivolous or vexatious.
5.28

Representations must be received in writing by the Licensing Authority by the last
date for representations. Representations must be signed and dated, provide the
grounds of representation in full and include the name and address of the person /
body making the representation. Further information on how to make a
representation and what to include can be found on the Council’s website on the
alcohol and entertainment pages7.

5.29

It should be understood that applicants are entitled to information regarding those
who have lodged representations so as to understand the case made against the
application.

The Licensing Authority acting as Responsible Authority
5.29

Licensing authorities are included within the list of responsible authorities. This role
will be undertaken within the authority’s Crime, Enforcement and Regulation service.
This Authority will determine when it considers it appropriate to act in its capacity as
a responsible authority in accordance with its duties under section 4 of the 2003 Act
and having regard for this Policy.

5.30

Where it is decided to act within the responsible authority role, a separation of duties
will be maintained to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest.

Determination of Applications
5.31

In accordance with the provisions of the Act, this authority has established a
Licensing Committee with a maximum of 15 members and provision for
subcommittees of three members to be drawn from the overall pool of the main
committee membership.

5.32

In doing so, the Council has sought to establish an efficient and cost-effective system
for determinations of licences. Where the Act carries a presumption of grant for
applications to which no objection has been made, the administration of the grant will
be delegated to officers. All such matters will be periodically reported for information
only to the full Licensing Committee.

5.33

Where matters are subject of representations, the licensing service will normally
attempt to reach a negotiated conclusion through a conciliation process. This process
is operated in recognition of the fact that the most workable solutions are normally
ones that all parties concerned can sign up to. The conciliation process may include
the agreement of conditions on the licence to address concerns or a revision of
operating hours or activities. Conciliation can be agreed up until the hearing takes
place. Where this is not possible the application and representations to it will be
considered by the committee at a public hearing.

5.35

Appendix I sets out the schedule of delegation of decisions and functions to
Licensing Committee and Officers. This form of delegation is without prejudice to the
council’s right to redirect an application as appropriate in the circumstances of any
particular case.

7

https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/business/licences-and-street-trading/licences-issued-by-thelicensing-team/alcohol-and-entertainment-licences/licensing---guidance-on-making-a-representation

Page 324

16

Licence Reviews
5.36

At any stage following the grant of a premises licence, a responsible authority or
other persons, may ask the Licensing Authority to review the licence because of a
matter arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives.

5.37

Additionally a review of a premises licence will normally follow in any of the
circumstances outlined below:
 Where a premises has been closed by the Police for up to 24 hours on
grounds of disorder or nuisance.
 Where a magistrates court makes a closure order under Part 8 of Licensing
Act 2003.
 Where a magistrates court requests a licence review under sections 80 or 84
of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 2014 when undertaking a
closure order under this act. Provisions of section 167 of the Licensing Act
2003 outline this requirement.
 Where a court has made an illegal working compliance order under schedule
6 of the Immigration Act 2016 and the Authority has received a notice under
that order.

5.38

A licence review can have several possible outcomes:
 no action being found necessary,
 modifying or adding conditions to the licence
 removal of the designated premises supervisor
 exclusion of a licensable activity from the scope of the licence
 temporary suspension for a period not exceeding 3 months
 Revocation of a licence.

5.39

Where a review of a premises licence is sought the application must relate
specifically to a particular premises licence, be relevant to the licensing objectives
and provide evidence to the allegations and grounds for review.

5.40

Before accepting an application for review, the Licensing Authority will review all
application for review and will consider that the applications relates to licensing
objectives and isn’t vexatious or frivolous.

5.41

The Licensing Authority may also reject an application made by an interested party if
it determines that the ground for the review is repetitious, that it is substantially
similar to an earlier review, following which a “reasonable interval” has not passed
since the earlier application or alternatively since the grant of the premises licence.

5.42

Comments about applications for review can be submitted by responsible authorities
and interested parties by the way of representations. Representations may be in
support or in objection to an application for review being made.

5.43

The Licensing Authority takes all applications for a review seriously and will judge
each application on its own merits. However where there are cause for concern that
the prevention of crime and disorder objective is being undermined through the
premises being in connection with a criminal offence or offences, the section 182
guidance states that it is expected the revocation of the licence, even in the first
instance, will be serious considered.8

8

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, page 94, Section 11.28

Page 325

17

5.44

The section 182 guidance states that there is certain criminal activity that may arise
in connection with licensed premises which should be treated particularly seriously.
These are the use of the licensed premises:
• for the sale and distribution of drugs controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act
1971 and the laundering of the proceeds of drugs crime;
• for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms;
• for the evasion of copyright in respect of pirated or unlicensed films and music,
which does considerable damage to the industries affected;
• for the illegal purchase and consumption of alcohol by minors which impacts on
the health, educational attainment, employment prospects and propensity for
crime of young people;
• for prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography;
• by organised groups of paedophiles to groom children;
• as the base for the organisation of criminal activity, particularly by gangs;
 for the organisation of racist activity or the promotion of racist attacks;
• for employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their
immigration status in the UK;
• for unlawful gambling; and
• for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol.

6.

Policy 2: Licensing Fees

6.1

Licensing fees are set and due for payment on the anniversary of the licence. If the
licensing fee is not paid by this date, then the licence will be suspended until such
fees are paid.

6.2

Where a licence is to be suspended the holder will be notified in writing giving at least
two working days’ notice. The police and other responsible authorities will be
informed.

6.3

Premises licence applications are dependent upon the non-domestic rateable value
of the premises. This value is set by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) and can be
found on the www.gov.uk website.

6.4

It is the Licence Holders responsibility to pay fees, the authority will not issue a
reminder of fees when they are due. This is a matter for licence holders and this
authority expects licence holders to take responsibility for ensuring that their fees are
paid when they are due.

6.5

If the fee is disputed prior to the date it is due for a payment the licence will not be
suspended pending clarification and resolution. Once the actual fee has been
clarified this will be payable and continued non-payment will result in suspension.
Where an administrative error occurs in relation to the recorded receipt of the annual
fee has been made by the local authority and the licence holder has provided proof of
payment the licence will not be suspended.

6.6

Carrying on a licensable activity when the licence is suspended is a criminal offence
and may result in enforcement action including prosecution.

Page 326

18

6.7

Details of Licence fees can be found on the website and annual fees can be paid
online at the Council’s website9

7. Policy 3: Promotion of Licensing Objectives:
Prevention of Crime and Disorder
7.1

The Licensing system plays a key role in controlling and regulating crime, disorder
and anti-social behaviour through its focus on the promotion of licensing objectives.
This is due to the link between alcohol consumption and individuals’ risk of becoming
involved in crime and disorder increasing, either as a perpetrator or a victim of that
crime. Crime problems that may arise include;







Violent crime, including sexual assault
Criminal damage
Anti-social behaviour
Street drinking
Public disorder
Drug use

7.2

This range of problems then impacts more widely on the healthcare system in the
form of ambulance call outs for binge drinking and alcohol related injuries and A&E
attendances.

7.3

The Council and Licensing Authority recognises that well managed licensed premises
can make a valuable contribution to the community and local economy, however
poorly run premises can become a source of crime and disorder, especially if those
premises offer late night alcohol, entertainment or refreshment.

7.4

Other crime issues that may arise in and around licensed premises are as follows:
 Drug dealing
 Possession of weapons
 Drunkenness on the premises
 Underage drinking
 Theft
 Prostitution
 Trafficking
 Illegal workers
 Child sexual exploitation
 Harassment
 Counterfeit products
 Non duty paid goods
 Breach of smoke free legislation (e.g. shisha bars)

7.4

The Licensing Authority expects applicants to undertake risk assessments as part of
the considerations when completing their operating schedules around how to mitigate
and manage risk of crime and disorder in and around their licensed premises. Whilst

9

https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/business/licences-and-street-trading/licences-issued-by-the-licensingteam/alcohol-and-entertainment-licences/fees-list-for-alcohol-and-entertainment-licences

Page 327

19

there is no requirement to do so under the Act, applicants may find it useful to share
this risk assessment with responsible authorities when submitting their application.
7.5

Outlined below are a number of possible controls that may be appropriate for the
promotion of the prevention of crime and disorder objective that applicants are
expected to consider and include as part of their operating schedules. This is not a
definitive list and some may not be appropriate in all circumstances. However it is
expected that applicants should consider what may be necessary to promote
licensing objectives and either use or modify these suggestions as appropriate to
their activities or undertake new controls as required:
 Use of CCTV of all entry and exit points, covering the licensable area, kept for a
minimum of 31 days
 Use of Security Industry Association (SIA) door staff at appropriate times of
day/night - valuable in managing admissions, queues, dispersal etc.
 Undertake measures to prevent drug use on premises
 Membership of Safer Lewisham Business Partnership Radio Scheme
 Regular Licensing Training for all Staff
 Effective dispersal policies and arrangements for moving on patrons upon leaving
the premises
 Signing up to crime reduction schemes such as ‘Ask Angela’, Pub Watch etc.
 Where appropriate searching patrons upon entry for weapons or drugs
 Use of ID scanning machines
 Setting of safe capacity limits
 Provision of sufficient seating in the premises
 Use of crime prevention notices
 Control over the removal of open containers from premises
 Use of polycarbonate plastics and toughened glass rather than glass, decanting
from glass bottles etc.
 Removal of low cost high strength alcohol from sale – to address problems such
as street drinking.
 Last admissions policy
 Hire policy where management maintain control over premises at all times when
premises are hired for private use - Also comply with requests from the police not
to engage a specific promoter where this is recommended by the police for crime
and disorder reasons.

7.6

The Licensing Authority will look to the police as the main source of advice on crime
and disorder10, as well as involving the views of the Safer Lewisham Partnership. The
Licensing Authority will accept all reasonable representations made by the Police
unless there is evidence that to do so would not be appropriate for the promotion of
licensing objectives. Conditions based on the above list of actions may be added to a
licence to promote the licensing objective of prevention of crime and disorder.

7.7

The prevention of immigration crime is included under this licensing objective and
this covers illegal working in licensed premises. The Licensing authority will work with
the Police and Home Office Immigration Enforcement to address concerns around
this area. The Home Office may instigate their own reviews of licences based on
evidence of illegal working in licensed premises. Where appropriate conditions
addressing this concern such as a requirement for all licensees to obtain evidence of

10

Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, April 2018, page 11, section 5.11

Page 328

20

an individual’s right to work in the UK before employment may be added to promote
the licensing objectives.

Prevention of Public Nuisance
7.8

Public Nuisance in and around licensed premises is the most common reason for
complaints to the Council regarding licensed premises and for representations
against applications. Public Nuisance ranges from low level nuisance affecting one or
two people, to incidents affecting large numbers of people. The Authority interprets
nuisance in its widest sense to include matters such as music, noise from patrons
both inside and outside the premises, litter, and urinating, light and anti-social
behaviour. While noise is often the main concern, obstruction of the highway
preventing people passing by on the pavement and forcing them into the road can
also be both intimidating and dangerous and hamper access by emergency services,
or street cleansing. Local residents may be further affected by smoke from
barbeques and other cooking equipment used in the open air.

7.9

All applicants and licensees should be mindful of potential nuisance issues and take
this in to consideration when preparing their operating schedules. Night time activities
can be particularly intrusive as ambient noise levels drop during this time and most
residents sleep. The Council deems unsociable hours for noise between 11pm and
6am. Applicants will need to demonstrate how they will address issues such as:










7.10

The general noise of patrons arriving and leaving the premises
The egress and dispersal of their patrons
The avoidance of any congregating and loitering of patrons at or near the
premises
Noise from patrons in queues or in outside smoking areas
Noise from outside seating areas and beer gardens
Noise from the premises itself
Patrons returning to parked cars in nearby streets
Patrons access to taxi marshals or ranks
Clearance of Litter or debris from activities at their premises accumulating on
nearby streets.

Applicants are recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Crime, Enforcement
& Regulation Service when preparing their operating plans and schedules. Where
relevant, applicants are also advised to refer to:
 The Institute of Acoustics “Good Practice Guide on the Control of Noise from
Pubs and Clubs”
 Noise at Work Guidance for employers on the Control of Noise at Work
Regulations 2005 issued by the Health and Safety Executive and obtainable
from http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/indg362.pdf
 In the case of large music events, the Code of Practice on Environmental Noise
Control at Concerts produced by the Noise Council together with Lewisham’s
Events policies ( see section 11, Policy 7)
 Guidance on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust
Systems produced by DEFRA
 Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light – Institute of Lighting
Engineers (2005)

7.11

Outlined below are a number of possible measures that may be appropriate for the
promotion of the prevention of public nuisance objective, broken down to addressing

Page 329

21

noise emanating from both outside and inside the premises. This is not a definitive
list and some may not be appropriate in all circumstances. However it is expected
that applicants should consider what may be necessary to promote licensing
objectives and either use or modify these suggestions as appropriate to their
activities or undertake new controls as required:

Prevention Noise from Outside the Premises
7.12

Licensees have a responsibility for the conduct of their customers while they are in
and around their premises. If provision is made for customers to congregate or
smoke outside of premises, then sufficient management controls must be put into
place to ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to local residents. Failure
to control customers outside of premises can result in licence reviews being
submitted and impact upon the premises licence.

7.13

Some simple management controls can be put into place which can significantly
reduce the risk of nuisance caused to local residents outside of licensed premises.
These include placing management controls on:



















The numbers of persons using any licensed external area at any one time.
The hours of operation of any licensed external area, requiring patrons to return
back into the premises at a specific time. Licensing Authority deems that a
closing time of 22.00 for external areas is appropriate to promote licensing
objectives, and in dense residential areas this may need to be earlier. Any music
played into the external area should also cease.
The numbers of ‘smokers’ allowed outside of the premises at any one time.
The taking of drinks outside of the premises when patrons step outside to
smoke. This can be assisted by providing a ‘drinks safe’ area for patrons who
temporarily leave the premises.
Queues of patrons awaiting admission and how these are arranged.
The areas within which patrons may congregate outside of the premises,
restricting them, for instance, to the curtilage or footprint of the premises.
The times within which live music and / or amplified sound may be played in any
external area or marquees or relayed by external speakers (where permitted
under the terms of the licence). The Licensing Authority deems that this should
not continue beyond 22.00.
The times within which barbecues or other cooking facilities may be provided
within any external area.
Terminal hour for last admissions and re-admissions to the premises.
The supervision of patrons using any external area so as to prevent nuisance
and disturbance.
Arrangements made with local cab companies calling for customers, requiring
that they call within the premises for their customers without sounding their horn
in the street.
The reduction of music levels within the premises 30 minutes before closing so
as to reduce levels of excitement among patrons upon leaving.
The display of notices at exit points asking patrons to ‘please leave quietly’ and
be mindful of local neighbours when leaving the premises.
The supervision of patrons outside of the premises to ensure quick dispersal
from the immediate area upon closing time.
The clearance of any litter created by the operation of the premises.
The hours during which external activities such as the handling and removal of
waste or musical equipment or the delivery of goods. It is recommended this is
prohibited between 2200 and 0800.

Page 330

22



Restricting the use of artificial lighting outside of the premises so as to reduce
the potential for light nuisance.

Preventing nuisance from within premises
7.14

Nuisance may often be caused by sound escaping from the premises or transmitted
through the structure of the building. Again, some simple management steps may be
taken to reduce the problem but in some premises physical works may be necessary
to prevent nuisance being caused to local residents. The likelihood of this increases
where regulated entertainments are to be provided under the licence and the later
the hour of the entertainment and where residents live adjacent to, above or close by
the premises or there are other noise sensitive premises. Where physical measures
are likely to be necessary expert advice should be sought on appropriate measures.

7.15

This authority expects that the following measures will be considered and applied
appropriate to the level of risk of nuisance being created (again, this list is not
exhaustive);
 Keeping doors and windows closed during performances of licensable regulated
entertainment.
 Management control of entrance / exit lobbies so as to ensure that the integrity of
the premises is maintained and internal sound contained.
 Management and recording of periodic perimeter checks.
 The provision of acoustic double door lobbies.
 The provision of acoustic seals and self-closers on doors.
 The provision of alarms to fire doors or other private external doors.
 The connection of fire doors and / or private external doors to the sound limiting
device (so that volume is reduced if the doors are opened).
 The installation and use of a sound-limiting device for all amplified sound to
enable maximum volume and bass to be set at levels appropriate for the
premises / event.
 The installation and / or maintenance of double glazing / sound resistant glass;
 The provision of sound insulation to party walls, floor and ceiling.
 The provision of acoustic baffling to any ventilation extract and intake system.
 The provision of additional air conditioning / air cooling to enable doors and
windows to remain closed during any entertainment.

7.16

Any applicant that applies for a licence to run after midnight is expected to submit a
detailed dispersal policy with their application.

7.17

Section 12 outlines the Authority’s policy on Outdoor Events.

7.18

Proximity to residential accommodation is a significant concern with regards to
prevention of public nuisance. Each case will be considered on its own merits,
however stricter conditions will generally apply to those applications with denser
levels of residential accommodation or greater proximity to residential
accommodation. This may include the authority considering a terminal hour that is
earlier than that proposed by the applicant. Section 14 of this statement outlines the
authority’s preferred terminal hours for set areas/location/premises type.

Protection of Children from Harm
7.19

The licensing objective of the protection of children from harm includes the protection
of children from moral, psychological and physical harm. This includes not only
protecting children from the harms associated with alcohol but also wider harms such

Page 331

23

as exposure to strong language and sexual expletives (for example, in the context of
exposure to certain films or adult entertainment).
7.20

This Authority takes the protection of children from harm very serious expects all
licensees and employees at licensed premises to do so as well. This Licensing
Authority believes that it is completely unacceptable to sell alcohol and associated
age-restricted products to children.

7.21

The Council shares the government’s concern over the purchase and consumption of
alcohol by minors. The Health and Social Care Information Centre report on
‘Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Among Young People in England in 2018 notes,
the average (mean) consumption by pupils aged 11-15 who drank alcohol in the
week before they were surveyed was 9.8 units. Consumption varied widely; 22% of
pupils who drank in the last week consumed at least 15 units. The UK has one of the
highest rates in the EU of admissions to hospital or A&E due to alcohol use by 15-16
year olds11.

7.22

Frequency of drinking is associated with offending in children and young people. The
2004 Offending, Crime and Justice Survey found those who drank alcohol once a
week or more committed a disproportionate volume of crime, accounting for 37% of
all offences but only 14% of respondents.

7.23

This Authority expects applicants for premises licences and club premises certificates
to have prepared their operating schedule on the basis of a risk assessment of the
potential sources of harm to children. Existing licensees are expected to review their
procedures regularly and ensure they are still relevant to the nature of the premises.

7.24

Relevant issues might include;
 Preventing access to alcohol
 Removing encouragement for children to consume alcohol
 Preventing exposure to gaming
 Preventing exposure to adult entertainments or facilities

Test Purchasing and Underage sales
7.25

The Council’s Crime, Enforcement & Regulation Service is responsible for enforcing
the statutory Trading Standards provisions around under age sales. The service
works closely with Police and undertake regular test purchasing operations at
premises across the borough. Trading standards may take enforcement action where
positive sales occur under the test purchasing scheme which may lead to
prosecution. Additionally, where positive sales of alcohol to children occur, this may
result in a review of a licence or request for additional conditions to be added to a
licence designed to assist the management to counter attempts by children to
purchase alcohol. Any additional conditions required will be subject to discussion with
licence holders.

7.26

The Act makes it an offence to permit children under the age of 16, who are not
accompanied by an adult to be present on premises being used exclusively or
primarily for the supply of alcohol for consumption on those premises, under the
authorisation of a premises licence, club premises certificate or where that activity is
carried on under the authority of a temporary event notice. In addition, it is an offence
to permit children under 16 who are not accompanied by an adult, between midnight

11

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/smoking-drinking-and-drug-use-amongyoung-people-in-england/2018

Page 332

24

and 0500 at other premises supplying alcohol for consumption on the premises,
under any such authority.
7.27

The Licensing Authority recognises, however, that licences may be sought for a great
variety of premises, including theatres, cinemas, restaurants, concert halls, takeaway and fast food outlets as well as public houses and nightclubs. While the
Licensing Authority would encourage applicants to make provision for the access of
children, where appropriate, conditions restricting the access of children will be
strongly considered in circumstances where:
 Adult entertainment is provided
 A member or members of the current management have been convicted for
serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for allowing underage drinking
 It is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed access
 There is a known association with drug taking or drug dealing
 The premises are used exclusively or primarily for the sale of alcohol for
consumption upon the premises

7.28

Applicants must be clear in their operating schedules about the activities intended to
be provided and the times at which these shall take place, in order to help determine
when it is not appropriate for children to enter the premises.

Measures to protect Children from Harm
7.29

Outlined below are a number of possible controls that may be appropriate for the
promotion of the protection of children from harm objective. This is not a definitive list
and some may not be appropriate in all circumstances. However it is expected that
applicants should consider what may be necessary to promote licensing objectives
and either use or modify these suggestions as appropriate to their activities or
undertake new controls as required.

7.30

Consideration should be given to the following options:
 Restricting the hours when children are present
 Restricting or excluding children under a specified age when particular specified
activities are taking place.
 Restricting the parts of the premises to which children may have access;
 Age restrictions (below 18/21)
 Requirements for an accompanying adult.
 Full exclusion of people under the age of 18 years from the premises.

Age Verification
7.31

The following mandatory licence condition must be attached to all premises licences
and club premises certificates issued by this Authority.
‘The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an
age verification policy applies to the premises in relation to the sale of alcohol. This
must as a minimum require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be
under 18 years of age to produce upon request, before being served alcohol,
identification bearing their photograph, date of birth, and a holographic mark’.

7.32

The Licensing Authority recommends that as a minimum applicants and licensees
have the following in place:
 That an age verification scheme is established and maintained that requires the
production of evidence of age (comprising any Proof of Age Standards Scheme
(PASS) accredited card or passport or driving licence) from any person

Page 333

25




7.33

However, the Licensing Authority expects that as best management practice:















7.34

appearing to staff engaged in selling or supplying alcohol to be under the age of
18 and who is attempting to buy alcohol
That notices be displayed informing customers and staff that sales of alcohol will
not be made to under 18s and that age verification will be required
That evidence of the scheme (in the form of documented procedures) is
maintained and made available for inspection by authorised officers

That “Challenge 25” is supported as part of the age verification scheme
established. The scheme should require the production of evidence of age
(comprising any PASS accredited card or passport or driving licence) from any
person appearing to staff engaged in selling or supplying alcohol to be under the
age of 25 and who is attempting to buy alcohol
That “Challenge 25” notices be displayed informing customers and staff that
sales of alcohol will not be made to anyone appearing to be under 25 unless they
can prove they are 18 or over
That evidence of the scheme (in the form of documented procedures) is
maintained and made available for inspection by authorised officers
That all staff involved in the sale of alcohol shall be trained in the age verification
scheme and records of such training shall be retained on the premises and made
available for inspection by authorised officers
That an incident log shall be maintained and details of all age related refusals
recorded. This book shall be reviewed monthly by the DPS and any actions
taken recorded in the book and signed off by the DPS. This log shall be retained
on the premises and made available for inspection by authorised officers
That if a CCTV recording system is installed inside the premises, it shall be
positioned to capture the sale of alcohol. A library of recordings taken by the
system shall be maintained for 31 days and made available to authorised officers
upon request
That a personal licence holder shall be on the premises at all times that alcohol
is supplied
That an EPOS (electronic point of sale) system is installed at the premises, it
shall be configured to prompt the operator to check proof of age when an
alcoholic product is scanned. This prompt should require the operator to confirm
the purchaser is over 18 before the next item can be scanned or the transaction
completed
That the DPS shall ensure that, as far as is reasonably practical, alcohol is
displayed in an area which can be constantly monitored or supervised by staff,
separate from goods likely to be purchased by persons under 18
That, if any advertising campaigns or promotions of alcohol are planned, the
premises licence holder shall ensure they are carried out in a socially
responsible manner and that they do not encourage irresponsible drinking. If
authorised officers raise concerns about any promotion the premises licence
holder shall discontinue it.

This Authority recommends that all operators should give careful consideration to
introducing these controls into their management practices and including them within
their operating schedules.

Children and responsible drinks promotions
7.35

The Portman Group operates, on behalf of the alcohol industry, the ‘Code of Practice
of the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks’ to ensure that alcohol
is marketed responsibly and only at adults. The Code applies to all alcohol marketing

Page 334

26

(including naming, packaging, sponsorship, point of sale and brand merchandising)
which is primarily UK targeted and not already subject to regulation by the
Advertising Standards Authority (ASA) or Ofcom.
7.36

The Code can be viewed at
http://www.portmangroup.org.uk/codes/alcoholmarketing/code-of-practice/code-ofpractice. This authority commends the Code accordingly.

Children and Cinemas – Mandatory licence condition
7.37


Where premises licences incorporate film exhibitions as a licensable activity the
following mandatory condition will be imposed:
The admission of children to films is to be restricted in accordance with
recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4 of the Video
Recordings Act 1984 specified in the licence (currently the British Board of Film
Classification) or by the licensing authority itself.

7.38

Applicants are expected to include within their operating schedule arrangements for
restricting children from viewing age-restricted films.

7.39

The Licensing Authority will not make exceptions to the above position, inclusive of
requests to host ‘mother and baby’ screenings where infants are allowed into
screenings of 12, 15 and 18 rated films. The Council and this Licensing Authority
takes its role around safeguarding of children very seriously. Under no circumstances
will this Licensing Authority allow children to view age-restricted films in a licensed
premises or event.

Regulated Entertainment Provided for Children
7.40

Where entertainments or facilities generally are provided specifically for children,
applicants are asked to demonstrate within their application;








7.42

That the company / organisation has a policy or statement on keeping children
safe from harm
How employees or contracted agencies will be made aware of the company’s /
organisation’s policy / statement on keeping children safe from harm
That recruitment processes for staff who may have to deal direct with children
under the age of 18 seek to ensure, as best the company / organisation can, that
the appointed applicant has not been known to have harmed children
That there will be clear expectations on staff with regard to their personal
conduct in direct relations with children under 18 and guidance on what is
appropriate in dealing with specific situations which may arise
There are systems in place and that staff are aware of them for dealing with
possible abuse or violence to children from other users of the licensed facility
There are clear and accessible complaints systems for children to report if they
have been harmed and that there are clear whistle-blowing procedures for staff
who may have concerns about the welfare of children on the premises
That all duty managers or staff in charge of the premises are aware of how to
refer any concerns about the welfare of children to the local police, education
authority or social services as necessary

Where a theatrical entertainment is specially presented for children, the Council
advises the presence of sufficient adult staff to control access and egress of children
and to protect them from harm as follows:

Page 335

27

(1) An adult member of staff to be stationed in the vicinity of each of the exits from
any level, subject to there being a minimum of one member of staff per 50 children
or part thereof
(2) No child (unless accompanied by an adult) to be permitted in the front row of any
balcony
(3) No standing to be permitted in any part of the auditorium during the Performance

Entertainment involving Striptease and Nudity
7.43

Applicants proposing activity that includes adult entertainment are also referred to the
policy set out on the Council’s website:
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/business/licences-and-street-trading/licencesissued-by-the-licensing-team/sex-establishment-licences. The victims of “people
trafficking” often include young females under 18, and this is a further reason why the
policy makes reference to it (see Policy 18).

7.44

Additionally, applicants need to consider the proximity of their premises to schools,
youth clubs and other buildings where children may frequent and address these risks
in their operating schedules. See Section 21 for more guidance on this Authority’s
policy on Entertainment involving striptease and nudity.

Public Safety
7.45

The public safety licensing objective is concerned with the physical safety of the
people using the premises. To ensure the safety of customers, applicants will need to
be able to demonstrate that the premises comply with all health and safety
regulations and risk assessments, where required are current and up to date.

7.46

Outlined below are a number of possible controls that may be appropriate for the
promotion of the public safety objective. This is not a definitive list and some may not
be appropriate in all circumstances. However it is expected that applicants should
consider what may be necessary to promote licensing objectives and either use or
modify these suggestions as appropriate to their activities or undertake new controls
as required.

7.48

Applicants should have consideration to the following measures:
 Strict and enforced capacity limits – these should be set following a fire safety
risk assessment as required under the Regulatory Reform Order 2005. This will
reduce the likelihood of the Fire Brigade making a representation against an
application
 Suitable training for staff to recognise vulnerable patrons, including those who
may be under the influence of drugs or may be drunk, so that they may be
assisted home safely
 Training on drunkenness and an awareness of impact of selling to those already
drunk
 Transport options advertised at premises – taxis, contact numbers and
availability of telephone to call a taxi at the premises.
 Measures to compact drink spiking
 Use of safety schemes such as ‘Ask Angela’, Women’s Safety Charter
 Dispersal Policy to help reduce time that patrons may be waiting for cabs at taxi
ranks etc.
 Training to deal with harassment or aggressive behaviour

7.49

Applicants are advised to seek advice from the London Fire Brigade as a responsible
authority when preparing this risk assessments and operating schedules. Where an

Page 336

28

applicant identified an issue relating to public safety that is not covered by existing
legislation, the applicant should identify in their operating schedule the steps they will
take to ensure public safety.

8 Policy 4: Partnership working
8.1

The Licensing Authority aims to work partnership wherever it is appropriate and
possible to do so. This includes working alongside responsible authorities such as
the Police and Environmental Health, as well as enforcement agencies such as
HMRC and local and national agencies such as Safer London Business Partnership,
Pub Watch, Institute of Licensing and trade groups.

8.2

This partnership approach includes information sharing about licensees, licensed
premises and activities associated with those premises, operating schedules, results
of compliance checks and details of related enforcement.

8.3

The Licencing Authority will also take a multi-agency approach to compliance visits,
enforcement operations and engagement exercises with licensees and residents by
working with relevant and appropriate partner agencies.

8.4

The Licensing Authority will also communicate with responsible authorities to seek
their views on applications to ensure that a partnership approach is achieved in
considering applications and any representations that may be made to those
applications.

8.5

The Licensing Authority is also committed to working in partnership with and being
accessible to licensees and other organisations representing licensees’ interests
such as Pub Watches, Business improvement districts, regeneration schemes and
other business forums. The Licensing Authority aims to support these groups in order
to promote licensing objectives and address potential problems at an early stage,
with the aim of collaboratively developing preventative measures and interventions to
problems that may arise.

9

Policy 5: Enforcement

9.1

This Licensing Authority will aim to undertake a stepped approach to enforcement,
working with appropriate responsible authorities.

9.2

All enforcement actions taken by the licensing service are governed by the Council’s
Enforcement Policy, which has been drafted with reference to the Principles of Good
Regulation as stated in the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 and the
Regulators Code as published by the Better Regulation Delivery Office.

9.3

It is essential that licensed premises operate in accordance with the Act and comply
in full with licence terms, conditions and restrictions at all times. Part of the Licensing
Authority’s role is to monitor premises and take appropriate action to ensure that the
licensing objectives are promoted. This Authority recognises the importance of
enforcement to the promotion of those objectives. The Authority is committed to
continue to undertake enforcement measures and proceedings in partnership with
other relevant statutory agencies. Offences against the Act are set out in the Act,
Appendix V provides an outline for reference.

9.4

In accordance with the guidance to the Act, the Licensing Authority will work in
partnership with the police and the other responsible authorities in promoting the

Page 337

29

licensing objectives. It is general practice that where issues come to the attention of
the Licensing Authority that these will be shared with other responsible authorities
and joint actions will undertake to address those problems.
9.5

The Authority will operate on an intelligence led approach to its enforcement, where
compliant, well-regulated licensed premises are not generally a focus of enforcement
and where premises that do not meet these standards are supported to become
compliant and well managed businesses. Where this is not successful, they will be
subject to appropriate and proportionate enforcement action.

9.6

All proactive premises inspections will be undertaken on a risk-assessed basis with
resources targeted toward agreed problem and high-risk premises, which require
greater attention.

9.7

Investigations may be undertaken through a range of means including overt and
covert operations. This could include overt visits to premises to ensure opening hours
restrictions are adhered to, and covert test purchases of age restricted products
including alcohol (see section 19 for more details on this Authority’s policy on Age
Verification and Test Purchasing).

9.8

Additionally, this Authority recognises the important role played in preventing crime
and disorder by the Security Industry Authority by ensuring that door supervisors are
properly licensed and, in partnership with the police and other agencies, that security
companies are not being used as fronts for serious and organised criminal activity.
This Authority will look to co-operate with the SIA as far as possible and as part of
this co-operation has authorised officers to act under the powers of the Private
Security Industry Act 2001.

9.9

It remains the over-riding intention of this Authority, the Police and the other relevant
enforcement agencies to work together at all times with responsible licence holders
and operators to help run successful venues and facilities that play a positive role
within the local community. We will look to provide support, advice and education and
give early warning of any concerns identified at any premises. In return we expect
licence holders to act responsibly and work together with us. However, the authorities
will use the range of enforcement powers made available under the Act where
individuals act with disregard to their responsibilities.

9.10

Officers will deal with a first breach of licence with a warning letter and advice and
support about how to be compliant. Following this, if further breaches are identified
then licences may be placed on action plan. Should officers warrant the breach to be
of a serious or concerning nature or repeated attempts to work with licensees to be
compliant fails, then officers will seek a review of the licence to request changes, add
conditions or revoke it.

9.11

The Licensing Authority will investigate complaints regarding licensed premises and
alleged breaches of licence and incidents of nuisance. Residents can make
complaints regarding licensed premises to licensing@lewisham.gov.uk. The
Licensing Authority will work in conjunction with the Police and other relevant
responsible authorities to address the complaint.

9.12

Where complaints are concerning criminal matters at the premises, the Police will
take a lead on any investigation. Residents can report crimes at licensed premises to
101 or 999 in an emergency.

Page 338

30

10.

Policy 6: Authority and Designated Premises Supervisor

10.1

Every supply of alcohol under a premises licence must be made or authorised by
someone holding a personal licence. Every premises with a licence must have one
person holding a personal licence specified as the Designated Premises Supervisor
(DPS). This will normally be the person with day-to day responsibility for running the
premises.

10.2

The Authority recognises that there is no requirement for the DPS to be on the
premises at all times that licensable activities are taking place, however the DPS
must be able to ensure that all four licensing objectives are being promoted at all
times that the sale of alcohol is taking place and that the premises is operating
compliantly with the law and related regulations. The DPS should be familiar with the
local area and the challenges that may be present in promoting the licensing
objectives in that area.

10.3

Where sales of alcohol take place and the DPS is not present, written authorisation
must be given to other persons involved in making the sales in their absence. This
Licensing Authority expects that this written authorisation should be displayed and
easily available for inspection at premises at all times, and at a minimum kept on the
premises for inspection by an authorised officer upon request.

10.4.

The Licensing Authority expects that licence holders and those that make sales of
alcohol are able to understand the terms of the licence and their legal obligations.
The Licensing Authority may consider conditions around staff training in obligations
under the Licensing Act be placed on the licence at time of grant.

10.5

The Licensing Authority expects that the DPS is contactable at all hours that the
premises is open to the public. It is regarded as good management practice that a
personal licence holder or the DPS be present in the premises where the opening
hours exceed 11pm.

10.6

Where the DPS is no longer involved in the day-to-day responsibility of the business
or has resigned or dissociated themselves from the business, the Licensing Authority
expects that the DPS should make contact with the Licensing Authority in writing to
remove themselves as DPS from the licence immediately. Whilst named on the
licence as DPS, that person will continue to be responsible all alcohol sales
regardless as to whether they still work at the premises or not. The premises licence
holder should also ensure that the DPS named on the premise licence is someone
involved in the day to day responsibility of the business and where changes to this
take place they should replace the DPS with an appropriate person who can fulfil
these duties.

11.

Policy 7: Temporary Events Notices

11.1

This Licensing Authority expects that all applications for Temporary Events Notices
are received well in advance of the 10 days being the statutory minimum for a
standard TEN, and sufficient accompanying information is provided at the time of the
application to allow due consideration, including evidence of permission to use the
space if it is public or council land and that efforts have been undertaken to engage
local residents.

11.2

It is expected that any existing conditions on a licence will be maintained for the
purposes of a TEN. It is also recommended that TENs submitted well in advance

Page 339

31

prior to the event to allow responsible authorities to consider the application. This,
alongside the supporting information, will likely reduce the risk of an objection being
made to the TEN and possible committee hearing.
11.3

A TEN is required for the following licensable activities:





Selling of alcohol
Serving alcohol to members of a private club
Providing entertainment such as music, dance or indoor sporting events
Serving hot food and drink between 11pm and 5am

11.4

A TEN is also required for any activities not included in the terms of an existing
premises licence or club premises certificate.

11.5

To be eligible for a TEN an event must have:



11.6

Fewer than 500 people at all times, including staff running the event and any
performers
Last no longer than 7 days or 168 hours

Statutory limits are also in place around the number of TENs allowed in one calendar
year:




15 TENs for one premises, or 21 days, whichever comes first
A personal licence holder may be granted up to 50 TENs in one calendar year
Non personal licence holders may be granted up to 5 TENs in one calendar
year

11.7

There must be 24 hours between one TEN finishing and another starting at any one
premises. Only one TEN can take place at a time to ensure the statutory limits are
not exceeded.

11.8

TENs should not be used as a means to avoid the need for applying for a premises
licence.

11.9

A TEN can only be applied for by an individual, not a business or organisation.
Individuals must be of at least 18 years of age.

11.10 TENs should be submitted with 10 clear working days between the day of the
application and the day of the event. However it is recommended that TENS be
submitted at least 30 days prior to the event to give responsible authorities time to
review the application and ask for further information if required to avoid a possible
objection to the event.
11.11 Where a TEN is submitted the Licensing Authority expects the following information
to be provided:
 A clear description of the event, what licensable activities are proposed and
details of the area within which the activities will be carried out
 Where the event is in an open space, a site map should be provided detailing
where the licensable activity will take place, any bars, stages, sound equipment
and food serveries, and perimeter fencing to manage the space and the capacity
limits.
 Evidence of permission to use council owned or managed land, any street
closure permissions
 A risk assessment and capacity determination

Page 340

32

 Evidence of consultation with Lewisham’s Events Safety Advisory Group where
this is considered appropriate ( see section 12)
11.12 Applicants should expect that in some cases, particularly those events taking place in
outside spaces, responsible authorities may request an event management plan
detailing a noise and dispersal policy.
11.13 A Late TEN is where a late application is made outside of the statutory 10 clear
working days before the event, but where 5-9 working days are given before the
event.
11.14 Where a personal licence is held, the limit that can be applied for is 10 Late TENs per
calendar year. Where no personal licence is held, the limit is 2 per calendar year.
11.15 Only the Police and Environmental Health can object to a TEN. They must do this
within 3 working days of receiving the notice. They can only object if they think an
event could:





Lead to crime and disorder
Cause a public nuisance
Be a threat to public safety
Put children at risk of harm

11.16 If an objection is received, a hearing will be held with the Council’s Licensing
Committee, no later than 24 hours before the event, unless all parties agree that a
hearing is not needed.
11.17 At the hearing, the committee will either approve the TEN, add conditions or reject
the notice. If the applicant disagrees with the committee decision, they can appeal to
the local magistrate’s court, this must be done within 21 days, and at least 5 working
days before the date of the proposed event.
11.18 If the police or environmental health object to a Late TEN, the notice will become
invalid and the event cannot be held. The Late TEN application process does not
allow for a hearing to be held in the occurrence of an objection, so a counter notice
will be issued to the applicant immediately and the decision is final. There is no right
of appeal.
11.19 It is therefore this Licensing Authority’s view that applicants should avoid the Late
TEN process as far as possible and allow at least 30 working days between
submitting the notice and the date of the event to ensure sufficient time for any
appeal that the applicant may wish to make should the notice be taken to committee
and declined.
11.20 Applications will only be taken as ‘given’ where the application form is completed
correctly and it is submitted alongside the correct fee. Where ‘full’ information isn’t
provided according to that outlined above, it is likely to result in an objection by a
responsible authority.
11.21 This Licensing Authority is working to a paperless system for TEN applications. The
Licensing Authority expects all applicants to submit TENs online via the council’s
website or www.gov.uk.

Page 341

33

12.

Policy 8: Outdoor Events

12.1

Each year Lewisham hosts a number of outdoor community events. It is important
that such events are organised and managed so as to ensure that minimum
disturbance is caused to people living and working nearby and public safety is
promoted at all times.

12.2

To help achieve this applicants are asked to submit an Event Management Plan to
the Licensing Authority and Council’s Environmental Protection Service with their
application and to consult with Lewisham’s Events Team early in the process of
preparing for any event – events@lewisham.gov.uk

12.3

Events may require consideration at the Borough’s Events Safety Advisory Group. All
events over a capacity of 5000 will be required to be heard at ESAG at least 3
months in advance of the date of the event. Some smaller events maybe also be
required to be reviewed at ESAG due to its nature or location. This will be advised by
either the Licensing Authority or the Council’s Events team.

12.4

Any event that has over 499 attendees will require a premises licence. Events over
this capacity cannot be run using Temporary Event Notices. Applicants are advised
to be mindful of the timescales for applying for a premises licence when looking at
organising events, time should be made for a committee to consider any
representations that may come in as well as the potential need for an appeal.

12.5

The Licensing Authority alongside the Environmental Protection team under the
Environmental Health service, as a responsible authority, will assess all licence
applications for their impact with regard to public nuisance. Nuisance from outdoor
events can be created by many activities, for example:











Set up rigging / de-rigging
Plant & machinery (generators etc.)
Vehicle movements
Music and entertainment
Patrons congregating and dispersing
Fireworks and special effects
Smoke
Odour from concessions or open food preparation
Litter
Lighting

12.6

It is recommended that event organisers include a Nuisance Management Section
within the Event Management Plan assessing all nuisance-causing activities and
setting out the measures proposed to mitigate any nuisances that are likely to be
caused.

12.7

The nuisance management section should include the following information:








Location & site plan
Information on the type of event
Orientation of any stage(s), marquees or potential sources of noise
Access to & from site and site routes within the event perimeter
Location of operational plant & vehicles
Background noise survey and predictive noise assessment
During performance – Who will hold responsibility for sound management and
any recording of levels; Who will deal with responses to any complaints and keep
34

Page 342







records of any remedial actions; Who will attend the post-event audit meeting
with the authority.
Contact details of a person at the event responsible for liaison with the council
and other enforcement officers.
A copy of the pre-event information leaflet to be dropped to occupiers of nearby
noise sensitive premises.
Location of light sources & light impact assessment
Litter control, waste management & recycling provisions
Noise control measures
– Sound limiting technology to be used
– Maximum noise / bass levels
– Selection of equipment etc.

12.8 Event organisers may also be required to provide the following:
 Egress / dispersal plan
 Security plan
 Traffic / transport / road closure plans where relevant
 Vehicle movement management plan
 First Aid provision
12.9 All event organisers are advised to consult the ‘purple guide’ when organising events12.

Other Consents
11.8

Licensees should be aware that a range of other consents may be necessary to
provide smoking shelters or space heaters, awnings, tables and chairs or ‘A’ boards
on the highway. Please discuss your proposals with the Crime, Enforcement and
Regulation team in the first instance.

13.

Policy 9: Management of Outside Spaces

13.1

Outside spaces are often a necessity for licensed premises, particularly for smoking
areas. However, outside areas are often cause for concern for local residents due to
the noise that they can facilitate, particularly late in the evening. Therefore it is this
Licensing Authority’s view that all outside spaces be subject to appropriate conditions
to ensure that minimal disruption to local residents.

13.2

Where smoking, eating and drinking takes place outside, the Licensing Authority
expects that applicants outline comprehensive details in their operating schedules
around:
 The location of the outside areas
 How the outside areas will be managed to prevent nuisances occurring from
noise, smells,
 How littering and pavement obstructions will be avoided
 Arrangements for clearing the tables and chairs

13.3

12

The Authority expects applicants to outline how smoking areas will be managed and
kept separate form any areas which children may be allowed, for example outdoor
eating areas.

https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/

Page 343

35

13.4

It is this Licensing Authority’s view that there be a terminal hour of 22:00 for all
outside spaces to close, and in some cases depending on the circumstances and
proximity to residents this terminal hour will be 21:00.

13.5

The Licensing Authority expects licensees to ensure that drinking should be
contained within the licensable areas either indoors or outdoors, and where gathering
of patrons is taking place outside of these areas the licensee takes steps to address
this.

13.6

The Licensing Authority expects that applicants seeking to make use of forecourts
ensure they have the appropriate forecourt licence before exercising any permissions
issued under the licence. Information around the use of forecourt areas applied for to
the Licensing Authority will be shared with the relevant team responsible for issuing
forecourt licensing in the Council and enforcement action may be taken against those
undertaking unauthorised forecourt use.

Entry and Dispersal
13.7

The Licensing Authority expects that licensees should take all reasonable steps to
prevent their patrons from becoming a nuisance or causing crime and disorder when
leaving their premises and immediately outside their premises. This includes on the
pavement, within outside spaces such as beer gardens, smoking areas and queues.

13.8

Licence holders should have consideration to the impact that their patrons may have
on the licensing objectives, specifically that in relation to the prevention of public
nuisance and the prevention of crime and disorder. The Licensing Authority expects
that all applicants submit a dispersal policy with any application for closing times after
midnight outlining how the licensee intends to manage any potential impact and the
measures they will take to mitigate that impact.

13.9

Licensees should also have regard to any entry and exit points and any disturbance
that may be caused to local residents around patrons trying to get in to premises.
Queuing systems should be well managed and organised in a fashion not to impact
on the public highway.

14.

Policy 10: Cumulative Impact Areas

14.1

The Licensing Authority will consider evidence of cumulative impact across the
borough and where evidence suggests that a cumulative impact policy (since April
2018, such policies or zones have been re-termed ‘Cumulative Impact Assessments’
(CIA)) is required it will put one in place. Any policy made will be reviewed every 3
years as per the section 5A (12) of the Act to establish whether there is a need to
continue the policy or if the evidence supports discontinuation of that policy.

14.2

The Statutory Guidance states that the cumulative impact of licensed premises on
the promotion of the licensing objectives is a proper matter for a Licensing Authority
to consider in developing its Statement of Licensing Policy. According to the
Guidance, “cumulative impact” means the potential impact on the promotion of the
licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one
area.

14.3

The Act set out the steps that should be followed when considering whether to adopt
a special policy on cumulative impact. In short, any special policy on cumulative
impact should be supported by evidence and should be consulted upon before any
decision is taken regarding its adoption.

Page 344

36

14.4

The effect of any cumulative impact assessment is to create a rebuttable
presumption that applications for new premises licences or club premises certificates
or material variations to existing licences/certificates will normally be refused if
relevant representations are received unless it can be demonstrated that the
operation of the premises involved will not add to the cumulative impact already
being experienced.

14.5

Whether or not a special policy on cumulative impact exists does not prevent any
responsible authority or other person making representations on a new application
for the grant of a licence/club premises certificate on the grounds that the premises
will give rise to or materially add to the existing negative cumulative impact caused
by the number of licensed premises in the area in question.

14.6

Cumulative impact must not be confused with ‘need’. Need concerns the commercial
demand for another licensed premises, which is a matter for the market place and
the Council’s Planning Committee.

14.7

At the time this policy was published, the Licensing Authority did not possess evidence
to maintain previous CIAs in New Cross or Blackheath Village, or to introduce a further
CIA in the borough.

14.8

The need for a CIA in the borough will be reviewed at regular intervals by the Licensing
Authority working in conjunction with responsible authorities and responding to any
feedback from residents. Where a CIA is in place, these must be reviewed every 3
years in line with requirements under the 2003 act (as amended in 2016).

14.9

The effect of any CIAs is that the Licensing Authority is minded to refuse applications
for a new premises license or club premises certificate, or material variations of an
existing licence or certificate, whenever it receives relevant representation unless an
applicant can demonstrate why the operation of the premises involved will not add to
the negative cumulative impact already being experienced. Applicants in respect of
premises situated in the CIAs will need to address the implications of the CIA in their
operating schedules in order to rebut such a presumption.

14.10 The adoption of a CIA does not relieve responsible authorities or other persons of the
need to make a relevant representation. Before the Council may lawfully consider
giving effect to its CIA a relevant representation must have been made. Responsible
authorities and other persons may make written representations, maintaining that it is
necessary to refuse an application within a CIA and in doing so may refer to the
evidence considered by the Council in the adoption of the CIA.
14.11 If no representation is received, it remains the case that any application must be
granted in terms that are consistent with the operating schedule and any mandatory
conditions required by the Act.
14.12 The Licensing Authority cannot use any CIA as grounds for revoking an existing
license or certificate when relevant representations are received about problems with
those premises. The CIA can only be used in the justification of rejection of an
application to vary if those modifications are directly relevant to the policy.
14.13 The CIA does not include provisions to impose quotas on the number of licensed
premises permitted or the capacity of those premises.

Page 345

37

15.

Policy 11: Hours of Sale and Location

15.1

It is a principle of licensing legislation that each application should be considered on
its own merits, and this Licensing Authority will ensure that this is the case at all
times. In its role to promote licensing objectives, the Licensing Authority has
developed a set of preferred hours for opening and closing times for licensed
premises in the borough in order to provide a guide for applicants in how to best
manage the licencing objectives based on the location within which their premises is
based in order to ensure that their activities have as minimal impact on neighbouring
properties as possible.

15.2

These hours are based on the types of premises and the type of area within which
they are located. This has been developed to ensure that the hours that licensable
activities occur reflect the character of the area within which they are located and the
needs of both residents and businesses.

15.3

The Licensing Authority has identified the following categories of business:










15.4

Public Houses and Bars
Restaurants and cafes
Nightclubs / non-diversified alcohol led venues
Off licences
Takeaways
Hotels
Theatres
Private Members clubs
Other entertainment venues e.g. cinemas, bingo halls, bowling alleys

The below table outlines the nature of these businesses and potential impact their
activities may have:

Type of Premises
Public Houses and Bars

Restaurants and Cafes

Expected style of
operation
Combination of alcohol and
food on offer
Alcohol available without
purchase of food
Ample seating for patrons
Mostly recorded music with
some live music on
occasion
Beer gardens and outside
seating and smoking areas

Potential impact / issues

Food led premises
Alcohol sold as an ancillary
to food
Patrons seated at tables at
all times
Table service for alcohol

Minimal noise upon
dispersal of patrons
Low risk of drunkenness
and related crime /antisocial behaviour

Page 346

Noise nuisance upon
dispersal of patrons at
closing time
Noise nuisance from use of
outside seating and smoking
areas
Some risk of drunkenness
and related crime/anti-social
behaviour

38

Mostly recorded music with
some live music on
occasion
Premises floor plans outline
dedicated seating and
kitchen areas for food
preparation
Nightclubs / non-diversified
alcohol led venues

Primary use for alcohol
consumption
High level of vertical
drinking
Some seating areas
Food may be provided in a
limited form
Premises floor plans may
have areas dedicated to
dancing

Off Licences

Alcohol sold off the
premises only

Takeaways

Some takeaways sell
alcohol and may deliver
alcohol with food
Licence only required when
selling hot food and/or drink
between the hours of 11pm
and 5am

Hotels

Primarily providing
accommodation
Alcohol usually served
alongside food although

Page 347

High risk of noise and
disorder upon entry and
dispersal of patrons late at
night
Possible noise nuisance
from loud music
Noise nuisance from use of
outside seating and smoking
areas
Some risk of drunkenness
and related crime/anti-social
behaviour
Risk of violence including
sexual assault
Risk of drug use/drug
dealing
Minimal disturbance form
patrons entering and leaving
the premises
High risk of attraction of
street drinkers and
associated anti-social
behaviour
Some risk of underage
patrons trying to buy alcohol
and other age restricted
products
Risk of noise nuisance from
patrons entering and leaving
premises late at night.
Noise from delivery drivers
and vehicles
Some risk of crime/antisocial behaviour due to
tendency for patrons to
congregate outside
premises after drinking,
often there may be queues
for food following closure of
nearby alcohol led premises
Litter discarded by
customers
Minimal risk of noise / antisocial behaviour from
residents
39

Theatres and other
entertainment venues

Private Members Clubs

there may be a separate bar
to restaurant
Customers are usually
residents
Alcohol and food usually
served 24 hours to residents
Alcohol is provided on an
ancillary basis to the main
entertainment e.g. theatre
performances, bowling, film
screening, bingo
Only supply alcohol to
members of the club or
qualifying guests
Recorded music likely with
some occasional live music

Outdoor events and festivals Usually focused on live
music performances,
On site provision of alcohol
and food outlets
Large capacity of patrons

May be risk of disturbance
or drunkenness from nonresidents if allowed to entry
to a late night bar
Possible child protection
issues
Low risk of disturbance from
patrons entering and leaving
premises
Low risk of drunkenness
and related crime / antisocial behaviour issues
Low risk on noise and
disturbance from members
entering and leaving
premises
Low risk of drunkenness
and related crime and antisocial behaviour
Low risk of noise form
entertainment
Likely noise disturbance
from patrons
Dispersal and egress likely
to impact on surrounding
areas
Risk of drunkenness which
may impact on crime /antisocial behaviour issues
Likely music noise
disturbance
Possible child protection
issues
Possible public safety
issues

15.5

The Core Planning Strategy13 focuses growth and larger scale development in the
north of the borough in Lewisham, Catford, Deptford and New Cross/New Cross
Gate. These are identified as Regeneration and Growth Areas. Benefiting from
higher levels of public transport accessibility and land that is available and
deliverable, this strategy area is expected to accommodate substantial new jobs,
homes and supporting facilities and infrastructure. The Strategy identifies smaller
scale development opportunities as District Hubs and Local Hubs (identified as
district town centres and local shopping parades, including the immediate
surrounding residential neighbourhoods).

15.6

Utilising the Core Planning Strategy and feedback from public consultations, the
Licensing Authority have identified the following hubs in the borough:
 Town Centres – Lewisham and Catford
 District hubs - New Cross, Sydenham, Lee and Forest Hill

13

https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/ldf/core-strategy

Page 348

40

 Local hubs – Deptford High Street, Blackheath, Brockley, Hither Green and Bell
Green
 Other areas - Residential areas and open spaces
15.7

The Licensing Authority has developed the following preferred operating hours for
types of premises dependent on the area within which they are located as defined
above:

Type of Premises
Public
Houses and
Bars

Preferred
earliest start
time
Preferred
latest end
time

Restaurant
and cafes

Preferred
earliest start
time
Preferred
earliest end
time

Town
Centres
Monday –
Sunday
11am
Friday and
Saturday –
2am
Sunday to
Thursday –
1am
No preferred
Start Time

District hub

Local hub

Residential

Monday –
Sunday
11am
Friday and
Saturday –
1am
Sunday to
Thursday midnight
No preferred
Start Time

Monday –
Sunday
11am
Monday to
Sunday –
midnight

Monday –
Sunday
11am
Monday to
Sunday –
11pm

No preferred
Start Time

No preferred
Start Time

Saturday –
2am
Sunday to
Thursday –
1am

Friday and
Saturday –
1am
Sunday to
Thursday midnight
Monday –
Sunday
11am
Friday and
Saturday –
1am
Sunday to
Thursday –
midnight
Monday to
Sunday
11am

Monday to
Sunday –
midnight

Monday to
Sunday –
11pm

Venue type
not
appropriate
Venue type
not
appropriate

Venue type
not
appropriate
Venue Type
not
Appropriate

Monday to
Sunday
11am

Monday to
Sunday
11am

Monday to
Sunday –
Midnight

Monday to
Sunday –
11pm

Monday to
Sunday –
11pm

Nightclubs /
nondiversified
alcohol led
venues

Preferred
earliest start
time
Preferred
earliest end
time

Off Licences

Preferred
earliest start
time

Monday –
Sunday
11am
Friday and
Saturday –
2am
Sunday to
Thursday –
1am
Monday to
Sunday
11am

Preferred
earliest end
time

Monday to
Sunday –
Midnight

Preferred
earliest start
time
Preferred
earliest end
time

No licence required for hot food and drink except between
the hours of 11pm and 5am.

Takeaways

Friday to
Saturday –
3am
Sunday to
Thursday
1am

Friday to
Saturday –
3am
Sunday to
Thursday
1am

Page 349

Friday to
Saturday –
midnight
Sunday to
Thursday –
11pm

Monday to
Sunday 11pm

41

Hotels

Preferred
earliest start
time

Preferred
earliest end
time
Theatres and Preferred
other
earliest start
entertainment time
venues
Preferred
earliest end
time
Private
Preferred
Members
earliest start
Clubs
time
Preferred
earliest end
time
Outdoor
Preferred
events and
earliest start
festivals
time
Preferred
earliest end
time

No
No
No
No
restriction for restriction for restriction for restriction for
residents of
residents of
residents of
residents of
hotel
hotel
hotel
hotel
Where hotel bar is open for non-residents, start and end
times for ‘public houses and bars’ apply.
No preferred
Start Time

No preferred
Start Time

No preferred
Start Time

No preferred
Start Time

Monday to
Sunday 2am
No preferred
Start Time

Monday to
Sunday –
1am
No preferred
Start Time

Monday to
Sunday –
Midnight
No preferred
Start Time

Monday to
Sunday –
11pm
No preferred
Start Time

Monday to
Sunday 2am
Monday to
Sunday –
11am
Monday to
Sunday –
11pm

Monday to
Sunday –
1am
Monday to
Sunday –
11am
Monday to
Sunday –
11pm

Monday to
Sunday –
Midnight
Monday to
Sunday –
11am
Monday to
Sunday –
11pm

Monday to
Sunday –
11pm
Monday to
Sunday –
11am
Monday to
Sunday –
11pm

15.8

Whilst the framework above has been developed to ensure that the hours that
licensable activities occur reflect the character of the area within which they are
located and the needs of both residents and businesses, every application will be
considered on its own merits. The Licensing Authority reserves the right to grant
licences outside of these times where it feels that licensing objectives will not be
negatively impacted; for example, where an applicant agrees to conditions that
address issues of noise nuisance and crime and disorder at later hours of the
evening.

16.

Policy 12: Minimum Unit Pricing

16.1

In May 2014 the Licensing Act 2003 (mandatory conditions) Order 2014 came in to
force banning the sale of alcohol below ‘a permitted price’, which is defined as the
level of alcohol duty plus VAT.

16.2

All premises are required to provide evidence upon request of the Licensing Authority
that the premises is compliant with this order.

16.3

Premises should not offer irresponsible drinks promotions which encourage
irresponsible drinking. Any premises identified as promoting irresponsible drinks
promotions may be subject to a premises licence review or representations at point
of application where suitable conditions may be imposed to promote the licensing
objectives. Each case will be considered on its own merits. Guidance on this has

Page 350

42

been issued by the home office ‘Guidance on Mandatory Licensing Conditions’
September 2014.14
16.4

Any future legislation regarding minimum unit pricing of alcohol introduced during the
term of this policy will apply.

17.

Policy 13: Delivery Services

17.1

The Licensing Authority expects applicants to be very clear in their operating
schedules if they will providing delivery services of either food or alcohol.

17.2

The Licensing Authority expects applicants who intend to undertake delivery services
to address issues relating to prevention of public nuisance around the use of delivery
vehicles and related late night activities and the protection of children harm by the
way of ensuring rigorous checks at the point of purchase and the point of delivery.

17.3

The Licensing Authority expect the following measures to be under taken:
 Age verification at both point of sale and delivery
 Alcohol only to be delivered to an residential of business address, not a street or
other open space
 To be mindful of local residents and not to leave engines running when collecting
deliveries
 Orders for alcohol to be paid for over the phone or in person at the premises, no
payment to be taken at the point of delivery
 Consider the safety of the delivery drivers at delivery points and undertake
measures as appropriate to protect staff
 Have a system in place to address ‘problematic’ deliveries, such as deliveries of
alcohol to house parties or people who appear to be intoxicated, where in such
circumstances alcohol should be refused and recorded in a refusals book.
 The DPS shall ensure that all delivery agents that are used have also been
trained and seek assurance from the company`s management.

17.5

The Licensing Authority is likely to place appropriate conditions on a premises
licence where deliveries will be part of the operating schedules in order to promote
the licensing objectives.

18.

Policy 14: Women’s safety

18.1

Lewisham Council is a signatory to the Women’s Safety Charter and is committed to
promoting the Mayor of London’s vison that all Londoners are able to work, travel
and go out safely at night.

18.2

The Licensing Authority expects that all licensed premises sign up to the Women’s
Safety Charter. The Charter can be found on the Council’s Website15.

14

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/350507/
2014-08-29_MC_Guidance_v1_0.pdf
15

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/arts-and-culture/24-hour-london/womens-night-safetycharter/sign-up

Page 351

43

18.3

The Licensing Authority expects that all licensed premises that operate in the
evening and night time have appropriately trained staff who are proactive and vigilant
around women’s safety at night. This includes a duty to report information to the
police at the appropriate times.

19.

Policy 15: Public Health

19.1

The Licensing Authority will consider the impact of the sale of alcohol on the health of
residents in the borough.

19.2

Public health is not a licensing objective under the Act, however as outlined section 2
of this statement of policy there is a clear link between alcohol consumption and
negative impacts on health, and there are a number of alcohol related health impacts
that are of concern in the borough.

19.3

The Director of Public Health at Lewisham Council has been a responsible authority
since 2012 and is able to make representations and initiate reviews based on
evidence they have on negative impact of alcohol. When such evidence is presented
it will be considered and where there are links to any of the four licensing objectives it
will be considered by a committee in deciding the application.

19.4

The Licensing Authority expects applicants to consider the following and address
these in their operating schedules;
 Proximity to substance misuse treatment centres and primary care units such
as hospitals
 Proximity to schools, youth centres or other areas where children may
congregate
 Training for staff in identifying drunk behaviour and empowering them to feel
able to refuse a sale to an individual already intoxicated.
 Ensuring there is availability of food and non-alcoholic drinks in the premises so
that alcohol is not the main focus of the offer.
 Provision of adequate levels of seating within the premises as well as other
diverse entertainments
 Avoid the sale of high strength alcohol in off licences
 Avoid drinks promotions or any advertising that encourages the consumption of
alcohol.
 Avoid substantial areas of the premises layout that are dedicated to vertical
drinking due to the link with excessive alcohol consumption (see section 24)

19.5

This Licensing Authority promotes responsible sales of alcohol at all times and aims
through this policy to discourage drunkenness and excessive alcohol consumption.
Therefore the Licensing Authority expects that licensees with off sales do not sell
cheap ‘super’ or high strength alcohol above an ABV of 6% except for premium and
craft beer and cider.

19.6

As outlined in section 2.22 LBL Public Health have implemented an initiative looking
at school ‘superzones’ which is identified as the 400m radius around schools and
identifying risks to children within this zone. One of these risks identified was alcohol
and the proximity of alcohol premises within this radius of a school premises. The
Licensing Authority expects applicants to have fully assessed their impact on the
licensing objective of protection of children from harm and identified ways to mitigate
risks and outline these in their operating schedules upon applying for a licence.

Page 352

44

20.

Policy 16: Age Verification and Test Purchasing

20.1

This Licensing Authority expects all applicants and licensees to have robust age
verification measures in place. The Council’s Crime, Enforcement & Regulation
Service is responsible for enforcing the statutory Trading Standards provisions
around under age sales and will undertake test purchasing operations to check
compliance of premises with the minimum purchase age requirements under the law.
Where sales are made to children enforcement action will be taken.

20.2

The Licensing Authority expects that the following is undertaken by licensees:
 All licensees to operate a ‘challenge 25’ scheme where any individual who
appears under the age of 25 is asked for ID before a sale of alcohol is made.
Notices to this effect should be displayed in store. Identification provided should
be in the form of a drivers licence, passport or and PASS accredited card.
 Evidence of this scheme being implemented is maintained through the use of a
refusals book which can be presented to authorised officers upon request.
 A personal licence holder shall be on the premises when alcohol is being sold.
 Staff will be given appropriate and regular licensing training that is documented
and can be evidenced to authorised officers upon request.
 The DPS will ensure that at all times alcohol is displayed in an area that is
constantly monitored by supervised staff, separate from other goods likely to be
purchased by those under the age of 18.

20.3

Where sales of alcohol are made to children, action will be taken in the form of a
licence review to impose conditions to promote the licensing objectives, or by way of
discussions with the licensee to request that a minor variation be undertaken to add
conditions.

21.

Policy 17: Early Morning alcohol Restriction Order (EMRO) and the
Late Night Levy

21.1

An Early Morning Restriction Order (EMRO) is a discretionary power which enables
licensing authorities to restrict sales of alcohol in the whole or part of their area for
any specified period between midnight and 6am. An EMRO does not have to apply
on every day of the week, and different periods can be applied on different days. It is
a flexible measure to deal with crime and disorder.

21.2

The Late Night Levy is a discretionary local power that enables the police and
licensing authorities to raise a ‘levy’ from late-opening alcohol suppliers to assist with
the costs of policing the night time economy. If a licensing authority resolves to
introduce the Levy it must apply to the whole of the licensing authority’s area. The
period to which the levy relates must begin at or after midnight and end at or before
6am.

21.3

The Licensing Authority can deduct administrative expenses from the gross levy
revenue. The police would then receive 70% of the net revenue, with the remaining
30% going to the licensing authority. The licensing authority’s portion must be spent
on services connected with the management of the night time economy that are
targeted at dealing with alcohol related crime and disorder. The Act does not specify
how the Police’s portion of the levy is to be spent. The amount of the levy has been
set by regulation and is calculated according to the rateable value of the premises. It
would be collected alongside the annual licence fee.

Page 353

45

21.4

The Licensing Authority has considered the need for an EMRO and/or the late night
levy in the borough. Currently it is considered as not necessary to manage the late
night economy in the borough. Should the licensing Authority be minded to
undertake either an EMRO of the late night levy then it will be published as part of
this statement of licensing policy.

22.

Policy 18: Entertainment involving Striptease and Nudity

22.1

The Council has adopted the provisions of Schedule 3, Local Government
(Miscellaneous provisions) Act 1982 as amended by the Policing and Crime Act
2009. This Legislation established a new extended licensing regime for sex
establishments covering sex shops, sex entertainment venues and sex cinemas.

22.2

Anyone who wishes to operate such a venue must apply to the Council for a licence
to do so. Occasional use without a licence is permitted but limited to no more than 12
per year, each less than 24 hours duration and at least one month apart.

22.3

The Licensing Authority will give particular consideration to the promotion of all four
of the licensing objectives in cases where applicants include entertainment involving
nudity or strip tease or other kinds of sex related entertainment in their applications.

22.4

It is the Licensing Authority’s policy to consider such entertainment as a possible
public nuisance if they are near residential premises or close to areas were children
will frequents and gather, such as schools, playgrounds, youth centres or other
community facilities.

22.5

Applications of this type will not normally be granted where the premises are located
near:
 Residential premises
 Schools, youth clubs, parks and leisure facilities
 Places of worship or other public and community buildings
 Near pedestrian travel points such as train stations and bus stops

22.6

Applicants should outline in their operating schedules how they will promote the
licencing objectives and manage any potential risk. The following conditions should
be considered:
 A code of conduct for all dancers will be in place including appropriate
disciplinary procedures for failure to comply with the code
 Rules of conduct of customers shall be in place including appropriate procedures
for breach of these rules
 Provision of SIA door staff at all times entertainment is taking place
 No advertisements for striptease or nudity on the outside of the premises#
 When sex related entertainment of any kind is being conducted on the premises
there should be a strict no under 18s policy in place and signs to that effect
erected at the premises.
 No sex related entertainment of any kind will be visible form the street or outside
the premises.

22.7

Consultation on the application must include details of the entertainment that is being
proposed to take place at the premises with blue notices and newspaper adverts
providing details to this effect.

Page 354

46

23.

Policy 19: Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking

23.1

This Licensing Authority recognizes the growing concern of modern day slavery and
human trafficking in the UK and through this policy aims to promote good practice in
licensed premises to ensure that those individuals working in licensed premises are
doing so under proper employment arrangements.

23.2

The Safer Lewisham Partnership published its Modern Day Slavery and Human
Trafficking Protocol in 2019 and set out clear aims to tackle this issue in the borough
of Lewisham. The protocol notes that “There are an estimated 40.3 million people living
in slavery today, and the Home Office estimates that up to 13,000 of those are based
in the UK” Kevin Hyland, Independent Anti-Slavery Commissioner 2017.16

23.3

Human trafficking is the trade of humans for the purpose of forced labour, sexual
slavery, or commercial sexual exploitation for the trafficker or others. Modern slavery
is an umbrella term, encompassing human trafficking, slavery, servitude and forced
labour.

23.4

Someone is in slavery if they are:
 Forced to work through mental or physical threat
 Owned or controlled by an ‘employer’
 Usually through mental or physical abuse or the threat of abuse
 Dehumanised, treated as a commodity or bought and sold as ‘property’
 Physically constrained or have restrictions placed on their freedom.

23.5

As outlined in section 7.7, the prevention of immigration crime is included under the
licensing objective of Prevention of Crime and Disorder and this covers illegal working
in licensed premises. Illegal working is often linked to human trafficking and labour
exploitation with victims trafficked to UK illegally to work in sub-standard conditions for
little or no pay in return for accommodation. Under such conditions victims may face
violence or threats. If they are foreign nationals, their passports may be confiscated by
their exploiters and they may be made to live in terrible conditions and under constant
threat.

23.6

The Licensing Authority will work with the Police and Home Office Immigration
Enforcement to address concerns around this area and will take issues of illegal
working very seriously. Section 11.27 of the Section 182 Home Office Guidance states
that for employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their
immigration status in the UK is a crime that should be taken particularly seriously by
the Licensing Authority. Therefore This Licensing Authority will work to ensure that any
licensed premises that has been involved in such activity will be reviewed and action
taken to promote licensing objectives.

23.7

The Home Office may also instigate their own reviews of licences based on evidence
of illegal working in licensed premises.

23.8

Where appropriate, conditions addressing this concern such as a requirement for all
licensees to obtain evidence of an individual’s right to work in the UK before
employment and keeping documents at the premises may be added to promote the
licensing objectives.

16

LBL Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking Protocol 2019
www.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s62969/Lewisham%20Modern%20Day%20Slavery%20Protocol%20February%202019.pdf

Page 355

47

23.9

Councils are under a duty under Section 52 of the Modern Slavery Act to identify
potential victims of modern slavery, and refer them to the Government. Councils are
what’s known as first responders, meaning that they can refer victims directly.
Authorised officers will use powers of entry to inspect licensed premises. Where any
concerns are identified, this Licensing Authority will take steps to refer any activity it
suspects may be linked to human trafficking or any form of modern day slavery to the
home office through the national referral mechanism (NRM).

24.

Policy 20: Vertical Drinking

24.1

It is known that there is a strong link between vertical drinking and violent and
disorderly behaviour. Increased levels of drinking amongst patrons are also associated
with vertical drinking. Given the clear public health (see section 2.20) and crime and
disorder considerations around this, the Licensing Authority expect any application that
proposes vertical drinking to make this clear in their operating schedules and outline
effective measures for managing the associated risks.

24.2

The Licensing Authority would expect the following measures to be in proposed as a
minimum to promote licensing objectives:
 SIA door staff employed during the hours where vertical drinking most likely to take
place until closure of premises.
 Training staff to be vigilant to excessive consumption in customers, and avoiding
the service of those who are drunk
 Providing a wide selection of reasonably process non-alcoholic beverages
 Providing a food offer on the premises at all times alcohol is being sold.
 Close management and monitoring of outside areas and entry and exit points to
ensure noise nuisance is deterred.

24.3

There certain areas of the borough that in the Licensing Authority’s’ view are not
appropriate for vertical drinking venues, particularly residential areas of the borough
and the quieter local hubs (see Policy 10). Applicants are expected to give
consideration to this in the applications and ensure the operating schedule they
propose is suitable and appropriate for the area they are intending to undertake
their business. For example, Customers who have been seated in premises which
are not crowded with vertical drinkers will behave differently, they are less likely to
have been talking at high volume and will leave the premises more quietly. This
helps to ensure that noise nuisance is managed more effectively and is less likely to
impact on surrounding properties at closing time.

24.4

Because of the potential impact of vertical drinking on noise nuisance, crime and
disorder and public health, the Licensing Authority is not minded to relax conditions
on existing licences where alcohol is only allowed to be served to patrons as an
ancillary to their table meal.

24.5

The Licensing Authority takes the view that the removal of seating or tables from
premises which has the effect of increasing the floor area for vertical drinking is not
suitable for the Minor Variation procedure. Such applications should be made under
the Full Variations procedure. The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to
demonstrate how the removal of seating or tables will promote the licensing
objectives.

Page 356

48

Appendix I
Delegation of Functions
Matter to be dealt with

Licensing Committee

Officers

Application for Personal Licence

If a police objection

If no objection made

Application for Personal Licence
with unspent convictions

All cases

Application for Premises
Licence / Club Premises
Certificate

If a relevant
representation made

If no relevant
representation made

Application for Provisional
Statement

If a relevant
representation made

Application to vary Premises
Licence / Club Premises
Certificate

If a relevant
representation made

If no relevant
representation
Made
If no relevant
representation made

Application for Minor Variation
for Premises Licence / Club
Premises Certificate
Application to vary Designated
Premises Supervisor

In all cases

If a police objection

Request to be removed as
Designated Premises
Supervisor

All other cases
All cases

Application for transfer of
Premises Licence

If police objection

All other cases

Application for Interim
Authorities

If police objection

All other cases

Application to review Premises
Licence / Club Premises
Certificate

All cases

Decision on whether a complaint
is irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious
etc.
Decision to object when LA is a
consultee, not the relevant

All cases

All cases

Page 357

49

authority considering the
application
Determination of an objection to
a Temporary Event Notice

All cases

Appendix II
Mandatory Conditions prescribed by the Licensing Act 2003
Mandatory conditions where the licence authorises the sale of alcohol
Alcohol sales authorised under a Premises Licences
(Note: Conditions 4, 5, and 7 relate to on-sales only)
1. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when there is no designated premises
supervisor in respect of this licence.
2. No supply of alcohol may be made at a time when the designated premises supervisor
does not hold a personal licence or the personal licence is suspended.
3. Every supply of alcohol under this licence must be made or authorised by a person who
holds a personal licence.
4. (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out,
arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.
(2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the
following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of
encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises
(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require
or encourage, individuals to;
(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol
sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which
the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or
(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or
otherwise);
(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or
discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage
or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less
in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
(d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or
in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone,
encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness
in any favourable manner;
(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than
where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a
disability).
5. The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to
customers where it is reasonably available.
6. (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an
age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or
supply of alcohol.

Page 358

50

7.

8.

(2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure
that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age
verification policy.
(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be
under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce
on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of
birth and either (a) a holographic mark, or
(b) an ultraviolet feature.
The responsible person must ensure that –
(a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on
the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in
advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to
customers in the following measures (i) beer or cider: ½ pint;
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
(iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml;
(b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which
is available to customers on the premises; and
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of
alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available. A
responsible person in relation to a licensed premises means the holder of the
premise licence in respect of the premises, the designated premises supervisor (if
any) or any individual aged 18 or over who is authorised by either the licence holder
or designated premises supervisor. For premises with a club premises certificate, any
member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity that which
enables him to prevent the supply of alcohol.
(i) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on
or off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.
(ii) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 8(i) above (a) "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties
Act 1979;
(b) "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula P = D+(DxV)
Where (i) P is the permitted price,
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if
the duty were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol,
and
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the
alcohol as if the value added tax were charged on the date of the sale
or supply of the alcohol;
(c) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there
is in force a premises licence (i) the holder of the premises licence,
(ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a
licence, or
(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of
alcohol under such a licence;
(d) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there
is in force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club
present on the premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to
prevent the supply in question; and (e) "value added tax" means value added
tax charged in accordance with the Value Added Tax Act 1994.

Page 359

51

(iii). Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8(ii)(b) above would (apart from this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph
shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the
nearest penny.
(iv). (1) Sub-paragraph 8(iv)(2) below applies where the permitted price given by
Paragraph 8 (ii)(b) above on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted
price on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or
value added tax.
(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the
second day.
Supply of alcohol under a Club Premises Certificate
The mandatory conditions 4 to 8 above will apply. If the club premises certificate authorises
the supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises, the following three mandatory
conditions must also be included:
1. The supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises must be made at a time when the
premises are open for the purposes of supplying alcohol to members of the club for
consumption on the premises.
2. Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must be in a sealed container.
3. Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must be made to a member of the
club in person.
Supply of alcohol from community premises
The following mandatory condition will replace the first three mandatory conditions above
when an application is made for a premises licence by the management committee of
community premises and the licensing authority also grants an application for this alternative
licence condition to be included in the licence:
1. Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by the
[management committee / management board / board of trustees].
Mandatory condition when a premises licence or a club premises certificate
authorises the exhibition of films
9. Admission of children to the premises must be restricted in accordance with the film
classification recommended by the British Board of Film Classification or recommended
by this licensing authority as appropriate.
Mandatory Condition relating to door supervision which only applies where a
premises licence includes a condition that one or more individuals must be at the
premises to carry out a security activity
10. All persons guarding premises against unauthorised access or occupation or against
outbreaks of disorder or against damage (door supervisors) must be licensed by the
Security Industry Authority

Page 360

52

Appendix III
Maps for Cumulative Impact Assessments
N/A
Appendix IV
Documents which demonstrate entitlement to work in the UK
Applicants may be asked to demonstrate that they have the right to work in the UK and are
not subject to a condition preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a
licensable activity. They can do this by providing with their application, copies or scanned
copies of the documents listed below (which do not need to be certified). The documents
that demonstrate an entitlement to work in the licensing regime are based on existing
prescribed document lists for checks undertaken by employers. They are set out in the
following regulations: The Immigration (Restrictions on Employment) Order 2007 and the
Immigration (Restrictions on Employment) (Codes of Practice and Amendment) Order 2014.
a) An expired or current passport showing the holder, or a person named in the
passport as the child of the holder, is a British citizen or a citizen of the UK and
Colonies having the right of abode in the UK. See note below about which sections of
the passport must be provided].
b) A current or expired passport or national identity card showing that the holder, or a
person named in the passport as the child of the holder, is a national of an European
Economic Area country or Switzerland.
c) A Registration Certificate or document certifying permanent residence issued by the
Home Office to a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.
d) A Permanent Residence Card issued by the Home Office to the family member of a
national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.
e) A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by
the Home Office to the holder indicating that the person named is allowed to stay
indefinitely in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK.
f) A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is exempt from immigration
control, is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK, has the right of abode in the UK, or
has no time limit on their stay in the UK.
g) A current Immigration Status Document issued by the Home Office to the holder with
an endorsement indicating that the named person is allowed to stay indefinitely in the
UK or has no time limit on their stay in the UK, when produced in combination with an
official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their
name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.
h) A full birth or adoption certificate issued in the UK which includes the name(s) of at
least one of the holder’s parents or adoptive parents, when produced in combination
with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number
and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.
i) A birth or adoption certificate issued in the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or
Ireland, when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s

Page 361

53

permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government
agency or a previous employer.
j) A certificate of registration or naturalisation as a British citizen, when produced in
combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National
Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous
employer.
k) A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is allowed to stay in the UK and
is currently allowed to work and is not subject to a condition preventing the holder
from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity.
l) A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by
the Home Office to the holder which indicates that the named person can currently
stay in the UK and is allowed to work relating to the carrying on of a licensable
activity.
m) A current Residence Card issued by the Home Office to a person who is not a
national of an European Economic Area state or Switzerland but who is a family
member of such a national or who has derivative rights of residence.
n) A current Immigration Status Document containing a photograph issued by the Home
Office to the holder with an endorsement indicating that the named person may stay
in the UK, and is allowed to work and is not subject to a condition preventing the
holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. when
produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent
National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a
previous employer.
o) A Certificate of Application, less than 6 months old, issued by the Home Office under
regulation 17(3) or 18A(2) of the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations
2006, to a person who is not a national of an European Economic Area state or
Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative
rights of residence.
p) Reasonable evidence that the person has an outstanding application to vary their
permission to be in the UK with the Home Office, such as the Home Office
acknowledgement letter or proof of postage evidence, or reasonable evidence that the
person has an appeal or administrative review pending on an immigration decision, such
as an appeal or administrative review reference number.
q) Reasonable evidence that a person who is not a national of an European Economic
Area state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has
derivative rights of residence in exercising treaty rights in the UK including: evidence of the applicant’s own identity – such as a passport,
 evidence of their relationship with the European Economic Area family member –
e.g. a marriage certificate, civil partnership certificate or birth certificate, and
 evidence that the European Economic Area national has a right of permanent
residence in the UK or is one of the following if they have been in the UK for
more than 3 months:
a) working e.g. employment contract, wage slips, letter from the employer,
b) self-employed e.g. contracts, invoices, or audited accounts with a bank,
c) studying e.g. letter from the school, college or university and evidence of sufficient
funds, or
d) self-sufficient e.g. bank statements.
Family members of European Economic Area nationals who are studying or financially
independent must also provide evidence that the European Economic Area national and any
family members hold comprehensive sickness insurance in the UK. This can include a
private medical insurance policy, an EHIC card or an S1, S2 or S3 form.
Original documents must not be sent to licensing authorities. If the document copied is a
passport, a copy of the following pages should be provided:
 any page containing the holder’s personal details including nationality;

Page 362

54






any page containing the holder’s photograph;
any page containing the holder’s signature;
any page containing the date of expiry; and
any page containing information indicating the holder has permission to enter or
remain in the UK and is permitted to work.

If the document is not a passport, a copy of the whole document should be provided.
In addition, all staff who are employed in the UK must have the right to work in the UK.
Employing someone illegally without carrying out the prescribed checks can lead to robust
sanctions including:
 a civil penalty of up to £20,000 per illegal worker;
 a criminal conviction carrying a prison sentence of up to 5 years and an unlimited
fine;
 closure of the business and an application for a court compliance order;
 disqualification as a director (where relevant);
 not being able to sponsor migrants; and
 seizure of earnings made as a result of illegal working.

Page 363

55

Appendix V Table of relevant offences under the 2003 Act

Section
Section 145

Section 146

Offence
Unaccompanied children
prohibited from certain
premises
Sale of alcohol to children

Section 147

Allowing the sale of alcohol to
children

Section 147A

Persistently selling alcohol to
children

Section 149

Purchase of alcohol by or on
behalf of children
Consumption of alcohol by
children
Delivering alcohol to children

Section 150
Section 151
Section 152
Section 153

Sending a child to obtain
alcohol
Prohibition of unsupervised
sales by children

Page 364

Prosecuting Authority
Police and/or Licensing
Authority
Police, Licensing Authority
and/or Local Weights and
Measures Authority
Police, Licensing Authority
and/or Local Weights and
Measures Authority
Police and/or Local Weights
and
Measures Authority
Police and/or Licensing
Authority
Police and/or Licensing
Authority
Police and/or Licensing
Authority
Police and/or Licensing
Authority
Police and/or Licensing
Authority

56

Appendix VI – Model Conditions
The following model conditions can be used by the applicant of a new premises licence,
provisional statement or licensee varying their application. The applicant or licensee can
select the conditions that they feel will enable them to demonstrate how they will ensure that
the premises will operate so as not to impact one or more of the licensing objectives.
These model conditions can also be used by responsible authorities or interested parties
when making representations regarding applications submitted to the Licensing Authority.
The Licensing Committee when determining applications will have regard to these conditions
and may choose to add one or more conditions or variations of them depending on the
concerns raised during the determination process.
The model conditions are not intended to be used as blanket conditions applied to each
premises licence, nor is this an exhaustive list and new or amended versions of model
conditions can be produced to meet the specific requirements of that application.
The model conditions have been put under general topic headings to assist in identifying
particular conditions that may address specific issues raised. By the side of each condition a
reference to the relevant licensing objective that they relate is indicated. The codes used for
the licensing objectives are:

CD - preventing crime and disorder
CH – Prevention of Children from Harm
PN - Prevention of public nuisance
PS – Public Safety
CCTV
MC01

MC02

The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV
system. All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal
identification of every person entering in any light condition. The
CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for
licensable activities and during all times when customers remain on
the premises. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of
31 days with date and time stamping. Recordings shall be made
available immediately upon the request of Police or authorized officer
throughout the preceding 31 day period. The CCTV system should be
updated and maintained according to police recommendations.

CD, PS, CH,
PN

A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the
operation of the CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times
when the premises are open to the public. This staff member must be
able to show a Police or authorized council officer recent data or
footage with the absolute minimum of delay when requested.

CD, PS, CH,
PN

Page 365

57

MC03

All persons entering the premises shall be captured on an eye level
colour CCTV camera. This camera shall capture the full face of any
person entering and re-entering the premises and be available to
police officers immediately upon request. The CCTV must also cover
the ID scanner and capture the customers being scanned in. CCTV at
front and back of building with particular regard to the smoking areas
and alleyway at the back of the premises.

CD, PS, CH,
PN

MC04

The CCTV must cover all areas of the venue that the public have
access to. There should be no obstructions to any internal camera that
creates areas that are not wholly covered by CCTV, apart from within
toilet cubicles and directly covering men’s urinals.

CD, PS, CH,
PN

MC05

The smoking area must be covered by CCTV that is to the same CD, PN
standards as the internal CCTV system.

Door Supervision
MC06

A minimum of XX SIA registered door staff, (Where 2, of which one (1)
must be female) and are all employed by an Accredited Contractor
Scheme (ACS) registered company. They must be on duty on XXX nights
from 21:00hrs until 30 minutes after closing and when conducting
licensable activities or any other advertised or private event.

CD, PS, CH,
PN

MC07

A register of security personnel employed on the premises shall be
maintained in a legible format and made available to police upon
reasonable request. The register should be completed by the DPS/ duty
manager/ nominated staff member at the commencement of work by
each member of security staff and details recorded should include; full
name, SIA badge number, time of commencement and completion of
duties. The security operative should then sign their name.

CD, PS, CH,
PN

MC08

At the commencement of work, security personnel should ensure that
they are recorded on the CCTV system and that a clear head and
shoulders image showing their face clear of any hat, glasses or other
obstruction is recorded.
All persons entering or re-entering the premises shall be searched by an
SIA trained member of staff and monitored by the premises CCTV
system.

CD, PS,

All staff engaged outside the entrance to the premises, or supervising or
controlling queues, shall wear high visibility yellow jackets or vests, due
to main road outside front.

CD, PS,

MC09

MC10

CD, PS,

Age Verification and Protection of Children from Harm
MC11

A proof of age scheme, such as Challenge 25, must be operated at the CD, CH
premises where the only acceptable forms of identification are
(recognized photographic identification cards, such as a driving license
or passport / Holographical marked PASS scheme identification cards)
appropriate signage must be displayed.
58

Page 366

MC12
MC13

MC14
MC15
MC16
MC17
MC18
MC19
MC20

All tills shall automatically prompt staff to ask for age verification
identification when presented with an alcohol sale.
A record shall be kept detailing all refused sales of alcohol. The record
should include the date and time of the refused sale and the name of
the member of staff who refused the sale. The record shall be
available for inspection at the premises by the police or an authorised
officer of the Council at all times whilst the premises is open.
Unaccompanied children are not permitted on the premises.
No children permitted on the premises whilst adult entertainment is in
progress.
All children under the age of 16 must be accompanied by an adult
No children on the premises after 21:00hrs
Children must not be allowed in the bar area
The licensee will ensure, though regular checks and intervention that
children will not congregate outside the premises.
Notwithstanding the mandatory condition imposed by Section 20 of the
Licensing Act 2003 (above) the exhibition of films pursuant to this
licence will be restricted to films that have been classified as Universal
(U) or Parental Guidance (PG) by the film classification body
designated under Section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984.

CD, CH
CD, CH

CD, CH
CD, CH
CD, CH
CD, CH
CD, CH
CD, CH
CD, CH

Signage
MC21

The premises shall prominently display signage at all entrances CD, PS, PN
informing customers: (‘All persons entering this premise are liable to be searched. Agreement
to search is a condition of entry. If persons do not consent, entry will be
refused.)
(All persons entering the premise will produce identification),
(Police may be called if drugs or weapons are found.’)
(CCTV is in operation throughout this premises and is made available
to the police.)
(Any person found carrying weapons or illegal drugs will be
permanently excluded and the police will be informed.)
(‘Management reserve the right to refuse entry’)

Deliveries

MC22

All delivery drivers must not leave their engines running whilst waiting PN
for their alcohol orders nor must they congregate on the road outside
the premises.

MC23

Where an order involves alcohol, the customer will be required to CH
confirm that they are over 18 at the point of completion of the order.

MC22

There will be a clear warning at the point of order that alcohol will only CH
be delivered to someone over the age of 18 and that appropriate
identification may be requested.

Page 367

59

MC23

The delivery of alcohol will not be made to a person in a public place CH, PN, CD
such as a street corner, park or bus stop etc.

MC24

The delivery of alcohol to be made only to a residential or business CH, PN
address, where it is evident that the customer is a resident or occupies
the business.

MC25

The DPS shall ensure that all employed delivery staff shall receive CH, PN, PS,
regular training, a minimum of once a year on the prevention of CD
underage sales and on Challenge 25 scheme. The DPS shall also
ensure that all delivery agents that are used have also been trained
and seek assurance from the company`s management.

Identification of Offenders or Problem Persons
MC26

All customers who enter the premises after 22:00hrs on Club nights CD, PS, PN
must have their personal details recorded by an electronic scanner
(such as a club scan or scan net).

MC27

All customers, promotors and DJ’s entering the premises after 22:00 on CD, PS, PN
Club Nights shall have their personal details recorded by an electronic
identification scanner. This scanner must record the identification
produced and time of entry of any person. This information must be
made available to police or Local Authority Officers immediately.

MC28

A record book of banned individuals shall be held by the SIA registered CD, PS, PN
door supervisors at the front door and will be made available to Police
and Council upon request.

Public nuisance & Outdoor areas
MC29
A noise limiter must be fitted and maintained within the premises. The
level of this meter must be set in accordance with required legislation
and standards by a qualified sound engineer. The limiter must be
sealed in such a way that no unauthorised person can tamper with it.
The level should be set in the presence of an authorised officer of the
Crime Enforcement and Regulation Service of the London Borough of
Lewisham. No additional sound generating equipment shall be used
on the premises without being routed through the sound limiter device.
The device should be calibrated annually and a record kept to be
available for inspection by officers.
MC30

PN

An appropriately qualified acoustic engineer must be engaged to carry PN
out an acoustic report for both sound insulation, egress and dispersal
with appropriate recommendations as to how statutory nuisance can be
mitigated appropriately.

Page 368

60

MC31

During the 30 minute cool down period after sale of alcohol ceases, the PN, CD
volume of any music being played must be decreased.

MC32

All windows and doors must be kept shut whilst entertainment is in
progress except for the immediate entrance/egress of patrons.
No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or
equipment, shall emanate from the premises nor vibration be
transmitted through the structure of the premises which gives rise to a
nuisance.
Loudspeakers shall not be located in the entrance lobby or outside the
premises building.
Notices shall be prominently displayed at all exits requesting patrons
to respect the needs of local residents and businesses and leave the
area quietly.

PN

MC36

Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises,
e.g. to smoke, shall be limited to (X) persons at any one time.

PN

MC37

Notices shall be prominently displayed at any area used for smoking
requesting patrons to respect the needs of local residents and use the
area quietly.

PN

MC38

A direct telephone number for the manager at the premises shall be
publicly available at all times the premises is open. This telephone
number is to be made available to residents and businesses in the
vicinity.

PN, PS

MC39

Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises,
e.g. to smoke, shall not be permitted to take drinks or glass containers
with them.
No waste or recyclable materials, including bottles, shall be moved,
removed from or placed in outside areas between (23.00) hours and
(08.00) hours on the following day.
The licence holder shall ensure that any queue to enter the premises
which forms outside the premises is orderly and supervised by door
staff so as to ensure that there is no public nuisance or obstruction to
the public highway.
During the hours of operation of the premises, the licence holder shall
ensure sufficient measures are in place to remove and prevent litter or
waste arising or accumulating from customers in the area immediately
outside the premises, and that this area shall be swept and or
washed, and litter and sweepings collected and stored in accordance
with the approved refuse storage arrangements by close of business.
Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises
to smoke shall be restricted to a designated smoking area defined as
(specify location).
The premises licence holder shall ensure that any patrons drinking
and/or smoking outside the premises do so in an orderly manner and
are supervised by staff so as to ensure that there is no public
nuisance or obstruction of the public highway.
The premises shall have a written dispersal policy including addressing
parked or stationary vehicles across outside the front of the premises.
All door staff shall be knowledgeable of this policy and able to enforce
it.

PN, PS

MC33

MC34
MC35

MC40

MC41

MC42

MC43

MC44

MC45

Page 369

PN

PN
PN

PN

PN, PS, CD

PN

PN

PN, PS

PN, PS, CD

61

MC46

No fumes, steam or odours shall be emitted from the licensed
premises so as to cause a nuisance to any persons living or carrying
on business in the area where the premises are situated.

PN

Supply of Alcohol ON sales
MC47

There shall be a personal licence holder on duty on the premises at all
times when the premises are authorised to sell alcohol.

CD, CH

MC48
MC49

No drinks shall be served in glass containers at any time.
The supply of alcohol at the premises shall only be to a person seated
taking a table meal there and for consumption by such a person as
ancillary to their meal.

CD, PN, PS
CD, PN

MC50

The supply of alcohol shall be by waiter or waitress service only.

CD, PN

MC51

Outside of the hours authorised for the sale of alcohol and whilst the
premises are open to the public, the licence holder shall ensure that
all alcohol within the premises (including alcohol behind the counter)
is secured in a locked store room or behind locked grilles, locked
screens or locked cabinet doors so as to prevent access to the
alcohol by both customers and staff.
Substantial food and non-intoxicating beverages, including drinking
water, shall be available in all parts of the premises where alcohol is
sold or supplied for consumption on the premises.

CD, PN, PS

The sale and supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall
be restricted to alcohol consumed at the outside tables and chairs
shown on the licence plan, shall be by waiter or waitress service,
served only to a person seated taking a substantial table meal there
and for consumption by such a person as ancillary to their meal. The
sale and supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall be
restricted to alcohol consumed by persons who are seated in an area
appropriately authorised for the use of tables and chairs on the
highway and bona fide taking a substantial table meal there, and
where the consumption of alcohol by such persons is ancillary to
taking such a meal, and where the supply of alcohol is by waiter or
waitress service only.

CD, PN

MC52

MC53

CD, PN

Supply of Alcohol OFF sales
MC54

There shall be no sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises
after (XX.00).

CD, PN

MC55

All sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall be in sealed
containers only, and shall not be consumed on the premises.

CD, PN

MC56

Outside of the hours authorised for the sale of alcohol and whilst the
premises are open to the public, the licence holder shall ensure that
all alcohol within the premises (including alcohol behind the counter) is
secured in a locked store room or behind locked grilles, locked
screens or locked cabinet doors so as to prevent access to the alcohol
by both customers and staff.

CD, PN

Page 370

62

MC57

MC58
MC59

MC60
MC61

No super-strength beer, lagers, ciders or spirit mixtures of 5.5% ABV
(alcohol by volume) or above shall be sold at the premises, except for
premium beers and ciders supplied in glass bottles.
Sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall only be
supplied with, and ancillary to a take-away meal.
No single cans or bottles of beer or cider or spirit mixtures shall be
sold at the premises.

CD, PN

There shall be no self service of spirits on the premises, save for spirit
mixtures less than 5.5% ABV.
No more than (15)% of the sales area shall be used at any one time
for the sale, exposure for sale, or display of alcohol.

CD, PN

CD, PN
CD, PN

CD, PN

Public Safety
MC62

MC63

MC64

MC65

MC66

Any special effects or mechanical installations shall be arranged,
operated and stored so as to minimise any risk to the safety of those
using the premises. The following special effects will only be used on
10 days prior notice being given to the licensing authority where
consent has not previously been given. • dry ice and cryogenic fog •
smoke machines and fog generators • pyrotechnics including fireworks
• firearms • lasers • explosives and highly flammable substances. •
real flame. • strobe lighting.
The licence holder shall enter into an agreement with a hackney
carriage and/or private carriage firm to provide transport for
customers, with contact numbers made readily available to customers
who will be encouraged to use such services.

PS

As soon as possible, and in any event within 1 month from the grant of
this licence, the premises shall join the local Pubwatch or other local
crime reduction scheme approved by the police, and local radio
scheme if available.
All drinking vessels used in the venue shall be polycarbonate. All
drinks in glass bottles are to be decanted into polycarbonate
containers or polycarbonate carafes prior to being served, with the
exception of champagne or bottles of spirits with a minimum size of
70cl supplied by waiter/waitress service to tables. Staff shall clear all
empty champagne and spirit bottles promptly from the tables.
Customers shall not be permitted to leave their table carrying any
such glass bottles or drink directly from the bottle
All fabrics, curtains, drapes and similar features including materials
used in finishing and furnishing shall be either non-combustible or be
durably or inherently flame-retarded fabric. Any fabrics used in escape
routes (other than foyers), entertainment areas or function rooms,
shall be non-combustible.

PS

PS

PS

PS

Late Night Refreshments
MC67

There shall be no sales of hot food or hot drink for consumption off
the premises after 23.00.

Page 371

CD, PN

63

Crime and Disorder
MC72

In the event that a serious assault is committed on the premises (or
CD, PS
appears to have been committed) the management will immediately
ensure that: (a) The police (and, where appropriate, the London
Ambulance Service) are called without delay; (b) All measures that are
reasonably practicable are taken to apprehend any suspects pending
the arrival of the police; (c) The crime scene is preserved so as to
enable a full forensic investigation to be carried out by the police; and
(d) Such other measures are taken (as appropriate) to fully protect the
safety of all persons present on the premises.

Staff Training
MC73
All documents of members of staff will be retained for a period of 12
months post termination of employment and will be made available to
the police, immigration and/or Licensing officers upon reasonable
request.
MC74
MC75
MC76

New and seasonal staff must attend induction training and receive
refresher training every six months.
The premises Licence Holder and/or Designated Premises Supervisor
shall keep up to date policies and staff training records in relation to
the following: Requirements of the challenge 25 scheme, drugs,
identification & recognition of drunks, identification recognition and
responsibilities of dealing with vulnerable persons and the correct
procedures to be followed when refusing service regular training must
be provided to all staff at least every six months, a record of the
training will be maintained for at least twelve months.

CD, CH, PN,
PS

CD, CH, PN,
PS
CD, CH, PN,
PS
CD, CH, PN,
PS

Recording of Incidents and Visits

MC78

An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on
request to an authorized Local Authority or Police Officer, which will
record the following:
a)
All crimes reported to the venue.
b)
All ejections of patrons.
c)
Any complaints received.
d)
Any incidents of disorder.
e)
All seizure of drugs or offensive weapons.
f)
Any faults in the CCTV system.
g)
Any refusal of the sale of alcohol.
h)
Any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.

CD

Large Events

Page 372

64

MC79

An Event Management Plan containing detail appropriate to each CD, CH, PN,
year’s Event will be produced and implemented in consultation with PS
and with the agreement of the Responsible Authorities through the
multi-agency or Safety Group meetings.

MC80

For each Event the Premises Licence holder will produce a final Event CD, CH, PN,
Management Plan (including the plan of the Site) which must be PS
agreed by the Licensing Authority prior to the relevant Event taking
place.

MC81

The Premises Licence holder will ensure that arrangements are made CD, CH, PN,
to provide information to persons attending the Event to include PS
transport, access and egress arrangements, dealing with lost and
found persons and property, emergency services, promoting
responsible drinking and taking care of their hearing.

MC82

The Premises Licence holder will appoint to the satisfaction of the CD, CH, PN,
PS
Licensing Authority a competent security/stewarding provider.

MC83

A full Security/Stewarding Plan will be produced and contained within CD, CH, PN,
the Event Management Plan for each Event. All security/stewards will PS
be easily identifiable, have the appropriate training and where
appropriate, hold licences for their respective duties. The Plan will
include details of numbers and deployment of security/stewards. A
register will be maintained of all stewards/security staff.

MC84

The Alcohol Management Plan will be produced and contained in the CD, CH, PN,
Event Management Plan and will set out procedures to minimise any PS
contribution to crime and disorder arising from the consumption of
alcohol.

MC85

All drinks will be served in either plastic bottles or collapsible cups in
the public arena area.

MC86

An Illegal Substances Policy and Management Plan will be produced CD, CH, PN,
for each year’s Event and be contained in the Event Management PS
Plan.

MC87

For each Event, the Premises Licence holder will appoint a health and CD, CH, PN,
safety consultant and provide a detailed Risk Assessment for all PS
activities at the Site. The Risk Assessment will be incorporated into
the Event Management Plan.

MC88

The Licensed Site capacity and attendance each day at the Event will CD, CH, PN,
not exceed XXXX, which number includes the paying audience and PS
guests but not staff or artists.

MC89

CD, CH, PN,
PS

The Premises Licence holder will make adequate provisions for CD, CH, PN,
monitoring and controlling the number of persons on the Licensed PS
Site.

Page 373

65

MC90

The occupancy of all temporary structures within the Licensed Site CD, CH, PN,
will be continuously monitored and the capacities agreed with the PS
Responsible Authorities will not be exceeded.

MC91

Appropriate arrangements by way of fencing, gate systems and CD, CH, PN,
security will be made in agreement with the Responsible Authorities PS
to prevent unauthorised access to the Site.

MC92

Entrances and exits to the Licensed Area, including roadways, CD, CH, PN,
pedestrian routes and emergency vehicle routes will be adequately PS
illuminated during periods of darkness.

MC93

Adequate lighting levels will be maintained within temporary CD, CH, PN,
PS
structures.

MC94

Suitable and sufficient firefighting provision will be provided and CD, CH, PN,
maintained on the Site throughout the duration of each Event to the PS
satisfaction of the Fire and Rescue Service.

MC95

The fire retardant characteristics of all tents, drapes, scenery etc. CD, CH, PN,
used on or in any temporary structures on the Site will be to the PS
satisfaction of the Fire and Rescue Service.

MC96

No pyrotechnics, flame effects or fireworks are to be used without the CD, CH, PN,
PS
consent of the Licensing Authority.

MC97

The Premises Licence holder will employ a competent noise control CD, CH, PN,
consultant to produce a Noise Management Plan prior to each year’s PS
Event for the approval of the Licensing Authority and a Noise Control
Report following each Event.

MC98

On each Event day, the noise control consultant will continuously CD, CH, PN,
monitor noise levels, both on Site and off Site, at agreed monitoring PS
positions, throughout the period that amplified or live Entertainment is
provided and liaise with the relevant Responsible Authority. Sound
check times, show times and details of noise monitoring procedures
will be included in the Noise Management Plan. The agreed Noise
Management Plan will be incorporated into the Event Management
Plan.
A Transport Management Plan (“TMP”) will be prepared in
consultation with the Metropolitan Police and other relevant
Responsible Authorities to ensure emergency services access and
egress routes are maintained and to minimise unreasonable
disruption to local residents. The TMP will form part of the Event
Management Plan.

MC99

The Premises Licence holder will set up a publicised meeting each CD, CH, PN,
year with local residents prior to the relevant Event to discuss the PS
plans for the Event and receive residents’ representations.

Page 374

66

The Premises Licence holder will set up a publicised meeting each
year with local residents after the relevant Event to receive residents’
representations.
MC100

The Premises Licence holder will make arrangements for a dedicated CD, CH, PN,
telephone line to be made available and manned for the receipt of any PS
complaints from the general public whilst the Event is in operation.
The telephone number will be publicised locally and all complaints
recorded, full details of all calls received will be provided to the
Licensing Authority and/or Responsible Authorities upon request.

MC101

The Alcohol Management Plan, which forms part of the Event CD, CH, PN,
Management Plan, will address the measures that will be taken to PS
dissuade and prevent persons under the age of 18 from buying,
attempting to buy, or attempting to secure the supply of alcohol during
the Event.

MC102

The Premises Licence holder will provide a welfare policy for each CD, CH, PN,
Event dealing with lost and found persons, including children, and the PS
provision of information to persons attending the Event.

Appendix VII Contact details
Licensing Authority
licensing@lewisham.gov.uk
020 8314 6400
For licensing advice, to make applications, report breaches or problems
Crime, Enforcement & Regulation Service
cer@lewisham.gov.uk
02083147237
To report noise nuisance, anti social behaviour, statutory nuisance
Lewisham Police
101 or 999 in an emergency
To report a crime or crime/safety concern

Page 375

67

Agenda Item 11
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for:
Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 X Part 2
Key Decision

Date of Meeting
Title of Report
Originator of Report

X

X

11 November 2010
To approve the award of contract for the provision of a
Pension Administration System
Jamie Parris – Senior IT Procurement
Ext. 43356
Specialist, IT and Digital Services

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the
report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

X
X
X
X
X
X

Signed:
Cabinet Member for Democracy, Refugees & Accountability
Date: 2 November 2020

Signed:
Executive Director for Corporate Resources
Date: 28 October 2020
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 376

Date

\\wff01vca000\home\ctownsen\my documents\mayor&cabinet\to approve the award of contract for the provision of a pension administration system.doc

Page 377

\\wff01vca000\home\ctownsen\my documents\mayor&cabinet\to approve the award of contract for the provision of a pension administration system.doc

KEY DECISION*

Mayor & Cabinet
Report title: Decision by Mayor and Cabinet to approve the award of
contract for the provision of a Pension Administration System
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: Yes


Total contract value is expected to be in excess of £500,000

Class: Part 1
Part 2 – Appendix 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors:
Jamie Parris – Senior IT Procurement Specialist, IT and Digital Services
Mia Agnew – Senior Contracts Lawyer
Floyd Roberts – Principal Accountant

Page 378

Outline and recommendations
This report seeks approval to; Award a contract for the provision of a Pensions Administration System
The new contract will be awarded under the National Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) Framework Agreement for the provision of Pension Administration Software for a
period of 7 years, extendable for a further three years.
The contract award value for a total of 10 years is £1,296,221 which includes the optional
uptake of hosted Member Self Service functionality.

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
Contract award is required to ensure a new contract is in place by November 2020 (at the
latest)

1. Summary
1.1.

The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Mayor and Cabinet to award the
contract to the winning bidder resulting from a competitive tender, and as recommended
by the appointed procurement evaluation panel, for provision of a Pensions
Administration System and optional Member Self Service.

2. Recommendations
2.1.

It is recommended that the Mayor and Cabinet
 Approves the uptake of the optional hosted Member Self Service functionality to
enhance the service provision of the Pensions Team and the Core Pensions
Software.
 Approves the award of contract to heywood Ltd (t/a Aquilla Heywood) as the
successful supplier following the competitive tender for a period of 10 years at a
fixed and total cost of £1,296,221.


3. Policy Context
3.1.

The effective and secure access to financial information to aid reporting in a clear and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 379
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

meaningful format contributes directly to the council’s tenth corporate priority: “inspiring
efficiency, effectiveness and equity”.

4. Background
Pensions Administration System
4.1.

The Council currently utilises the Aquila Heywood system to manage all aspects of
pension administration. The current contract expires in October 2020 with an embedded
12 month notice clause and currently in effect roll-over mechanism.

4.2.

The system involved is central to the Council’s administration of pensions.

4.3.

The pension team currently administer 26,000 pension cases for current members,
deferred members, pensioners, spouses and children. It also holds records for noncontributors when calculating redundancy cases.

4.4.

The pension service is important to all scheme members. Delivery of this service is
almost entirely dependent on IT and specifically the efficient functioning of the bespoke
interface (developed by a subsidiary of Aquila Heywood) that transfers data from the
payroll into the pension administration system.

4.5.

The Pension Fund has invested significantly in the Pensions Administration system
during its operation in order to continue to develop the service offered to its stakeholders.
In particular, recent years have seen a series of legislative changes to LGPS rules,
making the service significantly more complex to administer, such that it is now
considered a highly specialised function. It is expected that scheme administration will
only continue to become more complex as time goes by.
Optional Member Self Service Functionality

4.6.

Member Self Service (MSS) is an online portal enabling members to login to view the
current value of their pension benefits. The service allows the pensions team to publish
documents to the portal for instant member access.

4.7.

Enhancement of the service by the inclusion of MMS was a suggested requirement of
the Pensions Regulator.

4.8.

Additionally MSS allows members to carry out their own estimates, (both retirement, and
transfers in the future), instead of waiting approximately 6 weeks for a team response.
This would also remove the restriction whereby due to resource constraints the pensions
team currently limit estimates to one per member per year. The team receive numerous
requests each year for this type of information from the service.

4.9.

MSS will also allow the pensions team to be able to publish frequently requested forms,
such as ‘Expression of Wish’ forms which would significantly reduce the number of email
and telephone calls requesting these documents.

4.10.

Members would be able to update any change of address which feeds directly into the
Pensions Administration system.

4.11.

Compared to other LGPS funds, Lewisham Pensions Fund is significantly behind
services that are offered by other Authorities by not having an online portal.

4.12.

In July 2020 a National LGPS Framework for the provision of Pensions Administration
Systems (the only framework of this type in the UK) was formally set up. This enabled
the Council to carry out a mini competition under the framework agreement in order to
procure a provider for a pensions adminsitration system. The procurement process
commenced in July 2020.

4.13

At the time of going to out to mini competition the Framework was only available to 2 out

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 380
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

of a possible 3 Core Pension Software providers in the UK, the 3rd provider attaining
approved supplier status after the mini competition had closed.

5. Completion of the Tender Process
5.1.

A mini competition was carried out under the National LGPS Framework for Pension
Administration Software via the London Tender portal, Lewisham Council’s electronic
tender portal. The procurement was run in accordance with the framework agreement
and Lewisham Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.

5.2.

On 28th July 2020 a contract notice was published and the mini competition formally
commenced utilising National LGPS Framework Agreement and release of the Invitation
to Tender (ITT) Documents via the London Tenders Portal.

5.3.

A full tender pack of Tender Documents relating to the Provision of Pension
Administrtaion Software and was provided which included;


ITT Document outlining the requirement and specification;



Information to Suppliers / Instructions to Tenderers



Evaluation criteria and sub-criterion



National LGPS Framework Agreement Terms and Conditions



ITT Response and Pricing document

.
5.4.

The basis of the award for the Tender was based on a 50% Quality and 50% Price.

5.5.

During the ITT process Lewisham Council IT Procurement and Supplier Management
team responded to questions and clarifications received and all answers given were
circulated to all suppliers through the London Tenders portal.

5.6.

The closing date for the returns was extended to 18th September 2020.

5.7.

The procurement attracted 2 expressions of interest from 2 suppliers, however
Lewisham Council only received 1 formal tender due to the 2nd provider formally
withdrawing from the competition due to limited capacity and resources to 1) submit a
bid to Lewisham Council in time due to priority work-load and 2) implement a system in
time if awarded the contract.

5.8.

To ensure integretity and compeititveness to commercial submissions there are no
mechanisms within the tendering process for a single (potential) bidder to be informed
of their single bidder status.

Description of the Evaluation and scoring Outcome
5.9.

For reasons stated in 5.7 above, the Council received 1 response, which was submitted
for full evaluation and assessment.

5.10.

The project evaluation team evaluated and scored each element of the bid in line with
the Evaluation and Assessment criterion as outlined and published within the tender
pack. The project evaluation team submitted a concensus score to the Senior IT
Procurement Specialist Procurement on 23rd September 2020 for final moderation.

5.11.

The basis of the overall scoring consisted of;
(i)

Financial detail including price

50%

(ii)

Response to 5 Qualiative Questions*50%

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 381
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

*(The qualiative responses were supported by substantial pre-submitted framework
documentation)
5.12.

As such the bid was evaluated and ranked in accordance with the published Evaluation
and Assessment criteria as shown in the summary table below;-

Tenderer

Price Score

Heywood Ltd (t/a Aquilla
Heywood)
50.00%

Quality Score

Total
Score

Rank

50.00%

100.00% 1

Evaluation Team
The PAS tender evaluation team consisted of the following members:Jamie Parris

Senior IT Procurement Specialist
Lead Moderator and Commercial Evaluator

Shida Ashrafi

Pensions Manager
Quality Evaluator

Della Davenport

Acting Pensions Manager (as @ the 28.07.20)
Quality Evaluator

Melissa Stark

Pensions Officer
Quality Evaluator

Synopsis of bid
5.16

Heywood Ltd (t/a Aquilla Heywood) submitted a price of
 £993,603 (fixed) for the Provision of a Core Pensions Administration System
for a 10 year period; and
 £1,296,221 (fixed) for the Provision of a Core Pensions Administration System
with hosted Member Self Service for a 10 year period per the recommendation
of this paper.
The Prices submitted under the Framework were within the estimated contract
value of £100k per annum (for the Core System only) and more competitive than
those submitted as a direct award under the Framework for a similar period. The
details of which are stated in Section 6 below.

5.17 Evalaution
5.17.1 Price (weighting 50%)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 382
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Aquilla Heywood (the incumbent provider) were the only provider to submit a bid price
for the Core Pensions Administration System and optional Member Self Service and
were therefore awarded the maximum available weighted score of 50%, with no
comparable price bids to evalauate against.
5.17.2 Quality and Service (weighting 50%)
Suppliers were asked a series of quality and service questions and evalauted in accordnace
with the framework scoring methodology, with each response underpinned by supporting
documentation..
The quality and service questions (with a synopsis of the response from Aquilla Heywood
Limited with further details included in the confidential appendix 1), are set out in the table
below:-

Quality and Service
Question 1:- Please describe your reporting functionality including
your standard reports, member search and extract tools, bespoke
and ad hoc reporting and dashboards
Question 2:- Please describe the functionality of your member
portal, how members can access information and hence reduce the
burden on the administration team
Question 3:- Please describe your approach to implementation of
the new pensions system and provide a project plan detailing key
milestones and timescales
Question 4:- Please describe the training services that you provide
and the user groups and forums that you offer to promote best
practice
Question 5:- Please describe your product roadmap, how you
ensure continuing compliance with LGPS regulations and your
approach to identifying improvements and functionality in your
software

50%
10%

10%

10%

10%

10%

Aquilla Heywood scored maximum points for each response to each question from 3
independent Quality and Service evaluators and were therefore awarded the maximum
available weighted score of 50% for their Quality and Service submission.
5.13.

Heywood Ltd (t/a Aquilla Heywood) achieved an overall score of 100% and clearly
demonstrated that they met the Council’s criteria as set out in the specification therefore
theya re the recommended provider.

5.14.

Relative advantages of the submission (key points only):-

5.15.

Aquilla Heywood met or exceeded Quality, Functional or Service requirements in all
aspects of their submission and Lewisham Councils evaluation criterion.
Relative disadvantages of the submission (key points only):-

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 383
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

None reported
Summary
5.16.

It is recommended that Aquilla Heywood are awarded the contract for the reasons set
out above.

6. Financial implications
6.1.

The bid price over a 10 year period was as follows:6.1.1. £993,603 for the Core System; or
6.1.2. £1,296,221 with the uptake of Member Self Service functionality per the
recommendation of this report

7. Legal implications
7.1

The Council’s Constitution contains requirements about how to procure and manage
contracts. These are in the Contract Procedure Rules (Constitution Part IV). Some of
the requirements in those Rules are based on the Public Contracts Regulations 2015
(“the Regulations”) with which the Council must comply. Under the Council’s Contract
Procedure Rules the Council may use a framework agreement set up by a public sector
body where that framework agreement has been procured in accordance with the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015 (“Regulations”) and allows for the Council to use the
Framework Agreement. The framework agreement used for this procurement is EU
compliant and the Council is entitled to use the framework.

7.2

The report proposes the establishment of a contract for provision of a pensions
admisnitration system, for seven years with an option for a further 3 years. The potential
value of the contract including the extension exceeds £500,000, which means that this
is a Category A contract for the purposes of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and
one which is to be awarded by Mayor and Cabinet.

7.3

This contracts has been procured as required by the Regulations and the Council’s
Constitution. If the proposal to award the contract is approved, an award notice must be
published on OJEU and Contracts Finder in the prescribed form.

7.4

Procedures for tendering are to be determined by contracting authorities in accordance
with the Regulations (regulation 76). These require procedures to be transparent and
ensure equal treatment of suppliers. Time limits must also be reasonable and
proportionate.

7.5

The report explains the evaluation approach and process applied to the bid and the
reasons for recommending the successful bid for approval. The report demonstrates that
the sole bidder meets all of the Council’s requirments.

7.6

This decision is a Key Decision under Article 16.2 (c) (xxiii) of the Constitution as it has
a value of more than £200,000. It is therefore required to be contained in the current
Key Decision Plan.

7.7

The Council has a public sector equality duty (the equality duty or the duty - The Equality
Act 2010, or the Act). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.8

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 384
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports





eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

7.9

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do
not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above. The
weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision and the
circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for Mayor and Cabinet, bearing in
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. Mayor and Cabinet must understand
the impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who
are potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.

7.10

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has issued Technical Guidance
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance. The Council must have regard
to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty. The Technical Guidance also
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory
force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling
reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical guidance can
be found on the EHRC website.

7.11

The EHRC has issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty. The ‘Essential’ guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply
to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide
more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice.

8. Equalities implications
8.1.

There are no Equalities Implications for this Project

9. Climate change and environmental implications
9.1.

There are no Climate Change and Environmental Implications for this Project

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

There are no Crime and Disorder Implications for this Project

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

There are no Health and Wellbeing Implications for this Project

12.

Social Value implications

12.1.

Social Value assessement was carried out by the National LGPS Framework Team to
award approved supplier status.

13.

Background papers

13.1.

None

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 385
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

14.

Glossary

14.1.

The IT Procurement Glossary is provided as a background document to this report
https://lewishamcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/LBLIT/ITP/SitePages/Home.aspx?RootFo
lder=%2Fsites%2FLBLIT%2FITP%2FShared%20Documents%2FIT%20Procurement%
20Glossary&FolderCTID=0x0120008233B0908D3DB046A70ED4CDF77CD33D&View
=%7B6D0B6F98%2DEF22%2D4CD7%2D9A37%2DAB54AC756D50%7D

15.

Report author(s) and contact(s)

15.1.

Name: Jamie Parris
Job Title: Senior IT Procurement Specialist (Interim)
Contact: Email: Jamie.parris@lewisham.gov.uk Tel:07960-923085.
Name: Mia Agnew
Job Title: Senior Contracts Lawyer
Contact: Email: Mia.Agnew@lewisham.gov.uk Tel: 0208 314 7546
Name: Floyd Roberts
Job Title: Principle Accountant
Contact: Email: Floyd.Roberts2@lewisham.gov.uk Tel: 0208 314 3748

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 386
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

END OF DOCUMENT

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 387
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 12

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet
Report title: Acquisition of Sydney Arms
Date: 11 November 2020
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Lewisham Central
Contributors: Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm, Director of
Corporate Resources, Director of Law, Governance & HR

Outline and recommendations
This report seeks to gain authority in principle from Mayor and Cabinet to acquire the
Sydney Arms, for the purpose of Temporary Accommodation (TA), and to delegate
authority to officers to agree the final terms of the acquisition.
It is recommended that the Mayor and Cabinet:


Note the rationale for the proposed purchase of Sydney Arms, 122 Lewisham
Road, SE13 7NL;



Note the due diligence work already undertaken in relation to the proposed
purchase of the Sydney Arms and the further due diligence work required to
complete the business case;



Agrees in principle to purchase the Sydney Arms, 122 Lewisham Road, SE13
7NL;



Authorises the Council to enter into contract with the GLA regarding the
funding arrangement should satisfactory terms be agreed;



Notes that in the unlikely event that a contract agreement cannot be reached
with the GLA, alternative options for purchasing the building will be explored;
and



Delegates authority to the Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm in conjunction with the Director of Law, Governance & HR and
Executive Director of Corporate Resources to proceed with the purchase and
complete the acquisition of the Sydney Arms, 122 Lewisham Road, SE13 7NL
once they are satisfied with the business case and that the purchase and
subsequent refurbishment reflects value for money.

Page 388

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
N/A

1.

Summary

1.1.

This report seeks to gain authority in principle from Mayor and Cabinet to acquire the
Sydney Arms, a building in the Central Lewisham ward which comprises 16 units of
accommodation.

1.2.

This accommodation will be used as temporary accommodation to house homeless
households. The building will provide much needed, good quality accommodation in the
borough, which will be owned by the Council and will benefit from the income received
as well as from the saving on expensive nightly paid temporary accommodation.

1.3.

The report outlines three options for purchase, where option 1 is preferred. Option 1
details purchasing the building using borrowing plus capital grant funding from the GLA,
following a successful application to the ‘Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme,’
pending successful entry into a contract with the GLA.

1.4.

In the unlikely event of the Council being unable to enter into GLA contract, a further two
options have been outlined in the report to purchase the building.

1.5.

Subject to due-diligence and the necessary survey work, and pending successful
purchase, it is intended that the building will be ready to be occupied by 1st April 2021.
This date also aligns with the grant conditions from the GLA.

1.6.

A full due diligence (including structural surveys and financial assessments) of the
property is currently being undertaken to understand the best design option for the
purpose of providing temporary accommodation.

1.7

Commercially sensitive information relating to the matters referred to in this Part 1 report
is contained in a closed report on Part 2.

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

It is recommended that the Mayor and Cabinet:

2.2.

Note the rationale for the proposed purchase of Sydney Arms, 122 Lewisham Road,
SE13 7NL;

2.3.

Note the due diligence work already undertaken in relation to the proposed purchase of
the Sydney Arms and the further due diligence work required to complete the business

Page 389

case;
2.4.

Agree in principle to purchase the Sydney Arms, 122 Lewisham Road, SE13 7NL;

2.5.

Authorise the Council to enter into contract with the GLA regarding the funding
arrangement should satisfactory terms be agreed;

2.6.

Note that in the unlikely event that a contract agreement cannot be reached with the
GLA, alternative options for purchasing the building will be explored; and

2.7.

Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm
in conjunction with the Director of Law, Governance & HR and Executive Director of
Corporate Resources to proceed with the purchase and complete the acquisition of the
Sydney Arms, 122 Lewisham Road, SE13 7NL once they are satisfied with the business
case and that the purchase and subsequent refurbishment reflects value for money.

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2022)[1] outlines the Councils vision to deliver
for residents over the next four years. Building on Lewisham’s historic values of fairness,
equality and putting our community at the heart of everything we do, the Council will
create deliverable policies underpinned by a desire to promote vibrant communities,
champion local diversity and promote social, economic and environmental sustainability.
Delivering this strategy includes the following priority outcomes that relate to the
provision of new affordable homes:


3.2.

Building an Inclusive Economy – Ensuring every resident can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local economy.


3.3.

Building Safer Communities – Ensuring every resident feels safe and secure living
here as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.

Homes for Lewisham, Lewisham’s Housing Strategy (2015-2020)[2], includes the
following priority outcomes that relate to the provision of new affordable homes:




3.4.

Tackling the Housing Crisis – Providing a decent and secure home for everyone.

Key Objective 1 – Helping residents in times of severe and urgent housing need.
Key Objective 2 – Building the homes our residents need.
Key Objective 4 – Promoting health and wellbeing by improving our resident’s
homes.

The new Lewisham Housing Strategy 2020-26, which is being considered by Mayor and
Cabinet, also contains the following priorities that are met by this report.




Delivering the homes that Lewisham needs.
Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need.

[1]

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s61022/Draft%20Corporate%20Strategy
%202018-2022.pdf

Page 390


4.

Supporting our residents to live safe, independent and active lives.

Background
Housing Context

4.1.

The demand for housing assistance in Lewisham has increased in recent years and
remains substantial. This is being driven by:






A lack of genuinely affordable homes and a decline in the available social homes for
let;
A severe shortage of available properties at LHA where the landlord is willing to let
to homeless, largely benefit dependent, claimants;
The increasing cost of the private rented sector (PRS) and an increasing reliance on
the PRS;
Welfare reform, including the freezing of local housing allowance (LHA) until 2018.

4.2.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has also brought about a change in demand,
with an increased need for accommodation to assist rough sleepers.

4.3.

As a result of these pressures, the council has rapidly expanded the amount of temporary
accommodation it has sourced to meet the needs of homeless households. As at the
end of September 2020, almost 2,500 households were in TA arranged by Lewisham, of
which 760 households were in nightly paid accommodation. This is the most expensive
and insecure form of temporary accommodation.

4.4.

The council has spent £109m on temporary accommodation between 2016/17 and
2019/20, of which £9.7m was net expenditure. These unrecoverable costs are largely
driven by the use of nightly paid accommodation.

4.5.

To tackle the increase in demand, improve quality and drive down costs the council has
embarked on a number of work programmes. These include:
 An expanded homelessness prevention service delivering an increased rate of
successful preventions;
 The acquisition of homes for use as temporary accommodation by the council and
by our partners;
 The development of new social homes and temporary accommodation through our
Building for Lewisham programme;
 The continued procurement of properties for use as temporary accommodation or to
permanently resettle households.

4.6.

However, the structural drivers of homelessness remain in place and as such demand
remains substantial. This opportunity allows the authority to expand the provision of
much needed, high quality, in-borough temporary accommodation for some of our most
vulnerable residents.
Background to the GLA grant: Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme

4.7.

In 2020 the GLA was successful in securing £57.8m capital and £8.9m revenue funding
from central government to deliver new accommodation for rough sleepers under the
‘Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme – RSAP’. Accommodation provided under
this programme is to be initially targeted at those rough sleepers with a Lewisham
connection who were supported during the Covid-19 lockdown.

4.8.

London authorities were invited to bid for capital funding from this fund to assist in the
acquisition and development of buildings into longer term move-on accommodation for

Page 391

rough sleepers and revenue funding to support those accommodated. Funding is being
made available for up to five years.
4.9.

The council was successful in a bid to the GLA for capital funding to acquire and refurbish
the Sydney Arms into 16 units of accommodation and further revenue funding over five
years to work with those accommodated and to support move-on into longer-term
sustainable accommodation.

4.10.

There are a number of conditions to the grant to note, including: ensuring that the units
are occupied by April 1st 2021; increasing the bathroom to shared room ration to 1:2
within the building and maintaining rents at London Affordable Rents (LAR).

4.11.

The grant funding will be awarded in full pending authorisation from Mayor and Cabinet,
and the Council and the GLA agreeing terms and entering into contract.

5.

Acquisition and Refurbishment

5.1.

The Sydney Arms was previously operating as a public house in the Lewisham Central
ward. The public house was closed and the property was recently refurbished and
converted into flats. The acquisition of the Sydney Arms is being considered in the
context of its readiness for immediate move-in with limited additional work. The property
has already been refurbished, will be purchased vacant, and is ready for occupation.
A purchase price has been negotiated for the building. Full due diligence surveys and
assessments will be completed prior to purchase, including a full structural survey,
asbestos survey and mechanical and engineering surveys.

5.2.

The price negotiated is considered value for money on the basis that 16 households
currently residing in nightly paid temporary accommodation can be accommodated inborough. Full assessment of value for money will be available upon completion of the
ongoing due diligence work and will be available for the recommended delegated
decision.

5.3.

The average cost of a self-contained nightly paid 1 bedroom property is approximately
£5,700 per household per year, although it is often significantly larger. This is causing
severe budget pressures within the service resulting in a shortfall in the annual cost of
the B&B service which is a pressure on the general fund and the most substantial net
expenditure the Housing Services team incur.

5.4.

As this acquisition will be either funded by or held in the Council’s General Fund, any
development will need to return a positive Net Present Value within the Council’s
development appraisal model or return a saving to the Council when considered
alongside savings from Temporary Accommodation. This will be the benchmark on
which a decision to purchase will be made.

5.5.

The Council’s preferred option for purchasing the building is through a contract with the
GLA for grant funding. In the unlikely event that a contract agreement cannot be reached
with the GLA, alternative options for purchasing the building will be explored.

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

This report seeks approval for an in principle agreement to purchase Sydney Arms,
122 Lewisham Road, SE13 7NL.

6.2.

In addition this report seeks delegated authority to the Executive Director for Housing,
Regeneration and Public Realm in conjunction with the Executive Director of Law,

Page 392

Governance & HR and Executive Director of Corporate Resources to proceed with and
complete the purchase once they are satisfied with the business case and that the
purchase and subsequent refurbishment reflects value for money.
6.3.

The ongoing due diligence work and robust financial modelling will enable a full
assessment of the options to aid the recommended delegated decision.

6.4.

As outlined in this report, any General Fund capital projects of this nature will need to
return a positive Net Present Value within the Council’s development appraisal model.
This together with any other options to de-risk the development and achieve policy
aims will form the basis upon which a decision to purchase will be made.

6.5.

In the event that the scheme does not progress beyond this stage, any costs incurred
to date will be classified as abortive costs and would remain a revenue charge

7.

Legal implications

7.1.

Under Section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has power to
acquire land by agreement for the purposes of (a) any of its functions (including the
provision of Temporary Accommodation or (b) the benefit, improvement or
development of its area.

7.2.

The Council has a wide general power of competence under Section 1 of the Localism
Act 2011 to do anything that individuals generally may do. The existence of the general
power is not limited by the existence of any other power of the Council which (to any
extent) overlaps the general power. The Council may therefore also rely on this power
for this acquisition in line with funding considerations discussed in the Financial
Implications.

7.3.

The Council would be purchasing the freehold title to the property with vacant
possession. Subject to full legal due diligence, it is expected that the Council would
acquire good and marketable title following completion of the acquisition.

7.4.

In accordance with the Mayoral Scheme of Delegation, any decision to acquire
property with a value of more than £500,000 is reserved to members.

8.

Equalities implications

8.1.

There are no equalities issues arising specifically from this report.

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1.

It is considered that refurbishment and reuse of the existing building will outweigh the
negative climate change impacts resulting from unnecessary carbon outlays of new build
construction. Additionally, the council will endeavor to source building materials from
local suppliers to reduce the travel distance and seek materials that do not contain animal
products – where possible. This will help Lewisham achieve its carbon reduction goals.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

By bringing this property into active use, we will create passive surveillance resulting in
an improved environment for the immediate locality.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

There are no health and wellbeing issues arising specifically from this report.

Page 393

12.

Report author and contact

12.1.

Fenella Beckman – Director of Housing Services (Fenella.Beckman@lewisham.gov.uk)

12.2.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources
Peter Allery
Group Finance Manager
0208 314 8471
Peter.Allery@Lewisham.gov.uk

12.3.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance & HR
Katherine Kazantzis
Principal Lawyer
0208 314 7937
Katherine.kazantzis@lewisham.gov.uk

Page 394

Agenda Item 13
MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Exclusion of the Press and Public

Key Decision

No

Item No.

Ward
Contributors

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee)

Class

Part 1

Date: November 11 2020

Recommendation
It is recommended that in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)(England)
Regulations 2012 and under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Act, and the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information
14.

Renewal of Pension Administration IT System.

15.

Acquisition of Sydney Arms to use as Temporary Accommodation.

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\1\0\4\ai00026401\$ot1dgn2s.doc

Page 395

Agenda Item 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 396

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 398

Agenda Item 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 405

